“NA

Mashville
International
Airporte

Date/Time: Wednesday, November 20, 2024, at 1:00 p.m.
Place: Nashville International Airport — Tennessee Board Room
Board Members: Nancy Sullivan, Chair

Jimmy Granbery, Vice Chair
Andrew Byrd, Secretary
Bobby Joslin

Joycelyn Stevenson

Dr. Glenda Glover

Glenn Farner

.  CALLTO ORDER

Il PUBLIC COMMENTS

No requests for public comments received to date. Deadline is November 19, 2024 at 1:00 a.m.

.  APPROVAL OF MINUTES
October 16, 2024 Minutes of the Joint Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners & MPC

Board of Directors

IV.  CHAIR'S REPORT

V. PRESIDENT’S REPORT

VL. ITEMS FOR APPROVAL

1. FY24 Baggage Handling System CGMP 2 (Facilities Construction) (Operations)

2. Amendment 1 to Professional Services Contract for Terminal Access Roadway Improvements
(TARI) (Operations)

On-Call Contract for Snow & Ice Clearing and Removal (Operations)

Contract for Ramp Control Services (Operations)

On-Call Contract for Airfield Pavement Repair Services (Operations)

Amendment to On-Call Contract for Low Voltage Years 4 and 5 (Operations)

N oo v o kw

Amendment to On-Call General Construction Services Contract (Job Order Contract) Year 2
(Operations)

8. Task Order for Administration Building Modifications (Operations)

9. Customer Facility Charge (“CFC”) Increase, MNAA Resolution 2024-08 (Finance)

Page 1 of 2



Agenda of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors

10. Lease Agreement for 2™ Fixed Base Operator (“FBO”) at JWN (Finance)
11. Icelandair Incentive Agreement — Reykjavik (Finance)

12. Aer Lingus Incentive Agreement — Dublin (Finance)

VII. INFORMATION ITEMS

BNA Development Update (Operations)

JWN Development Update (Operations)

1.

2

3. BNA Concessions Program Quarterly Update and Sales Report (Finance)
4. Quarterly Retirement/OPEB/Treasury Investment Reports (Finance)

5

FY24 MNAA External Audit Update (Management)

Vill.  ADJOURN

Page 2 of 2



Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA B /

Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors Nashville
International

Airporto

Date: October 16,2024 Location:  Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Tennessee Boardroom

Time: 9:00a.m.

Board Members Present: Nancy Sullivan, Chair; Jimmy Granbery, Vice Chair; Andrew Byrd,
Secretary; Bobby Joslin; Joycelyn Stevenson; Glenda Glover; and
Glenn Farner

Board Members Absent:

MNAA Staff & Guests Present: Doug Kreulen, Cindy Barnett, Lisa Lankford, Trish Saxman,

Marge Basrai, Neale Bedrock, Daniel Brown, Andy Carpenter, John
Cooper, Kristen Deuben, Randy Dorsten, Chief Brian Findlen, Adam
Floyd, Traci Holton, Eric Johnson, Rick Jones, Carrie Logan, Syed
Mehdi, Rachel Moore, Ted Morrissey, Stacey Nickens, Brandi Porter,
Josh Powell, Robert Ramsey, Davita Taylor and Puneet Vedi

Clay Paslay, Paslay Group; Steve Martin, Paslay Group; David
Schilling, Atkins; Scott Rumble, Atkins; Jeff Schulthess, Landrum &
Brown; Matt Ruffra, Landrum & Brown; Kevin McPeek, PFM; Cory
Czyzewski, BofA Securities

. CALLTO ORDER
In accordance with the 3™ Amended and Restated Bylaws of the MNAA Board of Commissioners,
Section 2.4, Chair Sullivan called the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors

Meeting to order at 9:00 a.m., pursuant to Public Notice dated October 11, 2024.

. PUBLIC COMMENTS

Chair Sullivan stated there were three public comments received. President Kreulen introduced
the first public comments speaker, Ari Partrich, who requested to speak on Item VI, Human Capital
Management System. President Kreulen told Mr. Partrich he was recognized and he had 2 minutes
to speak. President Kreulen asked Ms. Rachel Moore, Executive Assistant to the President and

CEO, to please start the timer.

Mr. Partrich stated Ladies and Gentlemen of the Airport Authority, gave his name and announced

that he is a student at Vanderbilt University. He stands before them today as a supporter of the
Page 1 of 17



October 16, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors

Tennessee Driver’s Union which represents thousands of rideshare drivers who are essential to
the vibrant economy of Nashville. At a moment's notice, whether he is stuck at the airport, a
concert or Broadway, he knows he is safe and effortlessly mobile with the push of a button
because these drivers are the essential stopping gap between nearly every moment that is
defined by wonderful experiences at Vanderbilt. He wants to express Agenda VI, the Contract for
Human Capital Management System. For this system to function effectively, it is crucial to listen
to those who are integral to its success, the rideshare drivers. Their demands are simple, but vital.
First they need basic facilities that reflect their humanity. This includes creating separate
bathrooms for women, and ensuring that men’s bathrooms are equipped with urinals. The
current conditions are unacceptable and should have been improved a long time ago.
Additionally, they request a shaded waiting area and a brick-and-mortar bathroom. These drivers
often wait for hours, striving to earn a livable wage, and lack the basic amenities and is intolerable.
Lastly, there is a need for transparency. If a driver is banned from the airport, they must receive
a clear explanation. Banned without reasons creates unnecessary confusion and trust. As we
look to build a more sustainable and driving Nashville, let us ensure that the hardworking
individuals behind the scenes, the drivers, are treated with dignity they deserve. Thank you for
your time and consideration. Let’s work together to create a better environment at the Nashville

airport, drivers and patrons. President Kreulen thanked Mr. Partrich.

President Kreulen stated the second public comment speaker that registered is Mr. Mustafa

Enver. Mr. Enver did not attend the meeting.

President Kreulen introduced the third public comments speaker, Mr. Aron Thomas Boehle, who
requested to speak on Item VI, Human Capital Management System. President Kreulen told Mr.
Boehle he was recognized and he had 2 minutes to speak. President Kreulen asked Ms. Rachel

Moore, Executive Assistant to the President and CEO, to please start the timer.

Mr. Boehle stated Ladies and Gentlemen of the Airport Authority, gave his name and announced
that he is a student at Vanderbilt University. He stands before them today as a very firm supporter
of the Tennessee Driver’s Union which represents thousands of rideshare drivers who are
essential to the vibrant economy of Nashville. He understands the rideshare drivers are not only
crucial agents of this city’s economy but essential to the future of healthy multi-modal
infrastructure of Nashville, making them a very unique actor in Nashville’s future. He would like

to address Agenda VI, the contract for Human Capital Management System. For this system to

Page 2 of 17



October 16, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors

V.

function effectively, it is crucial to listen to those who are integral to its success, the rideshare
drivers. A critical demand they have is for an expanded drive share lot. Currently, the drivers find
themselves circling the airport four to six times, often unable to enter the ride-share lot. They
propose moving the ride-share operations to the Cell Phone Lot or expanding it in Lot C. These
drivers work 12 hour days, 7 days a week, just to get by, while Uber takes 70 — 80% of their
earnings. In addition, they request more designated areas in the staging lot for pickups. Rideshare
drivers make up the majority of airport traffic yet they should not have to navigate congestion
and risk getting banned from the airport. Moving taxi services back to shuttles will help alleviate
this issue. As we work towards a mutual better future for Nashville Tennessee, it is imperative
that we support the hardworking drivers and working people who contribute so much to this
community. They deserve the respect and dignity that comes with fair treatment as with facilities.
Thank you for your time and consideration. Let’s collaborate to create a more equitable

environment for everyone at Nashville airport. President Kreulen thanked Mr. Boehle.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

Chair Sullivan called for a motion to approve the Minutes of the September 18, 2024, Joint Meeting of
the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors. A motion to approve was made by

Vice Chair Granbery and seconded by Commissioner Stevenson.

Chair Sullivan asked Ms. Saxman for a roll call:
Chair Sullivan —Yes
Vice Chair Granbery — Yes
Secretary Byrd — Yes
Commissioner Joslin — Yes
Commissioner Stevenson —Yes
Commissioner Glover — Yes
Commissioner Farner — Yes

The motion passed with a vote of 7 to 0.

CHAIR’S REPORT

Chair Sullivan had no Chair’s report.

Page 3 of 17



October 16, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors

V.

PRESIDENT’S REPORT

President Kreulen reported BNA continues to receive positive recognition. J.D. Power 2024 North
America Satisfaction Study rated BNA #5 for Large Airports Overall Customer Satisfaction Index
Ranking. John Wayne was #1; Tampa #2, Kansas City #3, Dallas Love #4 and BNA #5. The study
measured overall passengers satisfaction based on ease of travel through airport; level of trust
with airport; terminal facilities; airport staff; departure/to airport experience; food, beverage &
retail; arrival/from airport experience. President Kreulen reported USA Today 2024 Readers’
Choice Awards presented BNA with 1% Place for Best Airport Shopping; 1% Place — Best Airport
Grab & Go Food (400 Degrees); 2" Place — Best Large Airport; and 3™ Place — Best Airport Bar
(Tootsie’s). The write-up was interesting and stated, “The rich culture and history of the city can
be discovered firsthand even within the airport limits”. President Kreulen reported that House
Beautiful recognized BNA as the 8" Most Impressive Airport. There are only 3 airports in the top
8 that are located in the United States: 1) Singapore Changi (SIN); 2) Doha Hamad (DOH) ; 3) Dubai
(DXB); 4) Paris Charles de Gaulle (CDG); 5) Minneapolis — St. Paul (MSP); 6) Zurich (ZRH); 7)
Hartsfield-Jackson Atlanta (ATL); and 8) Nashville International Airport (BNA). President Kreulen
stated he enjoyed the write-up on Nashville “Once rinky-dink airport is now a sight to behold with
a sprawling, sparkling lobby, friendly and efficient TSA process, terminals packed with local dining
like the infamous hot chicken shack”. These recognitions are credited to the Board and the MNAA

Staff.

President Kreulen stated speaking of impressive, Dr. Glover has a street named after her, the Dr.
Glenda Baskin Glover Blvd. in Memphis, Tennessee. The Resolution was signed by the Memphis

City Council, District 5 on August 6, 2024. Big round of applause.

President Kreulen announced Josh Powell earned his AAAE Accredited Airport Executive (A.A.E.)
accreditation. His panel in Ft. Lauderdale, FL was Bill Hopper, Pitt Greeneville, NC; Michelle
Anderson, Jackson Hole, WY; and Raymond Laroche, Punta Gorda, FL. Less than 10% of airport

executives earn that accreditation. Big round of applause.

President Kreulen stated that Southwest Airlines announced 6 new nonstop destinations out of
BNA. The routes will begin April 8, 2025, to Albuquerque, NM; Albany, NY; Jackson, MS; Memphis,
TN; Providence, Rl; and Tulsa, OK. This will boost Southwest to an all-time high of 174 Sunday

departures in April and May 2025. This will be a benefit to Memphis, because it will be feeding

Page 4 of 17



October 16, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors

all of the people that live in the Memphis area to go to whatever destination they want to go,

normally they would drive, but now they can fly and transfer within BNA to other airports.

President Kreulen complemented the Finance Team for doing a great job. Fitch Ratings reaffirmed
Airport Revenue Bond Ratings and gave BNA A+ / Stable rating in Senior Airport Revenue Bonds;
and A/ Stable in Subordinate Lien Airport Revenue Bonds. Highlighting some of the ratings reflect:
Underlying strength of BNA's air trade area, which continues to grow and diversify; Updated
hybrid Airline Use and Lease Agreement (AULA), effective July 1, 2023, provides more favorable
cost recovery terms for the airport compared to previous agreement; MNAA'’s total debt profile;
Demand-driven and scalable infrastructure development (New Horizon | & Il); and Well positioned
financial metrics. President Kreulen noted that Moody’s and Kroll ratings are expected in

November.

President Kreulen stated Icelandair announced on September 26, 2024 nonstop service to
Reykjavik, Iceland begins on May 16, 2025. Icelandair reported that they have been selling a lot
of tickets. President Kreulen stated the U.S. Women’s Soccer Team will play the Iceland Women’s
National Team here at Geodis on October 27"". MNAA will have a suite for the game and it will be
adjacent to the Icelandair suite. This is a great opportunity to network with one of our newest

airlines.

President Kreulen stated Aer Lingus announced on October 4, 2024 nonstop service to Dublin,
Ireland begins on April 12, 2025. Aer Lingus previous launch in the United States had little over
350K impressions in the local media and Nashville had over 850K for this launch. BNA received
additional support from Miranda Lambert yesterday promoting and she has 6.6M followers. The

flights out of Nashville are continuing to do a great job.

President Kreulen stated the American Institute of Steel Construction 2024 presented Robert
Ramsey, EVP, CDO, with the Innovative Design in Engineering and Architecture with Structural
Steel (IDEAS?) award. They also presented awards to BNA partners who helped build the grand
lobby and pedestrian bridge, including Helsel Phelps, Fentress, TMPartners, Corgan, Magnusson
Kelmenic Associates, Logan Patri Engineering, Banker Steel, Irwin Steel, TruNorth Steel, Schuff
Steel Company and Chicago Metal Rolled Products. Congratulations to Mr. Ramsey and Ms. Traci

Holton, VP, New Horizon Engineering. Big round of applause.

Page 5 of 17



October 16, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors

President Kreulen stated the 2024 Association of Corporate Counsel (ACC) Annual Meeting was
held at Music City Center, October 6-9, 2024. The MNAA Legal Team attended as well as
Commissioner Stevenson. The ACC has more than 40,000 members employed by over 10,000
organizations and the Tennessee chapter membership has 670 attorneys. More than 3,000 legal

professionals registered to attend.

President Kreulen announced that Props for a Purpose out at John C. Tune Airport was created by
Jacob Bealle, a Belmont University Freshman. During the first few weeks of October, volunteers
loaded seven private aircraft with water bottles, toilet paper, food, batteries and other essentials
and the aircraft headed to Tennessee, Georgia, and especially North Carolina to help with the

Hurricane relief.

President Kreulen stated BNA has several charity events, one of which is the BNA Aviation Golf
Classic which will be held on October 23, 2024. In May 2025, BNA will hold its 4™ BNA 5K on the
Runway. Those are two big BNA events that allow us to raise funds that are unencumbered by

the FAA rules and regulations.

9:16 AM — Interruption by Unrecognized Speaker, Simon Haber, representing Tennessee Drivers

Union

President Kreulen stated for FY25 BNA passengers are projected at 5%, 7% and 9%, and projected
to be 25.3M by the end of the year. BNA was 23.7M passengers at the end of FY24. BNA set a
new checkpoint record on October 6, 2024, with 46,399 screened passengers, and approximately
107,000 arriving/departing. Fall break has been slightly under the projections due to the

devastation in Florida, with flights being canceled.

President Kreulen presented the Committee 30-day Outlook for November which will have 6
items for approval in the Operations Committee and 5 items in the Finance Committee. The
Management Committee will have one information item, the FY24 MNAA External Audit Update.
The Committee 60-Day Outlook for December will have 5 items for approval in the Operations
Committee and no approvals at this time for the Finance and Management Committees. The

Finance Committee has one information item, the Procurement Policy Annual Review.

President Kreulen concluded the President’s update.

Page 6 of 17



October 16, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors

VI.

ITEMS FOR APPROVAL

1.

Maintenance and Service Contract for BNA Conveyance (Operations)

President Kreulen introduced Daniel B. Brown, VP, Facility Management, to brief the Board
on the Maintenance and Service Contract for BNA Conveyance. Mr. Brown stated this
contract is to provide 24/7 onsite support of BNA’s conveyance units currently consisting of
68 units (46 elevators and 22 escalators) and increasing to 79 total conveyance units with
Concourse D Extension and new Concourse A. The contractor selected is Kone with a start
date of November 1, 2024 and contract duration is 3 years with 3 one-year option terms. If
all 6 years are optioned out the total will be $15,348,000. The contract is race and gender
neutral and the funding source is the Operations and Maintenance (O&M) Funds. This will be
a big benefit to all of the customers that come in and out of BNA to have Kone on site, and it
means if a person becomes trapped in an elevator we can get them out faster than waiting

on the fire department.

Mr. Brown requested the Board of Commissioners accept the proposal submitted by KONE
and authorize the Chair and President and CEO to execute the proposed contract for up to

$15.348M.

Vice Chair Granbery asked if there were any other bids. Mr. Brown replied yes, 3 bids were
received, Kone, Elevated Facility Services and Schindler. Schindler was close to same price as
Kone but their package did not score anywhere near Kone’s score and Elevated Facility
Services score was lower than that. Vice Chair Granbery asked on the 46 units, will different
vendors cross over into other maintenance contracts. Mr. Brown replied yes, MNAA is
currently utilizing that now off a State contract, and efficiency rates have come up from 75%
to 95%. President Kreulen stated that the benefits are going up to 99% and also in the
program we planned for power walks and other elevators that will come on in the next several
years. Commissioner Glover asked what race and gender neutral means percentage-wise.
Ms. Davita Taylor, VP, Procurement and Business Diversity Development, replied that no one
in the category in terms of minority is available to do the job. Commissioner Glover stated
that it is zero. There previously was one women-owned company, but they sold their
business. President Kreulen stated it does not happen often, but sometimes there is not a

minority business available.

Page 7 of 17



October 16, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors

Commissioner Joslin made a motion to approve and Commissioner Farner seconded the

motion.

Chair Sullivan asked Ms. Saxman for a roll call:
Chair Sullivan - Yes
Vice Chair Granbery — Yes
Secretary Byrd — Yes
Commissioner Joslin — Yes
Commissioner Stevenson — Yes
Commissioner Glover —Yes
Commissioner Farner — Yes

The motion passed with a vote of 7 to 0.

2. Construction Contract for Concourse A Ramp Expansion Paving (Operations)

President Kreulen introduced Ms. Traci Holton, VP, New Horizon, to brief the Board on the
Construction Contract for Concourse A Ramp Expansion Paving. Ms. Holton stated this is for
the construction of concrete terminal apron for aircraft maneuvering around the future
Concourse A expansion. MNAA advertised a Request for Proposal (RFP) in July 2024. Two
proposals were received in August 2024, and one firm was deemed non-responsive for failure
to meet SMWBE level or to provide acceptable good-faith efforts. Hi-Way Paving, Inc.’s
proposal was deemed responsive and responsible. Their proposal was at $20.5M. The
SMWBE goal was 10.45% MBE and 8%WBE and Hi-Way Paving, Inc. committed to slightly
exceed with 10.50% MBE and 8.04% WBE.

Ms. Holton recommended the Board of Commissioners accept the proposal by Hi-Way Paving,
Inc. and authorize the Chair and President and CEO to execute the construction contract for

$20,507,508.

Vice Chair Granbery asked Ms. Holton if she felt good about the amount of fill for the hole
and if it has stopped moving. Ms. Holton replied yes, MNAA feels good about it and there are
no settlement issues. Vice Chair Granbery asked if we have appointed any tactics to prevent
it from being a problem. Ms. Holton replied the FAA sets clear guidance on the quality control
requirements and quality assurance testing requirements, which MNAA will follow. There are

Page 8 of 17



October 16, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors

specific things that we can look for ahead of time to alleviate some of the stuff that happened
with TATE. Hi-Way Paving, Inc. has done the majority of the concrete paving at BNA, and we
feel confident in this contractor. President Kreulen stated MNAA continues to go back and
do an after-action review and it is a success story of what has happened. Mr. Ramsey and
the team put together a drawing of over 1,500 18.5 X 18.5 panels, with half placed by Superior
and half placed by Hi-Way Paving, Inc. The half done by Hi-Way Paving, Inc. had only one

panel that had to be replaced. Superior had 119 panels requiring replacement.

Ms. Holton stated MNAA will do the Concourse A ramp paving in 2 phases, one phase will
allow Operations to use for the interim time period for some Remain Overnight (RON)
positions as well as when we start filling the Central Ramp, they will be coming across the
remainder of the payment. It does not have to be complete until 2028, but we also need a
lay-down area to build Concourse A. and they have committed to a 30-day early completion
on the schedule, so the 270 is 30 days earlier than originally planned for both phases. Chair

Sullivan asked who the engineer is. Ms. Holton replied Garver was the Engineer of Record.

Commissioner Joslin stated the Operations Committee voted 2 to 0 to recommend approval
on October 9, 2024 and made a motion to approve and Commissioner Stevenson seconded

the motion.

Chair Sullivan asked Ms. Saxman for a roll call:
Chair Sullivan — Yes
Vice Chair Granbery — Yes
Secretary Byrd — Yes
Commissioner Joslin — Yes
Commissioner Stevenson — Yes
Commissioner Glover — Yes
Commissioner Farner — Yes

The motion passed with a vote of 7 to 0.

3. Task Order for Design of Taxiway Safety Area (“TSA”) Improvements to T/W Alpha North
(Operations)

President Kreulen introduced Puneet Vedi, VP, Airport Capital Development, to brief the

Board on the Task Order for Design of Taxiway Safety Area Improvements to T/W Alpha North.
Page 9 of 17



October 16, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors

Mr. Vedi stated this task order is for design, bidding, and construction administration services
for Part 139 Taxiway Safety Area Improvements to Taxiway Alpha North. Garver submitted a
Scope of Work and Fee Proposal on September 10, 2024. The total Task Order cost is
$1,286,605 and will start in October 2024 and end October 2025. The SMWBE goal was 10%
MBE and/or WBE and Garver has committed to 14.34% MBE and/or WBE participation on all

current task orders.

President Kreulen added that the Operations Committee had questions and we modified the
slides to show what was recommended by Committee vote — $1.286M -- and combined with
what has been spent totals $3.6M of the $5M NTE committed, so we are within budget on

the task order.

Mr. Vedi recommended the Board of Commissioners authorize the proposed Task Order

through the Engineering On-Call Contract with Garver for $1,286,605.

Commissioner Joslin stated the Operations Committee voted 2 to 0 to recommend approval
on October 9, 2024, and made a motion to approve and Commissioner Stevenson seconded

the motion.

Chair Sullivan asked Ms. Saxman for a roll call:
Chair Sullivan —Yes
Vice Chair Granbery — Yes
Secretary Byrd — Yes
Commissioner Joslin — Yes
Commissioner Stevenson — Yes
Commissioner Glover —Yes
Commissioner Farner — Yes

The motion passed with a vote of 7 to 0.

4. Task Order for Design of Terminal Ramp Reconstruction (Operations)

Mr. Vedi stated this task order is for design, bidding, and construction administration services
for Terminal Ramp Reconstruction. Garver submitted the Scope of Work and Fee Proposal on
September 30, 2024. The total Task Order cost is $872,000 NTE and will start in October 2024
and end in July 2025. The SMWBE commitment is 14.34% MBE and/or WBE participation on

Page 10 of 17



October 16, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors

all current task orders and is 100% funded by MNAA. This Task Order brings the total
committed to $4.4M of the S5M NTE budget.

Mr. Vedi recommended the Board of Commissioners authorize the proposed Task Order

through Engineering On-Call Contract with Garver for $872,000 NTE.

Commissioner Joslin stated the Operations Committee voted 2 to 0 to recommend approval
on October 9, 2024 and made a motion to approve and Commissioner Stevenson seconded

the motion.

Chair Sullivan asked Ms. Saxman for a roll call:
Chair Sullivan —Yes
Vice Chair Granbery — Yes
Secretary Byrd — Yes
Commissioner Joslin — Yes
Commissioner Stevenson —Yes
Commissioner Glover — Yes
Commissioner Farner — Yes

The motion passed with a vote of 7 to 0.

5. Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement with Bank of America, N.A. (Finance)

MNAA Resolution 2024-09; Initial Resolution

MNAA Resolution 2024-10, Authorizing Resolution

President Kreulen introduced Marge Basrai, EVP, Chief Financial Officer, to brief the Board on
the Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement with Bank of America, N.A. (“BofA”).
Ms. Basrai stated on January 7, 2019, MNAA entered into a new Note Purchase Agreement
(NPA) with Bank of America (BofA) to provide short-term cash flow funding for MNAA’s capital
projects. Draws are expected to be refinanced with long-term bonds. MNAA made a
commitment amount of $300 million for five years at variable interest rates using LIBOR
(London Interbank Offered Rate) index. On November 26, 2019, MNAA executed the First
Amendment of the NPA with BofA and increased the commitment amount to $400 million
and added an accordion feature which set our initial commitment amount at $100 million and
gave the ability to increase/decrease the facility as needed in order to save on commitment

Page 11 of 17



October 16, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors

fees. On December 1, 2021, MNAA executed the Second Amendment of the NPA with BofA,
which reduced the commitment amount to $300 million, removed the accordion feature and
updated the interest rate index to BSBY (Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield)due to LIBOR
publication ceased on June 30, 2023. On December 20, 2023, MNAA executed the Third
Amendment of the NPA with BofA, which extended maturity of the notes for a period not to

exceed one year to allow additional time to negotiate a new NPA.

MNAA discussed our need for a new NPA with PFM, MNAA'’s financial advisors. Based on
current market conditions (limited commercial banks willing to lend at the $300M+ without
other significant business relationships) and the excellent results of the current NPA and
flexibility from BofA, PFM’s recommendation was to negotiate directly with BofA for a new
NPA. In August 2024 we completed negotiations for the Amended & Restated NPA with BofA
for a three-year period. Ms. Basrai asked PFM to compare the proposed pricing and terms to
other similar short-term financing programs recently completed (airports, higher education,
and state entities). From their view, the proposed pricing/terms are comparable and in a lot
of cases favorable to other programs and recommended proceeding with the renewal with

BofA.

Ms. Basrai presented a table with the comparison of the pricing/terms between the current
NPA and the Amended & Restated NPA. The available Commitment will go back up to $400M.
It is a 3-year commitment period that will mature on or before 11/5/27 (trying to close before
10/31; 11/5 is the backup date). Bank of America offered the accordion feature back. Initial
Commitment amount on day of closing will be $200M. From there we can request increases
to the Commitment amount in increments up to the $400M. This will save us in unused
commitment fees. These requests for increase up to $400M is subject to approval from BofA,
however, we believe the risk is very low they will not grant the increase. In the event that
something does not get approved we have cash that we can temporarily use to fund our
construction and then go back to the market sooner than we anticipated. The current NPA
uses BSBY as the interest rate index. That will be ceasing on November 15, 2024, so we are
now using the Daily SOFR (Secured Overnight Financing Rate) as the index. Ms. Basrai showed
the comparable rates as of 9/23/24, which are just slightly higher due to some new banking
regulations in early 2024. Most of our debt is tax-exempt, and the interest rate difference is

very minimal. The Commitment Fee we do pay is a fee on the unused portion of 50% of the

Page 12 of 17



October 16, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors

commitment amount. The commitment fee is going up 11 bps (20 to 31 bps), however, with

the accordion feature we can minimize the commitment amount to keep these fees down.

Ms. Basrai recommended that the Board of Commissioners:

1) Approve MNAA Resolution No. 2024-09, Initial Resolution, pertaining to an additional
issuance under the Authority’s Amended and Restated NPA to finance a portion of

the Authority’s Capital Improvement Program not to exceed $400 million; and

2) Approve MNAA Resolution 2024-10, Authorizing Resolution, for an Amended and
Restated NPA to finance a portion of the Authority’s Capital Improvement Program,
to consolidate the NPAs into a single document, and establish an initial available

commitment of $200 million; and

3) Authorize the President and CEO to execute the Amended and Restated NPA with
BofA

Chair Sullivan asked if this is something the audit team will review. Ms. Basrai stated the
auditors look at all of our debt as part of their overall external audit to make sure that we are

in compliance and also that we are not over the amounts.

Commissioner Byrd stated the Finance Committee voted 3 to 0 to recommend approval on
October 9, 2024, and made a motion to approve and Commissioner Farner seconded the

motion.

Chair Sullivan asked Ms. Saxman for a roll call:
Chair Sullivan —Yes
Vice Chair Granbery — Yes
Secretary Byrd — Yes
Commissioner Joslin — Yes
Commissioner Stevenson —Yes
Commissioner Glover — Yes
Commissioner Farner — Yes

The motion passed with a vote of 7 to 0.

Page 13 of 17



October 16, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors

7.

Contract for Human Capital Management System (Finance)

President Kreulen introduced Randy Dorsten, AVP, Human Resources, to brief the Board on
the Contract for Human Capital Management System. Mr. Dorsten stated this contract is for
the replacement of the current UKG HCMS (Human Resources and Payroll System). This
system helps us recruit, train, payroll, and benefits. MNAA has been on the UKG for
approximately 20 years. UKG is planning to sunset their current system and would become
unsupported in the next few years. Through a Request for Information (“RFI”), MNAA
identified and evaluated 2 systems (ADP and Workday) on Cooperative Contracts, and

selected ADP. The contract start date is October 2024 and go live planned for December 2025.

Mr. Dorsten recommended the Board of Commissioners accept the proposal by ADP for
Workforce Now and authorize the Chair and President and CEO to execute the contract for

$2,300,000 NTE.

Commissioner Byrd stated the Finance Committee voted 3 to 0 to recommend approval on
October 9, 2024, and made a motion to approve and Commissioner Farner seconded the

motion.

Chair Sullivan asked Ms. Saxman for a roll call:
Chair Sullivan —Yes
Vice Chair Granbery — Yes
Secretary Byrd — Yes
Commissioner Joslin — Yes
Commissioner Stevenson —Yes
Commissioner Glover — Yes
Commissioner Farner — Yes

The motion passed with a vote of 7 to 0.

FY25 CEO Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) (Management)

Chair Sullivan stated the FY25 CEO Key Performance Indicators were reviewed and

recommended for approval by the Management Committee with slight modifications to FY24,

Page 14 of 17



October 16, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors

by a vote of 2 to 0 on October 9, 2024, and made a motion to approve and Commissioner

Stevenson seconded the motion.

Chair Sullivan asked Ms. Saxman for a roll call:
Chair Sullivan - Yes
Vice Chair Granbery — Yes
Secretary Byrd — Yes
Commissioner Joslin — Yes
Commissioner Stevenson — Yes
Commissioner Glover —Yes
Commissioner Farner — Yes

The motion passed with a vote of 7 to 0.

INFORMATION ITEMS

1.

BNA Development Update (Operations)

President Kreulen presented several renderings of BNA Development. The Concourse D extension
continues to make progress and 259 days to opening. Terminal Drive has been expanded to 2
lanes after you get onto BNA property to the terminal. The pavement has been completed and
permanent markings will be down by the end of October 2024. Taxis and Limos will move to the
South Wing Lot on November 5, 2024. The Central Ramp Expansion team has weekly task force
meetings that started on September 4, 2024, and has sent a draft Environmental Assessment to

the FAA on October 15, 2024.

Vice Chair Granbery asked if there has been any movement with TDOT on expanding the exit from
I-40. President Kreulen stated great question, in the Board Retreat today we will show the Board
the roadway modeling that has been developed. There are 2 areas that MNAA wants to work
with TDOT, and he sent email this morning to Deputy Governor Eley and his staff letting them
know that we are presenting to the Board today and would like to come to them following the

Board’s review.

JWN Development Update (Operations)

President Kreulen presented a photograph of the JWN North Development showing the V3

aircraft hangar. They have not passed their fire inspection yet, and once that is achieved, they

Page 15 of 17



October 16, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors

will have their building inspection. President Kreulen presented a 2" photograph showing the
progress of the MNPD hangar. The 2™ FBO selection team is reviewing the 3 proposals received
from Atlantic Aviation, Signature Aviation, and Jet Access. There will most likely be interviews of
the finalists. It will come back to the Board in November for approval. Commissioner Joslin asked
how many proposals MNAA received. Vice Chair Granbery stated only 3, which is disappointing,
and asked if there is any underlying reason. President Kreulen replied he does not think so, there
were 20 potential proposers at the pre-proposal meeting, and all 3 of the proposals received are
already operating at BNA. There is one that MNAA thought was going to bid that did not show up

to the mandatory pre-proposal meeting and that disqualified them.

Commissioner Joslin stated we set the bar too high, it is a $35M minimum investment. President
Kreulen replied yes, it is, and he does not believe MNAA set the bar too high to meet the long-
term needs of JWN. We want the $35M investment to build a new terminal, new hangars,
and provide Part 145 jet maintenance. They all participated in the RFI so they saw and had the
opportunity to influence us as we developed the final specifications and no one complained to his
knowledge. Chair Sullivan stated a lot of times when that many show up for the proposals, it
scares some off. Commissioner Joslin stated those are 3 big operators here, there are some
regional operators, and they are going to control the fuel sales here and at BNA, that is his only

fear.

President Kreulen stated that MNAA will come back to the Board in November 2024.
Commissioner Joslin asked if Wilson Air bid, he thinks they did not want to have anything to do
with the restaurant. Ms. Taylor replied that was one of the options. President Kreulen stated the
features we wanted ended up going out in the proposal. Ms. Taylor stated we did the Request
for Information (RFI) and an industry day, so they had an opportunity to talk through that. Their
comments and suggestions from the RFI came into the RFP. Vice Chair Granbery asked where the
S$35M came from. President Kreulen replied it is based on the facilities that we believe JWN is
warranted and based on the amount of square footage and properties that we are going to lease.
When we compared business deals that we have done with Signature and Atlantic here and
around the United States, this is not an uncommon ask. JWN in operations is just behind Smyrna.
Whoever is the selected proposer is coming into an airport where there is 100K operations
happening in a year and that is why they decided to propose. | share your concern, but if MNAA
was doing this on our own, we would have asked for these same sort of things based on feedback.

Vice Chair Granbery stated controlling the rental of the hangars, at the end of the day regardless

Page 16 of 17



October 16, 2024 Minutes of the Meeting of the MNAA Board of Commissioners and MPC Board of Directors

of what they build, MNAA will have control of all of the hangars that are built. President Kreulen
replied yes, we have control of all the hangars that are being built on the North and control of all
the hangars on the South, and once the current FBO lease expires, we will be in control of those
3 new hangars that are being built. This FBO is to provide maintenance and overnight services to

jets coming out of there, and they will need to build a terminal and hangars to park jets.

3. FY24 Employee Performance Results (Management)

President Kreulen reported the FY24 Employee Performance Results were shared at the
Management Committee and the Performance Incentive Payout will be paid on Friday, October

18, 2024.

President Kreulen concluded the presentation of the informational items.

l. ADJOURN

There being no further business brought before the Board, Chair Sullivan made the motion to
adjourn, and Vice Chair Granbery seconded the motion, which carried by a vote of 5 to 0. Chair

Sullivan adjourned the meeting at 9:52 a.m.

Andrew Byrd, Board Secretary

Page 17 of 17



Nashville
NA International
o\ Airporte
STAFF ANALYSIS

Board of Commissioners

Date: November 20, 2024
Facility: Nashville International Airport

Subject: Baggage Handling System (BHS) Expansion (New Horizon)
Progressive Design-Build CGMP2 of 3 (Project No. 2312)

I. Recommendation

Staff requests that the Board of Commissioners:

1) authorize the Chair and President and CEO to execute the proposed Amendment 1 for
Component Guaranteed Maximum Price #2 (CGMP2) for facilities construction related to the
Baggage Handling System Expansion for the Progressive Design-Build contract with Messer
Construction at Nashville International Airport (BNA).

Il. Analysis

A. Background

At the Board retreat in October 2021, staff demonstrated the need for additional gates beyond what
would be provided as part of Vision 2.0 and presented the New Horizon concept. New Horizon
consisted of a 5-gate extension to D Concourse, a new A Concourse, relocation of the Air Freight
Building and a major overhaul to the Baggage Handling System to increase both performance and
capacity. In May 2022, the Board approved proceeding with design and construction of the BHS
Expansion Project. The Baggage Handling System Expansion project will invest in the existing BHS
bringing it up to standards and increase its capacity to meet demands of 40 million annual passengers
(MAP).

The Progressive Design-Build contract establishes a Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) at a date in
the future based on the 100% design drawings. For scheduling purposes, to fast-track the project,
“component” GMPs, (CGMP’s) are utilized to provide for early start of critical path items. It is expected
this project will require 3 CGMP’s to reach the final GMP. These CGMP’s will evolve and will be
composed as follows: CGMP1 — design and preconstruction services; CGMP2 — enabling and facility
expansion; CGMP3 — baggage handling system.

On November 16, 2022, the Board approved the selection of Messer Construction and CGMP #1 for
design and preconstruction phase services. Currently, airport staff is asking the Board to approve
CGMP #2 for facilities construction in the amount not-to-exceed $90,000,000. This CGMP #2 is to
authorize funding to begin subcontracting work to support these construction activities. Work
associated with this CGMP involves construction of a 22,000 square foot building expansion,
adjustment of 3 aircraft parking positions including fuel hydrant relocation, one new passenger

Page 1 of 2



A. Impact/Findings

MNAA SMWBE Participation Level:
Messer SMWBE Participation Level:
Anticipated Contract Start Date:

Duration of Contract:

Contract Completion Date:

Component Guaranteed Maximum Price 1

Component Guaranteed Maximum Price 2

Funding Source:

Strategic Priorities

e Plan for the Future

Options/Alternatives

4.94% MBE and/or WBE
4.94% MBE and/or WBE
December 2022

2,190 Calendar Days
December 2028

S 8,773,255

$ 90,000,000

100% Bonds

boarding bridge and striping. This scope also includes General Requirements and General Conditions.
The Board is requested to authorize Messer, via an amendment to their contract, to begin entering
into subcontract agreements to deliver the project. In doing so, Messer will negotiate final scopes of
work and final bid prices for each individual package of work and bring that information to MNAA staff
for review and approval. The MNAA maintains final approval on all subcontracts for this project.

Do Nothing: The “Do Nothing” option will result in the inability to complete New Horizon or meet

passenger growth projections.

Committee Review

This item was presented to the Operations Committee on November 13, 2024. The Operations
Committee voted 3 to 0 to recommend approval to the Board of Commissioners.

Page 2 of 2



Nashville
International
o\ Airporte

STAFF ANALYSIS

Board of Commissioners

Date: November 20, 2024

Facility: Nashville International Airport (BNA)

Subject: Amendment 1 to Professional Services Contract for Terminal Access Roadway

Improvements (TARI) — Phases 2 & 3
(CIP 1801A)

Recommendation

Staff requests that the Board of Commissioners:

1) authorize the Chair and President and CEO to execute Amendment 1 to the professional
services contract with Atkins in the amount of $2,500,000 NTE.

Analysis

A. Background

On January 18, 2023, the Board of Commissioners approved the Atkins professional services
contract for final design and construction services for Phases 2 and 3 of the Terminal Access
Roadway Improvements (TARI) project. Since that time Atkins has produced construction
documents for TARI Ph 2, currently under construction and TARI Phase 3 in preparation for TDOTs
early completion of the Donelson Pike project in mid-2025.

As a result of roadway modeling and the Terminal Il and ConRAC Siting Study presented at the
October 2024 Board Retreat, there have been 3 changes to the design of TARI Phase 3:

1) The “Terminal Il and ConRAC Siting Study,” identified the preferred location for the new
Garage and Rental Car Complex to be within the footprint of the TARI project. The specific
ConRAC location will include a multi-story structured parking facility, access for public
vehicles as well as rental vehicles, pedestrian connectivity to the existing parking
garage(s), vehicular access around and into the new ConRAC, and shuttle access to/from

the future Terminal Il. The location of the new Garage and Rental Car Complex will
require significant roadway realignment and extensive phasing around the new ConRAC
complex.

2) Traffic modeling identified the need for an additional (7") lane on a portion of Terminal
Drive to achieve acceptable level of service at 40 million annual passengers.

3) Due to the complexity of the addition of the Garage and Rental Car Complex in proximity
to the TARI project, we believe it is necessary to change the project delivery to progressive
design-build. An alternative project delivery matrix validated this approach versus CMAR

Page 1 of 2



or design-bid-build.
Therefore, Atkins contract is being amended to provide the following:

e Provide an additional (7™) lane on the northeast portion Terminal Drive which includes
widening the bridge over Fly Nashville Way

e 10% bridging document and cost estimate for the terminal roadway improvements and

Garage and Rental Car Complex. This will then be used to procure a progressive design-
build team

B. Impact/Findings

MNAA SMWBE Participation Level: 5.77% MBE and/or WBE
Atkins Contract SMWBE Participation Level: 12.00% MBE and WBE
Atkins Amended SMWBE Participation Level: 10.17% MBE and WBE
Contract Amount: $3,500,000.00
Amendment 1 Amount: $2,500,000.00 NTE
Total Construction Contract: $6,000,000.00 NTE
Start of Contract January 2023

Contract Completion Date: December 2027
Funding Source: 100% MNAA

C. Strategic Priorities

e Investin BNA/JWN

D. Options/Alternatives

Do Nothing: The “Do Nothing” option will not allow for the construction of expanded terminal
roadways, new ConRAC or sufficient public parking to meet passenger demands.

lll. Committee Review

This item was presented to the Operations Committee on November 13, 2024. The Operations
Committee voted 3 to 0 to recommend approval to the Board of Commissioners.

Page 2 of 2



Nashville
International
o\ Airporte

STAFF ANALYSIS

Board of Commissioners

Date: November 20, 2024
Facility: Nashville International Airport

Subject: On-Call Contract for Snow and Ice Clearing and Removal

l. Recommendation

Staff requests that the Board of Commissioners:

1) Acceptthe proposal submitted by Grade-A Construction selected for the On-Call Ice and Snow
Clearing and Removal Contract.

2) Authorize the Chair and President and CEO to execute the Contract for $1.5M NTE per event
and $3M NTE annually.

Il. Analysis

A. Background

The On-Call Ice and Snow Clearing and Removal Contract is needed to ensure BNA has the necessary
support to clear, and keep clear, all areas that Facilities Maintenance personnel are unable to address.
The efforts and expertise of Facilities Maintenance personnel are primarily focused on keeping the
runways, taxiways, ramp and other vital areas clear and available for use by the various airlines. The
On-Call Contractor will be utilized to clear and remove ice and snow from other support areas, used
by the public, airport employees and Authority personnel.

The Areas to be covered under the new Contract include:
Employee Parking Lot — 737,566 sq ft

CNG Tank Area — 14,764 sq ft

Gassaway Building Parking Lot — 63,550 sq ft
Gold Building Parking Lot — 188,203 sq ft

PMO Parking Lot — 251,779 sq ft

BNA Express Parking Lot — 424,165 sq ft
Terminal Lot A Walkway — Approx. 1,800 ft
Terminal Garage 1 Entry and Exit — 44,188 sq ft
. Terminal Garage 2 Entry and Exit — 38,297 sq ft
10. Cell phone lot—1,163 sq ft

11. Eight (8) Common Use Gates as assigned

=

© O N U AW

12. Snow piles located on Ramp areas as assigned

Page 1 of 3



13.

14,

15.

16.

Knights of Columbus Road (from Briley Parkway) — approximately 1.2 miles from Briley
Parkway through the gate to where the salt barn is located

Knapp Road between Hangar Lane and Faircloth Lane, crossing over Donelson Pike
(Donelson Pike intersection is not included)

Removal of snow piles from ramp clearance by MNAA and airlines personnel. This will
require dump trucks to be on the ramp(s) in this process. (MNAA has an on-site location for
the snow to be dumped/off-loaded). This will be as an “As Need” basis at the hourly rates
provided.

Removal of snow around the terminal on the apron areas (apron areas are defined as from

the terminal to the movement line and is located inside the secured area of the airport and
will require a BNA issued badge to access this area). This area will be on an “As Need” basis.
MNAA will direct the Contractor as to when this area will need to be serviced.

The previous Contract for On-Call Ice and Snow Clearing and Removal expired on March 31, 2024.
Over the last three (3) years the authority has spent on average two (2) million dollars per year for ice
and snow removal services utilizing our on-call contactor. In FY24 the authority spent $1,892,467.25
for one six (6) day snow event.

On September 20, 2024, a Request for Proposal for the BNA On Call Ice and Snow Clearing and
Removal Contract was published.

On September 27, 2024, a pre-proposal meeting was held. The current timeline for awarding the
Contract is as follows:

October 4, 2024, the final addendum was issued to vendors
October 11, 2024, final proposals received in B2G
October 24, 2024 selection committee review proposals and scored packages

November 4, 2024, Intent to Award to Procurement Administrator after evaluation criteria was
scored based on the following scoring criteria:
o Ability to meet the requirements outlined in the RFP’s scope of services = 30 Points
Qualifications/Experience = 25 Points
Cost of proposed services = 20 Points
Responsiveness to the RFP = 5 Points
Project approach = 15 Points
SMWSBE Participation = 5 points

O O O O O

November 20, 2024, Contract Award

December 1, 2024, Contract commencement

Three proposals were received on October 22, 2024. Proposals were evaluated based on the scoring
criteria, and award to Grade-A was recommended based on the scores.

Grade-A 241
Snow-Go 175
Utopia 165

Page 2 of 3



B. Impact/Findings

MNAA SMWBE Participation Level: 7.96% MBE and/or WBE

Grade-A SMWBE Participation Level: 8.02% MBE

Duration of Contract: Three years, plus two, one- year options
Contract Completion Date: November 30, 2029 (with options)

Annual Cost Estimate: $1.5M per event, $3M NTE per contract year
Funding Source: Operations and Maintenance (O&M)

C. Strategic Priorities

e [nvestin BNA
e Plan for the Future

e Prepare for the Unexpected

D. Options/Alternatives

1. Do Nothing: The “Do Nothing” option will result in BNA not having the proper support
system in place to ensure airlines are able to provide air service and, passengers and
workers are able to safely reach the airport and travel out of state.

Ill. Committee Review

This item was presented to the Operations Committee on November 13, 2024. The Operations
Committee voted 3 to 0 to recommend approval to the Board of Commissioners.

Page 3 of 3



Nashville
N ‘ \ International
o\ Airporte
STAFF ANALYSIS

Board of Commissioners

Date: November 20, 2024

Facility: Nashville International Airport

Subject: Contract for Ramp Control Services

Recommendation

Staff requests that the Board of Commissioners:
1) Accept the Service Agreement with Robinson Aviation, Inc.

2) Authorize the Chair and President and CEO to execute the proposed contract for the amount
contained herein.

Analysis

A. Background

Ramp control services have been provided since the fall of 2023, under an agreement initiated
and managed by Southwest Airlines, directly with Robinson Aviation, Inc., with the intent and
understanding that MNAA would enter into a contract for these services by January 1, 2025.
MNAA had originally intended to build out a virtual ramp control facility in FY25, however, given
the planned location of the virtual ramp control facility occupying space in a building that will
need to be removed to enable the development of Terminal Il, the decision was made to maintain
these services from the existing ramp control tower above Concourse C. Procurement authorized
a waiver to procure the services. This ramp control facility dates to the 1980s, as ramp control
services were provided from this location during American Airlines hub operations through the
early 1990s.

The services provided under this proposal ensure the safe and efficient movement of all
commercial aircraft on and off all ramp and gate areas of Nashville International Airport. The
Federal Aviation Administration provides for the safe movement of aircraft on/off runways and
immediate taxiways but does not manage air traffic within the ‘non-movement’ area, which is
some of the most congested areas of BNA, especially with continuous growth and near continuous
construction activity affecting portions of the terminal complex.

Ramp control ensures aircraft are safely directed on/off ramp and gate locations and helps to
orchestrate and coordinate aircraft movements for deicing activity. These services ensure a safe
and seamless flow of aircraft in and out of the Airport.

The proposal provides a minimum of 18 hours of ramp control services per day seven days a week,
with the expectation of increasing these hours from the first departure to the last arrival. As BNA
continues to see flight activity growth, this proposal does contemplate 24x7 ramp control
services, which are already necessary depending on construction activity. Today, ramp control
services are not provided for the North Ramp (Concourse A and some of Concourse B), however,

Page 1 of 3



this proposal includes the technology enabling necessary to control the North Ramp, which will
be particularly important during Concourse A reconstruction, which will create some limitations

on aircraft movements.

In addition to staffing and management fee costs, this proposal also includes funding for
equipment and technology necessary to operate and provide effective ramp control services. This
includes but is not limited to acquiring new radios, hardware, software, radio frequency
recorders, radio frequency management, Saab’s Aerobahn surface movement and management
platform, required IT infrastructure and networking, and a direct phone line to the FAA Tower.

Ramp Control /
Serviced Provided — §o ===
in Orange Area

Impact / Findings

SMWBE Goal:

Anticipated Contract Start Date:
Duration of Contract:

Contract Completion Date:

Operating Cost Year 1

Operating Cost Year 2
Estimated Contract Cost 2 years

Funding Source:

Guitar Pick

B Concourse

Sims Branch

Race and Gender Neutral

January 1, 2025

2 years (will be competitively solicited during year 2)
December 31, 2027

$3,151,142 (includes $650,000 in one-time equipment
facility upgrade costs)

$2,568,180
$5,719,322 NTE

Operations & Maintenance (O&M) & Capital, allocated
to the Airlines through the Rates & Charges Model.

Page 2 of 3



C. Strategic Priorities
e Plan for the Future
e Prepare for the Unexpected
D. Options / Alternatives
1. Do nothing: The “Do Nothing” option will result in the inability to maintain efficient flows

of aircraft on/off the aprons and gate areas of Nashville International Airport, significantly
slowing down the movement of aircraft, driving delays, and reducing safety.

Ill. Committee Review

This item was presented to the Operations Committee on November 13, 2024. The Operations
Committee voted 3 to 0 to recommend approval to the Board of Commissioners.

Page 3 of 3



Nashville
International
o\ Airporte

STAFF ANALYSIS

Board of Commissioners

Date: November 20, 2024
Facility: Nashville International Airport / John C. Tune Airport
Subject: On-Call Contract for Airfield Pavement Repair Services

l. Recommendation

Staff requests that the Board of Commissioners:

1) Accept the proposal by Hi-Way Paving Inc. for the On-Call Airfield Pavement Repair Services
at Nashville International Airport (BNA) and John C. Tune Airport (JWN); and

2) authorize the Chair and President and CEO to execute the proposed contract for the
amounts contained herein.

Il. Analysis

A. Background

The Engineering Department is responsible for airfield projects beyond the capabilities of the MNAA
Maintenance Department. To facilitate this responsibility, the Engineering Department issued a
Request for Proposals for qualified contractors to submit to be awarded an On-Call Contract. There
are two purposes for this On-Call Contract: to allow the Engineering Department to issue project-
based Task Orders to a contractor for major rehabilitation projects and to provide short-notice
emergency repairs on damaged airfield pavement.

The existing on-call airfield pavement repair contract expired on November 8, 2024. A new airfield
pavement repair on-call contract is critical with the regularly planned Capital Improvement projects
for both the asphalt and concrete airfield pavement. Furthermore, based on the estimates for the
terminal apron reconstruction project (57,000,000 for all tasks) and the continued Annual Pavement
rehabilitation and Marking projects ($1,500,000 per year), an annual Not to Exceed limit of
$10,000,000 is appropriate. Any task order that is $500,000 or more will be brought to the Board
for approval.

A Request for Proposals was advertised on September 16, 2024.
On October 17, 2024, one (1) proposal was received from Hi-Way Paving Inc.
The selection committee evaluated the proposals based on the criteria below:

1. Mandatory Requirements
2. Experience & Qualifications

Page 1 of 3



3. SMWBE
4. Price

The selection committee determined Hi-Way Paving Inc. to be a qualified firm to provide on-call
airfield pavement repair and reconstruction services. The full results of the technical evaluation are
presented in the table below.

Contractor Evaluation Score

Hi-Way Paving 298

The SMWBE participation level established for each contract year is 11.36% MBE and/or WBE. Hi-
Way Paving is committed to meeting or exceeding the goal. The SMWBE subcontractors are
identified below:

Archangel Protective Services, Inc., OnTrac Security LLC, E3 Construction Company, Inc., Gibco
Construction, LLC, SB Johnson Construction, LLC, Kimberly, Inc, and Pozzolanic Contracting &
Supply Co.

The Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority (MNAA) has evaluated the proposal and determined

Hi-Way Paving, Inc. to be responsive and responsible and recommend award to Hi-Way Paving, Inc.
for On-Call Airfield Pavement Repair Services at BNA and JWN.

B. Impact/Findings

MNAA SMWBE Participation Level: 11.36% MBE and/or WBE
Hi-Way Paving Inc. SMWBE Participation Level: 11.36% MBE and/or WBE
Anticipated Contract Start Date: November 2024

Duration of Contract: 1 year (plus 4 one-year options)
Contract Completion Date: November 2025

Contract Amount: $10,000,000 NTE per year
Funding Source: Determined on task-by-task basis

C. Strategic Priorities

e Investin BNA and JWN

e Prepare for the Unexpected
D. Options/Alternatives

Do Nothing: The “Do Nothing” option will result in the inability to use Airfield Pavement Repair
On-call, requiring MNAA to procure these services for individual projects, adding months to each
project delivery schedule, reducing staff’s ability to respond to needs efficiently, and eliminating
the ability to execute project work cost-effectively.

Page 2 of 3



lll. Committee Review

This item was presented to the Operations Committee on November 13, 2024. The Operations
Committee voted 3 to 0 to recommend approval to the Board of Commissioners.

Page 3 of 3



Nashville
NA International
e\ Airporte
STAFF ANALYSIS

Board of Commissioners

Date: November 20, 2024
Facility: Nashville International Airport (BNA)
Subject: Amendment to On-Call Low Voltage, Communication, and Power — Equipment, Cabling, and

Conduit Services Contract Years 4 and 5 Not to Exceed Limit Increase

l. Recommendation

Staff requests that the Board of Commissioners:

1) authorize the Chair and President and CEO to execute the amendment to the On-Call Low
Voltage, Communication and Power — Equipment, Cabling, and Conduit Services Contract
with Simino Electric to increase Year 4 and 5 limit from $750,000 to $2,000,000 NTE, for a
total 5-year amount of $5,361,000 NTE.

Il. Analysis

1) Background

On February 17, 2021, the Board approved the award of the On-Call Low Voltage, Communication,
and Power — Equipment, Cabling, and Conduit Services Contract to Simino Electric for on-call
construction services for maintenance, repair, alterations, renovations, remediations, or construction
of facilities for the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority. This On-Call Contract was executed for
one (1) year with four one-year renewal options. The On-Call Contract also included a Not to Exceed
commitment limit of $750,000 per year for each of the years the contract was renewed. The current
On-Call Contract included a Year 4 start date of February 26, 2024, and end date of February 26, 2025,
and a Year 5 start date of February 26, 2025, and end date of February 26, 2026.

As of November 9, 2024, the Not to Exceed limit of $750,000 has been reached for Year 4 and there
are approximately 3 % months remaining until Year 5 begins. We are expecting additional projects to
require Low Voltage On-Call Contract services in the amount of $1,100,000. Based on the known
project needs for low voltage construction and additional unplanned project needs, it is requested
that the Board modify the On-Call Contract’s Not to Exceed limit for Year 4 to $2,000,000. Additionally
based on Year 3 commitments, we can reasonably expect Year 5 commitments of a Not to Exceed
limit of $2,000,000. Known project needs include TARI and PARCS support, camera and CCTV
replacement, and parking lot reconfiguration.

The SMWBE participation level established for the On-Call Contract was 4.3% MBE. This commitment
will not change based on the requested increase in the annual Not to Exceed value of the On-Call
Contract.

Page 1 of 2



2) Impact/Findings

MNAA SMWBE Participation Level (On-Call Contract): 4.3% MBE
Simino SMWBE Participation Level: 4.3% MBE

Initial On-Call Contract Value: $750,000 NTE (per year);
One year + four 1-year renewal options

Amended On-Call Contract Year 4 and 5 Value: $2,000,000 NTE (per year);
Years4 and 5

Amended Contract Value: Year 1-2/26/2021-2/25/2022: $ 385,000 Actual
Year 2 -2/26/2022-2/25/2023: S 342,000 Actual
Year 3-2/26/2023 - 2/25/2024: S 634,000 Actual
Year 4 —2/26/2024 — 2/25/2025:  $2,000,000 NTE
Year 5 —2/26/2025 —2/25/2026:  $2,000,000 NTE

Total (5 years) $5,361,000 NTE
Duration of Contract (@ amended value): Two Years (Years 4 and 5)
Funding Source: Determined on task-by-task basis

3) Strategic Priorities

e [nvestin BNA

e Plan for the Future

4) Options/Alternatives

Do Nothing: The “Do Nothing” option will result in the inability to issue additional Task Orders on
the On-Call Low Voltage, Communication and Power — Equipment, Cabling, and Conduit Services
Contract for Year 4 and 5, requiring MNAA to procure these services for individual projects, adding
months to each project delivery schedule, reducing staff’s ability to respond to needs efficiently,
and eliminating the ability to execute project work cost-effectively.

lll. Committee Review

This item was presented to the Operations Committee on November 13, 2024. The Operations
Committee voted 3 to 0 to recommend approval to the Board of Commissioners.

Page 2 of 2



Nashville
NA International
e\ Airporte
STAFF ANALYSIS

Board of Commissioners

Date: November 20, 2024
Facility: Nashville International Airport (BNA)
Subject: Amendment to On-Call General Construction Services (Job Order Contract) Year 2 Limit Increase

l. Recommendation

Staff requests that the Board of Commissioners:

1) authorize the Chair and President and CEO to execute the amendment to the On Call General
Construction Services Contract (Job Order Contract) by increasing the commitment limit for
Year 2 from $3,000,000 to $5,000,000, for a total 5-year contract amount of $14,777,000 NTE.

Il. Analysis

A. Background

On February 15, 2023, the Board approved the Job Order Contract (JOC) for on-call general
construction services for maintenance, repair, alterations, renovations, remediations, or construction
of facilities for the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority. This Job Order Contract was executed
for one (1) year with four one-year renewal options. The Job Order Contract also included a Not to
Exceed commitment limit of $3,000,000 per year for each of the years the contract was renewed. The
current Job Order Contract included a Year 2 start date of March 20, 2024, and end date of March
19, 2025.

As of November 9, 2024, $2,077,374 has been committed to Utopia Building Group in Year 2 of the
Job Order Contract. We are expecting additional projects in the amount of $2,200,000, including
Administration Building Reconfiguration, Ticket Counter Weather Protection, and miscellaneous
building demolition. Based on these figures, the planned use of the Job Order Contract in Year 2 will
be over $4,000,000. It is also recommended that enough additional Not to Exceed value be added to
Year 2 for unplanned projects or maintenance needs. Therefore, it is requested that the Board modify
the Job Order Contract’s Not to Exceed limit for Year 2 to $5,000,000.

The SMWBE participation level established for the Job Order Contract was 24% MBE and/or WBE.

This commitment will not change based on the requested increase in the annual Not to Exceed value
of the Job Order Contract.

B. Impact/Findings

MNAA SMWBE Participation Level: 10.98% MBE and 3.47% WBE

Page 1 of 2



Utopia SMWBE Participation (JOC): 24% MBE and/or WBE

Initial JOC Value:
Amended JOC Year 2 Value:

Amended Contract Value:

Duration of Contract:
Funding Source:
Strategic Priorities

e Investin BNA

e Plan for the future

e Prepare for the Unexpected

. Options/Alternatives

$3,000,000 (per year); 1 year + four 1-year renewals

$5,000,000 NTE

Year 1-3/20/23 -3/30/24:
Year 2 —3/20/24 - 3/30/25:
Year 3 -3/20/25-3/30/26:
Year 4 —3/20/26 —3/30/27:
Year 5 —3/20/27 — 3/30/28:

S 777,000 Actual

S 5,000,000 NTE

S 3,000,000 NTE (optional)
S 3,000,000 NTE (optional)
S 3,000,000 NTE (optional)

Total (5 years with options)

$14,777,000 NTE

2 years + 3 remaining renewal options

Determined on task-by-task basis

Do Nothing: The “Do Nothing” option will result in the inability to issue additional Task Orders on
the Job Order Contract for Year 2, requiring MNAA to procure these services for individual
projects, adding months to each project delivery schedule, reducing staff’s ability to respond to
needs efficiently, and eliminating the ability to execute project work cost-effectively.

Ill. Committee Review

This item was presented to the Operations Committee on November 13, 2024. The Operations
Committee voted 3 to 0 to recommend approval to the Board of Commissioners.

Page 2 of 2



Nashville
NA International
e\ Airporte
STAFF ANALYSIS

Board of Commissioners

Date: November 20, 2024
Facility: Nashville International Airport (BNA)
Subject: Task Order for Administration Building Reconfiguration

Project No. 2506

l. Recommendation

Staff requests that the Board of Commissioners:

1) Accept the proposal by Utopia Building Group (Utopia) for the Administration Building
Reconfiguration, and;

2) authorize the proposed task order through the Job Order Contract for the amount of
$1,000,000 NTE.

Il. Analysis

A. Background

The MNAA Administration Building was completed in 2021 and designed to accommodate
approximately 162 employees. In the past three years, MNAA has experienced unprecedented growth
in our number of employees, adding over 120 employees from October 2021 to October 2024. With
this rapid growth in both staff and leadership roles, it has become necessary to reconfigure the
Administration Building to better and more efficiently provide workspaces to existing employees and
future employees.

The Administration Building Reconfiguration project consists of the build-out of thirty-five (35)
additional cubicle workstations, three (3) conference rooms convertible to C-level offices, two (2) VP
level offices, and conference room reconfiguration to allow for the upgrades. Phase | includes
procurement of twenty-three (23) of the cubicles. Phases Il & Il include breakroom, conference
rooms, new offices & cubicles modifications.

On February 15, 2023, the Board approved a Job Order Contract (JOC) for on-call general construction
services for maintenance, repair, alterations, renovations, remediations, or construction of facilities
for the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority. Construction projects utilize this Job Order Contract
via Task Orders, which are issued upon receipt, review, and approval of scope and fee proposed by
the Job Order Contractor (Utopia). MNAA Staff has received and reviewed the overall Utopia
proposal, in an amount Not to Exceed $1,000,000. Once approved, a JOC Task Order will be issued to
Utopia Construction.

The FY25 Capital Improvements Plan (CIP) included a project for this Administration Building

Page 1 of 2



Reconfiguration, with an estimated project budget of $600,000. At the time the project was being
developed for inclusion on the FY25 CIP, it was believed that $600,000 would be sufficient for the
scope of work planned at that time. Since the original estimate, additional scope of work was added
including breakroom and conference room reconfiguration, additional workspaces and more detailed
plans have been developed. Phase 1 of the project can be completed within the initial project budget,
while Phases Il and Il will require an estimated additional $1,000,000 to complete. The required
project budget for this project must be revised to $1,900,000, which includes this job order contract
as well as cubicles, furniture, low voltage services and design fees. While this individual project budget
is increased to $1.9M, it is within the FY25 CIP budget amount of $1,267,984,000 approved on April
17, 2024.

The SMWBE participation level established for the Job Order Contract is 24% MBE and/or WBE.
Utopia remains committed to reaching or exceeding the SMWBE participation goal each year for the
duration of the Job Order Contract.

B. Impact/Findings

MNAA SMWBE Participation Level: 10.98% MBE and 3.47% WBE
Utopia SMWBE Participation (JOC Contract): 24% MBE and/or WBE

Anticipated Task Order Start Date: November 2024
Duration of Task Order: 120 Calendar Days
Task Order Completion Date: May 2025
Contract Cost (JOC Task Order): $1,000,000 NTE
Funding Source: 100% MNAA

C. Strategic Priorities

e Investin BNA

e Plan for the future
D. Options/Alternatives

Do Nothing: The “Do Nothing” option will result in the inability to house new MNAA staff at the
Admin building.

Committee Review

This item was presented to the Operations Committee on November 13, 2024. The Operations
Committee voted 3 to 0 to recommend approval to the Board of Commissioners.

Page 2 of 2



Nashville
N ‘ \ International
o\ Airporte
STAFF ANALYSIS

Board of Commissioners

Date: November 20, 2024

Facility: MNAA

Subject:  Customer Facility Charge (“CFC”) Increase

MNAA Resolution 2024-08

Recommendation

Staff requests that the Board of Commissioners:

1) authorize the Chair and President and CEO to adopt MNAA Resolution 2024-08, which amends
MNAA Resolution 2009-14, to increase the CFC from $4.50 per transaction day to $10.00 per
transaction day to fund costs associated with the current and future CONRAC Facility.

Analysis

A. Background

The Authority is authorized to impose rates and charges, such as Customer Facility Charges
(“CFCs”), by its enabling statute, T.C.A. § 42-4-101, et seq. Pursuant to T.C.A. § 52-4-107(10), the
Authority has “the right and duty to establish and charge fees, rentals, rates and other charges,
and collect revenues there from, not inconsistent with the rights of the holders of its bonds ...".

In November 2007, the Board approved MNAA Resolution 2007-21 to authorize the imposition by
the Authority of a CFC on the customers of on-airport car rental companies in the amount of $4.00
per transaction day. Under this Enabling Resolution, CFCs are to be used to pay or to reimburse
the Authority for the costs associated with the planning, design, construction, financing, and
operation of the Consolidated Rental Car Facility (the “CONRAC Facility”) on BNA. The CFC
became effective January 1, 2008. The car rental companies are required to collect the CFCs from
their customers and remit the CFCs to MNAA on a monthly basis.

In September 2008, the Board approved MNAA Resolution 2008-15, which amended and restated
MNAA Resolution 2007-21 as follows:

e CFCs collected by on-Airport car rental companies from each of its customers shall remain
the property of the Authority only. The Authority shall have the right to pledge the CFC
proceeds as collateral security for the payment of any debt obligations incurred by the
Authority in connection with the planning, design, construction, financing, maintenance
and operation of the CONRAC Facility.

e The CFC proceeds shall be used to pay, or reimburse the Authority for, the costs, fees and
expenses associated with the planning, design, construction, financing, maintenance and
operation of the CONRAC Facility and other costs, fees and expenses that may be paid
from CFC proceeds.

Page 10of4



In November 2009, the Board approved MNAA Resolution 2009-14, which amended MNAA
Resolution 2008-15, to increase the amount of the CFC imposed by MNAA on customers of on-
Airport rental companies from $4.00 per transaction day to $4.50 per transaction day. This
became effective on November 18, 2009. The increase in the CFC rate was determined to be
necessary to provide additional funding for the financing of the CONRAC Facility and to enhance
the financial viability of the CONRAC Facility.

During January 2010, MNAA issued $66,300,000 in Special Facility Revenue Bonds Series 2010
Bonds. The Series 2010 Bonds were issued in order to provide certain financing for the
construction of the CONRAC Facility. MNAA pledged CFC proceeds for the payment of and as
collateral security for the Series 2010 Bonds.

In May 2018, MNAA issued Direct Placement CONRAC Refunding Series 2018 Bonds in the
principal amount of $27,358,295 to SunTrust Bank. The Series 2018 Refunding Bonds were issued
to pay off the remaining Series 2010 Bonds and reduce the interest rate on the remaining debt
for the CONRAC. CFC proceeds are pledged for the payment of and as collateral security for the
Series 2018 Refunding Bonds. As of October 31, 2024, the outstanding amount on these bonds
were $14,605,562. The bonds mature on July 1, 2028.

As presented to the Board at the Retreat on October 16, 2024, based on forecasting by
Operations, Planning, and multiple consultants, the demand for the CONRAC Facility will be
approximately 4,700 spaces. Currently the facility has 2,870 spaces. MNAA is in the planning
stages of a new Garage and Rental Car Complex, which will hold a new CONRAC Facility.
Preliminary high-level estimates for a new CONRAC Facility are between $564M - $663M.

In order to start discussions on the financing of a new CONRAC Facility, MNAA tasked Landrum &
Brown to conduct a preliminary CONRAC Affordability Analysis. The following assumptions were
made for the analysis:

1) Three traffic projections:
e Conservative — 3% annual enplanement growth
e Baseline - annual growth of 590,000 enplanements (declining growth)
e Moderate — 7% annual enplanement growth

2) CFC rate remains at $4.50

3) CFCs will be needed to pay for:
a) Debt on the current facility (through July 1, 2028)
b) O&M expenses of the current facility until closed
c) Debt on the new facility (assumes bond issuance in FY27; cash used for construction
prior to bond issuance)
d) O&M expenses of the new facility once opened (assumes opening 7/1/28)

Based on these assumptions, the total CFC project funding available would be as follows:

Conservative S4.50 $99.4M $89.3M $188.7M
Baseline $4.50 $107.8M $92.6M $200.4M
Moderate S4.50 $120.6M $S98.6M $219.2M

Page 2 of 4



The funding availability range of $188.7M - $219.2M is significantly under the projected estimates
for the new CONRAC Facility of $564M - $663M. An increase in the CFC rate is necessary in order
to afford a new CONRAC Facility.

Impact/Findings

MNAA started the process of establishing a CFC increase by researching current CFC rates at other
airports. A listing of approved CFC rates effective for 2025 by airport hub size was provided by
BofA Securities. The chart below does not include every airport on this list, but it does include
many of the airports that have outstanding debt on a CONRAC Facility or are collecting CFCs with
the intent to issue debt to build a new facility:

CFC Rate at Select Airports

Fort Lauderdale (L) m———— $3.05
Charlotte (L) me——ss————————— $4.00
Nashville (L) $4.50

Fresno (S) meeessssssssssssssssss——— $4.50
Raleigh Durham (M) s $5.00
Atlanta (L) me———— $5.00

Knoxville (S) meee--——e—eeeeeeess—————— $5.50

Tampa (L) —.— — s $5.95
Phoenix (L) s $6.00
Denver (L) meee————eeeesssssssssssss—— $6.00
Cleveland (M) eessssssssssssssssssssss——— $6.00
Boston (L) meessssssessss———————————— $6.00

Austin (L) eSS $6.25
Columbus (M) S $6.50
Sacramento (M) S $8.00
Philadelphia (L) m———————ssssseesSSSSSsssssssssssm— $3.00

Memphis (M) S 83 .50

Boise (M) e 58 05

San Jose (M) e $9.00

San Diego (L) e $9.00

Palm Springs (S) S — e $9.00

Orlando (L) = $9.00

Los Angeles (L) S $9.00
Greenville-Spartanburg (S) ST e $9.00

Grand Rapids (S) e 5O 05
New Orleans (M) S e $10.00
Charleston (M) S $10.00

Reno (M) e $11.00

$

$2.00 $4.00 $6.00 $8.00 $10.00 $12.00

As shown above, BNA is at the low end of the range, and a $9-$10 CFC rate is reasonable given
the current market.

MNAA asked Landrum & Brown to run a new affordability analysis using a $10 CFC rate effective
January 1, 2025 (all other assumptions to remain the same). The results of the analysis are shown

Page 3 of4



below:

Air Traffic Project Costs from Project Costs Total CFC Project

Scenario CFC Rate Financing from CFC Cash Funding Available
Conservative $10.00 $230.2M $167.0M $397.2M
Baseline $10.00 $249.0M $173.9M $422.9M
Moderate $10.00 $280.2M $183.1M $463.3M

The funding availability range of $397.2M - $463.3M is over $200M more than previously shown,
however, it’s still less than the projected estimates of $564M - $663M. In order to afford the
estimated project costs, it is most likely that MNAA will need to increase the CFC rate above $10
in the future, however, it is still very early in the planning process and more information is needed
to make that determination. Setting a CFC rate at $10 now will allow time for:

e Evaluation of impacts related to price elasticity

e Evaluation of long-term rental car market demand

e Flexibility in evaluating further increases based on actual traffic growth

e  Flexibility in design of CONRAC Facility to reduce project costs

e Negotiations on a new CONRAC Agreement with the rental cars

Landrum & Brown also indicated to MNAA that the timing of the increase in the CFC rate has a
significant impact on overall affordability. They ran another analysis still using a $10 CFC rate but
made the new rate effective on January 1, 2026. The funding availability range decreased by ~
S20M to $375.7M - $440.4M. Therefore, both MNAA and Landrum & Brown believe it is prudent
to act timely and start the $10 CFC rate as soon as possible.

C. Strategic Priorities

e Plan for the Future

D. Options/Alternatives

e Make no recommendation for approval or recommend approval of a lower CFC rate. The
CFC rate and the timing of the increase can have a significant impact on overall
affordability of a new CONRAC Facility. This could delay the timing and scope of the
project.

Ill. Committee Review

This item was presented to the Finance Committee on November 13, 2024. The Finance Committee
voted 3 to 0 to recommend approval to the Board of Commissioners.

Page 4 of 4



MNAA RESOLUTION 2024-08

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE METROPOLITAN NASHVILLE AIRPORT
AUTHORITY TO AMEND MNAA RESOLUTION 2009-14 INCREASING THE CUSTOMER FACILITY CHARGE
CURRENTLY IMPOSED ON CUSTOMERS OF ON-AIRPORT CAR RENTAL COMPANIES TO FUND COSTS
ASSOCIATED WITH THE CURRENT AND FUTURE CONRAC FACILITY

WHEREAS, the Board has previously approved and authorized the development of a Consolidated
Rental Car Facility (CONRAC Facility) at the Nashville International Airport (BNA) to accommodate car
rental companies and airline passengers who rent vehicles at BNA; and

WHEREAS the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority (MNAA) is obligated to pay certain costs,
fees and expenses associated with the planning, design, construction, financing, maintenance and
operation of the CONRAC Facility, and other costs, fees and expenses; and

WHEREAS the MNAA is authorized to impose rates and charges by its enabling statute, T.C.A. §
42-4-101, et seq,; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to MNAA Resolution 2007-21, which was amended and restated by MNAA
Resolution 2008-15, the Board previously approved and authorized the collection of a customer facility
charge (CFC) from customers of on-airport rental car companies in the amount of $4.00 per transaction
day as an appropriate means to fund costs, fees and expenses associated with or related to the CONRAC
Facility; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to MNAA Resolution 2009-14, which amended MNAA Resolution 2008-15 to
increase the CFC from $4.00 per transaction day to $4.50 per transaction day, and

WHEREAS the Board has concurred with the recommendation of the MNAA staff to start planning
for the development of a new CONRAC Facility; and

WHEREAS, the Board has determined to amend MNAA Resolution 2009-14 to increase the CFC
from $4.50 per transaction day to $10.00 per transaction day:

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE METROPOLITAN NASHVILLE AIRPORT
AUTHORITY (THE “AUTHORITY”) AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1 The foregoing recitals are hereby made a part of this Resolution and adopted as
findings and conclusions of the Board.

SECTION 2 The amount of the CFC imposed by the MNAA on customers of on-airport car
rental companies shall be increased from $4.50 per transaction day to $10.00 per transaction day. The
increase in the CFC effected by this Resolution is presently considered to be reasonable in light of the
estimated costs, fees and expenses associated with the planning, design, construction, financing,
maintenance and operation of the current and future CONRAC Facility, and other costs, fees and expenses
that may be paid from CFC proceeds.

SECTION 3 The CFC proceeds collected by on-airport car rental companies from each of its
customers shall remain the property of the MNAA only. The MNAA shall continue to have the right to
pledge the CFC proceeds as collateral security for the payment of any debt obligations incurred by the



MNAA in connection with the planning, design, construction, financing, maintenance and operation of the
current and future CONRAC Facility.

SECTION 4 The CFC proceeds shall be used to pay, or to reimburse the MNAA for, the costs,
fees and expenses associated with the planning, design, construction, financing, maintenance and
operation of the current and future CONRAC Facility and other costs, fees and expenses that may be paid
from CFC proceeds.

SECTION 5 The collection of the CFC shall continue, uninterrupted, on and after the date
hereof.

SECTION 6 This Resolution shall take effect upon adoption.

Approved this 20" day of December, 2024.

RECOMMENDED: ADOPTED:
Douglas E. Kreulen, President & CEO Nancy B. Sullivan, P.E., Chair
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY: ATTEST:

MNAA Legal Counsel Andrew W. Byrd, Secretary



JWN.

John C. Tune
Airport.

STAFF ANALYSIS

Board of Commissioners

DATE: November 20, 2024
FACILITY: John C. Tune Airport
SUBJECT: 2" Fixed Base Operator (FBO) at JWN

I. RECOMMENDATION:

Staff requests that the Board of Commissioners:

1) Approve the terms negotiated between MNAA and Atlantic Aviation Nashville LLC
(Atlantic Aviation) for the 2™ FBO at John C. Tune Airport; and

2) authorize the Chair and President & CEO to execute a lease agreement between MNAA
and Atlantic Aviation that is consistent with these terms, as well as materially consistent
with the RFP and Atlantic Aviation Nashville LLC’s proposal.

1. ANALYSIS:

A. Background:

On July 17, 2024, MNAA issued an RFP accepting proposals from qualified Fixed Based Operators for
the development and operation of the 2" FBO at John C. Tune Airport. Proposers were asked to bid
on the opportunity to design, build and operate a world class FBO to include terminal, hangars, ramp
space, fuel storage and other amenities to serve the private aviation community. A mandatory Pre-
proposal meeting was held on Thursday, August 8, 2024, at the Tennessee Department of
Transportation Aeronautics Division Building in Nashville.

The RFP required minimum qualifications of five (5) years of airport experience operating a Fixed
Based Operation at an airport with general aviation traffic.

Four (4) proposals were received on September 27, 2024. Of the four proposals, one proposal was
deemed non-responsive. The internal selection committee, comprised of SVP and Senior Leadership
representatives from Operations, Finance, Legal, and Airport Revenue (with support from an advisory
panel of Design/Engineering, Real Estate and JWN Manager) reviewed the remaining 3 proposals and
scored the proposals using the following criteria: 1) management experience; 2) concepts and
designs; 3) management, customer service, innovation and operations plan; 4) financial
offer/Proposed Supplemental rent.

The selection committee Interviewed the two (2) remaining firms Signature Aviation and Atlantic
Aviation, on October 17, 2024. Atlantic Aviation was unanimously selected, and Procurement issued
a Notice of Intent to Award contract with lease agreement and development planning starting in
November 2024.



A summary of proposal highlights is as follows:

Firm Score
Atlantic Aviation 369
Jet Access 239
Signature Aviation 329

After 45-min interviews were conducted for both Atlantic Aviation and Signature Aviation, the final
scores were finalized by the voting committee:

Firm Score
Atlantic Aviation 561
Signature Aviation 447

The selection committee determined that Atlantic Aviation offered the best proposal to MNAA based
upon the following:

1) Experience of the Proposer, and of its key employees proposed to manage the FBO at
John C. Tune Airport.

2) Proposed development, services provided (maintenance, hangar development, etc.),
operating, marketing, safety and security plan(s).

3) Financial condition of the Proposer and its ability to finance development and ongoing
4) References and past performance at other general aviation airports in U.S.
5) Proposed rents and fees to Authority.

CAPEX:

MNAA required that proposers commit to a minimum capital buildout investment of $35M to
develop a new FBO and supporting infrastructure.

FINANCIAL PROPOSAL:

Atlantic Aviation has proposed a two phased development plan for a total investment of $66.7M.
Phase 1 includes $35.6M investment to be completed by November 2027. Proposed two phase
development includes:

68,000 sqg/ft of hangar space

7,500 sq/ft for FBO Terminal
70,000-gallon fuel farm

306,000 sqg/ft of additional apron space
240 (appx.) vehicle parking spaces

uhwnNRE

*Final layout and land use will be based upon survey data and FAA approval

Page 2 of 4



LOCAL AND ACDBE OPERATORS:

The Atlantic Aviation proposal was not scored as this was not a requirement in the RFP.

CONCEPT:

The proposed development by Atlantic Aviation provides a world class FBO that will transform John
C. Tune into the premier general aviation airport in the region. The facilities and services that are
proposed will allow the airport to continue to grow and serve business aviation while ensuring
current stakeholders continue to receive exceptional service.

IMPACT/FINDINGS

Anticipated Agreement Start Date: By December 31, 2024

Lease Term: Three (3) year construction term; Thirty (30) year
lease term beginning after construction term; five (5)
year extension option.

Capital Investment by Atlantic: $66.7 Million minimum
Minimum Base Rent to MNAA: $83.9 Million
Supplemental Rent: $231.7 Million

Total Revenue to MNAA over 38-year lease $315.6 Million

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES
e InvestinJWN

e Plan for the Future

OPTIONS/ALTERNATIVES
Option 1) Cancel this solicitation and issue a new RFP.

Committee Review

This item was presented to the Finance Committee on November 13, 2024. The Finance Committee
voted 3 to 0 to recommend approval to the Board of Commissioners.

Page 3 of4



Atnnrnn’

B John C. Tune
sAirport.

NASHVILLE'S EXECUTIVE AIRFORT®

11/05/2024 ; a % P ANEY 0. 4 \ N

Areas to be leased/developed — 19.6 acres

Figure 8. JWN Phase 1 and Phase 2 site map

Page 4 of 4



Nashville
International
o\ Airporte

STAFF ANALYSIS

Board of Commissioners

Date: November 20, 2024
Facility: Nashville International Airport
Subject: Icelandair Incentive Agreement - Reykjavik

I. Recommendation

Staff requests that the Board of Commissioners:

1) approve the funding for the proposed marketing incentives and landing fee abatements, as
provided by the Air Service Incentive Plan (ASIP), for the nonstop BNA — Reykjavik
International Airport (airport code - KEF) route operated by Icelandair, with a not-to-exceed
amount of $2,300,000, and

2) authorize the Chair and President and CEO to execute the Letter of Agreement (LOA) by and
between MNAA and Icelandair outlining the specific terms of the proposed incentive with
Icelandair for their BNA-KEF route, to begin on April 10, 2025.

Il. Analysis

A. Background

On February 21, 2024, the MNAA Board of Commissioners approved an updated Air Service
Incentive Plan (“ASIP”, Policy #61-001), effective February 21, 2024, which outlines incentives for
new routes from BNA. This plan is designed to help MNAA stay competitive among peer airports
in attracting new service to BNA.

Icelandair will begin service on April 10", 2025, with 4x weekly service, to Reykjavik (KEF) from
BNA which meets the requirements of the ASIP.

For new scheduled Trans-Oceanic seasonal service, at the required minimum of 2x weekly, the
approved ASIP allows for three years of Landing Fee and Facility Fee abatement at 100% and up

to $1,000,000 in marketing funds [Year 1 - $400,000; Years 2&3 - $300,000 each].

The ASIP requires that all proposed marketing incentives and landing fee and facility abatements,
outside of the Domestic Market Agreements, require approval of the Board of Commissioners.

Page 1 of 2



B. Impact/Findings

Term: 3 years from the start of service; April 10, 2025 — April 9, 2028
Financial
Impact: Estimated financial value of the incentive over the three-year period for

landing and facility fee abatement plus marketing is $1,945,219 based on
the initial planned 4x per week operation with a 737-Max8 aircraft -
$1,000,000 in marketing and $945,219 in landing and facility fee
abatement. Actual incentives could vary based on the actual calculated
landing and facility fees in future fiscal years as well as number of
operations per week, not to exceed 7x per week.

Incentive range — Initial frequency incentive $1,945,219 @ 4x weekly,
maximum incentive $2,654,134 at 7x weekly.

Recommended incentive not-to-exceed $2,300,000 (mid-range). Any
amount exceeding $2,300,000 requires additional approval by the MNAA
Board of Commissioners. Additionally, if the level of service exceeds
seasonal service, which is defined as less than seven months per year, an
amendment to this incentive would be brought to the Board of
Commissioners for approval.

Funding Source: The ASIP is funded through the NAE Airline Incentive Account. The
balance, as of September 30, 2024, is $9.10M.
Note: The ASIP is funded at $2M per year.

Other Board approved active incentives:
Westlet (Vancouver) — 5/19/2023 —5/18/2025

C. Strategic Priorities

e Plan for the Future — Expand Air Service

D. Options/Alternatives
e Do not approve the funding for the Icelandair Incentive. This could jeopardize the launch
in Nashville. It also may impact future airlines / routes that would qualify for a potential

incentive under the approved ASIP.

Ill. Committee Review

This item was presented to the Finance Committee on November 13, 2024. The Finance
Committee voted 3 to 0 to recommend approval to the Board of Commissioners.

Page 2 of 2



Nashville
International
o\ Airporte

STAFF ANALYSIS

Board of Commissioners

Date: November 20, 2024
Facility: Nashville International Airport

Subject: Aer Lingus Incentive Agreement - Dublin

I. Recommendation

Staff requests that the Board of Commissioners:

1) approve the funding for the proposed marketing incentives and landing fee abatements, as
provided by the Air Service Incentive Plan (ASIP), for the nonstop BNA — Dublin International
Airport (airport code - DUB) route operated by Aer Lingus, with a not-to-exceed amount of
$2,750,000, and

2) authorize the Chair and President and CEO to execute the Letter of Agreement (LOA) by and
between MNAA and Aer Lingus outlining the specific terms of the proposed incentive with
Aer Lingus for their BNA-DUB route, to begin on April 12, 2025.

Il. Analysis

A. Background

On February 21, 2024, the MNAA Board of Commissioners approved an updated Air Service
Incentive Plan (“ASIP”, Policy #61-001), effective February 21, 2024, which outlines incentives for
new routes from BNA. This plan is designed to help MNAA stay competitive among peer airports
in attracting new service to BNA.

Aer Lingus will begin service on April 12, 2025, with 4x weekly service, to Dublin (DUB) from
BNA which meets the requirements of the ASIP.

For new scheduled Trans-Oceanic Year-Round service, at the required minimum of 3x weekly or
156 annual flights, the approved ASIP allows for two years of Landing Fee and Facility Fee
abatement at 100% and up to $1,000,000 in marketing funds (Years 1&2 - $500,000).
Additionally, in recognition of the flight’s ability to pre-clear U.S. Customs in Dublin, staff is
requesting an additional $500,000 in marketing funds ($250,000 per year) to recognize the
additional cost to Aer Lingus of customs fees in Dublin that would otherwise be abated as part
of the incentive if they utilized the FIS (Customs) facilities at BNA.

The ASIP requires that all proposed marketing incentives and landing fee and facility abatements,
outside of the Domestic Market Agreements, require approval of the Board of Commissioners.

Page 1 of 2



B. Impact/Findings
Term:

Financial
Impact:

Funding Source:

C. Strategic Priorities

2 years from the start of service; April 12, 2025 — April 11, 2027

Estimated financial value of the incentive over the two-year period for
landing and facility fee abatement plus marketing is $2,405,916 based on
the initial planned 4x per week operation with a A321 XLR aircraft -
$1,500,000 in marketing and $905,916 in landing and facility fee
abatement. Actual incentives could vary based on the actual calculated
landing and facility fees in future fiscal years as well as number of
operations per week, not to exceed 7x per week.

Incentive range — Initial frequency incentive $2,405,916 @ 4x weekly,
maximum incentive $3,085,353 at 7x weekly.

Recommended incentive not-to-exceed $2,750,000 (mid-range). Any
amount exceeding $2,750,000 requires additional approval by the MNAA
Board of Commissioners.

The ASIP is funded through the NAE Airline Incentive Account. The
balance, as of September 30, 2024, is $9.10M.
Note: The ASIP is funded at $2M per year.

Other Board approved active incentives:
WestlJet (Vancouver) — 5/19/2023 —5/18/2025

e Plan for the Future — Expand Air Service

D. Options/Alternatives

e Do not approve the funding for the Aer Lingus Incentive. This could jeopardize the launch
in Nashville. It also may impact future airlines / routes that would qualify for a potential
incentive under the approved ASIP.

Ill. Committee Review

This item was presented to the Finance Committee on November 13, 2024. The Finance
Committee voted 3 to 0 to recommend approval to the Board of Commissioners.

Page 2 of 2



Nashville
N ‘ \ International
o\ Airporte
STAFF ANALYSIS

Board of Commissioners
(Information Only)

Date: November 13, 2024

Facility: Nashville International Airport

Subject: FY2024 External Audit Report

Reports

Attached is the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report Fiscal Year 2024. The Annual Comprehensive
Financial Report Fiscal Year 2024 covers the period from July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2024. The Pre-
Audit Letter dated August 7, 2024, and the End of Audit Letter dated October 11, 2024 are also
attached.

Analysis

A. Summary

In accordance with Section 3.1 of the Third Amended and Restated Bylaws (Bylaws) of the Board
of Commissioners of the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority (MNAA), Plante & Moran, PLLC
(Plante Moran) was appointed Auditor/Independent CPA in June 2020 and there was an updated
letter provided July 2024. In accordance with Section 3.3.3 of the Bylaws, Plante Moran is a
certified public accounting firm licensed to practice in Tennessee.

Plante Moran has completed their independent annual audit of the financial affairs of the
Authority for FY2024. Plante Moran’s audit of the financial statements was conducted in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States.

Additionally, Plante Moran performed an audit of MNAA’s compliance with the requirements of
the Uniform Grant Guidance (Single Audit) and with the requirements of the Passenger Facility
Charge (PFC) Program. The audit was conducted based on the compliance requirements
described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget’s (OMB) Compliance Supplement that
could have a direct and material effect on MNAA’s major federal program for the year ended June
30, 2024, and applicable requirements in the PFC Audit Guide for Public Agencies, issued by the
Federal Aviation Administration.

Final documentation includes an audit opinion of the fairness of the basic financial statements, a
report on internal controls over financial reporting, a report on compliance with the Uniform
Grant Guidance and with the requirements of the PFC Program, a schedule of expenditures of
federal and state awards as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, and any
other reports and schedules deemed necessary.

Page 1 of 2



B. Impact/Findings
No action is required by the Management Committee as this staff analysis is presented for
informational purposes.

Plante Moran has issued an unmodified opinion on MNAA’s FY2024 financial statements. An
unmodified opinion is the best opinion that an organization can receive on its financial
statements.

Additionally, Plante Moran determined that MNAA complied, in all material respects, with the
types of compliance requirements that could have a direct and material effect on the major
federal program and the PFC program for the Year Ended June 30, 2024.

Plante Moran did not identify any significant deficiencies or findings, during the audit. A copy of
the report will be provided in the committee packet.

C. Strategic Priorities

e Investin BNA/JWN
e Plan for the Future

e Prepare for the Unexpected

Ill. Committee Review

This item was presented to the Management Committee on November 13, 2024 by Ali Hijazi and
Veronica Tuazon .

Attachments: Plante Moran Pre-Audit Letter dated August 7, 2024
Plante Moran End of Audit Letter dated October 11, 2024

Annual Comprehensive Financial Report Fiscal Year 2024

Page 2 of 2



Plante & Moran, PLLC

plante

M—— 19176 Hall Road
Clinton Township, Ml 48038

moran Tel: 586.416.4900
Fax: 586.416.4901

plantemoran.com

August 7, 2024

Board of Commissioners

Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
140 BNA Park Drive, Suite 520
Nashville, TN 37214

Dear Board of Commissioners:

We are in the process of planning for the audit of the financial statements of the Metropolitan Nashville
Airport Authority (“the Authority”) for the year ended June 30, 2024. An important aspect of planning for the
audit is communication with those who have responsibility for overseeing the strategic direction of the
Authority and obligations related to the accountability of the Authority. At the Authority, these responsibilities
and obligations are held by the Board of Commissioners, collectively and individually; therefore, it is
important for us to communicate with each of you in your role as a member of the Board of Commissioners.

As part of this communication process, we have spoken at length with Ms. Nancy Sullivan, Chair of the
Board of Commissioners regarding our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards and
the planned scope and timing of our audit. The purpose of this letter is to provide each of you with a
summary of those discussions and to provide you with the opportunity to communicate with us on matters
that may impact our audit.

Our Responsibility Under Generally Accepted Auditing Standards and Generally Accepted
Government Auditing Standards

As stated in our engagement letter addressed to Mr. Douglas E. Kreulen and dated February 14, 2024, our
responsibility, as described by professional standards, is to express an opinion about whether the financial
statements prepared by management with your oversight are fairly presented, in all material respects, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Our audit of the financial statements does
not relieve you or management of your responsibilities.

In accordance with Generally Accepted Government Auditing Standards (GAO Standards), we are required
to communicate all noncompliance with provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, or grants that have a
material effect on the financial statements that comes to our attention. GAO Standards also require that we
report any instances of abuse identified during that audit that could be quantitatively or qualitatively material
to the financial statements.

Overview of the Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

Ali H. Hijazi is the engagement partner responsible for supervising our services performed as part of this
engagement. Our audit fieldwork will include three phases. The planning and preliminary information-
gathering phase will occur during June and July; the risk assessment phase in July; and the rest of our
audit procedures will be performed during August and September.

To plan an effective audit, we must identify significant risks of misstatement in the financial statements,
including those related to changes in the financial reporting framework or changes in the Authority’s
environment, financial condition, or activities, and design procedures to address those risks.

Because management is in a unique position to perpetrate fraud due to its ability to manipulate accounting
records and prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding controls that otherwise appear to be



Board of Commissioners 2
Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority August 7, 2024

operating effectively, generally accepted auditing standards require that we always consider this to be a
significant risk. In addition, we identified the following significant risks of misstatement:

e Proper measurement and recognition of revenue for amounts received under significant new grants
or agreements, including the newly opened Hilton BNA Nashville Airport Hotel and the Airline Use
and Lease Agreement.

e Valuation of the total pension and OPEB (other postemployment benefit) liabilities due to the
significance of estimation involved due to the selection of assumptions and use of actuarial
methods.

In response to these identified significant risks, we will perform the following:

e Testing of journal entries recorded in the general ledger and other adjustments made in the
preparation of the financial statements.

e Obtaining significant new grant agreements and contracts and comparison of the revenue
recognition requirements to amounts recorded to evaluate whether the accounting is in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles.

e Evaluate the key factors, assumptions and methodologies used to develop the total pension and
OPERB liabilities to determine if they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as
a whole.

We will gain an understanding of accounting processes and key internal controls through a review of the
accounting procedures questionnaires and control procedures questionnaires prepared by management.
We will confirm through observation and inspection procedures that accounting procedures and controls
included in the questionnaires have been implemented.

We will not express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting; however, we
will communicate to you significant deficiencies and material weaknesses identified in connection with our
audit.

The concept of materiality is inherent in our work. We place greater emphasis on those items that have, on

a relative basis, more importance to the financial statements and greater possibilities of material error than
with those items of lesser importance or those in which the possibility of material error is remote.

Information from You Relevant to Our Audit

An important aspect of this communication process is the opportunity for us to obtain from you information
that is relevant to our audit. Your views about any of the following are relevant to our audit:

e The Authority’s objectives and strategies and the related business risks that may result in material
misstatements

e Matters that you consider warrant particular attention during the audit and any areas where you
want to request additional procedures be undertaken

¢ Significant communications with regulators

e Understanding of the Authority’s relationships and transactions with related parties that are
significant to the Authority and any concerns regarding those relationships or transactions

e The attitudes, awareness, and actions concerning:



Board of Commissioners 3
Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority August 7, 2024

o The Authority’s internal control and its importance to the Authority, including how the Board
of Commissioners oversees the effectiveness of internal control and the detection or
possibility of fraud

o The detection or possibility of fraud, including whether the Board of Commissioners has
knowledge of any actual, suspected, or alleged fraud affecting the Authority

o Any significant unusual transactions the Authority has entered into

e The actions of the Board of Commissioners in response to developments in accounting standards,
regulations, laws, previous communications from us, and other related matters and the effect of
such developments on, for example, the overall presentation, structure, and content of the financial
statements, including the following:

o Therelevance, reliability, comparability, and understandability of the information presented
in the financial statements

o  Whether all required information has been included in the financial statements and whether
such information has been appropriately classified, aggregated or disaggregated, and
presented

e Otherinformation included in the annual comprehensive financial report comprises the introductory
section, statistical section and continuing disclosures. In connection with our audit of the basic
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and consider whether a
material inconsistency exists between the other information and the basic financial statements or
the other information otherwise appears to be misstated. If, based on the work performed, we
conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required
to describe it in our report.

Management expects that final versions of other information will be provided to us prior to the date of the
auditor’s report.

If you have any information to communicate to us regarding the above or any other matters you believe are
relevant to the audit, or if you would like to discuss the audit in more detail, please call us at (586) 416-4975
(Ali), (810) 766-6022 (Pam) or (586) 416-4907 (Veronica) as soon as possible. Thank you for your time and
consideration in this important aspect of the audit process. You can expect to hear from us again after the
completion of our audit when we will report to you the significant findings from the audit.

Very truly yours,

Plante & Moran, PLLC

Ali H. Hijazi, CPA
Partner

Yl titl

Pamela L. Hill, CPA
Partner

Vi

Veronica R. Tuazbn, CPA
Senior Manager



Plante & Moran, PLLC

plante

Z 19176 Hall Road
Clinton Township, MI 48038
moran Tel: 586.416.4900

Fax: 586.416.4901
plantemoran.com

October 11, 2024

To the Board of Commissioners
Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

We have audited the financial statements of the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority (the “Authority”) as
of and for the year ended June 30, 2024 and have issued our report thereon dated October 11, 2024.
Professional standards require that we provide you with the following information related to our audit.

Our Responsibility Under U.S. Generally Accepted Auditing Standards

As stated in our engagement letter dated February 14, 2024, our responsibility, as described by professional
standards, is to express an opinion about whether the financial statements prepared by management with
your oversight are fairly presented, in all material respects, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles. Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your
responsibilities. Our responsibility is to plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatement.

As part of our audit, we considered the internal control of the Authority. Such considerations were solely for
the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal
control.

We are responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our professional
judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. However, we are
not required to design procedures specifically to identify such matters.

Our audit of the Authority’s financial statements has also been conducted in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Under Government Auditing
Standards, we are obligated to communicate certain matters that come to our attention related to our audit
to those responsible for the governance of the Authority, including compliance with certain provisions of
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements; certain instances of error or fraud; illegal acts applicable
to government agencies; and significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
Toward this end, we issued a separate letter dated October 11, 2024 regarding our consideration of the
Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions
of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

We performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously communicated to you in our
letter about planning matters dated August 7, 2024.

Significant Audit Findings

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. In accordance with
the terms of our engagement letter, we will advise management about the appropriateness of accounting
policies and their application. The significant accounting policies used by the Authority are described in
Note 2 to the financial statements.

No new accounting policies were adopted, and the application of existing policies was not changed during
2024.


LaGail.Truss
Clinton Twp 2020

LaGail.Truss
Praxity New


To the Board of Commissioners October 11, 2024
Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

We noted no transactions entered into by the Authority during the year for which there is a lack of
authoritative guidance or consensus.

We noted no significant transactions that have been recognized in the financial statements in a different
period than when the transaction occurred.

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about
future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the
financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly
from those expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements were as follows:

e Pension liabilities - Including the actuarial methods and assumptions, such as future rate of return on
investments, employee eligibility rates, life expectancies, and projected salary increases, which are
based on plan provisions and payroll data

e OPEB (other postemployment benefit) liabilities - Including the actuarial methods and assumptions,
such as future rate of return on investments, employee eligibility rates, life expectancies, and projected
health care cost trends, which are based on health care-related trends

We have evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop these estimates in determining that
they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.

The disclosures in the financial statements are neutral, consistent, and clear.
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in performing and completing our audit.
Disagreements with Management

For the purpose of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a financial
accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant
to the financial statements or the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements
arose during the course of our audit.

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the
audit, other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. We
did not detect any misstatements as a result of audit procedures.

Significant Findings or Issues

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing
standards, business conditions affecting the Authority, and business plans and strategies that may affect
the risks of material misstatement, with management each year prior to our retention as the Authority’s
auditors. However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship, and
our responses were not a condition of our retention.

Management Representations

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management
representation letter dated October 11, 2024.

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting
matters, similar to obtaining a second opinion on certain situations. If a consultation involves application of
an accounting principle to the Authority’s financial statements or a determination of the type of auditor’s
opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting
accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge,
there were no such consultations with other accountants.



To the Board of Commissioners October 11, 2024
Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Other Information Included in Annual Reports

Our responsibility for other information included in annual reports does not extend beyond the financial
statements, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance on the other information. However,
we read the introductory section, other information, and statistical section schedules, and nothing came to
our attention that caused us to believe that such information, or its manner of presentation, is materially
misstated or materially inconsistent with the information or manner of its presentation appearing in the
financial statements.

Upcoming Accounting Standards Requiring Preparation

We actively monitor new Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) standards and due process
documents and provide periodic updates to help you understand how the latest financial reporting
developments will impact the Authority.

GASB Statement No. 101 - Compensated Absences

This new accounting pronouncement will be effective for fiscal years ending December 31, 2024 and after.
The statement requires all compensated absences be reported under a new unified model that provides
recognition and measurement guidance for all compensated absences that meet certain criteria. This is a
major shift from the prior standards that provided different recognition and measurement guidance for
vacation leave versus sick leave. Under the new standard, all compensated absences (with some
exceptions like parental leave and military leave) that meet three criteria are to be recognized (accrued).
The three criteria are (1) the absence accumulates, (2) the absence is attributed to services already
performed, and (3) the absence is more likely than not to be either paid or settled through other means.

A few of the more significant changes from prior guidance include the elimination of specific recognition
criteria for sick leave (GASB 16’s termination payment method and vesting method) in lieu of standard
recognition criteria for all types of compensated absences that meet the criteria. In addition, the prior
standards used the “probable criteria” as a measurement stick for recognition; GASB 101 lowers that
threshold to more likely than not. More likely than not means a likelihood of more than 50 percent. Because
GASB 101 does not prescribe the manner in which these leave liabilities are estimated once the criteria are
met, organizations will have significant latitude in how these estimates are determined. Because of this,
there may be additional reporting and additional disaggregation of historical employee leave usage
information that may be required in order to come up with an accurate estimate of these liabilities. We
strongly suggest the Authority start thinking about these changes now, brainstorm estimation
methodologies, and begin gathering the necessary information in order to successfully adopt this new
standard.

GASB Statement No. 102 - Certain Risk Disclosures

This new accounting pronouncement will be effective for fiscal years ending June 30, 2025 and after. This
statement requires a government to assess whether a concentration or constraint makes the primary
government or other reporting units that report a liability for revenue debt vulnerable to the risk of a
substantial impact. It also requires a government to assess whether an event or events associated with a
concentration or constraint that could cause the substantial impact have occurred, have begun to occur, or
are more likely than not to begin to occur within 12 months of the date the financial statements are issued.
If certain criteria are met for a concentration or constraint, disclosures are required in the notes to the
financial statements.

GASB Statement No. 103 - Financial Reporting Model Improvements

This new accounting pronouncement will be effective for fiscal years ending June 30, 2026 and after. This
statement establishes new accounting and financial reporting requirements, or modifies existing
requirements, related to the following: management’s discussion and analysis; unusual or infrequent items;
presentation of the proprietary fund statement of revenue, expenses, and changes in net position;
information about major component units in basic financial statements; budgetary comparison information;
and financial trends information in the statistical section.



To the Board of Commissioners October 11, 2024
Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Significant GASB Proposal Worth Watching

The Revenue and Expense Recognition project aims to develop a comprehensive accounting and financial
reporting model for transactions that result in revenue and expenses. The GASB has issued a preliminary
views document that proposes a new categorization framework that replaces the exchange/nonexchange
transaction notion with a four-step categorization process for classifying a transaction. In addition to this
new framework, the proposal also addresses recognition and measurement of revenue and expense
transactions. The exposure draft for this project is expected sometime in 2025.

Plante & Moran, PLLC has spent significant time digesting this new proposed standard and recently testified
to the GASB about our feedback. We strongly encourage the Authority to monitor developments with this
standard, as the potential impact is quite broad.

We welcome any questions you may have regarding this communication, and we would be willing to discuss
these or any other questions that you might have at your convenience.

This information is intended solely for the use of the board of commissioners and management of the
Authority and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Very truly yours,
Plante & Moran, PLLC

Ali H. Hijazi
Engagement Partner

Vo Ter

Veronica R. Tuazon
Senior Manager






Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
A Component Unit of The Metropolitan Government of Nashville and Davidson County
Nashville, Tennessee
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report

For the Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

Prepared by:

The Finance Department



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Table of Contents

Introductory Section:

Letter of TranSmitlal .........c.oiiiiii e 6-15
Board of Commissioners, Executive Staff, and Senior Staff.............ccccociiiii 16
L@ o =T a1 2= 11 [ IO o -1 o (USSR 18
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting ...........cccoooveviiiiiiiiiiencee 19

Financial Section:

Independent AUdItOrs’ REPOIT .........ooiiiiiiieee e 22-24
Management’s Discussion and ANAlYSIS.........ccuuuuiiiiiiiiiieeee e 26-34
Financial Statements as of and for the Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023:
Statements 0f Net POSItION .........c.ooiiiiii e 36-37
Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position.............ccccoeccvviieeiiecinnn, 38
Statements Of Cash FIOWS ........oooiiiiiiii e 39-40
Statements of Fiduciary Net POSItION ..o 41-42
Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net POSItion ............cccooiiiiiiiiiieees 43-44
Notes to the Financial Statements ... 45-91

Required Supplementary Information:

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability ...........c.ocoooiiiiiiiiiiiiciiiicecee e 94
Schedule of Pension ContribULIONS...........ooiiii i 95
Schedule of Investment Returns for PENSION ..........c.oooiiiiiiiii e 96
Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability ..........ccooiiiiiiiiiiee e 97
Schedule of OPEB CONtriDULIONS .......coiiuiiiii i 98
Schedule of Investment Returns for OPEB...........occuoiiiiiiiiii e 99
Supplementary Information:

Combining Schedule of Net Position Information by Entity ..., 102-103
Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in

Net Position Information by ENtity.........ccoeiiiiiiii e 104
Combining Schedule of Fiduciary Net Position Information by Entity............cccccciiininen. 105
Combining Schedule of Changes Fiduciary Net Position Information by Entity .................... 106
Schedule of Airport Revenue Bonds, Principal, and Interest Requirements

DY FISCAl YEAT ...ttt e e anteee e 108-109
Schedule of Changes in Long-term Debt by Individual ISSU€..........cc.vvvvieeieeiiiiiiiieceee e, 110

Statistical Section:

Airport-specific Statistics:

Change in NEt POSITION ......ooiiiiiiiiiii e s e e e e e e eneeas 112
Cost per Enplaned Passenger (CPEP).......coiiiiiii e 113
Operating REVENUE ANAIYSIS ......coouiiiiiiiiiiie ettt e e e e e e e e ennes 114



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Table of Contents
PUDIiC Parking ANGIYSIS........cciiiiieiiiiiieiie e ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e s e e e e e e e e e enneees 114
(07T o)1 =1 I NS CY £ PP OSSR 115
Ratios of Outstanding Revenue Bonds as a Percentage of
Total Revenue Bond DED ... 115
INEE POSIEION ...ttt e bt e e e aa e e e e et e e e e anbeeeeanneeeeens 116
Revenue Coverage ANAIYSIS..........oiiiiiiiiieiiiiie ettt e e s e e e st e e e e e e e e anneeee s 117
Passenger Enplanements Market Share ... 118
Airline Landed Weights Market Share ...........coocuiiiiiiiiii i 119
5 oLy S =T =T | £ PP SPPPPPPPPPPPPRS 120
Staffing — Full-time EQUIVAIENTS ..........uuiiiiiiiececc e 121
Local Economy Statistics:
PoOPUIALIoN ANGIYSIS ... .ttt e e e e 121
UNemPpPlOYMENT ANGIYSIS. ...ttt e ettt e e et e e e abe e e e anaeeaeans 121
Nashville Area Top 25 EMPIOYEIS.......ueiiiiieeiie e e e e e e e 122
Middle Tennessee Largest 25 Public COMPANIes ..........ccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 122
Annual Disclosure Report:
Introduction:
(C 1T o= = | SO OPP 124
Miscellaneous; Forward-Looking Statements..............cccoociiiiiiiiii i 124-125
Senior Bonds
Outstanding SENIOr BONGS .........oiiiiiiiie it 126
Enplaned Passenger TraffiC.........c e 126-127
Enplaned Passenger Market Share ... 128-129
Landed WEIGNt ...t 130-131
AIFCTaft ACTIVITY ..o 132-134
Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position ............ccccoooeeennen. 134-135
Historical Debt Service COVEIAQE .......uuuiiiiiiiiiee ettt et e e st e e e nneeea e 136
Airlines Serving the AITPOIt ... 137
Enplaned Passenger TraffiC.........oueii et 137-138
Subordinate Bonds
Airlines Serving the AIMPOIT ... 139
Enplaned Passenger TraffiC........ ..o 139
Enplaned Passenger Market Share ...t 139
=T oo [ To BT =T o | o | RSP 139
Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position ...........ccccccooecciiiieieeceiin, 139
Historical Debt Service COVEIaQE .......uuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt a e e e e 139



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Table of Contents

Compliance Section:
Single Audit Under Uniform Guidance:
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and
on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards ..............c..ccccccooe. 142-143
Independent Auditors' Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program
and Passenger Facility Charge Program and on Internal Control Over

Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance and the Passenger Facility

Charge Audit Guide for PUDIIC AQENCIES .....cceieeiiiiiiiieeeee et 144-146
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards ...........cccccoeeiiiiiiiiiee i 147
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards.............cccccvviveveeeeiiicnnnee, 148
Schedule of Findings and Questioned CostS...........cviiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 149-150

Passenger Facility Charges:
Schedule of Collections and Expenditures of Passenger Facility Charges
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024..........coooemeeeeeie e 152-155

Notes to Schedule of Collections and Expenditures of Passenger Facility Charges ............ 156



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Introductory Section

This section contains the following subsections:

Letter of Transmittal

Board of Commissioners, Executive Staff, and Senior Staff

Organization Chart

Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Letter of Transmittal

Nnahvillu_
Int_ernn'r.:ar-.nl
Airport

October 11, 2024

To the Board of Commissioners of the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority,

The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (“ACFR”) of the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority (“the
Authority” or “MNAA”) as of and for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, is hereby submitted.
Responsibility for both the accuracy of the data and the completeness and fairness of the presentation,
including all disclosures, rests with the Authority. To the best of our knowledge and belief, this report fairly
presents and fully discloses the Authority’s financial position, results of operations, and cash flows in
accordance with accounting principals generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). It
includes disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain an understanding of the Authority’s financial
activities included within the ACFR. The report of the independent auditors on the financial statements is
included on pages 22-24 of the ACFR.

The ACFR was prepared following the guidelines recommended by the Government Finance Officers
Association of the United States and Canada (“GFOA”). The GFOA awards Certificates of Achievement to
those governments whose annual financial reports are judged to conform substantially to the high standards
of public financial reporting, including GAAP promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board (“GASB”).

The management of the Authority is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal control
structure that is designed to ensure that the assets of the Authority are safeguarded. In addition, as a
recipient of federal financial assistance, the Authority is responsible to make certain that an adequate
internal control structure is in place to ensure compliance with general and specific laws and regulations
related to the Airport Improvement Program and the Aviation Safety and Capacity Expansion Act.

The objectives of an internal control structure are to provide management with reasonable assurance that
the resources are safeguarded against waste, loss and misuse, and reliable data are recorded, maintained,
and fairly disclosed in reports. The current internal controls provide the Authority with a solid base of reliable
records from which the financial statements are prepared. These accounting controls ensure that
accounting data are reliable and available to facilitate the preparation of financial statements on a timely
basis. Inherent limitations should be recognized in considering the potential effectiveness of any system of
internal control. The concept of reasonable assurance is based on the recognition that the cost of a system
of internal control should not exceed the benefits derived and that the evaluation of those factors requires
estimates and judgment by management.

The Authority’s financial statements for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 have received an
“unmodified opinion” from Plante & Moran, PLLC, the Authority’s independent certified public accountants.
An unmodified opinion is the best opinion that an organization can receive on its financial statements. It
indicates that the auditor’s examination has disclosed no conditions that cause them to believe that the
financial statements are not fairly presented in all material respects.

An independent audit was also performed by Plante & Moran, PLLC, in accordance with the requirements
of the Uniform Grant Guidance (2 CFR Part 200), i.e., Single Audit. The auditor’s reports related specifically
to the Single Audit are immediately following the ACFR in the Compliance Section.

A third audit was performed by Plante & Moran, PLLC, as required under Federal Aviation Regulation, Part
158 (Passenger Facility Charges). The auditor’s reports related to the schedule of Passenger Facility
Charges are immediately following the ACFR in the Compliance Section.



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Letter of Transmittal

This ACFR was prepared to meet the needs of a broad spectrum of financial statements readers and is
divided into the following sections:

Introductory Section — In addition to serving as a transmittal letter, this section provides the reader with
an introduction to the ACFR and the Authority. The introductory section includes background information
on the reporting entity, its operations and services, accounting systems and budgetary controls, overview
of the local economic conditions, its long-term financial planning and certain other pertinent information. It
is complementary to financial and analytical data offered in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis
(“MD&A”) and the Statistical Section of the ACFR discussed below. The information contained in this
section is prepared by the Authority and is not part of the independent auditor’s report.

Financial Section — The independent auditor’s report, MD&A, financial statements, notes to the financial
statements, required supplementary information, and other supplementary information are included here.
These are the Authority’s basic financial statements and provide an overview of the Authority’s financial
position. The MD&A immediately follows the independent auditor's report and complements this letter of
transmittal and should be read in conjunction with it.

Statistical Section — The supplementary information presented in this section is designed to provide
additional historical perspective, context, and detail to assist a reader to understand and assess the
Authority’s economic condition beyond what is provided in the financial statements and notes to the financial
statements. The information contained in this section is prepared by the Authority and is not part of the
independent auditor’s report.

Annual Disclosure Report — The annual disclosure schedules reflect information in accordance with the
requirements of Rule 15¢2-12 promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission and as set forth
in the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking for issued debt. The information contained in this section is
prepared by the Authority and is not part of the independent auditor’s report.

Compliance Section — This section presents schedules and footnotes prepared to meet the requirements
of the U.S. Office of Management and Budget 2 CFR Part 200 as well as Federal Aviation Administration
requirements applicable to the Passenger Facility Charge Program and in accordance with 14 CFR Part
158.

REPORTING ENTITY BACKGROUND

The Authority is a metropolitan airport authority created on February 9, 1970, pursuant to state statute and
is an independent political subdivision of the State of Tennessee. The major purposes of the Authority are
the operation, financing, and development of Nashville International Airport® (“BNA®”) and John C. Tune
Airport® (“JWN®”), a general aviation reliever airport.

The Authority also owns MNAA Properties Corporation (“MPC”), a Tennessee nonprofit corporation, whose
purpose is to support and facilitate the operations of the Authority and to help the economic development
of the surrounding area. The Authority has all the powers of a governmental entity necessary to accomplish
its purpose, such as acquiring land and constructing airport facilities; issuing revenue bonds and other tax-
exempt indebtedness; maintaining its own police and aircraft rescue and firefighting (“ARFF”); setting rates
and charges for airlines; and setting rates for all activities on airport properties. Although the Authority has
an independent governing body, based upon the criteria set forth by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board, it has been determined the Authority is a component unit of the Metropolitan Government
of Nashville and Davidson County, Tennessee as of June 30, 2024.

As of June 30, 2024 the Authority’s Board of Commissioners consists of seven members who serve without
compensation, all of whom are appointed by the Metropolitan Government Mayor and approved by the
Metropolitan Government Council. By state law, the commissioners represent different professional and
management disciplines, including engineering, aviation, law, commerce, finance, and industry. The Board
appoints the Authority’s President and CEO, who is the chief executive and administrative officer

7



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Letter of Transmittal

responsible for day-to-day operations and planning for both airports and MPC. The President and CEO
leads a full-time staff of professional and technical personnel, with a headcount of 430 positions for fiscal
year 2024. Authority staff are actively engaged with many trade and community organizations, often
receiving awards, and serving in leadership positions.

AUTHORITY OPERATIONS AND SERVICES

The Authority is self-supporting, using aircraft landing fees, fees from terminal and other rentals and
revenue from parking, concessions, and various additional sources to fund operating expenses. The
Authority is not taxpayer funded. The Capital Improvement Program is funded by bonds issued by the
Authority, federal and state grants, passenger facility charges (PFCs), and other discretionary funds.

Airline Use and Lease Agreement

Leases. Revenues received from the airlines are derived from rentals, fees and charges imposed upon
airlines operating at BNA under the MNAA Signatory Airline Use and Lease Agreement (the “Airline
Agreement”). The following airlines are parties to such agreements: Alaska Airlines, Allegiant Air, American
Airlines, Delta Air Lines, Frontier Airlines, Federal Express, JetBlue Airways, Southwest Airlines, Spirit
Airlines and United Airlines (collectively, the “Signatory Airlines”). During fiscal year 2024, the Authority
entered into a new Signatory Airline Use and Lease Agreement with an eight-year term from July 1, 2023
to June 30, 2031, The Agreement contains a two-year option to extend through mutual agreement between
the Authority and the signatory airlines no less than two years before expiration.

Rates and Charges. The Authority created five airline cost centers for the purpose of accounting for and
allocating costs and revenues at the airport to establish rates and charges for use of the airfield, the
terminal, the terminal ramp area, baggage handling system and passenger boarding bridges. In addition to
the five airline cost centers, the Authority also allocates costs and revenues to three Authority cost centers
(parking and ground transportation, other buildings and areas, and the reliever airport) and one indirect cost
center (general administration and overhead). A percentage of the Authority’s indirect cost center is
allocated to the direct airline cost centers, calculated by all airline and other cost centers. As described
below, rate-setting at the airport is “hybrid”. Landing fees are calculated using a residual methodology, the
terminal rental rates are calculated using a commercial compensatory methodology, and other rates are
calculated using a compensatory methodology. In the airfield cost center, the airlines have the primary
responsibility, risk, and benefit from non-airline revenues. In the four other airline cost centers, the Authority
and airlines share the responsibility, risk, and benefits.

Maijority-in-Interest Approvals Relating to Authority’s Capital Projects. Signatory Airlines have Majority-in-
Interest (“MII”) review rights for capital projects in the airfield cost center exceeding $2.0 million. The form
of Mll is negative (e.g., the Authority may proceed unless it receives disapproval from the majority). Rolling
debt service coverage is incorporated into the rate calculations for all airline cost centers.

The Airline Industry

In the summer of 2023, the aviation industry witnessed a significant recovery as the world gradually
emerged from the grip of the pandemic. Looking ahead, the path to full recovery may not be smooth, as the
industry struggles with aircraft, parts, and labor shortages alongside fluctuating travel demands. Carriers in
the U.S. are grappling with an ongoing capacity crunch as U.S. airline capacity continues to be trimmed.
Based on current schedules, domestic capacity growth in the back half of the 2024 calendar year is
estimated to be 3.5%.

While many airlines are seeking to expand their fleet, aircraft manufacturers are experiencing supply chain
issues and struggling to fulfill orders on time. In the first quarter of calendar year 2024, Boeing delivered
just 83 aircraft - down from 130 in the first quarter of 2023. Rival Airbus delivered 142 aircraft, which fell
short of its initial expectations for the quarter. Against this backdrop, transatlantic travel remains strong,
with U.S. consumers — buoyed by a strong dollar — flocking to destinations across Europe.

8



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Letter of Transmittal

Airport Activity

Nashville International Airport completed another record-breaking year in fiscal year 2024 with 11.8 million
enplanements, an 8.3% increase from the previous year's 10.9 million enplanements. Nashville
International Airport averages 660 daily airline arrivals and departures to 98 nonstop destinations.

2024 2023* 2022
Enplanements 11,826,204 10,919,899 9,217,710
% (decrease) increase 8.3 18.4 78.9
Aircraft landed weight (all-000) 13,823,559 12,918,074 11,043,360
% (decrease) increase 7.0 17.0 40.3
Aircraft operations (all) 274,335 262,783 244,622
% (decrease) increase 4.4 7.4 35.4
Load factors 78.4% 79.3% 78.9%
% (decrease) increase (1.1) 0.5 34.0

*FY 23 enplanements and landed w eights w ere amended dow n during FY 24 due to an error found after they w ere published.

ACCOUNTING SYSTEM AND BUDGETARY CONTROLS
The Authority’s Budget

Prior to the commencement of each fiscal year, the Authority prepares operating and capital budgets which
are reviewed by various committees of the Board of Commissioners and legally adopted by the full Board
of Commissioners.

The budget contains an estimate of current operational and capital expenses, including for the operation
and development of airports under the jurisdiction of the Authority and the amount necessary to pay the
principal and interest of any outstanding bonds or other obligations of the Authority maturing during the
ensuing fiscal year. The budget also contains an estimate of revenue of the Authority from all sources for
the next fiscal year.

Budgeting serves as an important management tool to plan, control, and evaluate the operations and capital
needs of the Authority. BNA, JWN, and MPC operating budgets are the Authority’s annual financial plan for
operating and maintaining the airport and other properties. The operating expense and revenue budgets
must be sufficient to cover the operating and maintenance expenses of the airports and the debt service
payable on bonds and other known financial requirements for the ensuing fiscal year. The Capital
Improvement Program budget is the Authority’s plan for the design and construction of major improvements
and new facilities at the airports and MPC with a five-year horizon. The Authority’s basis of budgeting is in
accordance with GAAP, which is the same as the Authority’s accounting basis.

Budgetary control is required to ensure that expenditures do not exceed appropriations. The Authority
maintains this control with an encumbrance system. As purchase orders are issued, corresponding
amounts of appropriations are reserved with encumbrances to prevent overspending. Amendments to the
budget are subject to approval by the Board in accordance with the terms outlined in the Board resolution
adopted with the budget. The independent monitoring of the budget continues throughout the fiscal year
for management control purposes. Each month, Finance reviews and analyzes all revenue and expense
accounts to compare actual to prior year actual and to budget. The findings are reported to the Board in the
monthly board packet.



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Letter of Transmittal

THE AUTHORITY’S ECONOMIC CONDITION
Population and Air Trade Area

BNA resides in a region which the United States Office of Management and Budget (OMB) defines as the
Nashville-Davidson-Murfreesboro-Franklin Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA) and is composed of 14
counties of Cannon, Cheatham, Davidson, Dickson, Hickman, Macon, Maury, Robertson, Rutherford,
Smith, Sumner, Trousdale, Williamson, and Wilson Counties. The Nashville-Davidson-Murfreesboro-
Franklin MSA is the 36" most populated MSA in the United States with approximately 2.1 million people
and serves as the airport “air service area”.

BNA is the primary commercial air service facility serving the Nashville metropolitan area and is the largest
airport in the state of Tennessee and the only large hub in the region. BNA serves as the primary
commercial service airport for the air service area. This area is generally isolated from competing airport
facilities and, hence, BNA has limited competition for air service. Huntsville International Airport (HSV) is
the closest airport; about 125 (driving) miles from the Airport. The next closest airport is Chattanooga
Metropolitan Airport (CHA) which is about 145 (driving) miles away. Louisville International Airport (SDF)
and Knoxville McGee Tyson Airport (TYS) are about 175 (driving) miles from BNA. Paducah Barkley
Regional Airport (PAH) is a non-hub airport about 150 (driving) miles from the Airport with only Essential
Air Service. Memphis International Airport (MEM) is a medium hub airport about 220 (driving) miles from
the airport. Other commercial service airports in the region are small facilities and the more comparable
small hub airports are over 175 miles away. Other medium and large hub airports are over 250 miles from
BNA, with Hartfield-Jackson Atlanta International Airport (ATL) the nearest at approximately 255 (driving)
miles.

In calendar year 2023, BNA ranked 28 nationwide in enplaned passengers with 11,227,159 enplanements,
making BNA a large hub airport as classified by the FAA.

Economy

According to the Nashville Area Chamber of Commerce 2023 Regional Economic Development Guide “The
Nashville region’s economy continues to be a key driver of business activity in Tennessee and the southeast
region. Robust health care, technology, corporate operations, manufacturing, and supply chain
management sectors make Nashville one of the country’s most dynamic growth centers. Nashville has
ranked within the top 10 large metropolitan areas for job growth and population growth for the past 10 years.
The region experiences low unemployment, steady in-migration, and a favorable business climate, making
it a top location for companies looking to relocate or expand their businesses.” Unemployment rates in the
Nashville-Davidson-Murfreesboro-Franklin MSA were 3.0 percent as of both June 2024 and 2023.

NASHVILLE HIGHLIGHTS
Nashville often receives honors and rankings within the travel industry. Nashville’s culturally diverse and

friendly environment makes it a popular place for conventioneers and tourists alike, as well as a great place
to work, live and raise a family. A sampling of Nashville’s recent accolades follows:

¢ Nashville is named one of the Best Cities for Hockey Fans by Wallet Hub. (May 2024)

¢ Nashville ranked twice in Global Traveler's 2024 Leisure Lifestyle Awards. (May 2024)
» #1 Best Leisure Destination in the U.S.
« #4 Best Adventure Destination, Domestic

e Nashville is rated #13 in Travel + Leisure’s The Best Fourth of July Celebrations Across the U.S.

(May 2024)
¢ Nashville is named #3 in The South's Best Cities 2024 by Southern Living. (March 2024)

10



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Letter of Transmittal

¢ Nashville ranked twice in Trip Advisor's Traveler's Choice Awards - Best of the Best 2024. (January
2024)
* #6 Best Food Destinations in the United States
» #7 Top Destinations — United States

¢ Nashville landed #8 in The Best Cities in the U.S.: 2023 Readers’ Choice Awards by Conde Nast
Traveler. (October 2023)

¢ Nashville represents three USA Today’s 10 Best Readers’ Choice Awards. (October 2023)
* #1 Best Airport Grab-And-Go Food — 400 Degrees Hot Chicken
* #1 Best Airport for Shopping — Nashville International Airport (BNA)
» #3 Best Airport Bar — Tootsies Orchid Lounge
» #5 Best Large Airport — Nashville International Airport (BNA)

¢ Nashville ranked #8 among Travel + Leisure’s Readers’ 15 Favorite Cities in the U.S. of 2023. (July
2023)

Nashville Facts are courtesy of the Nashville Convention and Visitors Bureau.
FISCAL YEAR 2024 AWARDS AND RECOGNITION AT BNA
Throughout fiscal year 2024, BNA celebrated numerous achievements, events, and celebrations:

e Unveiled the new International Arrivals Facility, expanding BNA'’s international air service
capabilities.

e Opened the highly anticipated BNA Marketplace, offering Nashville’s best cuisine and retail shops.

e Greeted participants at the 27th Aviation Classic Golf Tournament with proceeds benefitting
Operation Stand Down Tennessee (OSDTN), Mental Health Cooperative (MHC), Tennessee State
University, and Nashville Cherry Blossom Festival.

e Opened the brand-new Satellite Concourse featuring 8 new gates.

o Celebrated the opening of the Hilton® BNA Nashville Airport Terminal with ribbon-cutting and grand
opening event, marking the successful culmination of the seven-year BNA Vision expansion plan.

¢ Hosted the Annual AAAE Conference & Exposition, smashing attendance records.

e Added multiple nonstop routes to our portfolio:

» Southwest began new nonstop service to Cincinnati, OH (CVG), Greenville-Spartanburg, SC
(GSP) and Richmond, VA (RIC).

» Alaska Airlines began direct service to Portland, Oregon.

+  Westdet announced a new international route starting Fall 2024, beginning direct service from
BNA to Winnipeg and marking BNA’s 6th Canadian city with nonstop service.

» British Airways’ aircraft size increased for their daily service to Nashville on the British Airways
777-200ER, increasing capacity from 214 to 272 seats.

BNA was bestowed the following awards during fiscal year 2024

e BNA'’s Grand Hall featuring the Grand Lobby and BNA Marketplace was named Commercial
Service Airport Project of the Year (Architecture) by the SEC-AAAE.

11



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Letter of Transmittal

e General aviation airport John C. Tune was awarded General Aviation Project of the Year
(Architecture) from the SEC-AAAE for the construction of the Maintenance and Administration
Building.

o Whisky Trailhead was awarded Best New Retail Concept by ACI-NA Airport Concessions Awards.

e Green Room Lounge & Whisky Bar awarded Best Bar Experience (Large Airport) by Airport
Experience News (AXN).

¢ Kroll Bond Rating Agency affirmed MNAA'’s AA- Senior Lien Bond Rating and A+ Subordinate Bond
Rating.

e Paradies Lagardére won big at the 26th FAB Awards, an International Awards program for Fat
Bottom Brewery, taking home Regional Winner for Airport Food & Beverage Offer Best
Representing Sense of Place.

FISCAL YEAR 2025 BUDGET

As fiscal year 2024 activity outpaced the activity in fiscal year 2023, and the budgeted activity for fiscal year
2023, the Authority continues to plan and budget for growth. The fiscal year 2025 budget included a 5.4%
increase in enplanements, and a 3.1% increase in landed weights. The Authority feels this is a conservative
approach as the fiscal year 2024 and 2023 year over year enplanement growth was 8.3% and 18.7%
respectively. This approach should enable the Authority to meet or exceed the budgeted performance in
fiscal year 2025, and through two months of fiscal year 2025, budgeted activity levels for both enplanements
and landed weights have exceeded budget.

LONG-TERM FINANCIAL PLANNING

The Authority’s long-term financial planning includes the completion of certain approved capital projects
and the accumulation of sufficient resources required to service the debt issued to finance these projects,
as well as to operate and maintain the airports. Under the terms of the Airline Agreement, certain fees and
charges paid by airlines are used along with other non-airline income from BNA to service the debt issued
to finance the construction program.

Capital Improvement Program

The Authority maintains an ongoing Capital Improvement Program (CIP) to expand, modernize, and
maintain BNA, JWN, and MPC. In addition to renovations and modernization of certain existing facilities,
the CIP includes construction of the principal elements of the Master Plan for each airport. The master
plans establish the framework for the CIP that is necessary for the development of the Authority.

During fiscal year 2024, the Authority completed the BNA Vision capital program, which was an extensive,
multi-phased capital improvement program. BNA Vision was a major renovation and expansion project
intended to enable BNA to meet future needs.

Specific elements of BNA Vision 1.0 and 2.0, totaling approximately $1.5 billion, include the following:
Terminal Garage 2

A six-story structure to the south of the terminal with approximately 2,200 spaces. Terminal garage
2 opened in December 2018.

Terminal Lobby Renovation and International Arrival Facility (IAF)
The project provides travelers with an expanded and visually-pleasing central terminal, a
marketplace with exciting dining and shopping options, and a state-of-the-art international arrivals

12



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Letter of Transmittal

facility which replaced the interim international arrivals facility. The terminal lobby opened January
24, 2023, and the marketplace and IAF opened September 27, 2023.

Concourse D, Terminal Wings, Ticketing and Baggage Claim Expansion

The project revived and expanded BNA’s Concourse D and enlarged the existing ticketing lobby
and baggage claim. The north and south terminal wing expansion, expanded baggage claim, and
Concourse D are now open.

Terminal Garage 1

The project includes a six-level parking garage near the terminal, a new administrative office
building and pedestrian plaza. The garage, administrative offices, and pedestrian plaza are now
open.

Donelson Pike Relocation and Terminal Access Roadway Improvements — Phase 1

With mounting traffic and airport utilization, the Donelson Pike Relocation and Terminal Access
Roadway Improvements projects are vital to improving access and circulation around BNA.
Construction for this project is multi-phased and ongoing.

Satellite Concourse

The project produced an eight-gate, free-standing satellite concourse near the main terminal and
provide more gates to meet the increasing air travel demand in Middle Tennessee. The satellite
concourse opened in October 2023.

Runway 2L /20R Extension — EA/Preliminary Design and Property Acquisition
The project will allow BNA to accommodate larger aircraft. This is imperative as BNA seeks to
expand to more international markets in Asia and Europe.

Concourse A Site Preparation, Fill, and Ramp Paving
The project will prepare an area adjacent to the existing Concourse A to allow for future expansion.

In June 2022, the Authority announced a new capital initiative, New Horizon, which includes additional
expansion projects to accommodate future demand beyond what was contemplated when the BNA Vision
program was developed. The New Horizon design phase began in August 2022. Construction of Concourse
D began in late 2023, and of all projects are targeted for completion by late 2028. In August 2024, the
Authority amended the original New Horizon program and proposed the New Horizon | (airside) program
scope and budget of $1.62B, including the following:

Concourse A and D Improvements

Concourse A and D will see extensions and improvements including additional gates, moving
walkways, and additional concessions. The Concourse D extension is anticipated to add five
additional gates and to provide operational flexibility during the construction of a new Concourse
A, as the existing six gates on Concourse A will be demolished. The new Concourse A is anticipated
to have sixteen gates upon completion.

Baggage Handling System Improvements
Upgrades to the baggage handling system will sort bags by flight, speed security inspections, and
deliver passenger luggage to and from each aircraft faster.

Central Ramp Expansion

MNAA identified the land depression east of the existing terminal apron between Taxiways T4, L,
B, and T2 and the existing Central Ramp (also known as the “guitar pick”) as the preferred location
for a ramp expansion to provide needed overnight aircraft parking positions and deicing areas. The
selected location offers an opportunity for a phased approach for potential future expansion. The
first phase shall consist of seven aircraft parking positions for overnight parking and deicing.

13



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Letter of Transmittal

Additionally, the Authority is working on the scope of New Horizon Il (landside) which is in final development
and is planned to include additional terminal area roadway improvements, demolition of the existing
Donelson Pike, loop road and bridges, a parking garage and surface lot, and a new consolidated rental car
facility (CONRAC).

The Authority will continue to actively assess and manage its capital needs to determine the necessary
modifications to the CIP to accommodate evolving priorities with respect to demand-driven traffic activity,
operational needs of the airport, and other factors. The Authority's CIP is subject to frequent review and
modification based on expected funding priorities of the Airport System.

Airport Improvement Program

The Authority participates in the Airport Improvement Program (AIP), the Federal government’s airport grant
program. The AIP provides funding for airport development, airport planning and noise compatibility
programs from the Airport and Airway Trust Fund. The AIP also provides both entitlement and discretionary
grants for eligible projects. The Authority also receives grants from the State of Tennessee.

Passenger Facility Charges

In 1990, Congress approved the Aviation Safety and Capacity Expansion Act, which authorizes domestic
airports to impose a PFC on enplaning passengers. In May 1991, the FAA issued the regulations for the
use and report of PFCs. PFCs may be used for projects which meet at least one of the following criteria:
preserve or enhance safety, security, or capacity of the national air transportation system, reduce noise or
mitigate noise impacts resulting from an airport, or furnish opportunities for enhanced competition between
or among air carriers.

The FAA has approved twenty-three PFC applications and amendments submitted by the Authority. The
Authority is currently authorized to impose and use a PFC of $4.50 per enplaned passenger up to $1.6
billion, which includes amounts for the payment of principal, interest, and other financing costs on bonds
for which the proceeds are used to pay PFC-eligible costs on approved projects.

As of June 30, 2024, the Authority has received approximately $545 million of PFC revenue, and interest
earnings of approximately $37 million. The Authority has expended approximately $393 million on approved
projects. The current PFC expiration date is estimated at March 1, 2045.

OTHER INFORMATION
Awards and Achievement

The GFOA awarded the Authority a “Certificate of Achievement” for Excellence in Financial Reporting for
its ACFR for the year ended June 30, 2023. This was the twenty-third consecutive year that the Authority
has achieved this prestigious award. To be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government must
publish an easily readable and efficiently organized ACFR. The ACFR must satisfy both accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe our current report continues

to conform to the Certificate of Achievement program requirements and will submit this 2024 ACFR to the
GFOA for consideration.

14



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Letter of Transmittal

Acknowledgements

The preparation of this report would not be possible without the cooperation of the Authority’s Board of
Commissioners and executive and senior management and their desire to maintain the Authority as a model
of excellence in the management of Nashville International Airport, John C. Tune Airport, and MNAA
Properties Corporation, to meet the air service needs to the surrounding communities.

Respectfully submitted,

¢
o R r;r.r;...,—,_-_:"' e P IrE

i

Margaret Basrai, CPA, CGMA, C.M.
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

15



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Board of Commissioners and Executive Staff

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS

Chair
Joycelyn A. Stevenson, Esq.”

Vice Chair
James W. “Jimmy’ Granbery*

Secretary
Andrew W. Byrd

*Management Committee members - responsible for Audit

EXECUTIVE STAFF

Douglas E. Kreulen
President & Chief Executive Officer

Margaret M. Basrai
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

Neale Bedrock
Executive Vice President, General Counsel & Chief
Compliance Officer

Lisa K. Lankford
Executive Vice President & Chief Strategy Officer

SENIOR STAFF

Adam Bouchard
Vice President, Operations

Daniel B. Brown
Vice President, Facility Management

Kristen M. Deuben
Vice President, Finance, Deputy CFO

Traci C. Holton
Vice President, New Horizon

Carrie R. Logan
Vice President, Deputy General Counsel

Syed M. Mehdi
Vice President, Airport Planning

Stacey H. Nickens

Vice President, Corporate Communications & Marketing

Effective Date: June 30, 2024

Commissioners
Nancy B. Sullivan, P.E.

Robert J. “Bobby’ Joslin, Jr.
Dr. Glenda B. Glover

Glenn E. Farner, Jr.

Robert L. Ramsey
Executive Vice President & Chief Development Officer

John A. Cooper
Senior Vice President & Chief Administrative Officer

Adam R. Floyd
Senior Vice President & Chief Operating Officer

Eric L. Johnson
Senior Vice President & Chief Revenue Officer

Davita L. Taylor
Vice President, Procurement & Business Diversity

Puneet S. Vedi
Vice President, Airport Capital Development

Kristy R. Bork
Assistant Vice President, Finance

Randy L. Dorsten
Assistant Vice President, Human Resources

KC Hampton
Assistant Vice President, Information Technology

Theodore G. Morrissey
Assistant Vice President, Associate General Counsel

Joshua A. Powell
Assistant Vice President, Airline & Government Relatio

Adam C. Wolf
Assistant Vice President, Airport Manager, JWN



This page is intentionally left blank.



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Organizational Chart as of June 30, 2024

Exscutive Avgistanty President & CEO fian
* Rachel Moore . ?
+ Trish Saxman Doug Kreulen Internal Audit

General Counsel
Chief Compliance Officer
Executive Vice President

Chief Revenue Officer
Senior Vice President

Chief Financial Officer Chief Administrative Officer
Executive Vice President Senior Vice President

Marge Basrai John Cooper

Chief Development Officer Chief Operating Officer Chief Strategy Officer
Executive Vice President Senior Vice President Executive Vice President

Eric Johnson Robert Ramsey Adam Floyd Lisa Lankford

Neale Bedrock

Concessions (AVP) Procurement & Blu:nnl

4 Di'uc-rlily P}
| Davita Taylor
Real Estate (AVP)
Vacant
3 CHMWarnick [Outsource)

e * Terminal Il, Steve Martin, | Public Safety (AVP)
PG [Outsource)] - Vacant

Airport Manager, JWN
(AVP,
Adam Wolf

18



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting

P

Ciovernment Fmance Officers Association

Certificate of
Achievement
for Excellence
in Financial
Reporting

Presented 1o

Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Tennessee

For s Annual Comprehensive
Financial Repaort
For the Fiscal Year Ended

June 30, 2023

CRestop bo P Ploniet

Executive Direcion CEC

19



This page is intentionally left blank.



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Financial Section

This section contains the following subsections:
Independent Auditors’ Report
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Financial Statements



Fiante & Moran, FLLT

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Commissioners
Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Report on the Audits of the Financial Statements
Opinions

We have audited the financial statements of the business-type activities and the aggregate remaining funds of the
Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority (the "Authority"), a component unit of the Metropolitan Government of
Nashville and Davidson County, Tennessee, as of and for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority's basic financial statements, as
listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the business-type activities and the aggregate remaining funds of the Authority as of June 30,
2024 and 2023 and the changes in its financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the years
then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audits of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are
required to be independent of the Authority and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and for the design, implementation,
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events,
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Authority's ability to continue as a going
concern for 12 months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may
raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audits of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and, therefore, is not
a guarantee that audits conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a
reasonable user based on the financial statements.

22



To the Board of Commissioners
Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

In performing audits in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:
o Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audits.

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audits in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Authority's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

e Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the Authority's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audits, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that
we identified during the audits.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis and required supplementary information, as identified in the table of contents, be
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management
and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board, which considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in
an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information
and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audits of the basic financial statements. We do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide
us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Supplementary Information

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the Authority's basic financial statements. The supplementary information, as identified in the table of
contents; the schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal
Awards (the "Uniform Guidance"), and the Audit Manual issued by the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury,
respectively; and the schedule of collections and expenditures of passenger facility charges required by the
Passenger Facility Charge Audit Guide for Public Agencies, issued by the Federal Aviation Administration, and
the requirements in 14 CFR 158.63 (collectively, the "Guide") are presented for the purpose of additional analysis
and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in
the audits of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the
supplementary information, the schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards, and the schedule of
collections and expenditures of passenger facility charges are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to
the basic financial statements as a whole.

23



To the Board of Commissioners
Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information included in the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report.
The other information comprises the introductory section, statistical section schedules, and annual disclosure
report but does not include the basic financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinions on the
basic financial statements do not cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of
assurance thereon.

In connection with our audits of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the basic financial
statements or whether the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are
required to describe it in our report.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 11, 2024 on
our consideration of the Authority's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other matters. The purpose of that report
is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's internal control over
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Authority's internal control over financial reporting and
compliance.

. -
et § /M, PLLL

October 11, 2024

24



This page is intentionally left blank.



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

The following discussion and analysis provide an overview of the financial performance and activities of the
Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority (the “Authority”) as of and for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023. It
has been prepared by the Authority’s management and should be read in conjunction with the basic financial
statements and notes thereto, which follow this section.

The Authority is a business-type entity and, as such, the basic financial statements consist of three statements
and notes to the basic financial statements. The three basic statements are: (a) Statement of Net Position, which
presents the assets, liabilities, deferred inflows and outflows of resources and net position of the Authority as of
the end of the fiscal period; (b) Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position, which reflects
revenues and expenses recognized during the fiscal period; and (c) Statement of Cash Flows, which provides
information on all cash inflows and outflows for the Authority by major category during the fiscal period. The
Authority includes Fiduciary Funds to account for other postemployment benefit and pension trust funds as well
as unadjudicated custodial funds.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (“GAAP”) as promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).

The financial statements include the operations of Nashville International Airport (“BNA”), John C. Tune Airport
(“JWN”) and MNAA Properties Corporation (“MPC”).

The Airport Funding Methodology

Funding for BNA’s operations is predicated upon the stipulations in the Authority’s Signatory Airline Use and
Lease Agreement (the “Airline Agreement”) between the Authority and the airlines. When an airline signs an
agreement, it is designated a “Signatory Airline”. The Airline Agreement also determines the budget and financing
methodology which the Authority and airlines agree to follow. Airport budget methodologies throughout the United
States are usually characterized as either compensatory or residual, although some airports have a hybrid
methodology, which combines both features.

The Authority operates under a hybrid methodology. Airport revenues are retained by the Authority to be applied
in accordance with the provisions in the Senior Bond Resolution and the Subordinate Bond Resolution, to fund
capital improvements, establish certain reserve funds, and provide funds for other discretionary purposes. Any
excess net revenues remaining after making all required deposits to the funds and accounts established under
the Senior Bond Resolution and the Subordinate Bond Resolution are accumulated in the Nashville Airport
Experience (NAE) fund and may be applied to any lawful purpose of the Authority, including funding of capital
improvements.

The Authority created five airline cost centers for the purpose of accounting for and allocating costs and revenues
at the airport to establish rates and charges for use of the airfield, the terminal, the terminal ramp area, baggage
handling system and passenger boarding bridges. In addition to the five airline cost centers, the Authority also
allocates costs and revenues to three Authority cost centers (parking and ground transportation, other buildings
and areas, and the reliever airport) and one indirect cost center (general administration and overhead). A
percentage of the Authority’s indirect cost center is allocated to the direct airline cost centers, calculated by all
airline and other cost centers. As described below, rate-setting at the airport is “hybrid”. Landing fees are
calculated using a residual methodology, the terminal rental rates are calculated using a commercial
compensatory methodology, and other rates are calculated using a compensatory methodology. In the airfield
cost center, the airlines have the primary responsibility, risk, and benefit from non-airline revenues. In the four
other airline cost centers, the Authority and airlines share the responsibility, risk, and benefits.

More detailed information regarding the Airline Agreement can be found in Note 9 in the Notes to the Financial
Statements.

26



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

Airport Activity Highlights

Nashville International Airport completed a record-breaking year in fiscal year 2024 with 11.8 million
enplanements, an 8% increase from the 10.9 million enplanements recorded in fiscal year 2023. Currently,
Nashville International Airport averages 660 daily airline arrivals and departures to 98 nonstop destinations.

Construction on the Authority’s extensive, multi-phased capital improvement program known as the BNA Vision,
was completed in fiscal year 2024. The BNA Vision capital program expanded the infrastructure at BNA to
support Nashville’s growth trajectory. Improvements include expanded parking, new concourse and lobby areas,
new gates, a state-of-the-art international arrivals facility, an on-site hotel, additional federal security lanes, a free-
standing satellite concourse, runway expansion (design and property acquisition), and more.

New Horizon | is the current capital improvement program and includes expansion of concourses A and D,
including additional gates, moving walkways, and new concessions; terminal roadway improvements to ease
traffic flow into and out of the airport terminal and parking garages; upgrades to the baggage handling system
which will ultimately deliver passenger luggage to and from aircraft faster; and an expanded central ramp to
provide necessary overnight aircraft parking positions and deicing areas. The New Horizon design phase began
in fiscal year 2022, and all projects are expected to be complete in late 2028. The program is expected to cost
$1.62 billion.

In September 2023, Nashville International Airport unveiled the new International Arrivals Facility (IAF) and BNA
Marketplace. The IAF includes six new gates and facilities designed to meet the demands of current and future
domestic and international travel, as well as a new Customs and Border Protection zone to streamline
immigration and Customs processes. The BNA Marketplace includes 15 new dining, retail, and service amenities.

Nashville International Airport’s first free-standing satellite concourse opened to passengers in October 2023. The
satellite concourse was built to accommodate the growth at the airport and features eight new gates and several
concession options.

In March 2024, Nashville International Airport debuted its 14-story, 298-room on-site hotel, located adjacent to the
terminal and connected to the terminal by a covered pedestrian bridge. The hotel includes dining options, event
spaces, and a rooftop bar and pool area with panoramic views of the airfield and city. The hotel is owned by
Nashville Airport Hotel Partners, LLC and subject to a lease with the Airport Authority. More detailed information
on this public-private partnership can be found in Note 18 in the Notes to the Financial Statements.

John C. Tune Airport completed its north development project which incorporated airside and landside
infrastructure, as well as site preparation, to support the new construction of corporate hangars. The project also
expanded the existing R3 apron. The north development area was divided into 10 parcels for private
development, all of which are currently leased by tenants.

The business development organization of the Authority, MPC, continued in 2024 with an occupancy level near
100%.

27



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

Statement of Net Position

The Statement of Net Position depicts the Authority’s financial position as of June 30 and includes all assets,
liabilities, deferred inflows and outflows of resources, and the resulting net position. Assets and liabilities are
generally measured using current values. One exception is capital assets, which are stated at historical cost less
an allowance for depreciation. The condensed summary of the Authority’s financial position as of June 30, 2024,
2023, and 2022 is as follows:

2024 2023 2022

(000s) (000s) (000s)
ASSETS
Current unrestricted assets $ 848,404 $ 671,819 $ 500,010
Restricted assets 438,369 628,432 335,374
Capital assets, net 1,997,633 1,840,271 1,612,428
Other assets 153,366 143,355 104,593
Total assets 3,437,772 3,283,877 2,552,405
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS 1,452 5,787 10,636
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities $ 83,488 $ 81,743 $ 85,057
Noncurrent liabilities 2,014,093 2,020,077 1,472,403
Total liabilities 2,097,581 2,101,820 1,557,460
DEFERRED INFLOWS 140,967 130,777 107,154
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 261,220 278,592 363,710
Restricted 494,457 469,822 342,088
Unrestricted 444,999 308,653 192,629
Total net position $1,200,676 $1,057,067 $ 898,427

Current unrestricted assets primarily consist of cash and investments, accounts receivable, short-term lease
receivable, and amounts due from other governmental agencies. Between 2024 and 2023, current unrestricted
assets increased by $176.6 million, due to increases in unrestricted cash and investments ($160.2 million) and
amounts due from governmental agencies ($17.9 million). The increase of $176.6 million in unrestricted cash and
investments is primarily the result of net cash provided by operating activities of $132.9 million, and noncapital
COVID-19 relief grant receipts of $32.8 million. The amounts due from governmental agencies increased by $17.9
million due to grant draws submitted but not received for the D concourse extension and Taxiway Bravo/Kilo
intersection projects. Between 2023 and 2022, current unrestricted assets increased by $171.8 million. This is
attributed to an increase in unrestricted cash and investments ($162.0 million) and an increase in accounts
receivable ($7.8 million). The increase of $162.0 million in unrestricted cash and investments is primarily the
result of net cash provided by operating activities of $108.9 million, and noncapital COVID-19 relief grant receipts
of $28.7 million. The increase in accounts receivable of $7.8 million is due to the increase in operations (i.e.,
landed weights, concessions, etc.) during fiscal year 2023, as well as an insurance settlement receivable of $4.6
million.

28



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

Restricted assets consist of cash and investments and accounts receivable which are primarily restricted for debt
service and bonded construction. Restricted assets decreased by $190.1 million between 2023 and 2024 due to
spending airport revenue bond proceeds on BNA Vision and New Horizon capital projects. Restricted assets
increased by $293.7 million between 2022 and 2023, due to capital contributions from governmental agencies
and bond proceeds received and offset by spending the proceeds on purchases of property and equipment.

Net capital assets increased by $157.4 million in 2024 from 2023 due to the completion of the international
arrivals facility and satellite concourse, and ongoing construction for D concourse extension, terminal area
roadway improvements, A concourse site preparation and expansion, and Taxiway Bravo/Kilo intersection
reconstruction. Net capital assets increased by $227.8 million in 2023 from 2022 due to the completion of the
Grand Lobby and Garage B, and ongoing construction of the international arrivals facility, satellite concourse, and
terminal area roadway improvements. For more detailed capital asset information, see Note 4 in the Notes to the
Financial Statements.

Other assets consist primarily of long-term accounts receivable, lease receivable, prepaid expenses and deposits,
net other post-employment benefits (OPEB) assets and net pension assets. In fiscal year 2024, other assets
increased by $10.0 million, due to the increase in the lease receivable of $3.7 million, and the increase in the net
OPEB asset of $5.4 million. The lease receivable increased as certain non-regulated leases — such as the lease
for the on-site hotel — began during the fiscal year. The OPEB asset changed as more favorable market
conditions increased the value of OPEB trust assets. In fiscal year 2023, other assets increased by $38.8 million,
due to the increase in the lease receivable of $30.8 million, and the increase in the net OPEB asset of $8.0
million. The lease receivable increased as certain large non-regulated leases — such as airport lounge leases —
expired with the former Airline Agreement at June 30, 2023; the new lease term commenced July 1, 2023, along
with the new Airline Agreement. Therefore, new and un-amortized lease receivables for such properties were
recorded at June 30, 2023. The OPEB asset changed as more favorable market conditions increased the value of
OPEB trust assets.

Deferred outflows of resources represent the consumption of net assets in one period that is applicable to future
periods. They are reported separately from assets and consist of deferred amounts on debt refunding.

Current liabilities include accounts payable, payroll-related liabilities, accrued paid time off, and
security/performance deposits. Current liabilities remained consistent, increasing by $1.7 million in 2024 and
decreasing by $3.3 million in 2023. Accrued payroll increased by $1.1 million in 2024, and $1.9 million in 2023,
due to the addition of staff and increased employee pay during both years. Accounts payable decreased
minimally in 2024. Accounts payable decreased by $5.8 million in 2023, due to the timing of operating invoice
payments.

Noncurrent liabilities contain long-term debt and the net pension liability. Long-term liabilities decreased by $6.0
million in 2024. This was caused by a decrease in accrued interest payable of $2.3 million as the Authority paid
debt principal and did not issue new bonds. Additionally, the net pension liability decreased by $3.3 million due to
favorable market conditions during the year. Long-term liabilities increased by $547.7 million in 2023. The
increase resulted from issuing $596.1 million in new bonds, additional bond premiums of $33.6 million from said
bond issue, and new borrowings of $65.2 million on the BNA Credit Facility. The increase in debt due to
borrowing was offset by principal repayments totaling $8.7 million on bonds and notes payable, and $147.9 million
for the BNA Credit Facility. For more detailed long-term debt information, see Note 5 in the Notes to the Financial
Statements.

Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net assets that is applicable to future periods. They are

recorded separately from liabilities and consist of deferred inflows related to long-term leases, pension, and
OPEB.

29



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

Summary of Operations and Changes in Net Position

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position presents the operating results of the
Authority, as well as the nonoperating revenue and expenses. Operating revenues include both airline and non-
airline revenues and consist primarily of landing and related fees, terminal building rentals and fees, parking fees,
concession fees, and car rental revenues. Nonoperating revenues consist primarily of passenger facility charges
(PFC), federal and state grants, customer facility charges (CFC) and interest income. Interest expense is the most
significant nonoperating expense. A summarized comparison of the Authority’s revenues, expenses, and changes
in net position for the years ended June 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022 follows:

2024 2023 2022
(000s) (000s) (000s)

Operating revenues:
Signatory airline $ 94,966 $ 59,744 $ 54,396
Parking 107,040 97,047 76,135
Concession 70,475 59,689 50,156
Space rental 21,362 27,403 20,142
Other 8,771 10,719 9,400
Operating revenues 302,614 254,602 210,229
Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages, and fringe benefits 49,830 39,212 37,663
Contractual services 80,018 62,259 51,660
Materials and supplies 9,432 6,631 4,858
Utilities 8,779 8,662 7,002
Insurance 5,319 3,482 2,148
Other 5,662 5,620 9,634
Depreciation 117,554 85,872 79,274
Operating expenses 276,594 211,738 192,239
Operating income 26,020 42,864 17,990
Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Investment income (loss) 62,088 31,041 (4,756)
Passenger facility charges 44,734 41,532 35,678
Customer facility charges 17,284 15,494 12,939
Federal and state grants 34,830 29,255 26,494
Insurance reimbursement 669 6,215 1,851
Gain on disposal of property and equipment 3,696 3,801 67
Interest expense (79,527) (67,906) (50,107)
Debt issuance costs (8) (2,639) (62)

83,766 56,793 22,104
Income before capital contributions 109,786 99,657 40,094
Capital contributions 33,823 58,983 29,763
Increase in net position 143,609 158,640 69,857
Total net position - beginning of year 1,057,067 898,427 828,570
Total net position - end of year $1,200,676 $1,057,067 $898,427

30



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

Operating Revenues

The chart below illustrates the sources of total operating revenue for the year ended June 30, 2024

OPERATING REVENUES COMPOSITION

Other
Space Rental 3%
7%

Signatory Airline
31%

Concession
23%

Operating revenues increased in fiscal year 2024 from 2023 by $48.0 million, and by $44.4 million in fiscal year
2023 from 2022.

Signatory airline revenue consists of ramp rent, terminal rent, baggage fees, and landing fees, and are offset by
in-terminal concession credits. Signatory airline revenue increased in 2024 from 2023 by $35.2 million, due to
increases in terminal rental rates, baggage fees, and landing fees. In accordance with the new signatory use and
lease agreement, rolling debt service is now incorporated in all rate calculations for airline cost centers.
Consequently, terminal rental rates were raised from $116.55 per square foot in 2023 to $173.37 per square foot
in 2024. BNA opened the satellite concourse (featuring eight gates) and the international arrivals facility (featuring
six gates). Rentable baggage claim space increased by approximately 19,400 square feet during 2024. The
increased rentable space combined with the fee increases resulted in a terminal rental revenue increase of $9.9
million, and a baggage claim revenue increase of $4.9 million. The landing fee increased from $2.06 to $3.50 (per
1,000 pounds of gross landed weight) from 2023 to 2024; this fee increase, along with an 8% increase in
enplanements, led to a landing revenue increase of $21.0 million in 2024. Signatory airline revenue increased in
2023 from 2022 by $5.3 million, due to increases in terminal rental rates, and an increase in landing fees. In
accordance with the signatory use and lease agreement in place at the time, terminal rental rates were raised
from $111.00 per square foot in 2022 to $116.55 per square foot in 2023, resulting in a terminal rental revenue
increase of $2.2 million. In addition, the landing fee increased from $2.04 to $2.06 (per 1,000 pounds of gross
landed weight) from 2022 to 2023. The increase in the landing fee, plus increased flight operations, led to
increased signatory landing fees of $4.0 million. The increases in terminal rental rates and landing fees were

31



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

offset by a reduction in baggage fees charged to the signatory airlines. For more detailed Airline Use and Lease
Agreement information, see Note 9 in the Notes to the Financial Statements.

Parking revenue increased in 2024 from 2023 by $10.0 million due to receiving a full year’s revenue from a new
parking garage which opened in the final quarter of fiscal year 2023, the continued increase in passenger volume
at BNA, and increased parking rates effective in December 2023. Parking revenue increased in 2023 from 2022
by $20.9 million due to the continued increase in passenger volume at BNA, the opening of the additional parking
garage in April 2023, and increased parking rates in March 2023.

Concessions revenue consists of the food/beverage concessions, retail concessions, rental car revenue, and
ground transportation (including Transportation Network Companies). Concessions revenue increased from 2023
to 2024 by $10.8 million, due to increased passenger volume, as well as the addition of new dining and retail
concepts in the satellite concourse, the international arrivals facility, and throughout other pre-existing terminal
areas. During 2024, in-terminal concessions increased by $5.9 million, parking decal revenue by $1.9 million,
rental car revenue by $1.0 million, and ground transportation revenue by $1.5 million. Concessions revenue
increased from 2022 to 2023 by $9.5 million, due to increased passenger volume, as well as the addition of 18
new retail concepts. For 2023 as compared to 2022, in-terminal concessions increased by $1.3 million, rental car
revenue by $4.0 million, and ground transportation revenue by $3.9 million.

Space rental revenue decreased from 2023 to 2024 by $6.0 million. Adjustments pertaining to certain lease
accounting requirements reduced revenue by $5.8 million. These reductions were offset by new revenue from the
onsite hotel, and from renting additional office space and lay-down yard space to airlines. Space rental revenue
increased from 2022 to 2023 by $7.3 million due to increased rental rates for non-airline tenants. For more
detailed lease accounting information, see Note 16 in the Notes to the Financial Statements.

Other revenue includes non-signatory landing fees, miscellaneous income, reimbursable services, and any

additional revenue not included in the four main categories listed above. Other revenue decreased nominally in
fiscal year 2024 ($1.9 million) and increased nominally in 2023 ($1.3 million).

32



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

Operating Expenses

The chart below illustrates the sources of total operating expenses for the year ended June 30, 2024

OPERATING EXPENSES COMPOSITION

Salaries, wages,
Depreciation

and fringe
benefits
18%
3% O\

Contractual
services
29%
Insurance___—

Other
2% _\/

——  Materials and
2% Utilities/ supplies

3% 3%

Total operating expenses increased by $64.9 million between 2023 and 2024. Salaries increased by $10.6 million
as the Authority added a total of 88 employees from June 30, 2023 to June 30, 2024. Employees were also
granted cost-of-living adjustments in fiscal year 2024. Contractual services increased by $17.8 million, materials
and supplies increased by $2.8 million, and insurance increased by $1.8 million. These increases are attributable
to the increase in passenger volume during the year, as well as the added square footage of the satellite
concourse and international arrivals facility. The satellite concourse requires additional contracted shuttle bus
service, and both new facilities require additional contracted janitorial and security services, and additional
insurance. Total operating expenses increased by $19.5 million between 2022 and 2023. Salaries increased by
$1.5 million as the Authority continued to fill vacant positions and granted cost-of-living adjustments. Contractual
services increased by $10.6 million, materials and supplies increased by $1.8 million, utilities increased by $1.7
million, and insurance increased by $1.3 million. These increases were attributable to the addition of square
footage in the new terminal lobby and Garage B, as well as the increase in passenger volume during the year.
Due to the vigorous growth between fiscal years 2022 and 2023, and 2023 and 2024, the airport incurred more
expenses to maintain cleanliness, comfort, safety and security for all passengers.

33



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

Nonoperating, Revenues, Expenses, and Contributed Capital

Nonoperating revenues include investment income, passenger facility charges, customer facility charges,
noncapital federal and state grants, gain on disposal of property and equipment, and insurance reimbursements.
Nonoperating revenues increased by $36.0 million from fiscal year 2023 to fiscal year 2024. Investment income
increased by $31.0 million due to favorable market conditions in 2024; additionally, the Authority earned interest
on a full year of the bond funds invested after the November 2022 issuance. Passenger facility charges increased
by $3.2 million, and customer facility charges increased by $1.8 million, both a direct result of more passengers
traveling in 2024. Federal and state grant revenue increased by $5.6 million as the Authority drew on its COVID-
19 relief grants to offset its increasing debt service requirements. Insurance reimbursements decreased by $5.5
million in fiscal year 2024 after climaxing in fiscal year 2023 due to proceeds received for (1) the tornado which
occurred at JWN in 2020, and (2) an incident occurring in 2019 in which the Colonial Pipeline was damaged on
BNA property. Nonoperating revenue increased by $55.1 million from fiscal year 2022 to fiscal year 2023.
Investment income increased by $35.8 million due to the increase in funds invested after the November 2022 debt
issuance, and more favorable market conditions in 2023. Passenger facility charges increased by $5.9 million,
and customer facility charges increased by $2.6 million, both a direct result of more passengers traveling in fiscal
year 2023. The Authority also recorded a receivable in fiscal year 2023 for an insurance settlement in the amount
of $4.6 million related to the aforementioned tornado.

Nonoperating expenses include interest expense and debt issuance costs. Nonoperating expenses increased by
$9.0 million from fiscal year 2023 to fiscal year 2024. Interest expense increased by $11.6 million due to paying a
full year of interest on bonds issued midway through fiscal year 2023, offset by a decrease in debt issuance costs
of $2.6 million. Nonoperating expenses increased by $20.4 million from fiscal year 2022 to fiscal year 2023.
Interest expense increased by $17.8 million, and bond issuance costs increased by $2.6 million; both were
directly related to the bonds issued midway through fiscal year 2023.

Capital contributions decreased between 2023 and 2024 by $25.1 million, after increasing by $29.2 between 2022

and 2023. The Authority received a $33.1 million grant to construct the satellite concourse, which was completed
in October 2023. All revenues related to the grant were recognized in fiscal year 2023.

34



This page is intentionally left blank.



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Statements of Net Position
June 30, 2024 and 2023

ASSETS
Current assets:
Unrestricted assets:
Cash, cash equivalents, and investments

Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful
accounts of $359,531 in 2024 and $333,075 in 2023)

Lease receivable
Due from governmental agencies
Prepaid expenses and other

Total current unrestricted assets

Restricted assets:
Cash and investments
Accounts receivable

Non-current assets:
Capital assets:

Capital assets not being depreciated
Land and nondepreciable assets
Construction in progress

Capital assets being depreciated
Infrastructure
Buildings and building improvements
Equipment, furniture, and fixtures
Subscription assets

Total capital assets
Less accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets, net
Other assets
Accounts receivable, net
Lease receivable
Net OPEB asset

Total noncurrent assets

Total assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows from OPEB

Deferred outflows from pension

Deferred amount on refunding

Total deferred outflows of resources

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

2024

2023

$ 791,245,071

$ 631,027,635

19,078,186 21,145,264
11,886,049 9,100,425
24,563,843 6,679,434
1,631,016 3,866,276
848,404,165 671,819,034
438,220,867 628,288,824
148,129 143,045
113,265,169 111,226,323
212,924,038 358,877,117
815,353,882 728,661,124
1,128,498,584 952,350,604
721,348,402 567,644,400
3,777,401 2,244,691

2,995,167,476

(997,534,239)

2,721,004,259

(880,733,537)

1,997,633,237

2,080,000
133,609,650
17,675,838

1,840,270,722

1,110,000
129,959,020
12,286,395

2,589,367,721

2,612,058,006

$ 3,437,771,886

$ 3,283,877,040

$ - $ 624,787
- 3,355,166

1,451,665 1,807,176

$ 1,451,665 $ 5,787,129




Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Statements of Net Position
June 30, 2024 and 2023

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Payable from unrestricted assets:
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll and related items

Advanced billings and payments received

in advance
Subscription lease liability
Current maturities of notes payable
Accrued interest payable

Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities:

Payable from restricted assets:
Accrued interest payable

Current maturities of airport revenue bonds

Unearned revenue from seized funds
Notes payable, less current maturities
Subscription lease liability

Net pension liability

Airport revenue bonds, less current maturities

Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows from leases

Deferred inflows from pension

Deferred inflows from OPEB

Total deferred inflows of resources

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:

Capital projects

Debt senice

Operations

OPEB
Unrestricted net position

Total net position

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

37

2024 2023
$ 70,392,785 $ 70,003,929
9,031,736 7,918,571
2,708,190 2,994,064
912,264 416,402
309,136 303,474
133,576 107,286
83,487,687 81,743,726
42,806,010 45,086,495
38,999,862 22,816,695
986,084 890,301
1,979,775 2,288,911
653,894 657,752
929,976 4,208,378

1,927,737,076

1,944,128,207

2,014,092,677

2,020,076,739

$ 2,097,580,364 $ 2,101,820,465
139,677,802 130,776,747
211,306 -
1,078,412 -
140,967,520 $ 130,776,747

$ 261,219,915 $ 278,591,774
63,413,979 70,305,016
357,563,575 340,377,311
55,803,273 46,228,651
17,675,838 12,286,395
444,999,087 309,277,810

$ 1,200,675,667 $ 1,057,066,957




Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

Total net position - beginning of year

Total net position - end of year

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

38

1,057,066,957

2024 2023
Operating revenues:
Signatory airline $ 94,965,818 $ 59,744,223
Parking 107,040,002 97,046,859
Concession 70,475,331 59,689,463
Space rental 21,361,827 27,403,183
Other 8,770,689 10,718,636
Operating revenues 302,613,667 254,602,364
Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages, and fringe benefits 49,830,121 39,212,410
Contractual services 80,017,706 62,258,776
Materials and supplies 9,431,679 6,631,336
Utilities 8,779,086 8,661,656
Insurance 5,318,692 3,481,751
Other 5,662,165 5,619,909
Depreciation 117,553,933 85,872,221
Operating expenses 276,593,382 211,738,059
Operating income 26,020,285 42,864,305
Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Investment income 62,087,598 31,040,249
Passenger facility charges 44,734,128 41,531,943
Customer facility charges 17,283,641 15,494,211
Federal and state grants 34,830,240 29,254,808
Insurance reimbursement 668,506 6,215,396
Gain on disposal of property and equipment 3,695,683 3,800,911
Interest expense (79,526,825) (67,906,457)
Debt issuance costs (7,500) (2,639,275)
83,765,471 56,791,786
Income before capital contributions 109,785,756 99,656,091
Capital contributions 33,822,954 58,983,376
Increase in net position 143,608,710 158,639,467

898,427,490

$ 1,200,675,667

$ 1,057,066,957




Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from customers
Cash paid to employees
Cash paid to suppliers
Cash received for lease deposits
Cash reimbursed for lease deposits
Cash received for insurance claims
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Grants from federal/state governments
Interest paid on long-term debt

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities

Cash flows from capital and related financial activities:
Receipt of passenger facility charges
Receipt of customer facility charges
Purchases and construction of property and equipment
Interest paid on long-term debt
Payments on long-term debt
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
Payment for debt issuance cost
Interest received from leases
Contributions from governmental agencies
Net insurance recoveries
Receipts from sale of capital assets

Net cash (used in) provided by capital and related
financing activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of investments
Proceeds from the sale and maturities of investments
Realized gains on investments
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of year

End of year

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

39

2024

2023

$ 304,643,723
(52,115,130)
(119,336,364)

$ 248,495,051
(42,234,917)
(94,638,993)

187,876 311,733
(539,388) (3,031,041)
18,506 1,622,349
132,859,223 110,524,182
32,770,915 28,662,912
(594,300) (636,192)
32,176,615 28,026,720
42,721,511 41,000,522
17,111,237 15,098,300
(257,624,191) (310,608,330)
(88,277,635) (56,157,601)
(8,864,247) (156,528,990)
15,823,146 694,823,608
(7,500) (2,639,275)
3,333,884 2,159,916
18,134,356 57,932,543
5,243,047 4,019,188
107,112 -
(252,299,280) 289,099,881

(1,324,722,657)
1,404,376,827

(2,797,550,493)
2,535,497,894

57,682,335 28,030,034
137,336,505 (234,022,565)
50,073,063 193,628,218
440,787,278 247,159,060

$ 490,860,341

$ 440,787,278




Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

Reconciliation of operating income to net
cash provided by operating activities:

Operating income

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash

provided by operating activities:

Provision for depreciation
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable
Lease receivable and related deferred inflows of resources
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll and related items
Advanced billings and payments received in advance
Lease deposits
Insurance recoveries
Net pension liability/asset and related deferred
inflows/outflows of resources
Net OPEB liability/asset and related deferred
inflows/outflows of resources

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash and investments - end of year consist of:

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments

Unrestricted cash and investments
Restricted cash and investments

Noncash investing and financing activities:
Deferred bond refundings
Interest expense, net of bond premium amortization

Net noncash financing activities

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

40

2024 2023
$ 26,020,285 $ 42,864,305
117,553,934 85,872,221
(6,234,856) (29,727,322)
8,455,002 -

- 23,477,106
2,235,261 (2,118,320)
(12,362,297) (5,849,852)
1,113,165 1,938,454
(190,091) 125,508
(351,512) (2,719,306)

18,506 1,622,349
(1,575,203) (50,045)
(1,822,971) (4,910,916)

$ 132,859,223

$ 110,524,182

$ 490,860,341
738,605,597

$ 440,787,278
818,529,181

$ 1,229,465,938

$ 1,259,316,459

$ 791,245,071
438,220,867

$ 631,027,635
628,288,824

$ 1,229,465,938

$ 1,259,316,459

$ 355,510 $ 355,510
7,470,337 6,910,622
$ 7,825,847 $ 7,266,132




Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Statements of Fiduciary Net Position

June 30, 2024 and 2023

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments, at fair value
Pooled, common, and collective funds
Mutual funds
Total assets

NET POSITION
Restricted for:
OPEB
Pension
Total net position

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

41

2024

2023

Other Post-
Employment and
Pension Trust

Other Post-
Employment and
Pension Trust

Funds Funds
$ 6,173,959 $ 4,929,798
64,518,620 61,337,507
57,295,795 52,840,356
127,988,374 119,107,661
43,175,519 39,491,196
84,812,855 79,616,465

$ 127,988,374

$ 119,107,661




Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Statements of Fiduciary Net Position
June 30, 2024 and 2023

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets

NET POSITION
Restricted for:
Unadjudicated funds
Total net position

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

42

2024 2023
Unadjudicated Unadjudicated
Funds - Funds -
Custodial Custodial
Fund Fund
$ 986,845 $ 890,969

986,845 890,969
986,845 890,969
$ 986,845 $ 890,969




Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

Additions:
Employer contributions
Employee contributions
Investment income
Net appreciation (depreciation) in fair value
Interest and dividends
Investment expenses
Investment income, net
Total additions

Deductions:
Benefits paid to participants
Administrative expenses
Total deductions
Change in net position

Net position - beginning of year

Net position - end of year

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

43

2024

2023

Other Post-
Employment and
Pension Trust

Other Post-
Employment and
Pension Trust

Funds Funds
$ 2,000,000 $ 1,561,000
283,087 535,502
12,390,658 10,054,780
615,571 544,672
(157,005) (154,130)
12,849,224 10,445,322
15,132,311 12,541,824
6,172,659 6,415,863
78,939 75,057
6,251,598 6,490,920
8,880,713 6,050,904
119,107,661 113,056,757

$ 127,988,374

$ 119,107,661




Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

Additions:
Collection of unadjudicated funds
Interest and dividends
Total additions
Deductions:
Payout of unadjudicated funds
Total deductions
Change in net position

Net position - beginning of year

Net position - end of year

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

44

2024 2023
Unadjudicated Unadjudicated
Funds - Funds -
Custodial Custodial
Fund Fund
$ 95,783 $ 459,881

93 140
95,876 460,021
- 813,721
- 813,721
95,876 (353,700)
890,969 1,244,669
$ 986,845 $ 890,969




Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

1. Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

The creation of the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority (the “Authority”) was authorized by Public
Chapter 174 of the Public Acts of the 86th General Assembly of the State of Tennessee, 1969 Session.
The Metropolitan Council of the Metropolitan Government of Nashville and Davidson County, Tennessee
(“Metropolitan Government”) created the Authority to operate as a separate enterprise. The Authority owns
and operates Nashville International Airport and John C. Tune Airport, a general aviation reliever airport.
Based upon the criteria set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”), it has been
determined that the Authority is a component unit of the Metropolitan Government.

The Authority’s Board of Commissioners consists of seven members who serve without compensation and
are appointed by the Metropolitan Government Mayor and approved by the Metropolitan Government
Council. There are provisions whereby commissioners may be removed by vote of the Metropolitan
Government Council. Board members appointed before August 2021 serve a four-year term and can be
reappointed. Board members appointed after August 2021 serve a seven-year term and can be
reappointed. The terms are staggered to provide for continuity of Authority development and management.
The Board of Commissioners appoints a President charged with the responsibility for day-to-day operations.

The Authority formed the MNAA Properties Corporation (“MPC”), a Tennessee non-profit corporation, for
the purpose of supporting and facilitating the operations of the Authority and to help the economic
development of the surrounding area. The Commissioners of the Authority constitute the Board of Directors
of MPC. During fiscal year 2008, MPC Holdings, LLC, a limited liability company in which MPC is the sole
member, purchased two separate multi-tenant buildings, and commenced operation. Both facilities are on
Nashville International Airport property. In July 2012, MPC Holdings, LLC purchased a small commercial
building adjoining Nashville International Airport.

In fiscal year 2010, the Board of Commissioners approved the formation of a Tennessee nonprofit limited
liability company, MPC CONRAC, LLC. This entity was created in connection with the special facilities
financing for the Authority’s consolidated rental car facility. MPC CONRAC, LLC is a single-member LLC,
wholly owned by MPC. The formation of MPC CONRAC, LLC created an appropriate entity to execute
various agreements and secure financing and services for the consolidated rental car (“CONRAC”) facility,
which was completed in fiscal year 2012, and is located at Nashville International Airport.

MPC, including its subsidiaries MPC Holdings, LLC and MPC CONRAC, LLC, is considered to be a blended
component unit for financial reporting purposes based on the following: (i) the Authority’s Board of
Commissioners constitutes the Board of Directors of MPC; (i) management of the Authority has operational
responsibility for MPC; (iii) the Authority is financially accountable for MPC, including MPC'’s fiscal
dependence on the Authority and MPC’s potential to provide specific financial benefits or burden to the
Authority; and (iv) MPC was created for the benefit of the Authority. The Authority does not issue separate
financial statements for the blended component unit (see Note 19).

The accompanying financial statements also include the accounts of the Arts at the Airport Foundation, a
nonprofit organization that facilitates the display and performance of artists within the Nashville International
Airport terminal. The Arts at the Airport Foundation qualifies as a blended component unit of the Authority
due to it being fiscally dependent on the Authority and due to the Authority’s appointment of the voting
majority of its governing board. The financial operations of the Arts at the Airport Foundation are generally
immaterial to the Authority’s financial statements and therefore not shown separately in the financial
statements.

45



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

1. Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority (continued)

Fiduciary Activities

As defined by the GASB, the Authority reports the operations of the pension and other post-employment
benefits (“OPEB”), as blended component units in the Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements. The pension
and OPEB trust funds provide retirement and health benefits for qualified Authority retired employees. The
pension and OPEB trust funds are legally separate entities, and the resources of the trust funds cannot be
used to finance the Authority’s operations. The assets of the trust funds are held and administered in trust
arrangements which are governed by a Retirement Committee (see Notes 12 and 13). The Authority is
committed to making contributions to the trusts, and therefore assumes a financial burden for the trust funds
and thus has financial accountability. As a result, the activity of the fiduciary funds is presented as a blended
component unit. The assets in each trust are held only for the Authority retirees’ benefit.

The Authority also reports unadjudicated funds as a blended component unit in the Fiduciary Fund Financial
Statements. The unadjudicated funds are comprised of cash that was seized from individuals suspected of
crimes. These funds are deposited into a separate bank account in the Authority’s name. The funds are
held by the Authority until the court issues a verdict. When a judgment is rendered, the funds are distributed
to the individuals or the Authority accordingly.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Measurement focus, basis of accounting, and basis of presentation

The financial statements of the Authority are presented using the economic resources measurement focus
and the accrual basis of accounting, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded
when earned and expenses are recorded when incurred. The financial statements include the operations
of Nashville International Airport, John C. Tune Airport, and MPC, including MPC CONRAC, LLC, as
discussed in Note 1. The Authority’s pension and other post-employment benefits trust funds are reported
as component units in the Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements.

Use of estimates in the preparation of financial statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Significant estimates include the useful lives of capital assets, the allowance for
doubtful accounts, valuation of net pension and OPEB liabilities or assets and the related deferred inflows
and/or outflows, valuation of certain leases receivable and related deferred inflows, and certain self-insured
liabilities. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Budgets

The Authority prepares an annual operating budget and capital improvement budget and submits it for
approval to the Board of Commissioners. A five-year capital improvement program, including modifications
and reasons therefore, is also submitted each year.

The Authority is not required to demonstrate statutory compliance with its annual operating budget.
Accordingly, budgetary data is not included in the basic financial statements. All budgets are prepared in
accordance with bond covenants and airport use and lease agreements. Unexpended operating
appropriations lapse at year-end.

46



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Employer contributions to the pension and OPEB trust funds are recognized when the employer has made
formal commitments to provide the contribution. The contributions for each year are based on an actuarial
valuation performed as of the year prior to the year for which the contribution relates. The contribution
amount for any given year incorporates (1) the current and projected funded status of the funds; (2) recent
investment performance, and the advice of the investment consultant; and (3) anticipated changes to the
Plans’ demographics to the extent reflected in the actuarial assumptions used by the actuary in its most
recent actuarial valuation or projections.

Operating and nonoperating revenues and expenses

The Authority distinguishes operating revenues and operating expenses from nonoperating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services in connection with the principal,
ongoing operations such as space rental and fees, landing fees, parking, and other miscellaneous income.
Transactions that are capital, financing, or investing related are reported as nonoperating revenues. Such
nonoperating revenues include Passenger Facility Charges (“PFCs”) as described in Note 6, Customer
Facility Charges (“CFCs”) as described in Note 7, and lease-related interest income as described in Note
16.

Expenses from employee wages and benefits, purchases of services, materials and supplies, and other
miscellaneous expenses are reported as operating expenses. Interest expenses and financing costs are
reported as nonoperating expenses.

Revenues are reported net of discounts and allowances. Bad debts are expensed using the allowance
method. Bad debt expense was $107,368 and $165,321 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023,
respectively. The allowance for doubtful accounts was $359,531 and $333,075 at June 30, 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

The Authority’s operating revenues are presented in five components as follows:

Signatory airline

Signatory Airline revenue consists of the revenues earned from the signatory airlines operating at Nashville
International Airport primarily for terminal space rentals and landing fees. The Airline Agreements have a
“hybrid” airline rate-setting methodology with the landing fees being calculated on a residual basis, the
terminal rental rates being compensatory, and terminal ramp area rates being compensatory. For more
information regarding airline rates and charges, see Note 9.

Parking

Parking revenue is generated primarily from the operation of Authority-owned parking facilities at Nashville
International Airport. This amount is presented net of discounts.

Concession

Concession revenue is generated through concessionaires and tenants who pay monthly fees for using
airport facilities to offer their goods and services to the public. Payments to the Authority are based on
negotiated agreements with concessionaires to remit amounts typically based either on a minimum
guarantee or on a percentage of gross receipts.

Space rental

Space rental revenue includes non-signatory airline terminal space rental, car rental companies’ space
rental, and certain other income received from leases of Authority-owned property.

47



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Other

Other revenue consists primarily of non-signatory airline landing fees, cargo airline landing fees, and the
Authority’s portion of fixed-based operators’ fuel sales.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short-term investments with original maturities of
three months or less. Certain cash and cash equivalents are reported as noncurrent, as these amounts are
restricted to the withdrawal or use.

Investments

Investments are accounted for in accordance with GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and
Application, which requires that certain investments be recorded at fair value (e.g., quoted market prices).

Amounts due from governmental agencies

The Authority has grants for aid in construction and equipment from the Federal Airport Improvement
Program (“AIP”) of the Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”), the U.S. Department of Homeland Security
(“DHS”), and the Tennessee Department of Transportation (“TDOT”). Amounts due from governmental
agencies under the terms of grant agreements are accrued as the related reimbursable costs are incurred
which is the point when the criteria for revenue recognition has been satisfied for these arrangements under
GASB Statement No. 33, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nonexchange Transactions.

Restricted assets and payables from restricted assets

Restricted assets consist of cash and cash equivalents, investments, and other resources which are
restricted legally or by enabling legislation. The Authority’s restricted assets are to be used for purposes
specified in the respective bond indentures or other authoritative or legal documents as is the case with the
collection of CFCs for the consolidated rental car facility or for purposes specified by the PFC program, as
administered by the FAA.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Authority’s policy to use
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as needed. A summary of the restricted assets at
June 30, 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

2024 2023
Debt Senvice:
Cash and investments $ 206,668,022 $ 222,872,058
Accounts receivable 148,129 143,045
Total 206,816,151 223,015,103
Construction:
Cash and investments 224,507,431 398,677,729
Total 224,507,431 398,677,729
Operations:
Cash and investments 7,045,414 6,739,037
Total 7,045,414 6,739,037
Total restricted assets $ 438,368,996 $ 628,431,869

48



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Capital assets

Capital assets are stated at cost, except for contributions of property received from governmental agencies,
which are recorded at acquisition value at the time of contribution. The Authority’s policy is to capitalize
assets with a useful life greater than one year, and with a cost of $25,000 or more at Nashville International
Airport and $10,000 at John C. Tune Airport and MPC.

Asset lives used in the calculation of depreciation are generally as follows:

Infrastructure 10 to 30 years
Buildings and building improvements 10 to 40 years
Equipment, furniture and fixtures 3 to 15 years
Information technology software 1to 5 years

Routine maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Provision for depreciation of property and
equipment is made on a basis considered adequate to depreciate the cost of depreciable assets over their
estimated useful lives and is computed using the straight-line method.

Postemployment benefits

Postemployment pension benefits are accounted for under GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Pensions, an amendment to GASB Statement No. 27 (“GASB No. 68”), which
establishes standards for the measurement, recognition, and display of pension expense and related
liabilities, deferred inflows/outflows of resources, note disclosures, and required supplementary information.
See additional information regarding the Authority’s pension benefits in Note 12.

Postemployment benefits other than pension benefits are accounted for under GASB Statement No. 75,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions (“GASB No. 75”),
which establishes standards for the measurement, recognition, and display of postemployment benefits
expense and related liabilities, assets, deferred inflows/outflows of resources, note disclosures, and
required supplementary information. See additional information regarding the Authority’s OPEB in Note 13.

Compensated absences

Compensated absences are accrued as payable when earned by employees and are cumulative from one
fiscal year to the next. The compensated absences liability is reported with accrued payroll and related
items in the accompanying statements of net position.

Self-insurance

The Authority is self-insured, up to certain limits, for employee group health insurance claims. The Authority
has purchased reinsurance to limit its exposure. The cost of claims reported and an estimate of claims
incurred but not reported are charged to operating expenses. Liabilities for unpaid claims are accrued based
on management’s estimate using historical experience and current trends and are included in accrued
payroll and related items on the statements of net position. The appropriateness of the self-insurance
accrued liabilities is continually reviewed and updated by management.

49



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Deferred outflows/Inflows of resources

The statements of net position will report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources and/or
deferred inflows of resources. Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of net assets that
applies to future periods and, therefore, are not recognized as an outflow of resources (expense) until then.
Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net assets that applies to future periods and,
therefore, are not recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until then.

The Authority has several items that qualify for reporting as deferred outflows/inflows of resources. These
items may include gains or losses on bond refundings; GASB No. 87, Leases (“GASB No. 87”), deferred
inflow of resources related to leasing activities; GASB No. 68 deferred inflows and outflows from earnings
on investments, changes in assumptions, changes in benefit terms, and other experience gains or losses
related to the Authority’s pension plan, and GASB No. 75 deferred inflows and outflows earnings on
investments, changes in assumptions, changes in benefit terms, and other experience gains or losses
relating to the Authority’s OPEB plan.

A deferred loss on refunding results from the difference between the net carrying amount of the original
debt and the reacquisition price, shown as a deferred outflow of resources in the accompanying statements
of net position. This amount is deferred and amortized over the term of the new bonds or old bonds,
whichever is shorter, using the effective interest method or the straight-line method, when not materially
different.

GASB No. 87 establishes a deferred inflow, representing the present value of long-term lease payments
expected to be received during a lease payment term, net of any prepayments received from lessees and
lease incentives paid to lessees.

GASB No. 68 and GASB No. 75 variances can occur due to actuarial assumptions that differ between the
actual plan experience and the original actuarial assumed rates. Differences can result from earnings on
investments, changes in assumptions, changes in benefit terms, other experience gains or losses, and
other factors. A variance represents a gain or a loss, shown as deferred inflows of resources or deferred
outflows of resources, respectively, in the accompanying statements of net position. These deferred
outflows/inflows are amortized in accordance with the provisions of GASB No. 68 and GASB No. 75.
Additional items are determined annually based on each subsequent year's variances from actuarial
assumptions.

Advanced billings and payments received in advance

Advanced billings and payments received in advance represent incremental amounts due to airlines under
the signatory airline agreements (Note 9). Incremental amounts due from airlines are reflected in accounts
receivable. Incremental amounts due to the airlines arise when amounts assessed, based on the estimated
rates used during the year, exceed actual expenses for the year. Incremental amounts due from the airlines
arise when amounts assessed, based on the estimated rates used during the year, are less than actual
expenses for the year. Amounts due from or to airlines are typically settled in one to three months after
period-end and are therefore recorded as a current asset or liability.

Long-term leases

Regulated leases

The Authority leases certain assets to various third parties as regulated leases. These leases are for assets
related directly and substantially to the movement of passengers, baggage, mail, and cargo at the airport.
Regulated lease revenue is recorded as it is earned over the life of the regulated leases.

50



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Non-regulated leases

The Authority leases certain assets to various third parties as non-regulated leases. As a lessor, the
Authority is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources. The lease
receivable is measured at the present value of lease payments expected to be received during the lease
term. The deferred inflow of resources is equal to the lease receivable, less prepayments received from
lessees, or lease incentives paid to lessees. As lease payments are received, the Authority recognizes
interest revenue and a reduction to the lease receivable. The Authority also recognizes lease revenue
calculated as the amortization of the deferred inflow of resources over the lease term. Additional information
regarding lease accounting is provided in Note 16.

Components of net position

The Authority’s net position classifications are defined as follows:

Net investment in capital assets

This component of net position consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by
the outstanding balances of any bonds (net of deferred amount on refunding), mortgages, notes,
construction, or improvement of those assets. If there are significant unspent related debt proceeds at year-
end, the portion of the debt attributable to the unspent proceeds is not included in the calculation of net
investment in capital assets. Rather, that portion of the debt is included in the same net position component
as the unspent proceeds.

Restricted net position

This component of net position represents restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws
or regulations of other governments and restrictions imposed by law or through constitutional provisions or
enabling legislation.

Unrestricted net position

This component of net position consists of net position that does not meet the definition of “net investment
in capital assets” or “restricted net position”.
Taxes

The Authority is exempt from payment of federal and state income, property, and certain other taxes.

Fair value measurements

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the statements of net position are categorized based on the
level of judgment associated with the inputs used to measure their fair value. Level inputs are as follows:

Level 1 - Values are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets in active markets accessible at
the measurement date.

Level 2 - Inputs include quoted prices for similar assets in active markets, quoted prices from those
willing to trade in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can
be corroborated by market data for the term of the instrument. Such inputs include market
interest rates and volatilities, spreads and yield curves.

51



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Level 3 - Certain inputs are unobservable (supported by little or no market activity) and significant
to the fair value measurement. Unobservable inputs reflect the Authority’s best estimate
of what hypothetical market participants would use to determine a transaction price for
the asset or liability at the reporting date.

Change in presentation

The Authority has made certain reclassifications to the 2023 financial statements to conform with the
presentation of the 2024 financial statements.

Upcoming accounting pronouncements

In June 2022, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board issued GASB Statement No. 101,
Compensated Absences, which updates the recognition and measurement guidance for compensated
absences under a unified model. This statement requires that liabilities for compensated absences be
recognized for leave that has not been used and leave that has been used but not yet paid in cash or settled
through noncash means and establishes guidance for measuring a liability for leave that has not been used.
It also updates disclosure requirements for compensated absences. The provisions of this statement are
effective for the Authority's financial statements for the year ending June 30, 2025.

In December 2023, the Government Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 102, Certain Risk
Disclosures, which requires governments to assess whether a concentration or constraint makes the
government vulnerable to the risk of a substantial impact. It also requires governments to assess whether
an event or events associated with a concentration or constraint that could cause the substantial impact
have occurred, have begun to occur, or are more likely than not to begin to occur within twelve months of
the date of the financial statements are issued. If certain criteria are met for a concentration or constraint,
disclosures are required in the notes to the financial statements. The provisions of this statement are
effective for the Authority's financial statements for the year ending June 30, 2025.

In April 2024, the Government Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 103, Financial Reporting
Model Improvements, which improves key components of the financial reporting model to enhance its
effectiveness in providing information that is essential for decision-making and assessing a government’s
accountability. The standard requires certain changes to the presentation of unusual or infrequent items,
presentation of the proprietary fund statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position, major
component unit information, budgetary comparison information, and management’s discussion and
analysis, The provisions of this statement are effective for the Authority's financial statements for the year
ending June 30, 2026.

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments

The Authority’s deposit and investment policy is governed by the laws of the State of Tennessee and bond
trust indentures and supplementary resolutions, which govern the investment of bond proceeds.
Permissible investments generally include direct obligations of, or obligations guaranteed by, the U.S.
Government, obligations issued or guaranteed by specific agencies of the U.S. Government, secured
certificates of deposit, secured repurchase agreements, and specifically rated obligations of state
governments, commercial paper, and money market funds.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Authority’s unrestricted and restricted cash and cash equivalent bank balances totaled $657,879,030
and $519,741,989 on June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

52



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments (continued)

Cash deposits, maintained at four financial institutions, are carried at cost plus interest, which approximates
fair value. Cash deposits totaled $66,840,144 and $75,583,944 at June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
Cash deposits are required by State statute to be secured and collateralized by such institutions.

The amount of collateral required to secure public deposits for Collateral Pool participants ranges between
90% and 115% of the average daily balance of public deposits held, depending on the participant’s status
and compliance with certain benchmarks established by the Collateral Pool. Collateral securities pledged
by the participating banks are pledged to the State Treasurer on behalf of the Collateral Pool. The securities
pledged to protect these accounts are pledged in the aggregate rather than against each individual account.
The members of the pool may be required by agreement to pay an assessment to cover any deficiency.

Under this additional assessment agreement, public fund accounts covered by the pool are considered
insured for purposes of credit risk disclosure in accordance with GASB Statement No. 40, Deposit and
Investment Risk Disclosures.

Cash equivalents are held at another financial institution and consist of money market and other short-term
investments with original maturities of three months or less. Investment risk for such cash equivalent funds
is governed by the Authority’s investment policy.

Investments

Interest rate risk

The Authority’s investment policy states that the investment portfolio may be allocated among U.S. Treasury
Obligations (0 - 100%), Government National Mortgage Association Securities (0 —40%), U.S. Government
Guaranteed AID and GTC (0 — 10%), Federal Agency Instruments (0 - 75%, 40% per agency cap for FMNA,
FHLMC, FHLB, FFCB and 10% cap for all other Government Sponsored Enterprises), Non-Negotiable
Collateralized Bank Deposits or Savings Accounts (0 — 50%), Commercial Paper (0 - 35%, 10% cap per
issuer), Repurchase Agreements (0 - 20%), Money Market Mutual Funds (0 - 50%, 25% per fund),
Tennessee Local Government Investment Pool (0 - 50%), and Cash Equivalents (0 - 100%). In addition,
the maximum maturity of investments is 270 days for commercial paper, one year for repurchase
agreements, two years for certificates of deposit, time deposits and bankers’ acceptances, no time
restriction on money market mutual funds or Tennessee Local Government Investment Pool, and 4 years
for all other permitted investments. No more than 50% of the portfolio can have a maturity date greater than
two (2.0) years. To control the volatility of the portfolio and limit exposure to interest rate risk, the Authority’s
Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) determines a duration target for the portfolio, which typically does not
exceed 3 years.

53



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments (continued)

On June 30, 2024, the average maturities of cash and investments subject to interest rate risk are as

follows:

Fair Average
Value Maturity
Primary Government:
Investments subject to risk:
U.S. agencies $ 537,283,050 1.41 years
Commercial paper 99,811,471 6 months
Certificate of deposit 1,047,776 10 months
Investments subject to risk 638,142,297
Deposits/investments not subject to risk:
Investment pool 256,262,257
Deposits 65,834,572
Money market funds 269,226,812
Deposits/investments not subject to risk 591,323,641
Total Primary Government $ 1,229,465,938
Fiduciary Funds:
Investments subject to risk:
Pooled, common and collective funds  $ 2,429,256 6.26 years
Mutual funds 999,752 6.26 years
Investments subject to risk 3,429,008
Deposits/investments not subject to risk:
Deposits 1,005,572
Money market funds 6,155,232
Pooled, common and collective funds 62,089,364
Mutual funds 56,296,043
Deposits/investments not subject to risk 125,546,211

Total Fiduciary Funds

$ 128,975,219

54



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments (continued)

On June 30, 2023, the average maturities of cash and investments subject to interest rate risk are as

follows:

Fair Average
Value Maturity
Primary Government:
Investments subject to risk:
U.S. agencies $ 615,585,547 1.24 years
Commercial paper 188,465,197 1.8 months
Certificate of deposit 1,006,804 10 months
Investments subject to risk 805,057,548
Deposits/investments not subject to risk:
Investment pool 184,511,731
Deposits 74,678,365
Money market funds 195,068,815
Deposits/investments not subject to risk 454,258,911
Total Primary Government $ 1,259,316,459
Fiduciary Funds:
Investments subject to risk:
Pooled, common and collective funds  $ 2,299,987 6.27 years
Mutual funds 910,910 6.27 years
Investments subject to risk 3,210,897
Deposits/investments not subject to risk:
Deposits 905,579
Money market funds 4,915,188
Pooled, common and collective funds 59,037,520
Mutual funds 51,929,446
Deposits/investments not subject to risk 116,787,733

Total Fiduciary Funds

$ 119,998,630

55



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments (continued)

Credit risk

The investment policy specifies acceptable credit ratings by instrument type; however, the investment policy
requires all investments to be ranked in the Highest Fund Quality or Rating for its individual investment
category.

On June 30, 2024, the credit quality ratings of investments (other than the U.S. agency issues) are as
follows:

Investment Fair Value Rating Organization
Primary Government:
Commercial Paper $ 99,811,471 A1, P1 S&P, Moody's
Fiduciary Funds:
Pooled, common and collective funds $ 9,696,219 AA S&P, Moody's, Fitch
Pooled, common and collective funds 6,175,937 A S&P, Moody's, Fitch
Pooled, common and collective funds 4,000,610 BBB S&P, Moody's, Fitch
Mutual funds 13,714,638 BBB S&P, Moody's, Fitch
Unrated investments 95,387,815
Total Fiduciary Fund investments $ 128,975,219

On June 30, 2023, the credit quality ratings of investments (other than the U.S. agency issues) are as
follows:

Investment Fair Value Rating Organization
Primary Government:
Commercial Paper $ 188,465,197 A1, P1 S&P, Moody's
Fiduciary Funds:
Pooled, common and collective funds $ 9,162,717 AA S&P, Moody's, Fitch
Pooled, common and collective funds 5,681,748 A+ S&P, Moody's, Fitch
Pooled, common and collective funds 3,623,996 AA S&P, Moody's, Fitch
Mutual funds 12,777,045 A+ S&P, Moody's, Fitch
Unrated investments 88,753,124
Total Fiduciary Fund investments $ 119,998,630

Custodial credit risk

All investment securities purchased by the Authority are held in third-party safekeeping at a financial
institution, acting solely as agent of the Authority and qualified to act in this capacity. To limit custodial credit
risk, all trades of marketable securities are executed based on delivery versus payment and avoid the
physical delivery of securities (bearer form) to ensure that securities are deposited with a custodian prior to
the release of Authority funds. The Authority’s investments on June 30, 2024 and 2023 are collateralized
by securities held by the Authority’s agent in the Authority’s name.

56



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments (continued)

Financial Instruments Reported at Fair Value

The Authority categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by U.S.
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure
the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2
inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.
Investments that are measured at fair value using net asset value per share (or its equivalent) as a practical
expedient are not classified in the fair value hierarchy below.

In instances whereby inputs used to measure fair value fall into different levels in the above fair value
hierarchy, fair value measurements in their entirety are categorized based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the valuation. The Authority’s assessment of the significance of inputs to these fair value
measurements requires judgment and considers factors specific to each asset or liability.

The Authority has the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2024:

U.S agency issues of $537,283,050 are valued using quoted market prices (Level 1 inputs).
Mutual funds of $57,295,795 are valued using quoted market prices (Level 1 inputs).

e Commercial paper of $99,811,471 are valued using quoted market prices and various market and
industry inputs (Level 2 inputs).

e Pooled, common and collective funds of $64,518,620 are valued on a recurring basis using net
asset value per share (or its equivalent) of the investment companies as a practical expedient.

e Cash and cash equivalents include $6,155,232 of money market funds valued using quoted market
prices and various market and industry inputs (Level 2 inputs).

The Authority has the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2023:

e U.S agency issues of $615,585,547 are valued using quoted market prices (Level 1 inputs).

e Mutual funds of $52,840,356 are valued using quoted market prices (Level 1 inputs).

e Commercial paper of $188,465,197 are valued using quoted market prices and various market and
industry inputs (Level 2 inputs).

e Pooled, common and collective funds of $61,337,507 are valued on a recurring basis using net
asset value per share (or its equivalent) of the investment companies as a practical expedient.

e Cash and cash equivalents include $4,915,188 of money market funds valued using quoted market
prices and various market and industry inputs (Level 2 inputs).

Totals of $256,262,257 and $184,511,731 are invested in the Tennessee Local Government Investment
Pool on June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Totals of $269,226,812 and $195,068,815 are invested at
Goldman Sachs on June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. These amounts are recorded at amortized cost
in accordance with GASB Statement No. 79, Certain External Investment Pools and Pool Participants, and
are not included in the fair value disclosures above.

57



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

3. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments (continued)

Investments in Entities that Calculate Net Asset Value per Share

The Authority holds shares or interests in investment companies whereby the fair value of the investments
is measured on a recurring basis using net asset value per share (or its equivalent) of the investment
companies as a practical expedient.

At June 30, 2024, the fair value, unfunded commitments, and redemption rules of those investments are as
follows:

Unfunded Redemption Redemption
Carrying Value = Commitments Frequency Notice Period
Collective investment trust funds $ 64,518,620 $ - Daily Daily

Total $ 64518620 § -

At June 30, 2023, the fair value, unfunded commitments, and redemption rules of those investments are as
follows:

Unfunded Redemption Redemption
Carrying Value = Commitments Frequency Notice Period
Collective investment trust funds $ 61,337,507 $ - Daily Daily

Total $ 61,337,507 $ -

The collective investment trust fund class includes 12 funds that invest in a broad range of investment
vehicles:

¢ One fund invests in common stocks of large-cap companies.

¢ One fund invests in common stocks of companies located in developed countries outside the U.S.

¢ One fund invests in a diversified portfolio consisting primarily of high-quality bonds and other fixed
income securities, including U.S. government obligations, mortgage- and asset-backed securities,
corporate bonds, government-related securities, municipal bonds and collateralized mortgage
obligations.

¢ One fund seeks to achieve long-term growth of capital in a large cap value equity style.

e One fund is invested in one or more underlying collective investment funds which seek to
approximate the total return of the markets for international equity securities traded outside the
United States.

e Two funds invest in investment-grade debt securities, including U.S. Government obligations,
corporate bonds, and mortgage- and asset-backed securities.

e Two funds are invested in one or more underlying collective investment funds which seek to
approximate the total return of the S&P 500 Index.

o Three funds invest in a diversified portfolio of fixed income securities.

58



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

4. Capital Assets

Capital assets and related accumulated depreciation activity for year end June 30, 2024 and 2023 were

as follows:

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land & nondepreciable assets
Construction in progress

Total capital assets not being depreciated

Capital assets being depreciated:
Infrastructure
Buildings and building improvements
Equipment, furniture, and fixtures
Subscription assets

Total capital assets being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation:
Infrastructure
Buildings and building improvements
Equipment, furniture and fixtures
Subscription assets

Total accumulated depreciation

Net capital assets being depreciated

Net capital assets

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land & nondepreciable assets
Construction in progress

Total capital assets not being depreciated

Capital assets being depreciated:
Infrastructure
Buildings and building improvements
Equipment, furniture, and fixtures
Subscription assets

Total capital assets being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation:
Infrastructure
Buildings and building improvements
Equipment, furniture and fixtures
Subscription assets

Total accumulated depreciation
Net capital assets being depreciated

Net capital assets

Balance Transfers and Balance
July 1, 2023 Additions Retirements Adjustments* June 30, 2024
$ 111,226,323 $ - $ - $ 2,038,846 $ 113,265,169
358,877,117 269,673,031 - (415,626,110) 212,924,038
470,103,440 269,673,031 - (413,587,264) 326,189,207
728,661,124 - - 86,692,758 815,353,882
952,350,604 3,588,572 - 172,559,408 1,128,498,584
567,644,400 268,159 (899,255) 154,335,098 721,348,402
2,244,691 1,532,710 - - 3,777,401
2,250,900,819 5,389,441 (899,255) 413,587,264 2,668,978,269
(450,768,871) (25,219,151) - - (475,988,022)
(267,589,123) (35,402,026) - - (302,991,149)
(161,317,706) (56,109,124) 899,255 - (216,527,575)
(1,057,837) (969,656) - - (2,027,493)
(880,733,537) (117,699,957) 899,255 - (997,534,239)
1,370,167,282 (112,310,516) - 413,587,264 1,671,444,030
$1,840,270,722 $ 157,362,515 $ - $ - $1,997,633,237
Balance Transfers and Balance
July 1, 2022 Additions Retirements Adjustments* June 30, 2023
$ 108,112,921 $ 3,311,675 $ (198,273) § - $ 111,226,323
448,196,055 309,037,392 - (398,356,330) 358,877,117
556,308,976 312,349,067 (198,273) (398,356,330) 470,103,440
693,670,381 - - 34,990,743 728,661,124
764,568,968 - - 187,781,636 952,350,604
392,443,748 265,626 (648,925) 175,583,951 567,644,400
698,216 1,318,315 - 228,160 2,244,691
1,851,381,313 1,583,941 (648,925) 398,584,490 2,250,900,819
(428,036,098) (22,732,773) - - (450,768,871)
(237,365,210) (30,223,913) - - (267,589,123)
(129,713,699) (32,232,930) 628,923 - (161,317,706)
(147,072) (682,605) - (228,160) (1,057,837)
(795,262,079) (85,872,221) 628,923 (228,160) (880,733,537)
1,056,119,234 (84,288,280) (20,002) 398,356,330 1,370,167,282
$1,612,428,210 $ 228,060,787 $ (218,275) $ - $1,840,270,722

*Transfers and adjustments include reclassifications amongst fixed asset classes.

59



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

4. Capital Assets (continued)

The amount of construction in progress at June 30, 2024 is attributable to the following:

Concourse D Extension $
Terminal Area Roadway Improvements (TARI)

A Concourse Site Preparation and Expansion

Reconstruct Taxiway Bravo/Kilo Intersection and T3 Demolition

Other projects

69,022,646
45,480,909
30,164,044
16,963,960
51,292,479

Total construction in progress $

212,924,038

During fiscal year 2024, $413,587,264 of construction in progress was substantially completed and

transferred to capital assets as follows:

Terminal Lobby/International Arrivals Facility $
Satellite Concourse

Terminal and Taxilane Expansion

Other projects

189,006,805
125,097,916

23,131,264
76,351,279

Total transferred to capital assets $

413,587,264

The amount of construction in progress at June 30, 2023 is attributable to the following:

International Arrivals Facility $
Satellite Concourse

Terminal Area Roadway Improvements (TARI)

Expansion EA & Site Preparation

Terminal and Taxilane Expansion

Other projects

128,892,444

91,293,552
32,903,998
26,926,066
22,323,854
56,537,203

Total construction in progress $

358,877,117

During fiscal year 2023, $398,356,330 of construction in progress was substantially completed and

transferred to capital assets as follows:

Terminal Lobby $
Terminal Garage B

Reconstruct Taxiway Bravo South (Design)

Reconstruct Taxiway Kilo West (Design)

Other projects

278,376,082

78,206,078
18,298,006
12,994,489
10,481,675

Total transferred to capital assets $

398,356,330

60



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

4. Capital Assets (continued)

Uncompleted construction contracts

Estimated costs of completion of construction in progress at June 30, 2024 total $251,210,222 and relate
to various projects. The estimated costs to complete construction progress are anticipated to be funded as
follows:

Reimbursed by government agencies and grant contracts $ 31,897,521
Funded by the Authority 219,312,701

$ 251,210,222

5. Long-term Debt

The following is a detail of long-term debt at June 30:

2024 2023
Special facility revenue bonds - direct borrowing:

Senior lien, CONRAC Series 2018, 3.40%, due 7/1/2028 $ 17,956,357 $ 21,197,130

Total special facility revenue bonds - direct borrowing 17,956,357 21,197,130
Airport revenue bonds - other:

Senior lien, Series 2003B, 5.49% to 5.94%, due 7/1/2033 10,005,000 10,725,000

Senior lien, Series 2015A, 4.00% to 5.00%, due 7/1/2045 80,655,000 82,740,000

Senior lien, Series 2015B, 4.00% to 5.00%, due 7/1/2045 95,175,000 97,690,000

Subordinate lien, Series 2019A, 4.00% to 5.00%, due 7/1/2054 254,435,000 254,435,000

Subordinate lien, Series 2019B, 4.00% to 5.00%), due 7/1/2054 665,150,000 665,150,000

Senior lien, Series 2022A, 5.00% to 5.25%, due 7/1/2052 94,525,000 94,525,000

Senior lien, Series 2022B, 5.00% to 5.50%, due 7/1/2052 501,560,000 501,560,000
Total airport revenue bonds - other 1,701,505,000 1,706,825,000

Notes payable - direct borrowing:

Geothermal Loan 2,288,911 2,592,385

Total notes payable - direct borrowing 2,288,911 2,592,385
Other debt:

BNA Credit Facility 30,079,067 14,255,921
Total other debt 30,079,067 14,255,921
Total airport bonds payable and other debt 1,751,829,335 1,744,870,436

Add:

Unamortized bond premiums 217,196,514 224,666,851

Total airport bonds payable and other debt, net 1,969,025,849 1,969,537,287
Less current portion 39,308,998 23,120,169
Total airport bonds payable and other debt, noncurrent $ 1,929,716,851 $ 1,946,417,118

61



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

5. Long-term Debt (continued)

The annual requirements to pay principal and interest on the Authority’s debt outstanding at June 30, 2024
are summarized as follows:

Principal
Direct Placement Other Direct Placement
Special Facility Airport Notes Other
Rewvenue Bonds Revenue Bonds Payable Debt Total
2025 $ 3,350,795 $ 5,570,000 $ 309,136 $ 30,079,067 $ 39,308,998
2026 3,468,000 16,720,000 314,904 - 20,502,904
2027 3,587,550 28,100,000 320,779 - 32,008,329
2028 3,711,220 29,480,000 326,764 - 33,517,984
2029 3,838,792 30,935,000 332,861 - 35,106,653
2030-2034 - 179,630,000 684,467 - 180,314,467
2035-2039 - 205,005,000 - - 205,005,000
2040-2044 - 173,350,000 - - 173,350,000
2045-2049 - 316,750,000 - - 316,750,000
2050-2054 - 410,795,000 - - 410,795,000
2055 - 305,170,000 - - 305,170,000
Total $ 17,956,357 $ 1,701,505,000 $ 2,288,911 $ 30,079,067 $ 1,751,829,335
Interest
Direct Placement Other Direct Placement
Special Facility Airport Notes
Rewvenue Bonds Revenue Bonds Payable Total

2025 $ 562,462 $ 84,885,316 $ 59,335 $ 85,507,113

2026 443,220 84,403,191 50,661 84,897,072

2027 321,593 83,361,216 41,825 83,724,634

2028 195,773 81,989,541 32,824 82,218,138

2029 65,984 80,530,991 23,655 80,620,630

2030-2034 - 377,698,130 19,116 377,717,246

2035-2039 - 328,803,256 - 328,803,256

2040-2044 - 273,370,706 - 273,370,706

2045-2049 - 206,011,428 - 206,011,428

2050-2054 - 111,103,613 - 111,103,613

2055 - 7,191,750 - 7,191,750

Total $ 1,589,032 $ 1,719,349,138 $ 227,416 $1,721,165,586

62



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

5. Long-term Debt (continued)

The Revenue Bonds contain default provisions as defined in the agreements. In each case of default,
unless cured by the Authority within 30 days after written notice, the trustee may declare all outstanding
bonds and accrued interest immediately due and payable. Upon the event of default, the trustee may
demand the Authority net revenues and all funds and accounts established under the General Resolution
be transferred to and administered by the trustee. The trustee may exercise any of the following remedies
to the extent they are legally available:

(i) The trustee may protect and enforce its rights and the rights of the holders of the bonds by suit
or suits of equity.
(i) The trustee may obtain the appointment of receiver, where the receiver may enter upon and

take possession of the airport and fix rates and charges and collect all airport revenues. The
receiver will collect and dispose of airport revenues in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the General Resolution or as the court directs.

Net revenues (as defined in the various bond ordinances) of the Authority in the operation of the Airport
System have been pledged toward the repayment of the Airport Revenue Bonds. Net revenues consist of
operating revenues reduced by operating expenses, not including depreciation.

All Authority bonds were issued under the Airport Improvement Revenue Bond Resolution adopted by the
Board of Commissioners of the Authority on August 15, 1991, (as amended and supplemented, the “General
Resolution”) and a nineteenth Supplemental Resolution adopted by the Board on October 21, 2015. In
2019, the Board approved the 2019 Master Subordinate Resolution and the First Supplemental Resolution.
Bonds issued under the First Supplemental Resolution payable from net revenues are subordinate to bonds
issued under the General Resolution. The Authority anticipates using PFC funds for approximately $4.4
million and $8.4 million of the Series 2015A and Series 2015B bonds, respectively, and approximately $495
million of the Series 2019B and Series 2022B bonds (Note 6). Although the CONRAC Series 2018 Bonds
were issued under the General Resolution, the CFCs are not in and of themselves a part of airport revenues
or net revenues as defined in the General Resolution. Therefore, airport revenues derived by the Authority
from the operation of the Airport are not pledged for payment of and do not constitute security for the
CONRAC Series 2018 Bonds. All other bonds are secured by a pledge of and lien on net revenues derived
by the Authority from the operation of the airports.

Net revenues (as defined in the various bond ordinances) of the Authority in the operation of the Airport
System have been pledged toward the repayment of the Airport Revenue Bonds. For the years ended June
30, 2024 and 2023, net revenues were $143,574,217 and $128,736,526, respectively, compared to the net
debt service (principal and interest) for senior and subordinate revenue bonds of $96,529,702 and
$62,970,022, respectively. In addition, a portion of the Airport Revenue Bonds has been approved by the
FAA to be funded by Passenger Facility Charges. For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the PFC
revenues were $44,734,128 and $41,531,943, respectively, compared to the net debt service (principal and
interest) of $21,504,899 and $688,478 for each aforementioned year.

Net CONRAC revenues have been pledged toward the repayment of the CONRAC Series 2018 Refunding
Revenue Bonds. For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the CONRAC revenues were $17,283,641
and $15,494,211, respectively, compared to the net debt service (principal and interest) of $3,915,169 and
$3,917,045, respectively.

Direct Placement Debt:

Special facility revenue bond (MPC CONRAC LLC Project) Refunding Series 2018 bonds

During May 2018, the Authority issued CONRAC Refunding Series 2018 bonds in the principal amount of
$27,358,295. The bonds, together with $23,334,428 available Customer Facility Charge (“CFC”) revenues

63



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

5. Long-term Debt (continued)

were placed in an irrevocable trust to advance refund the Series 2010 Bonds maturing in the years 2021
through 2029 and pay the costs of issuance of the bond of $150,858. Accordingly, the trust account assets
and the liability on the defeased bonds are not included in the Authority’s financial statements. At June 30,
2024, $35,565,000 of defeased bonds remain outstanding. The difference between the reacquisition price
and the net carrying amount of the refunded debt was $3,614,352. This difference is reported as a deferred
outflow of resources and is being amortized through fiscal year 2029. The refunding resulted in an economic
gain of approximately $6,400,000.

The CONRAC Refunding Series 2018 bonds are payable from and secured by a pledge of certain rental
payments derived from CFCs under leases with rental car agencies (Note 7). The remaining CONRAC
Refunding Series 2018 bonds contain serial bonds at an interest rate of 3.4%, maturing in progressive
annual amounts ranging from $3,240,774 on July 1, 2023, to $3,838,790 on July 1, 2028.

Geothermal loan

In July 2015, the Authority entered into an equipment lease purchase agreement in the amount of
$4,300,000 with a financial institution providing for the equipment to be installed in the geothermal project.
The annual interest rate is 2.78%. Principal payments are due annually beginning July 2017; interest
payments are due semi-annually beginning January 2016. The final principal and interest payment are due
in July 2030. The principal balance outstanding was $2,288,911 and $2,592,385 at June 30, 2024 and
2023, respectively.

Other Debt:
Airport improvement revenue bonds, Series 2003B

During November 2003, the Authority issued Series 2003B taxable bonds in the principal amount of
$19,585,000. These bonds were issued to provide funding for a portion of the projected unfunded liability
of the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority Retirement Plan for Employees (See Note 12).

The remaining Series 2003B bonds contain serial bonds at interest rates ranging from 5.49% to 5.94%,
with annual sinking fund requirements in progressive annual amounts ranging from $720,000 on July 1,
2023, to $1,280,000 on July 1, 2033. The annual amounts accumulated in the sinking fund will be used to
pay bond holders on July 1, 2023, and 2033. The 2003B bonds are subject to an extraordinary optional
redemption, in whole at any time, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount plus accrued interest
to the date of redemption only in the event of the destruction or damage to all or substantially all of the
Nashville International Airport or the condemnation of the airport facility.

Airport improvement revenue bonds, Series 2015A&B

During December 2015, the Authority issued Series 2015A bonds in the principal amount of $91,855,000
and Series 2015B in the principal amount of $108,145,000, collectively the “Series 2015A&B bonds”. The
Series 2015A&B bonds were issued to finance certain capital improvement at Nashville International Airport
and John C. Tune Airport, fund capitalized interest on the Series 2015A&B bonds, make deposits to the
reserve accounts in the Airport Improvement Bond Reserve Fund, and pay certain costs of their issuance.
The bonds were issued at a premium of $13,825,131 and $13,078,625 for 2015A and 2015B, respectively.
This amount is being amortized through 2045.

Interest on the Series 2015A&B bonds is payable on each January 1 and July 1, commencing July 1, 2016.
The Series 2015A bonds contain serial bonds at interest rates ranging from 4% to 5%, maturing in amounts

ranging from $2,085,000 on July 1, 2023, to $3,575,000 on July 1, 2035. $20,730,000 of term bonds at 5%
are due on July 1, 2040, and $26,460,000 of term bonds at 5% are due on July 1, 2045.

64



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

5. Long-term Debt (continued)

The Series 2015B bonds contain serial bonds at interest rates ranging from 4% to 5%, maturing in amounts
ranging from $2,515,000 on July 1, 2023, to $4,475,000 on July 1, 2035. $23,525,000 of term bonds at 5%
are due on July 1, 2040, $17,130,000 of term bonds at 5% are due on July 1, 2043, and $12,825,000 of
term bonds at 3.875% are due on July 1, 2045.

The Series 2015A&B bonds maturing on and after July 1, 2026, are subject to redemption prior to maturity,
at the option of the Authority, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount plus interest to the date
of redemption. The first optional call date is July 1, 2025.

Subordinate airport improvement revenue bonds, Series 2019A&B

During December 2019, the Authority issued, under the First Supplemental Resolution, Series 2019A bonds
in the principal amount of $254,435,000 and Series 2019B in the principal amount of $665,150,000,
collectively the “Series 2019A&B bonds”. The Series 2019A&B bonds were issued to finance certain capital
improvement at Nashville International Airport, fund capitalized interest on the Series 2019A&B Bonds,
make deposits to the reserve accounts in the Airport Improvement Bond Reserve Fund, and pay certain
costs of their issuance. The bonds were issued at a premium of $56,925,475 and $134,372,678 for 2019A
and 2019B, respectively. This amount is being amortized through 2054.

Interest on the Series 2019A&B bonds is payable on January 1 and July 1, commencing July 1, 2020.

The Series 2019A bonds contain serial bonds at interest rates ranging from 4% to 5%, maturing in amounts
ranging from $2,965,000 on July 1, 2025, to $6,530,000 on July 1, 2039. $37,870,000 of term bonds at 5%
are due on July 1, 2044, $25,000,000 and $39,200,000 of term bonds at 4% and 5%, respectively, are due
on July 1, 2049, and $25,000,000 and $60,120,000 of term bonds at 4% and 5%, respectively, are due on
July 1, 2054.

The Series 2019B bonds contain serial bonds at interest rates ranging from 4% to 5%, maturing in amounts
ranging from $7,920,000 on July 1, 2025, to $17,260,000 on July 1, 2039. $100,175,000 of term bonds at
5% are due on July 1, 2044, $50,000,000 and $116,170,000 of term bonds at 4% and 5%, respectively, are
due on July 1, 2049, and $62,500,000 and $157,550,000 of term bonds at 4% and 5%, respectively, are
due on July 1, 2054.

The Series 2019A&B bonds maturing on and after July 1, 2031, are subject to redemption prior to maturity,
at the option of the Authority, on or after July 1, 2030, in whole or in part at any time, at a redemption price
equal to the principal amount plus interest to the date of redemption.

Airport improvement revenue bonds, Series 2022A&B

During November 2022, the Authority issued Series 2022A bonds in the principal amount of $94,525,000
and Series 2022B bonds in the principal amount of $501,560,000, collectively the “Series 2022A&B bonds”.
The Series 2022A&B bonds were issued to finance certain capital improvement at Nashville International
Airport, fund capitalized interest on the Series 2022A&B bonds, make deposits to the reserve accounts in
the Airport Improvement Bond Reserve Fund, and pay certain costs of their issuance. The bonds were
issued at a premium of $7,122,713 and $26,460,002 for 2022A and 2022B, respectively. This amount is
being amortized through 2052.

Interest on the Series 2022A&B bonds is payable on each January 1 and July 1, commencing July 1, 2023.
The Series 2022A bonds contain serial bonds at interest rates ranging from 5% to 5.25%, maturing in

amounts ranging from $1,720,000 on July 1, 2026, to $3,755,000 on July 1, 2042. $21,905,000 of term
bonds at 5.25% are due on July 1, 2047, and $28,140,000 of term bonds at 5% are due on July 1, 2052.

65



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

5. Long-term Debt (continued)

The Series 2022B bonds contain serial bonds at interest rates ranging from 5% to 5.5%, maturing in amounts
ranging from $8,855,000 on July 1, 2026, to $20,055,000 on July 1, 2042. $117,515,000 of term bonds at
5.25% are due on July 1, 2047, $127,285,000 of term bonds at 5.5% are due on July 1, 2052, and
$25,000,000 of term bonds at 5% are due on July 1, 2052.

The Series 2022A&B bonds maturing on and after July 1, 2033, are subject to redemption prior to maturity,
at the option of the Authority, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount plus interest to the date
of redemption. The first optional call date is July 1, 2032.

BNA credit facility loan agreement

On January 7, 2019, the Authority entered into a new Credit Facility Loan Agreement (“BNA Credit Facility”).
The lender made available to the Authority a non-revolving line of credit in the maximum principal amount
of $300,000,000, the proceeds of which were to be used to finance a portion of the cost of the Authority’s
capital improvement program, including land acquisition and the acquisition, construction, rehabilitation,
replacement, repair, renovation, improvement and reconstruction of terminal, airfield, parking, hangar,
roadway, hotel, multi- modal transit facilities and the acquisition of airport equipment and other facilities and
improvements as necessary and appropriate for the operation of such airport facilities at the Nashville
International Airport or John C. Tune Airport. The Credit Facility was amended in December 2019 to
increase the maximum principal amount to $400,000,000. Principal and interest on this line of credit are
payable from the net revenues, subject and subordinate, and secured by a lien and pledge on the net
revenues junior and inferior, to the lien and pledge on the net revenues created under the General
Resolution including the Master Subordinate Resolution for the payment and security of the bonds but on
a parity with the Parity Other Obligations. In January 2022, the note was amended to carry a maximum
principal amount of $300,000,000. The taxable portion of the Credit Facility bears interest at a variable
interest rate equal to BSBY 1M plus 52 basis points for the taxable Credit Facility The nontaxable portion of
the Credit Facility bears interest at a variable interest rate equal to 80% BSBY 1M plus 42 basis points. In
December 2023, the note was amended to extend the maturity of notes and the commitment expiration
date for a period not to exceed one year. The note matures on November 15, 2024. The rates at June 30,
2024 were 5.89% for the taxable Credit Facility, and 4.72% for the nontaxable Credit Facility. Interest on
this Credit Facility totaled $938,698 and $2,060,636 during fiscal years 2024 and 2023, respectively.
Accrued interest on this line of credit was $101,759 and $71,252 at June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The Credit Facility contains default provisions as defined in the agreements. In the event of default, the
obligations shall bear interest at the default rate — PRIME plus 3%. In the event of default, the lender may
make one of more of the following actions at any time and from time to time (the actions may be taken at the
same time or at different times):

(i) The lender may terminate the available commitment and declare the outstanding amount
due under the obligations immediately due and payable.
(ii) The lender may sell or otherwise transfer all or a portion of the notes.

(iii) At the expense of the Authority, the lender may cure any default, event of default, or event
of nonperformance, bringing all delinquent balances current and adding the delinquent
balances to the total outstanding owed by the Authority.

66



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

5. Long-term Debt (continued)

Long-term debt activity for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

Balance New Principal Balance Due within
July 1, 2023 Borrowings Repayment Amortization June 30, 2024 one year
Direct placement - special facility revenue bonds $ 21,197,130 $ - $  (3,240,773) $ - $ 17,956,357 $ 3,350,795
Other - airport revenue bonds 1,706,825,000 - (5,320,000) - 1,701,505,000 5,570,000
Direct Placement - notes payable 2,592,385 - (303,474) - 2,288,911 309,136
Other debt 14,255,921 15,823,146 - 30,079,067 30,079,067
Add:
Unamortized bond premiums 224,666,851 - - (7,470,337) 217,196,514 -
Total long-term debt $ 1,969,537,287 $ 15,823,146 $ (8,864,247) $ (7,470,337) $ 1,969,025,849 $ 39,308,998
Balance New Principal Balance Due within
July 1, 2022 Borrowings Repayment Amortization June 30, 2023 one year
Direct placement - special facility revenue bonds $ 24329910 $ - $ (3,132,780) $ - $ 21,197,130 $ 3,240,774
Other - airport revenue bonds 1,115,820,000 596,085,000 (5,080,000) 1,706,825,000 5,320,000
Direct Placement - notes payable 3,045,472 - (453,087) 2,592,385 303,474
Other debt 96,963,150 65,155,894 (147,863,123) 14,255,921 14,255,921
Add:
Unamortized bond premiums 197,994,759 33,582,714 - (6,910,622) 224,666,851 -
Total long-term debt $ 1,438,153,291 $ 694,823,608 $ (156,528,990) $ (6,910,622) $ 1,969,537,287 $ 23,120,169

6. Passenger Facility Charges

On January 1, 1993, the airlines began collecting a Passenger Facility Charge (“PFC”) on qualifying
enplaning passengers at Nashville International Airport on behalf of the Authority. PFCs are fees imposed
on enplaning passengers by airports to finance eligible airport-related projects that preserve or enhance
safety, capacity, or security of the national air transportation system, reduce noise from an airport that is
part of such system, or furnish opportunities for enhanced competition between or among air carriers. Both
the fee and intended projects must be reviewed and approved by the FAA. Federal guidance on the PFC
program has been updated occasionally since 1993, and the current maximum fee that can be authorized
through federal regulation is $4.50 per enplaning passenger. PFCs are recorded as nonoperating revenue.
PFC revenue during fiscal years 2024 and 2023 totaled $44,734,128 and $41,561,943, respectively.

Effective September 2010, the Authority could collect a $3.00 PFC per enplaning passenger. In May 2015,
the Authority began collecting a $4.50 PFC per enplaning passenger. The Authority anticipates remaining
at this $4.50 collection level. The following project summary has been approved by the FAA as of June 30,
2024:

Airfield development $ 218,905,270
Terminal development 1,311,492,678
Land acquisition 21,260,411

$ 1,551,658,359

As of June 30, 2024, cumulative expenditures to date on approved PFC projects totaled $393,204,124.

67



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

7. Customer Facility Charges

On January 1, 2008, the Authority began requiring the car rental companies at Nashville International
Airport to charge a Customer Facility Charge (“CFC”) to be used to pay, or to reimburse the Authority, for
costs, fees and expenses associated with the planning, design, construction, financing, maintenance and
operation of the Consolidated Rental Car (“CONRAC”) Facility, and other costs, fees, and expenses that
may be paid from CFC proceeds. The CFC is a $4.50 per transaction day fee and is collected by on-airport
car rental companies from each customer and subsequently remitted to the Authority. The Authority has
pledged the CFC proceeds as collateral security for the payment of the CONRAC Series 2010 and 2018
bonds issued in February 2010 and May 2018, respectively. Additionally, in accordance with the terms of
the CONRAC Series 2010 and 2018 bond agreements, CFCs must be used to establish bond principal,
interest, and reserve funds, as well as various other funds for the operation and maintenance of the
CONRAC facility (See Note 5). The Authority can use CFCs collected in excess of the various refunded
funds for any lawful purpose. CFC revenue during fiscal years 2024 and 2023 totaled $17,283,641 and
$15,494,211, respectively. CFC revenue is reported in non-operating revenues.

The Authority is leasing the facility to MPC CONRAC LLC under a lease agreement and is leasing back the
facility from MPC CONRAC LLC under a sublease agreement. In turn, the Authority will lease the CONRAC
facility to on-airport rental car companies under the consolidated rental car lease agreements. Under these
lease agreements, on-airport rental car companies have agreed to collect the CFC on all vehicle rental
transactions as specifically set forth in the CFC enabling resolution and the related lease agreements.

Net position relating to CFCs totaled $29,784,847 and $29,714,942 at June 30, 2024 and 2023,
respectively, and is included in net investment in capital assets and restricted net position in the statements
of net position.

8. Special Facility Revenue Bonds

Special facility revenue bonds, series 2005

During April 2005, the Authority issued $9,500,000 of Special Facility Revenue Bonds, Series 2005, on
behalf of Embraer Aircraft Maintenance Services, Inc. The bonds were issued to finance the development
and construction of an aircraft maintenance facility at Nashville International Airport.

The outstanding Special Facility Revenue Bonds, Series 2005, are special obligations of the Authority, and
the debt service thereon shall be payable solely from revenues provided by Embraer Aircraft Maintenance
Services, Inc., pursuant to a special facility sublease agreement or from letter of credit drawings made by
the trustee. These bonds mature in April 2030. The principal balance outstanding as of June 30, 2024 and
2023 was $9,500,000. These bonds do not represent a claim on the Authority’s assets or require the
Authority to incur future obligations. Therefore, they represent conduit debt and have not been recorded in
the Authority’s financial statements.

Special facility revenue bonds, series 2006/refunding series 2010

During July 2006, the Authority approved an amendment to the ground lease with Aero Nashville, LLC,
whereby the Authority agreed to issue $6,515,000 of Special Facility Revenue Bonds, Series 2006, on
behalf of Aero Nashville, LLC. Aero Nashville is an affiliate of Aeroterm US, Inc., the firm selected by Federal
Express Corporation to be the developer of a 69,000-square-foot cargo and support facility on
approximately 15 acres of land at Nashville International Airport in 2005.

During November 2010, the Authority issued $6,200,000 in Special Facility Revenue Bonds, Refunding
Series 2010, the proceeds of which were used to currently refund the outstanding Series 2006 bonds. The
Refunding Series 2010 bonds are term bonds with mandatory sinking fund requirements annually through
July 2026.

68



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

8. Special Facility Revenue Bonds (continued)

The Special Facility Revenue Bonds, Series 2006, and outstanding Refunding Series 2010 bonds are
special obligations of the Authority and the debt service thereon shall be payable solely from revenues
provided by Aero Nashville, LLC pursuant to a special facility sublease agreement or from letter of credit
drawings made by the trustee. The principal balance outstanding as of June 30, 2024 and 2023 was
$1,215,000 and $1,800,000, respectively. Since these bonds do not represent a claim on the Authority’s
assets or require the Authority to incur future obligations; they represent conduit debt and have not been
recorded in the Authority’s financial statements.

9. Airline Use and Lease Agreement

During fiscal year 2024, the Authority entered into a new Signatory Airline Use and Lease Agreement with
an eight-year term from July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2031 (the “Airline Agreement”) with Alaska Airlines,
Allegiant Airlines, American Airlines, Delta Air Lines, Federal Express, Frontier Airlines, JetBlue, Southwest
Airlines, Spirit Airlines, and United Airlines. The Airline Agreement contains a two-year option to extend
through mutual agreement between the Authority and the signatory airlines no less than two years before
expiration.

As per the Airline Agreement, passenger carriers must pay at least 1% of the total rates, charges, and fees
paid by all signatory airlines. Cargo carriers must pay at least 1% of annual landing fees paid by all signatory
airlines.

The Authority created five airline cost centers for the purpose of accounting for and allocating costs and
revenues at the airport to establish rates and charges for use of the airfield, terminal, passenger loading
bridges, baggage handling system, and terminal ramp area. In addition to the five airline cost centers, the
Authority also allocates costs and revenues to three Authority cost centers (parking and ground
transportation, other buildings and areas, and the reliever airport) and one indirect cost center (general
administration and overhead). The Authority’s indirect cost center is allocated to the direct airline cost
centers. As described below, rate-setting at the airport is “hybrid”. Landing fees are calculated using a
residual methodology, the terminal rental rates are calculated using a commercial compensatory
methodology, and other rates are calculated using a compensatory methodology. In the airfield cost center,
the airlines have the primary responsibility, risk, and benefit from non-airline revenues. In the other cost
centers, the Authority and airlines share the responsibility, risk, and benefits.

Landing fees under the Airline Agreements are calculated on a residual basis. Signatory Airlines have
Majority-in-Interest (“MII”) review rights for capital projects in the airfield cost center exceeding $2.0 million.
The form of MIl is negative (e.g., the Authority may proceed unless it receives disapproval from the
majority). Rolling debt service coverage is incorporated into the rate calculations for all airline cost centers.

Terminal rents are based on the terminal rental rate per square foot calculated on a commercial
compensatory basis in accordance with the business deal agreed to in principle by the Authority and the
signatory airlines. The Airline Agreement contains a 50% airline rented space minimum if debt service
coverage requirements are not met. The Authority’s internal debt management policy requires a debt
service coverage ratio of 1.5x for senior lien debt service, and 1.25x for combined debt service. The
Authority’s bond documents require a debt service coverage ratio of 1.25x for senior lien debt service, and
1.10x for subordinate lien debt service. If debt service coverage requirements are not met, then the
Authority may increase the airlines’ share of the terminal requirement by the lesser of the amount necessary
to meet the coverage requirements, or the amount necessary to make the airlines’ share of the terminal
requirement equal to 50%. The terminal requirement includes operating expenses, debt service, rolling debt
service coverage, amortization of capital costs, operations and maintenance reserve fund, and renewal and
replacement fund. Signatory airlines occupying the satellite concourse receive a 2.5% discount from the
main terminal rate.

69



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

9. Airline Use and Lease Agreement (continued)

Terminal ramp area, passenger loading bridge, and baggage equipment rates are calculated using a
compensatory methodology and include rolling debt service coverage equal to 25% of incremental senior
lien debt service and 10% of incremental subordinate lien debt service, as well as the amortization of
Authority cash expenditures on terminal ramp area cost center capital projects.

The Authority has committed to spending $75 million in Authority cash over the term of the agreement to
fund capital projects currently identified for airline cost centers (other than the airfield cost center). Amounts
will be amortized in the airline base over the useful life of the asset(s).

Revenue sharing credits for signatory airlines is an agreed-upon calculation in which the total amount of
revenue to be shared is determined on the weighting of three factors: net remaining revenues, in-terminal
concessions, and a fixed share per enplanement.

The Airline Agreements provide signatory airline support for John C. Tune Airport, including certain reliever
airport support costs in the landing fees.

The Authority also owns MPC, a Tennessee nonprofit corporation, whose purpose is to support and
facilitate the operations of the Authority and to help the economic development of the surrounding area.
The Airline Agreements do not provide any signatory airline support for MPC. MPC financial obligations are
not included within the Master Resolution, and any MPC shortfalls or deficits must be paid from other
available Authority funds.

10. Risk Management and Insurance Arrangements

The Authority is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of
assets; errors or omissions; illnesses or injuries to employees; and natural disasters.

Self-insured employee medical benefit claims are accrued as incurred. The liability for reported claims and
claims incurred but not reported, an estimate of which is based on historical experience and management
projections, is reported with accrued payroll and related items in the financial statements. This liability does
not include non-incremental claims adjustment expenses.

The following summarizes the changes in the estimated claims liability at June 30:

2024 2023
Balance - beginning of year $ 212,516 $ 430,008
Provision for incurred claims 4,559,821 3,434,346
Claim payments (4,406,634) (3,651,838)
Balance - end of year $ 365,703 $ 212,516

The Authority carries commercial insurance for other risks of loss. Settled claims resulting from these risks
have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.

Environmental remediation

On October 9, 2012, the Authority entered into a Consent Order with the Tennessee Department of
Environment and Conservation in response to a routine inspection which identified that a local area stream

70



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

10. Risk Management and Insurance Arrangements (continued)

had been contaminated by untreated de-icing chemicals. In the Consent Order, the Authority was assessed
a penalty of $22,500, and it was determined that Natural Resource Damages in the amount of $218,520
exist. In lieu of payment, the Authority proposed to upgrade its de-icing fluid collection and treatment
system. Multiple projects, worth over $8,000,000, were undertaken. The upgrades diverted uncontaminated
storm water away from the treatment system so that only storm water containing deicer fluid is collected for
treatment. This allows for additional fluid storage and improves the treatment system process by
systematically feeding the fluids to the biological treatment lagoon. The Authority continues to perform
monitoring and reporting to the Tennessee Department of Environment and Conservation in compliance
with NPDES Permit TN0064041.

The Authority is a defendant in various legal proceedings incidental to its operations. In the opinion of
management and the Authority’s legal counsel, while the ultimate outcome of these matters, including an
estimate of potential loss, cannot presently be determined, any losses sustained would not be material to
the Authority’s financial position or operations. Additionally, losses sustained would be recoverable through
the Authority’s leases with certain airlines discussed in Note 9.

11. Compensated Absences

Compensated absences are another component of the Authority's employee benefits program. Based on
years of service, employees earn annual leave and may accumulate earned hours to certain limits for future
use. In 2024 and 2023, employees sold back $278,931 and $238,642 of their annual leave balances to the
Authority in exchange for cash. Additional payments of $611,549 and $294,150 were made to employees
who left employment with the Authority during the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The
change in accrued compensated absences balance is charged to salaries and wages expense.

The following summarizes the changes in the compensated absences liability at June 30:

2024 2023
Balance - beginning of year $ 3,185,356 $ 2,698,833
Provision for compensated absences 4,593,307 3,725,810
Annual leave used (3,292,622) (2,706,495)
Annual leave buy-back and other (890,480) (532,792)
Balance - end of year $ 3,595,561 $ 3,185,356

The compensated absences liability is included in accrued payroll and related items on the statements of
net position, and is due within one year.

12. Retirement Benefit Plan

General information about the pension plan

Plan description

Effective September 1, 1989, the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority (the “Authority”) adopted a single-
employer public employee retirement system (“PERS”) for its employees, whereby the net position
restricted for benefits relative to the Authority’s employees were transferred from the retirement system of
the Metropolitan Government of Nashville and Davidson County (the “Metropolitan Government”) to the
Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority Retirement Plan for Employees. Those net assets transferred from
the Metropolitan Government’s retirement system to the Plan included accumulated employee contributions
and allocated investment income. The Plan is a defined benefit pension plan.

71



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

12. Retirement Benefit Plan (continued)

The Plan is administered by the Authority’s management and is governed by a Retirement Committee (the
“Committee”). The Committee members are appointed by the Authority. On June 30, 2024, the Committee
consists of 7 voting members, 5 of whom are active Authority senior management, two of whom are active
Authority employees and members of the Plan. The Authority’s Assistant Vice President of Finance is a
non-voting member on the committee.

Benefits provided

Eligible employees become 100% vested in their accrued pension benefit after 5 years of credited service
and may elect to retire at any time after age 65 (or after age 55 for safety and security employees with
completion of 10 years of service).

The employees retiring at or after age 65 (55 for safety and security employees) are entitled to a retirement
benefit, payable monthly for life, equal to one-twelfth of the product of 2% of average earnings multiplied
by years of credited service. Average earnings are the average of annual earnings for the five full
consecutive calendar years in which earnings were the highest or for such lesser number of full calendar
years of service as have been completed. Credited service is the total number of years and completed one-
half months of service from the date of hire to date of termination, adjusted for some certain periods of
unpaid absence. Certain supplemental benefits have been provided for in the Plan as incentives for certain
prior officers of the Authority.

Early retirement under the Plan is retirement from service prior to the participant’s normal retirement date
and on or after the date as of which the participant has attained both the age of 55 years and completed 5
years of vesting service. A participant classified as a safety and security employee is eligible for early
retirement on or after the date as of which such employee has attained both the age of 50 years and
completed 5 years of vesting service. Participants electing early retirement, as defined above, receive
reduced benefits immediately or may defer and receive full benefits at normal retirement age. There are
also certain benefit provisions upon death or disability.

Changes to the Plan, including benefits provided thereunder, can be made only by formal resolutions of the
Authority’s Board of Commissioners. Additionally, cost-of-living adjustments are made only as approved by
the Board of Commissioners. Cost-of-living adjustments are provided to members and beneficiaries at the
discretion of the Authority. Benefit provisions are established and may be amended by the Authority.

Employees covered by benefit terms

On June 30, 2024, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms:

Retired 203
Deferred vested 49
Active vested 37
Total covered employees 289

Effective June 27, 2003, the Plan was closed to new participants; therefore, employees hired after June 27,
2003, are not eligible to participate in the Plan.

Contributions

The Plan is non-contributory for employees; accordingly, no contributions shall be required or permitted to
be made by Plan participants. The Authority’s Board of Commissioners has approved a funding plan which
establishes the expected employer contributions to the Plan through fiscal year 2024. In determining the
funding plan, the Authority considers the actuarially determined contribution, as recommended by an
independent actuary. The actuarially determined contribution is the estimated amount necessary to finance

72



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

12. Retirement Benefit Plan (continued)

the costs of benefits earned by Plan participants, with an additional amount to finance the net pension
liability. The actuarially determined contribution is calculated using a funding valuation that uses the asset
smoothing method. The asset smoothing method used is a 3-year weighted average of asset gains and
losses, subject to a 20% corridor.

Pension net position

The Authority does not issue separate financial statements for the pension plan. The investments of the
Plan are governed by an investment policy approved by the Authority’s Retirement Committee. The
investment policy establishes the Plan’s investment objectives, portfolio benchmarks, and asset allocation
parameters. The investment policy also requires certain qualifications of investment managers, review of
investment returns, and reporting requirements. Generally, the investment policy specifies a long-term
investment horizon with investment returns to be achieved without undue investment risk. Changes to the
investment policy can be made only by formal resolution of the Board of Commissioners. The investment
policy for the Retirement Plan for Employees of the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority and the
Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority Other Post-Employment Benefit Plans was updated and became
effective August 2019.

The Plan’s investment assets are held in trust by the Plan’s trustee for the benefit of Plan participants.
Investments in equity and bond mutual funds are stated at fair value using quoted market prices in active
markets (level 1), net asset value per share (or its equivalent), and various market and industry inputs (level
2). Purchases and sales of securities are recorded on a trade-date basis. Interest income is recorded on
an accrual basis. Dividends are recorded on the ex-dividend date. The Plan’s investment assets are held
in trust by the Plan’s trustee, Principal.

Additional information regarding pension net position is included in Note 14.

The Plan’s investments which represented 5% or more of net position as of June 30, 2024 and 2023 are
as follows:

Description of Investment 2024 2023
Principal Dodge and Cox Intermediate Bond $ 9,731,050 $ 9,192,456
Principal Metropolitian West Total Return Bond Fund Class | 9,712,035 9,152,995
Principal Federated Total Return Bond 9,702,767 9,149,734
Principal Allspring Core Bond 9,696,219 9,162,717
Principal Blackrock S&P 500 Index 8,687,419 8,260,037
Principal Blackrock S&P Midcap Index 5,823,812 5,545,284
Other funds representing less than 5% 31,459,553 29,153,242
Total investment and net position $ 84,812,855 $ 79,616,465

Net pension liability

The Authority’s net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2024, and the total pension liability used
to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.

73



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

12. Retirement Benefit Plan (continued)

Actuarial assumptions

The total pension liability in the June 30, 2024 actuarial valuation was determined using the following
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation 2.0%, compounded annually
Salary increases 4.0% per annum, compounded annually

Investment rate of return 5.5% per annum, compounded annually, net of
pension plan investment expense and inflation

The mortality table was changed from the RP-2014 Generational Mortality Table for Males and Females,
as applicable, with adjustments for mortality improvements based on Scale MP-2021 to the RP-2014
Generational Mortality table for Males and Females with Improvement Scale MP-2022. The discount rate
remains the same at 5.5%.

The annual money-weighted rate of return on pension assets was 10.69% in fiscal year 2024.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimates ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of
pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges
are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates
of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of
arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the pension plan’s target asset
allocation are summarized in the following table:

Target Long-Term Expected

Asset Class Allocation Real Rate of Return
Domestic Equity - Small Cap 4.00% 7.20%
Domestic Equity - Large Cap 26.50% 5.80%
Domestic Equity - Mid Cap 7.00% 6.70%
International Equity 12.50% 6.60%
Fixed Income 47.00% 2.40%
Cash 3.00% 1.60%

Discount rate

The discount rate used to measure total pension liability is 5.5%, compounded annually. The Authority’s
Board of Commissioners has approved the funding policy, as described in the contributions section above.

The Authority intends to make contributions under the funding plan, as required to keep the Plan solvent,
and to meet the minimum funding requirements of the State of Tennessee. Having a formal funding policy
and statutory contributions in the future supports the position that the Plan’s fiduciary net position will
remain positive in the future. Accordingly, the long-term rate of return-on-investment assets has been used
as the discount rate for all future periods.

74



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements

Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

12. Retirement Benefit Plan (continued)

Changes in the Net Pension Liability

Balances at July 1, 2023

Changes for the year:

Senvice cost

Interest

Difference between expected
and actual experience

Contributions - Employer

Net investment income

Benefits paid

Net changes

Balance as June 30, 2024

Balances at July 1, 2022

Changes for the year:

Senice cost

Interest

Difference between expected
and actual experience

Contributions - Employer

Net investment income

Benefits paid

Net changes

Balance as June 30, 2023

Net Pension Liability

Total Pension Liability Plan Net Position (Asset)
(@) (b) (@) - (b)
$ 83,824,843 $ 79,616,465 $ 4,208,378
485,029 - 485,029
4,610,366 - 4,610,366
1,738,581 - 1,738,581
- 2,000,000 (2,000,000)
- 8,112,378 (8,112,378)
(4,915,988) (4,915,988) -
1,917,988 5,196,390 (3,278,402)
$ 85,742,831 $ 84,812,855 $ 929,976

Net Pension Liability

Total Pension Liability Plan Net Position (Asset)
(@) (b) (@) - (b)

$ 82,047,536 $ 76,414,244 $ 5,633,292

503,601 - 503,601

4,512,614 - 4,512,614

1,546,464 - 1,546,464

- 1,410,000 (1,410,000)

- 6,577,593 (6,577,593)

(4,785,372) (4,785,372) -
1,777,307 3,202,221 (1,424,914)
$ 83,824,843 $ 79,616,465 $ 4,208,378

The pension fiduciary net position is equal to 99% of the total pension liability at June 30, 2024.

75



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

12. Retirement Benefit Plan (continued)

Pension expense and deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate

The following represents the net pension liability at June 30, 2024, calculated using the stated discount
rate, as well as what the net pension liability (asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate
which is one-percentage-point lower or one-percentage-point higher than the current rate:

1% Decrease Current Rate 1% Increase
4.50% 5.50% 6.50%

Net pension liability (asset) $10,063,808 $ 929,976 $ (6,816,221)

Pension plan fiduciary net position

For the years ending June 30, 2024 and 2023, the Authority recognized pension expenses of $2,288,071
and $3,103,457, respectively. On June 30, 2024 and 2023, the Authority reported deferred inflows of
resources and deferred outflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:

June 30, 2024

Deferred Deferred
Outflow Inflow
of Resources of Resources
Experience gains or losses $ - $ -
Change of assumptions - -
Net difference between projected and
actual earnings on investment - 211,306
Total $ - $ 211,306

June 30, 2023

Deferred Deferred
Outflow Inflow
of Resources of Resources
Experience gains or losses $ - $ -
Change of assumptions - -
Net difference between projected and
actual earnings on investment 3,355,166 -
Total $ 3,355,166 $ -

76



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

12. Retirement Benefit Plan (continued)

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions
as of June 30, 2024, will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended
June 30,
2025 $ (294,333)
2026 $ 2,102,021
2027 $ (1,256,260)
2028 $ (762,734)

13. Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB)

General information about the OPEB plan

Plan description

On April 22, 2009, the Board of Commissioners approved MNAA Resolution 2009-07 establishing an
investment trust for the purpose of funding OPEB as provided in Tennessee Code Annotated, Title 8,
Chapter 50, Part 12. The Tennessee State Funding Board approved the formation of the trust on June 17,
2009. There is no obligation to fund the trust; however, management has a plan whereby cash contributions
are intended to be made to help offset the anticipated increased outflows in future years to cover retiree
benefits.

The Plan is administered by the Authority’s management and is governed by a Retirement Committee (the
“Committee”). The Committee members are appointed by the Authority. On June 30, 2024, the Committee
consists of 7 voting members, 5 of whom are active Authority senior management, two of whom are active
Authority employees and members of the Plan. The Authority’s Assistant Vice President of Finance is a
non-voting member on the committee.

The Authority voluntarily provides postemployment healthcare benefits to certain eligible employees who
retire under either the Authority’s PERS or the Metropolitan Government’s PERS.

Benefits provided/Contributions

As part of the OPEB actuarial evaluation on July 1, 2013, which was effective for the Authority’s 2014 fiscal
year, certain changes to the OPEB Trust were considered, including the following: The Authority adopted
an Employer Group Waiver Plan (EGWP) for post-65 retiree pharmacy benefits effective January 1, 2014.
Additionally, the Authority adopted certain post-65 stop loss coverage.

Effective January 1, 2017, the Authority offered a Medicare Supplement Plan. Retirees and spouses (post
65) had the option to enroll in the Medicare Supplement Core or Core Plus plans through AMWINS Group
Benefits if they desired to continue coverage through the Authority. If they desired not to enroll in Authority
supplemental plans, they have the option to enroll in the individual Market Medicare Plans.

The Authority makes a monthly contribution of $250 for each participant (retiree and spouse) in a Health
Reimbursement Account (HRA). These contributions are to be used toward the monthly premiums of those
who have elected Authority plans or an individual market plan.

The account reimburses the participant for their individual medical, dental, or vision premiums along with
out-of-pocket health care expenses such as co-pays, deductibles, coinsurance, etc.

77



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

13. Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) (continued)

For retirees under 65, the Authority pays approximately 75% of the medical, dental, vision, and prescription
coverage cost, with retirees paying the remaining 25%. Currently, 137 Pre-65 people are receiving OPEB
benefits. The monthly contribution requirements for participants in the Authority’s medical plan range from
$78.22 (single “HDHP” wellness rate premium) to $537.96 (family “PPO” non-wellness rate premium). The
Authority elected not to provide postemployment benefits to any new entrants on January 1, 2009.
Therefore, any employee hired on or after this date is not eligible for any postemployment benefits through
the Authority.

Under the Metropolitan Government’'s PERS, the Authority pays 75% of the cost of medical and dental
coverage, while the retirees pay the remaining 25%. As of June 30, 2024, there were 6 retirees receiving
benefits under the PERS. During the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, payments of $48,811 and
$71,644, respectively, were made to the Metropolitan Government for postemployment benefits under this
PERS.

Employees covered by benefit terms

On June 30,2024 the following employees were covered by the benefit terms:

Actives (with medical coverage) 67
Retirees (with medical coverage) 135
Covered spouses of retirees 78
Sunviving spouses of retirees (with medical coverage) 15
Retirees (receiving stipend only) 45
Deferred vested employees 51
Total covered employees 391

OPEB net position

The Authority does not issue separate financial statements for postemployment benefits. The OPEB’s net
position consists solely of the Plan’s investments at fair value as there are no significant related liabilities
or deferred inflows or outflows.

The investments of the Plan are governed by an investment policy approved by the Authority’s Retirement
Committee. The investment policy establishes the Plan’s investment objectives, portfolio benchmarks, and
asset allocation parameters. The investment policy also requires certain qualifications of investment
managers, review of investment returns, and reporting requirements. Generally, the investment policy
specifies a long-term investment horizon with investment returns to be achieved without undue investment
risk. Changes to the investment policy can be made only by formal resolution of the Board of
Commissioners. The investment policy for the Retirement Plan for Employees of the Metropolitan Nashville
Airport Authority and the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority Other Post-Employment Benefit Plans was
updated and became effective August 2019.

The Plan’s investment assets are held in trust by the Plan’s trustee for the benefit of Plan participants.
Investments in equity and bond mutual funds are stated at fair value using quoted market prices in active
markets (level 1). Purchases and sales of securities are recorded on a trade-date basis. Interest income is
recorded on an accrual basis. Dividends are recorded on the ex-dividend date. The Plan’s investment
assets are held in trust by the Plan’s trustee, Principal.

78



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

13. Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) (continued)

The Plan’s investments which represented 5% or more of net position as of June 30, 2024 and 2023 are
as follows:

Description of Investment 2024 2023
Principal Vanguard 500 Index Fund $ 5,430,524 $ 4,985,388
Principal Allspring Core Bond Fund 4,010,084 3,631,111
Principal Metropolitian West Total Return Bond Fund Class | 4,002,603 3,624,050
Principal Dodge & Cox Income Fund 4,002,015 3,639,107
Principal Federated Total Return Fund Class | 4,000,610 3,623,996
Principal Northern Mid Cap Index Fund 3,640,904 3,347,584

Other funds representing less than 5% 18,088,779 16,639,960

Total investment and net position $ 43,175,519 $ 39,491,196
Net OPEB asset

The Authority’s net OPEB asset was measured as of June 30, 2024, and the total OPEB asset was
determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.

Actuarial assumptions

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing postemployment benefits plan involve estimates of the value of reported
amounts and assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples
include assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts
determined regarding the funded status of the Plan and the annual required contributions of the employer
are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates
are made about the future. The schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplemental
information following the notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear trend information about
whether the actuarial value of Trust assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial
accrued liabilities for benefits.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive postemployment
benefits (the Plan as understood by the employer and retirees) and include the types of benefits provided
at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and
retirees to that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed
to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets,
consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations.

The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2024 actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Actuarial valuation method Entry age normal rate

Discount rate 6%

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 6%

Healthcare cost trend rate 7.00% graded down using the Getzen model
Dental and vision rate 5%

Retirement rates Varying rates beginning with 5% at age 50

to 100% retirement at age 65

79



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

13. Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) (continued)

The Medical trend was changed from 6.25% graded to 5.20% over 2 years and following the Getzen model
thereafter to 7.00% grading to 5.60% over 2 years and following the Getzen model thereafter.

Effective January 1, 2017, Medicare-eligible retirees, retiree spouses, and disabled participants will receive
$3,000 per year to purchase health coverage on an exchange.

Claims were adjusted for aging based on the Yamamoto aging table for non-Medicare participants,
normalized at age 65.

The long-term expected rate of return on Plan assets was determined using a building-block method in
which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of OPEB plan
investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined
to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the
target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates
of return for each major asset class included in the OPEB plan’s target asset allocation are summarized in
the following table:

Long-term Expected

Asset Class Target Allocation Real Rate of Return
Domestic Equity - Small Cap 4.80% 7.20%
Domestic Equity - Large Cap 31.80% 5.80%
Domestic Equity - Mid Cap 8.40% 6.70%
International Equity 15.00% 6.60%
Fixed Income 37.00% 2.40%
Cash 3.00% 1.60%

Due to the Plan’s asset allocation, the long-term rate of return of 6.0% was selected. Plan assets, together
with projected future contributions based on historic experience, are expected to cover benefits payments
for the duration of the Plan.

8o



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements

Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

13. Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) (continued)

Changes in the net OPEB liability

Balances at July 1, 2023

Change for the year:
Seniice cost
Interest

Difference between expected
and actual experience

Changes of assumptions

Net investment income

Contributions - employer

Benefits paid

Administrative expenses

Net changes

Balance at June 30, 2024

Balances at July 1, 2022

Change for the year:

Senvice cost

Interest

Difference between expected
and actual experience

Changes of assumptions

Net investment income

Contributions - employer

Benefits paid

Administrative expenses

Balance at June 30, 2023

Total OPEB Plan Net Net OPEB
Liability Position Liability (Asset)
(a) (b) (a) - (b)
$27,204,801 $39,491,196 $ (12,286,395)
359,608 - 359,608
1,595,450 - 1,595,450
(3,070,498) - (3,070,498)
383,903 - 383,903
- 4,736,847 (4,736,847)
- 283,087 (283,087)
(973,583) (1,256,672) 283,089
- (78,939) 78,939
(1,705,120) 3,684,323 (5,389,443)
$25,499,681 $43,175,519 $ (17,675,838)
Total OPEB Plan Net Net OPEB
Liability Position Liability (Asset)
(a) (b) (@) - (b)
$32,385,405 $36,642,513 $ (4,257,108)
339,253 - 339,253
1,897,780 - 1,897,780
(6,447,643) - (6,447,643)
124,995 - 124,995
- 3,867,729 (3,867,729)
- 686,502 (686,502)
(1,094,989) (1,630,491) 535,502
- (75,057) 75,057
(5,180,604) 2,848,683 (8,029,287)
$27,204,801 $39,491,196 $ (12,286,395)

81



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

13. Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) (continued)

The Authority made contributions of $283,087 and $686,502 to the OPEB Trust during fiscal years 2024
and 2023, respectively. These contributions were considered in the June 30, 2024 and 2023 actuarial
valuations.

The OPEB fiduciary net position is equal to 169% of the total OPEB liability at June 30, 2024.

Sensitivity of the net OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rate

The following represents the net OPEB asset calculated using the stated health care cost trend assumption,
as well as what the OPEB asset would be if it were calculated using the healthcare cost trend rate that is
1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the assumed trend rate:

1% Decrease Current 1% Increase

Net OPEB (Asset)
June 30, 2024 $ (19,618,095) $ (17,675,838) $ (15,438,137)

Sensitivity of the net OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate

The following represents the net OPEB asset calculated using the stated discount rate, as well as what the
net OPEB asset would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one-percentage-point lower or
one-percentage-point higher than the current rate:

1% Decrease Current Rate 1% Increase
5.00% 6.00% 7.00%
Net OPEB (Asset)
June 30, 2024 $ (15,558,505) $ (17,675,838) $ (19,520,258)

OPEB expense and deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB

For the years ending June 30, 2024 and 2023, the Authority recognized OPEB expenses of ($3,676,244)
and ($6,503,416), respectively. On June 30, 2024 and 2023, the Authority reported deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

June 30, 2024

Deferred Deferred
Ouflows Inflows
of Resources of Resources
Experience gains or losses $ - $ -
Change of assumption - -
Net difference between projected and
actual earnings on investments - 1,078,412
Total $ - $ 1,078,412

82



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

13. Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) (continued)

June 30, 2023

Deferred Deferred

Ouflows Inflows
of Resources of Resources
Experience gains or losses $ - $ -
Change of assumption - -

Net difference between projected and

actual earnings on investments 624,787 -
$ 624,787 $ -

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB
as of June 30, 2024 will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Year Ended
June 30,
2025 $ (667,487)
2026 $ 888,331
2027 $ (819,558)
2028 $ (479,698)

14. Pension and Other Postemployment Benefits Trust Funds

The following are condensed financial statements for the pension and OPEB plans:

June 30, 2024

Other Post-
Employment Pension
Benefit Trust Benefit Trust
Fund Fund Total
Statement of Net Position
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,415,748 §$ 4758211 $ 6,173,959
Investments, at fair value:
Pooled, common and collective funds - 64,518,620 64,518,620
Mutual funds 41,759,771 15,536,024 57,295,795
Net position $ 43175519 $ 84,812,855 $ 127,988,374
Schedule of Changes in Net Position
Employer contributions $ - $ 2,000,000 $ 2,000,000
Employee contributions 283,087 - 283,087
Net appreciation in fair value 4,736,847 7,653,811 12,390,658
Interest and dividends - 615,571 615,571
Investment expenses - (157,005) (157,005)
Benefits paid to participants (1,256,672) (4,915,987) (6,172,659)
Administrative expenses (78,939) - (78,939)
Net change in net position $ 3,684,323 $ 5,196,390 $ 8,880,713

83



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

14. Pension and Other Postemployment Benefits Trust Funds (continued)

June 30, 2023

Other Post-
Employment Pension
Benefit Trust Benefit Trust
Fund Fund Total
Statement of Net Position
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,350,943 $ 3,578,855 $ 4,929,798
Investments, at fair value:
Pooled, common and collective funds - 61,337,507 61,337,507
Mutual funds 38,140,253 14,700,103 52,840,356
Net position $ 39491196 $ 79,616,465 $ 119,107,661
Schedule of Changes in Net Position
Employer contributions $ 151,000 $ 1,410,000 $ 1,561,000
Employee contributions 535,502 - 535,502
Net appreciation in fair value 3,867,729 6,187,051 10,054,780
Interest and dividends - 544,672 544,672
Investment expenses - (154,130) (154,130)
Benefits paid to participants (1,630,491) (4,785,372) (6,415,863)
Administrative expenses (75,057) - (75,057)
Net change in net position $ 2,848,683 $ 3,202,221  $ 6,050,904

15. Defined Contribution Plans

The Authority offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal
Revenue Code Section 457, which is administered by a third party, Voya Retirement Services. The plan,
available to all Authority employees, permits the deferral of a portion of salary until future years. Participation
in the plan is optional. The deferred compensation is not available to employees until termination,
retirement, death, or unforeseeable emergency. The assets of the plan are held in custodial and annuity
accounts for the exclusive benefit of plan participants, and accordingly, the related assets of the plan are
not reflected on the Authority’s statement of net position. Beginning January 1, 2001, the Authority’s
matching contributions have been made to a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with
Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a). Employer contributions vest without any waiting period. Amounts
contributed by the Authority to the deferred compensation plan were $1,424,186 and $1,223,457 in 2024
and 2023, respectively. Employees contributed through payroll deductions to the plan $1,801,664 and
$1,550,257 in 2024 and 2023, respectively.

During May 2013, the Board of Commissioners approved an additional 401(a) defined contribution
retirement plan, which is administered by a third party, Voya Retirement Services. Under this additional
plan, the Authority contributed 10% of an employee’s base compensation on an annual basis. This 401(a)
plan is available only to employees hired after June 27, 2003, who do not participate in the Authority’s
defined benefit pension plan described in Note 12. All contributions by the Authority are discretionary, and
vest after one year of employment. Any forfeitures are refunded to the Authority. Amounts contributed by
the Authority to the deferred retirement compensation plan were $2,505,508 and $2,007,056 in 2024 and
2023, respectively.

84



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

16. Lease Accounting

Lessor

The Authority’s financial statements include the adoption of GASB Statement No. 87, Leases (“GASB No.
87”). The primary objective of GASB No. 87 is to enhance the relevance and consistency of information
about governmental leasing activities. GASB No. 87 establishes a single model for lease accounting based
on the principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under GASB No. 87, a
lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is
required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources. For additional information, refer
to the disclosures below.

The Authority leases certain assets to various third parties. The assets leased include space, ground and
lands leased in the airfield and grounds, terminal building, John C. Tune Airport, Multi-Purpose Building
and International Plaza Building. These payments are generally fixed monthly payments with certain
variable payments not included in the measurement of the lease receivable. These payments are based on
a percentage of lessee’s revenue above the Minimum Annual Guarantee.

During the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the Authority recognized the following related to its lessor
agreements:

2024 2023
Lease revenue $ 13,743,627 $ 12,076,379
Interest Income related to its leases $ 3,467,654 $ 2,135,383
Revenue from variable payments not previously
included in the measurement of the lease receivables $ 8,848,956 $ 4,313,326
Summary of Lease Activities as of June 30:
2024 2023
Buildings
Number of leases 63 61
Term 1 to 900 months 1 to 398 months
Lease receivable $ 95,171,289 $ 86,069,995
Lease revenue $ 10,274,839 $ 8,598,478
Termination options 1 to 3 months 1 to 3 months
Land
Number of leases 13 13
Term 10 to 566 months 10 to 566 months
Lease receivable $ 50,324,410 $ 52,989,450
Lease revenue $ 3,468,788 $ 3,477,901

Included in the Authority’s lease receivables at June 30, 2024 and 2023 are $145,495,699 and
$139,059,446, respectively, related to leases whose revenue is pledged to secure certain outstanding debt
obligations of the Authority. The leases contain lessee options to terminate the leases or abate payments
under certain circumstances. These include passenger volumes dropping to an unsustainable level, failure
to perform by lessor, or the assumption of the US Government or authorized agency to control or restrict
the use of the lessee’s assigned area. Certain leases allow the lessee to cancel for any reason with 1 to 3
months’ advance written notice.

85



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

16. Lease Accounting (continued)

Future principal and interest payment requirements related to the Authority’s lease receivable at June 30,
2024 are as follows:

Principal and Interest Expected to Maturity

Principal Interest Total

Fiscal Year Payments Payments Payments
2025 $ 11,886,049 $ 3,627,304 $ 15,513,353
2026 12,010,874 3,360,990 15,371,864
2027 11,943,009 3,087,318 15,030,327
2028 10,804,054 2,818,047 13,622,101
2029 9,642,465 2,574,240 12,216,705
2030-2034 37,856,816 9,560,426 47,417,242
2035-2039 12,225,812 6,665,213 18,891,025
2040-2044 7,061,301 5,507,999 12,569,300
2045-2049 4,329,394 4,697,295 9,026,689
2050-2054 4,472,003 4,095,559 8,567,562
2055-2059 4,007,016 3,472,201 7,479,217
2060-2064 4,386,408 2,898,598 7,285,006
2065-2069 5,599,830 2,183,203 7,783,033
2070-2074 1,345,459 1,616,934 2,962,393
2075-2079 1,073,839 1,426,161 2,500,000
2080-2084 1,301,194 1,198,806 2,500,000
2085-2089 1,576,685 923,315 2,500,000
2090-2094 1,910,504 589,496 2,500,000
2095-2099 2,062,987 187,014 2,250,001

Total principal and interest
expected to maturity $ 145,495,699 $60,490,119 $205,985,818
Regulated Leases

The Authority leases certain assets to various third parties as regulated leases, as defined by GASB
Statement No. 87. The leased assets include jet bridges, ticket counters, ticket offices, passenger hold-
rooms, concourse operations space, baggage service areas, hangars, grounds and land, and are regulated
under the FAA Rates and Charges Policy and Grant Assurance 22. Certain assets are subject to
preferential or exclusive use by the counterparties to these agreements, as follows:

Jet bridges — 46 of 54 total jet bridges are designated preferential use

Passenger hold rooms — 85% of available space is designated preferential use
Baggage senice — 84% of available space is designated preferential use

Ticket counter space — 78% of available space is designated preferential use

Ticket counter queue space — 78% of available space is designated for preferential use
Ticket office space — 79% of available space is designated exclusive use

Concourse operations space — 90% of available space is designated exclusive use

86



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

16. Lease Accounting (continued)
During the year ended June 30, 2024, the Authority recognized the following from regulated leases:

Regulated lease revenue: $39,903,564

Revenue from variable payments not included in schedule of expected
future minimum payments: $21,642,171

Future expected minimum payments related to the Authority’s regulated leases at June 30, 2024 are as
follows:

Future Minimum

Fiscal Year Expected Receipts
2025 $ 6,743,275
2026 $ 6,582,525
2027 $ 6,694,671
2028 $ 6,699,706
2029 $ 6,746,513

2030-2034 $ 30,709,996

2035-2039 $ 23,691,363

2040-2045 $ 21,617,157

2046-2049 $ 24,422,030

2050-2054 $ 27,708,092

2055-2059 $ 15,575,174

2060-2064 $ 2,263,787

2065-2069 $ 1,672,334
2070 $ 205,256

The Authority has entered into certain regulated leases whereby the related lease revenue is pledged to
secure certain outstanding debt obligations of the Authority. These leases contain lessee options to
terminate the lease or abate payments under certain circumstances such as: for convenience with 90-180
days’ notice, failure of Authority to repair or reconstruct property necessary for aircraft operations, failure of
Authority to keep airfield open at all practical times in accordance with its FAA Operating Permit, failure to
disclose and conflict or potential conflict of interest, default by Authority, assumption of the United States
Government, or any authorized agency, to control airport operations in such a manner that substantially
restricts the lessee’s use of its assigned area, and any other breach of terms not remedied within 30 days
of notice.

17. Subscription-based Information Technology Arrangements

GASB 96 — Included Subscription-based Information Technology Arrangements

The Authority’s financial statements include the adoption of GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription Based
Information Technology Arrangements (SBITA). The primary objective of this statement is to enhance the
relevance and consistency of information about governments' leasing activities. This statement provides
one methodology for the accounting and financial reporting for subscription-based information technology
arrangements. Under this statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible
right-to-use lease asset. For additional information, refer to the disclosures below.

87



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

17. Subscription-based Information Technology Arrangements (continued)

The Authority has entered SBITAs with various third parties. These arrangements provide access to airline
common use systems, accounts receivable software, public warning platforms, and project management
software. The leased assets include access to a third party’s proprietary software. A subscription asset and
related accumulated amortization are included in capital assets on the Statement of Net Position. SBITAs
that include maintenance or support services in addition to access to a third party’s proprietary software
are reported below. A summary at June 30, 2024 is as follows:

Subscription asset $ 3,777,401
Accumulated amortization $ 2,027,494
Term 2 to 54 months

The following summarizes the changes in the subscription lease liability at June 30:

2024 2023
Balance - beginning of year $ 1,074,154 $ 508,601
Additional subscriptions 1,447,109 1,263,358
Principal payments (955,105) (697,805)
Balance - end of year $ 1,566,158 $ 1,074,154

Future principal and interest payment requirements related to the Authority’s lease liability at June 30, 2024
are as follows:

Principal and Interest Requirements to Maturity

Principal Interest Total
Fiscal Year Payments Payments Payments

Current principal and interest requirements to maturity:

2025 $ 912,264 $ 18,913 $ 931,177
Noncurrent principal and interest requirements to maturity:

2026 480,902 6,480 487,382

2027 84,598 2,542 87,140

2028 88,394 1,299 89,693
Total noncurrent principal and interest requirements

to maturity 653,894 10,321 664,215

Total principal and interest requirements to maturity $ 1,566,158 $ 29,234 $ 1,595,392

GASB 96 — Excluded SBITAs

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 96, the Authority does not recognize a SBITA liability or right-to-
use asset for SBITAs that are considered short-term, or a maintenance or support arrangement.

88



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

18. Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships

During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Authority entered into a public-public/public-private partnership
arrangement with Nashville Airport Hotel Partners, LLC (the “operator”), under which the operator designed,
built, and will operate the onsite hotel for seventy-five years. The onsite hotel was placed into service during
fiscal year 2024. The operator will be entitled to all fees during the period of the arrangement. At the end of
the arrangement, the hotel will be transferred to the Authority. At June 30, 2024, the Authority recognized
a receivable of $12,253,876 for installment payments of $500,000 per annum, discounted at a rate of
3.847%, and reports a deferred inflow of resources in the amount of $12,225,294, pursuant to the
public-public/public-private partnership arrangement.

Additionally, the operator also constructed a parking garage, placed into service during fiscal year 2023,
for the use of onsite hotel guests. The Authority paid the operator a developer fee of $3,090,000 and
reimbursed the operator for the construction of the garage. The carrying value of the parking garage was
$84,137,297 at June 30, 2024. The operator is solely responsible for setting parking rates for the parking
facilities within the hotel premises; provided, however, that in no event may the operator charge less for
use of its parking facilities than the Authority is then charging for use of the balance of the garage facility.

The operator shall remit a percentage of annual gross revenues derived from the business conducted on
the hotel premises, including the parking garage, to the Authority as follows:

Annual Gross Percent Payable
Revenues to the Authority
$0 - $22,500,000 0%
$22,500,001 - $40,000,000 5%
$40,000,001 - $80,000,000 6%
$80,000,001 or more 10%

89



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

19. Condensed Financial Information by Entity

June 30, 2024

Blended
Airports Component Unit
Nashville MNAA
International John C. Tune Properties
Condensed statement of net position: Airport Airport ¥ Corporation Total
Assets:
Current assets $ 840,921,073 $ 10,581,600 $ 18,833,223 $ 870,335,896
Restricted assets 438,368,996 - - 438,368,996
Capital assets, net 1,895,975,836 97,421,286 4,236,115 1,997,633,237
Other assets 143,310,756 37,484 10,017,248 153,365,488
Total assets 3,318,576,661 108,040,370 33,086,586 3,459,703,617
Deferred outflows of resources 1,451,665 - - 1,451,665
Total assets and deferred
outflows of resources $3,320,028,326 $ 108,040,370 $ 33,086,586 $3,461,155,282
Liabilities:
Current liabilities $ 81,838,444 $ 23,095,538 $ 485,436 $ 105,419,418
Noncurrent liabilities 2,014,092,677 - - 2,014,092,677
Total liabilities 2,095,931,121 23,095,538 485,436 2,119,512,095
Deferred inflows of resources 128,619,228 42,580 12,305,712 140,967,520
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 159,562,515 97,421,286 4,236,114 261,219,915
Restricted for:
Capital projects 63,413,979 - - 63,413,979
Debt senice 357,563,575 - - 357,563,575
Operations 55,803,273 - - 55,803,273
OPEB 17,675,838 - - 17,675,838
Unrestricted net position 441,458,797 (12,519,034) 16,059,324 444,999,087
Total net position 1,095,477,977 84,902,252 20,295,438 1,200,675,667
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources, and net position $3,320,028,326 $ 108,040,370 $ 33,086,586 $3,461,155,282
Condensed statement of revenues
expenses, changes in net position:
Operating revenues $ 295,957,627 $ 2,967,463 $ 3,688,577 $ 302,613,667
Operating expenses 267,203,522 6,967,698 2,422,162 276,593,382
Operating income (loss) 28,754,105 (4,000,235) 1,266,415 26,020,285
Nonoperating revenues 81,680,681 1,106,087 978,703 83,765,471
Transfers 1,547,657 (1,547,657) - -
Capital contributions 33,626,372 196,582 - 33,822,954
Increase in net position 145,608,815 (4,245,223) 2,245,118 143,608,710
Net position, beginning of year 949,869,162 89,147,475 18,050,320 1,057,066,957
Net position, end of year $1,095,477,977 $ 84,902,252 $ 20,295,438 $1,200,675,667
Condensed statement of cash flows:
Cash flows from operating activities $ 129,258,294 $ 1,068,369 $ 2,532,560 $ 132,859,223
Cash flows from noncapital financing activities 32,161,615 15,000 - 32,176,615
Cash flows from capital and
related financing activities (239,735,943) (12,793,671) 230,334 (252,299,280)
Cash flows from investing activities 149,289,240 (9,318,738) (2,633,997) 137,336,505
Intercompany (20,878,171) 21,021,152 (142,981) -
Increase (decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents 50,095,035 (7,888) (14,084) 50,073,063
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 440,545,886 104,098 137,294 440,787,278
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 490,640,921 $ 96,210 $ 123,210 $ 490,860,341

(1) Current assets at John C. Tune airport are negative due to $21,931,731 in repayments ow ed to Nashville International Airport reflected in this line at June 30, 2024.

90



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements

Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

19. Condensed Financial Information by Entity (continued)

Condensed statement of net position:
Assets:
Current assets
Restricted assets
Capital assets, net
Other assets
Total assets
Deferred outflows of resources
Total assets and deferred
outflows of resources
Liabilities:
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities
Deferred inflows of resources
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Capital projects
Debt senice
Operations
OPEB
Unrestricted net position
Total net position
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources, and net position

Condensed statement of revenues

expenses, changes in net position:
Operating revenues

Operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Nonoperating revenues

Transfers

Capital contributions

Increase in net position

Net position, beginning of year
Net position, end of year

Condensed statement of cash flows:

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
Cash flows from capital and

related financing activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Intercompany

Increase (decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

June 30, 2023

Blended
Airports Component Unit
Nashville MNAA
International John C. Tune Properties
Airport Airport Corporation Total
$ 650,872,178 $ 5,941,410 $ 15,005,446 $ 671,819,034
628,431,869 - - 628,431,869
1,748,794,804 86,606,080 4,869,838 1,840,270,722
133,408,039 44,211 9,903,165 143,355,415
3,161,506,890 92,591,701 29,778,449 3,283,877,040
5,787,129 - - 5,787,129
$3,167,294,019 $ 92,591,701 $ 29,778,449 $3,289,664,169
$ 77,958,883 $ 3,394,697 $ 390,146 $ 81,743,726
2,020,076,739 - - 2,020,076,739
2,098,035,622 3,394,697 390,146 2,101,820,465
119,389,235 49,529 11,337,983 130,776,747
187,115,856 86,606,080 4,869,838 278,591,774
70,305,016 - - 70,305,016
340,377,311 - - 340,377,311
46,228,651 - - 46,228,651
12,286,395 - - 12,286,395
293,555,933 2,541,395 13,180,482 309,277,810
949,869,162 89,147,475 18,050,320 1,057,066,957
$3,167,294,019 $ 92,591,701 $ 29,778,449 $3,289,664,169
$ 247,817,896 $ 1,969,509 $ 4,814,959 $ 254,602,364
203,819,586 5,744,743 2,173,730 211,738,059
43,998,310 (3,775,234) 2,641,229 42,864,305
51,351,368 4,896,403 544,015 56,791,786
(45,780) 45,780 - -
55,170,102 3,813,274 - 58,983,376
150,474,000 4,980,223 3,185,244 158,639,467
799,395,162 84,167,252 14,865,076 898,427,490
$ 949,869,162 $ 89,147,475 $ 18,050,320 $1,057,066,957
$ 108,111,821 $ (802) $ 2,413,163 $ 110,524,182
27,806,720 220,000 - 28,026,720
291,187,543 (2,254,763) 167,101 289,099,881
(230,066,526) (415,774) (3,540,265) (234,022,565)
(2,515,077) 2,505,729 9,348 -
194,524,481 54,390 (950,653) 193,628,218
246,021,405 49,708 1,087,947 247,159,060
$ 440,545,886 $ 104,098 $ 137,294 $ 440,787,278

91



This page is intentionally left blank.



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Required Supplementary Information

This section contains the following subsections:
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability
Schedule of Pension Contributions

Schedule of Investment Returns for Pension
Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability
Schedule of OPEB Contributions

Schedule of Investment Returns for OPEB



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability
Year Ended June 30 for Each of the Years Presented

Total pension liability:
Service cost
Interest
Differences between expected
and actual experience
Changes of assumptions
Benefit payments

Net change in total pension liability
Total pension liability - beginning
Total pension liability - ending (a)
Plan fiduciary net position:
Contributions - employer
Netinvestmentincome (loss)

Benefit payments

Net change in plan
fiduciary net position

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning
Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b)
Authority's net pension liability

(asset) - ending (a) - (b)

Plan fiduciary net position as a
percentage of the total pension liability (asset)

Covered payroll

Net pension liability (asset) as a percentage
of covered payroll

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

$ 485028 § 503601 $ 528437 § 654045 § 823410 $ 685843 $ 667,297 $ 741608 $ 679217 § 645437
4,610,366 4512614  4371,171 4590,189 4,622,700 4,604,838 4218823 4482097 4,342,076 3,987,395
1,738,581 1,546,464 2,075,869 (307,806)  (1,902,545) 2,027,120 745177 (1,259,978) 537,929 677,000

- - 137,652 2,223,479 (219979) 7451464 2,942,473 (616,820) 2,516,013 1,676,218
(4,915987) _ (4,785372) _ (4541435)  (4,187,216) _ (3,865432) (3,507,672) _(3,059272) _ (2,839298) _ (2589,887)  (2,552,544)
1,917,988 1,777,307 2,571,694 2,972,691 (541,846) 11261593 5,514,498 507,609 5485348 4,433,506
83,824,843 82,047,536 79,475,842 76,503,151 77,044,997 65783404 60,268,906 _ 59,761,297 54275949 49,842,443
85742,831 83824843 _ 82,047,536 79475842 76,503,151 77044997 65783404 _ 60,268,906 59,761,297 54275949
2,000,000 1,410,000 250,000 417,321 3,450,000 8,900,000 2,000,000 5,160,905 11,951,995 8,000,000
8,112,377 6,577,593  (11,820,464) 16,647,552 4,297,823  4,148512 4968584 6771977 205,790 1,428,204
(4915987)  (4785372)  (4541435)  (4187216)  (3865432) (3,507,672) (3,059272)  (2,839298) (2589,.887)  (2,552,544)
5,196,390 3202221  (16,111,899) 12,877,657 3,882,391 9540840 3909312 9093584 9,567,898 6,875,660
79616465 76414244 92,526,143 79,648,486 75766095 66225255 62315943 53222359 43,654,461 _ 36,778,801
84,812,855 79616465 _ 76,414,244 92,526,143 79648486 75766095 66225255 _ 62,315943 53,222,359 43,654,461
$ 929976 $ 4208378 _$ 5633292 $(13,050,301) $(3,145335) $1278902 $ (441851) $(2,047,037) $6,538,938 $10,621488
98.9% 95.0% 93.1% 116.4% 104.1% 98.3% 100.7% 103.4% 89.1% 80.4%

$ 4,153,041 $ 4062321 § 4342597 § 5239,192 $ 6,534,870 $6811701 $8493682 §$ 8497486 $8,078834 $ 7,895716
22.4% 103.6% 129.7% (249.09%) (48.13%) 18.8% (5.20%) (24.09%) 80.9% 134.5%

94



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Schedule of Pension Contributions
Year Ended June 30 for Each of the Years Presented

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Actuarially determined contribution  § 532,077 $ 409,587 $ 166,598 § 417321 § 945,088 $ 790495 § 717,344 $ 1,101,679 § 1652788 $ 2,165,146
Contributions in relation to the

actuarially determined contribution 2,000,000 1,410,000 250,000 417,321 3,450,000 8,900,000 2,000,000 5,160,905 11,951,995 8,000,000
Contribution (excess) deficiency $ (1,467,923) §$ (1,000413) $ (83,402) $ - § (2504,912) $ (8,109,505) $ (1,282,656) $ (4,059,226) §(10,299,207) §$ (5,834,854)
Covered payroll $ 4,153,041 $ 4062321 $ 4342597 $ 5239192 $ 6534870 $ 6811701 $ 7440484 $ 8493682 $ 8497486 $ 8078834

Contributions as a percentage
covered payroll 48.2% 34.7% 5.8% 8.0% 52.8% 130.7% 26.9% 60.8% 140.7% 99.0%

Notes to Schedule of Changes in the Net Pension Liability (Asset) and Schedule of Pension Contributions
Actuarially determined contribution rates for each year presented in the Schedule of Pension Contributions are based on an actuarial valuation performed as of the first day of each year for which the contributions

relate. Methods and assumptions used to determine the contribution rate for the June 30, 2024 actuarially determined contribution are below. For each year presented in the Schedule of Changes in Net Pension
Liability (Asset), assumption changes relate to an annual update of the mortality table, as noted below:

Actuarial valuation method Entryage normal

Asset valuation method Fair value for Statement No. 67 and Statement No. 68
Fair value is based on quoted market prices

Amortization method Level Dollar

Amortization period For Statement No. 68 as of June 30, 2024:

Investment gains or losses are amortized over 5 years

Experience gains or losses are amortized over the average working lifetime
of all participants which for the current period is 1 year

Plan amendments are recognized immediately

Changes in actuarial assumptions are amortized over the average working
lifetime of all participants.

Inflation 2%, per annum, compounded annually

Salaryincreases 4%, per annum, compounded annually

Investment rate of return 5.5%, per annum, compounded annually

Discount rate 5.5%, per annum, compounded annually

Asset smoothing method 3-year weighted average of asset gains and losses, subjectto a 20% corridor
Retirement age Varying rates beginning with 5% atage 50 and 100% retirement at age 65

Normal retirement age of 55 with 10 years of service,
but no later than 65, for public safety employees

Mortality June 30, 2024: RP-2014 Generational Mortality Table for Males and Females with Improvement Scale MP-2023
June 30, 2023: RP-2014 Generational Mortality Table for Males and Females with Improvement Scale MP-2022
June 30, 2022: RP-2014 Generational Mortality Table for Males and Females with Improvement Scale MP-2021
June 30, 2021: RP-2014 Generational Mortality Table for Males and Females with Improvement Scale MP-2020
June 30, 2020: RP-2014 Generational Mortality Table for Males and Females with Improvement Scale MP-2019
June 30, 2019: RP-2014 Generational Mortality Table for Males and Females with improvement Scale MP-2018
June 30, 2018: RP-2014 Generational Mortality Table for Males and Females with improvement Scale MP-2017
June 30, 2017: RP-2014 Generational Mortality Table for Males and Females with improvement Scale MP-2016
June 30, 2016: RP-2014 Generational Mortality Table for Males and Females with improvement Scale MP-2015
June 30, 2015: RP-2014 Generational Mortality Table for Males and Females with improvement Scale MP-2014

95



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Schedule of Investment Returns for Pension
Year Ended June 30 for Each of the Years Presented

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

2017

2016

2015

Annual money-weighted rate of return, net of
investment expense 10.69% 8.86% -12.88% 21.63% 6.05% 6.20% 8.40%

96

13.04%

0.76%

4.04%



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability
Year Ended June 30 for Each of the Years Presented

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Total OPEB liability:
Senice cost $ 359,608 $ 339,253 $ 505,252 $ 729,685 $ 838,087 $ 1,110,421 $ 1,287,152 $ 1,259,595
Interest 1,595,450 1,897,780 1,604,056 1,522,814 1,669,885 1,445,441 1,478,732 1,346,638
Differences between expected
and actual experience (3,070,498) (6,447,643) 4,284,326 (1,243,929) (2,752,567) (2,713,939) (2,340,217) 809,991
Changes of assumptions 383,903 124,995 (237,239) (2,867,444) 387,506 (1,225,616) - 1,205,435
Benefit payments (973,583) (1,094,989) (1,638,721) (2,975,921) (1,082,284) (1,081,219) (1,346,874) (1,191,983)
Net change in total OPEB liability (1,705,120) (5,180,604) 4,517,674 (4,834,795) (939,373) (2,464,912) (921,207) 3,429,676
Total OPEB liability - beginning 27,204,801 32,385,405 27,867,731 32,702,526 33,641,899 36,106,811 37,028,018 33,598,342
Total OPEB liability - ending (a) 25,499,681 27,204,801 32,385,405 27,867,731 32,702,526 33,641,899 36,106,811 37,028,018
Plan fiduciary net position:
Contributions - employer - 151,000 - 3,202,541 5,532,284 3,081,219 10,195,977 $ 7,983,073
Contributions - employee 283,087 535,502 - - - - - -
Net investment income (loss) 4,736,847 3,867,729 (5,932,472) 9,514,314 1,380,131 1,595,233 1,204,489 1,016,930
Benefit payments (1,256,672) (1,630,491) (1,638,721) (2,975,921) (1,082,284) (1,081,219) (1,346,874) (1,191,983)
Administrative expenses (78,939) (75,057) (85,711) (66,595) (59,148) (52,660) (31,165) (18,854)
Net change in plan fiduciary net position 3,684,323 2,848,683 (7,656,904) 9,674,339 5,770,983 3,542,573 10,022,427 7,789,166
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 39,491,196 36,642,513 44,299,417 34,625,078 28,854,095 25,311,522 15,289,095 7,499,929
Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) 43,175,519 39,491,196 36,642,513 44,299,417 34,625,078 28,854,095 25,311,522 15,289,095
Authority's net OPEB (asset) liability - ending (a) - (b) $ (17,675838) $ (12286,395) $  (4,257,108) $ (16,431,686) $  (1,922552) $ 4,787,804 $ 10,795,289 $ 21,738,923
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage
of the total OPEB (asset) liability 169.3% 145.2% 113.1% 159.0% 105.9% 85.8% 70.1% 41.3%
Covered-employee payroll $ 6,439,286 $ 6,677,516 $ 7,062,037 $ 7,881,945 $ 10,303,336 $ 9,777,169 $ 11,523,443 $ 16,792,985
Net OPEB liability (asset) as a percentage
of covered-employee payroll -274.5% -184.0% -60.3% -208.5% -18.7% 49.0% 93.7% 129.5%

97



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Schedule of OPEB Contributions

Year Ended June 30 for Each of the Years Presented

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Actuarially determined contribution $ - $ 151,696 $ - $ 605,418 $ 1,200,138 $ 1,911,323 $ 3,167,615 $ -
Contributions in relation to the actuarially

determined contribution - 151,000 - 3,202,542 5,532,284 3,081,219 10,195,977 7,983,073
Contribution deficiency (excess) $ - $ 696 $ - $ (2,597,124) $ (4,332,146) $ (1,169,896) $ (7.028,362) $ (7.983,073)
Covered-employee payroll $ 6,439,286 $ 6,677,516 $ 7,062,037 $ 7,881,945 $ 10,303,336 $ 9,777,169 $ 10,678,528 $ 11,523,443
Contributions as a percentage
of covered-employee payroll 0.0% 2.3% 0.0% 40.6% 53.7% 31.5% 95.5% 69.3%

Notes to Schedule of Changes in the Net OPEB Liability (Asset) and Schedule of OPEB Contributions

Actuarially determined contribution rates for each year presented in the Schedule of OPEB Contributions are based on an actuarial valuation performed as of the first day of each year for which the contributions
relate. Methods and assumptions used to determine the contribution rate for the June 30, 2024 actuarially determined contribution are below. For each year presented in the Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB

Liability (Asset), assumption changes relate to an annual update of the mortality table, as noted below:

Actuarial valuation method Entry age normal method
Discountrate 6% per annum
Health care cost trend rate The following health care trends were used for the year presented:

June 30, 2024:7.00% graded down using the Getzen 2024 model
June 30, 2023: 6.25% graded down using the Getzen 2023 model
June 30, 2022: 6.00% graded down using the Getzen 2022 model
June 30, 2021: 6.25% graded down using the Getzen 2021 model
June 30, 2020: 7.25% graded down using the Getzen 2020 model
June 30, 2019: 7.25% graded down using the Getzen 2019 model
June 30, 2018: 7.50% graded down using the Getzen model

June 30, 2017:7.75% graded down using the Getzen model

Dental and vision rate 5%
Retirement rates Varying rates beginning with 5% at age 50 and 100% retirement at age 65
Mortality The 2024 actuarially determined contribution was based on the RP-2014 Generational Mortality Table for Males and Females with Improvement Scale MP-2023. Assumption

changes in the Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability (Asset) relate to a change in the mortality tables used for each year presented, as follows:
June 30, 2024: RP-2014 Generational Mortality Table for Males and Females with Improvement Scale MP-2023
June 30, 2023: RP-2014 Generational Mortality Table for Males and Females with Improvement Scale MP-2022
June 30, 2022: RP-2014 Generational Mortality Table for Males and Females with Improvement Scale MP-2021
June 30, 2021: RP-2014 Generational Mortality Table for Males and Females with Improvement Scale MP-2020
June 30, 2020: RP-2014 Generational Mortality Table for Males and Females with Improvement Scale MP-2019
June 30, 2019: RP-2014 Generational Mortality Table for Males and Females with improvement Scale MP-2018
June 30, 2018: RP-2014 Generational Mortality Table for Males and Females with improvement Scale MP-2017
June 30, 2017: RP-2014 Generational Mortality Table for Males and Females with improvement Scale MP-2016
Note: Information in this schedule is presented for the year in which information is available. Information will be added each year until a full 10-year trend is presented.

98



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Schedule of Investment Returns for OPEB
Year Ended June 30 for Each of the Years Presented

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

2018

2017

Annual money-weighted rate of return, net of

investment expense 12.18% 10.70% -13.64% 27.54% 4.79% 6.31%

99

7.53%

13.02%



This page is intentionally left blank.



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Other Supplementary Information

This section contains the following subsections:
Combining Schedule of Net Position Information by Entity

Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes
in Net Position Information by Entity

Combining Schedule of Fiduciary Net Position Information
by Entity

Combining Schedule of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Information by Entity

Schedule of Airport Revenue Bonds, Principal, and Interest
Requirements by Fiscal Year

Schedule of Changes in Long-term Debt by Individual Issue



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Combining Schedule of Net Position Information by Entity

June 30, 2024

ASSETS
Current assets:
Unrestricted assets:

Cash, cash equivalents, and investments

Accounts receivable, net
Lease receivables
Due from governmental agencies
Due from (to) other funds
Prepaid expenses and other
Total current unrestricted assets

Restricted assets:
Cash and investments
Accounts receivable

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets:

Capital assets not being depreciated
Land and nondepreciable assets
Construction in progress

Capital assets being depreciated
Infrastructure
Buildings and building improvements
Equipment, furnitures, and fixtures
Subscription assets

Total capital assets

Less accumulated depreciation

Net capital assets

Other assets:
Accounts receivable, net
Lease receivables
Net OPEB asset

Total noncurrent assets
Total assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflow s from OPEB

Deferred outflow s from pension
Deferred amount on refunding

Total deferred outflow s of resources

Nashville MNAA
International John C. Tune Properties
Airport M Airport Corporation Total
$ 765,616,722 $ 10,205,250 $ 15,423,099 $ 791,245,071
18,889,903 9,711 178,572 19,078,186
8,767,255 6,727 3,112,067 11,886,049
24,203,931 359,912 - 24,563,843
21,812,246 (21,931,731) 119,485 -
1,631,016 - - 1,631,016
840,921,073 (11,350,131) 18,833,223 848,404,165
438,220,867 - - 438,220,867
148,129 - - 148,129
109,850,048 3,214,304 200,817 113,265,169
211,559,933 1,364,105 - 212,924,038
735,920,678 79,433,204 - 815,353,882
1,069,667,930 45,065,751 13,764,903 1,128,498,584
715,707,309 3,946,703 1,694,390 721,348,402
3,777,401 - - 3,777,401
2,846,483,299 133,024,067 15,660,110 2,995,167,476
(950,507,463) (35,602,781) (11,423,995) (997,534,239)
1,895,975,836 97,421,286 4,236,115 1,997,633,237
2,080,000 - - 2,080,000
123,554,918 37,484 10,017,248 133,609,650
17,675,838 - - 17,675,838
2,477,655,588 97,458,770 14,253,363 2,589,367,721
$ 3,318,576,661 $ 86,108,639 $ 33,086,586 $ 3,437,771,886
$ - $ - $ - $ -
1,451,665 - - 1,451,665
$ 1,451,665 $ - $ - $ 1,451,665

(1) The financial information of MPC CONRAC LLC is included in Nashville International Airport as the sole purpose of MPC CONRAC LLC relates to the

CONRAC facility at Nashville International Airport; therefore, it is integrated w ith the Airport for reporting purposes.

102



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Combining Schedule of Net Position Information by Entity

June 30, 2024

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Payable from unrestricted assets:
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll and related items
Advanced billings and payments received
in advance
Subscription lease liability
Current maturities of notes payable
Accrued interest payable
Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities:

Payable from restricted assets:
Accrued interest payable
Current maturities of airport revenue bonds
Deferred revenue from seized funds

Notes payable, less current maturities

Subscription lease liability

Net pension liability

Airport revenue bonds, less current maturities

Total noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflow s from leases
Deferred inflow s from pension
Deferred inflow s from OPEB
Total deferred inflow s of resources

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:

Capital projects

Debt service

Operations

Net OPEB asset

Unrestricted net position

Total net position

Nas hville MNAA
International John C. Tune Properties
Airport Airport Corporation Total
$ 69,145,955 $ 959,379 $ 287,451 $ 70,392,785
8,885,845 145,891 - 9,031,736
2,451,668 58,637 197,985 2,708,190
912,264 - - 912,264
309,136 - - 309,136
133,576 - - 133,576
81,838,444 1,163,807 485,436 83,487,687
42,806,010 - - 42,806,010
38,999,862 - - 38,999,862
986,084 - - 986,084
1,979,775 - - 1,979,775
653,894 - - 653,894
929,976 - - 929,976
1,927,737,076 - - 1,927,737,076
2,014,092,677 - - 2,014,092,677
$ 2,095,931,121 $ 1,163,807 $ 485,436 $ 2,097,580,364
$ 127,329,510 $ 42,580 $ 12,305,712 $ 139,677,802
211,306 - - 211,306
1,078,412 - - 1,078,412
$ 128,619,228 $ 42,580 $ 12,305,712 $ 140,967,520
$ 159,562,515 $ 97,421,286 $ 4,236,114 $ 261,219,915
63,413,979 - - 63,413,979
357,563,575 - - 357,563,575
55,803,273 - - 55,803,273
17,675,838 - - 17,675,838
441,458,797 (12,519,034) 16,059,324 444,999,087
$ 1,095,477,977 $ 84,902,252 $ 20,295,438 $ 1,200,675,667

(1) The financial information of MPC CONRAC LLC is included in Nashville International Airport as the sole purpose of MPC CONRAC LLC
relates to the CONRAC facility at Nashville International Airport; therefore, it is integrated w ith the Airport for reporting purposes.

103



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position Information by
Entity

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

Nas hville MNAA
International John C. Tune Properties
Airport Airport Corporation (" Total
Operating revenues:
Signatory airline $ 94,965,818 $ - $ - $ 94,965,818
Parking 107,040,002 - - 107,040,002
Concession 70,475,331 - - 70,475,331
Space rental 15,050,948 2,742,372 3,568,507 21,361,827
Other 8,425,528 225,091 120,070 8,770,689
Total operating revenue 295,957,627 2,967,463 3,688,577 302,613,667
Operating expenses:
Salaries, w ages and fringe benefits 48,995,453 834,668 - 49,830,121
Contractual services 78,926,793 330,765 760,148 80,017,706
Materials and supplies 9,274,398 128,910 28,371 9,431,679
Utilities 8,160,129 101,794 517,163 8,779,086
Insurance 5,172,717 65,480 80,495 5,318,692
Other 5,287,818 11,285 363,062 5,662,165
Depreciation 111,386,214 5,494,796 672,923 117,553,933
Total operating expenses 267,203,522 6,967,698 2,422,162 276,593,382
Operating income (loss) 28,754,105 (4,000,235) 1,266,415 26,020,285
Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Investment income 60,672,808 436,087 978,703 62,087,598
Passenger facility charges 44,734,128 - - 44,734,128
Customer facility charges 17,283,641 - - 17,283,641
Federal and state grants 34,810,240 20,000 - 34,830,240
Insurance reimbursement 18,506 650,000 - 668,506
Gain on disposal of assets 3,695,683 - - 3,695,683
Interest expense (79,526,825) - - (79,526,825)
Debt issuance costs (7,500) - - (7,500)
81,680,681 1,106,087 978,703 83,765,471
Income (loss) before capital contributions
and transfers 110,434,786 (2,894,148) 2,245,118 109,785,756
Transfers 1,547,657 (1,547,657) - -
Capital contributions 33,626,372 196,582 - 33,822,954
Increase (decrease) in net position 145,608,815 (4,245,223) 2,245,118 143,608,710
Net position - beginning of year 949,869,162 89,147,475 18,050,320 1,057,066,957
Net position - end of year $ 1,095,477,977 $ 84,902,252 $ 20,295,438 $ 1,200,675,667

(1) The financial information of MPC CONRAC LLC is included in Nashville International Airport as the sole purpose of MPC CONRAC LLC
relates to the CONRAC facility at Nashville International Airport; therefore, it is integrated w ith the Airport for reporting purposes.

104



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Combining Schedule of Fiduciary Net Position Information by Entity

June 30, 2024

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments, at fair value:
Pooled, common and collective funds
Mutual funds

Total assets

NET POSITION

Restricted for:
OPEB
Pension

Total net position

Other Post-
Employment Pension
Benefit Trust Benefit Trust
Fund Fund Total
$ 1,415,748 $ 4,758,211 $ 6,173,959
- 64,518,620 64,518,620
41,759,771 15,536,024 57,295,795
43,175,519 84,812,855 127,988,374
43,175,519 - 43,175,519
- 84,812,855 84,812,855
43,175,519 $ 84,812,855 $ 127,988,374

105



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Combining Schedule of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position Information by Entity

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

Additions:
Employer contributions
Employee contributions
Investment income
Net appreciation in fair value
Interest and dividends
Investment expenses
Investment income, net
Total additions

Deductions:
Benefits paid to participants
Administrative expenses
Total deductions
Change in net position

Net position - beginning of year

Net position - end of year

Other Post-
Employment Pension
Benefit Trust Benefit Trust
Fund Fund Total
$ - $ 2,000,000 $ 2,000,000
283,087 - 283,087
4,736,847 7,653,811 12,390,658
- 615,571 615,571
- (157,005) (157,005)
4,736,847 8,112,377 12,849,224
5,019,934 10,112,377 15,132,311
1,256,672 4,915,987 6,172,659
78,939 - 78,939
1,335,611 4,915,987 6,251,598
3,684,323 5,196,390 8,880,713
39,491,196 79,616,465 119,107,661
$ 43,175,519 $ 84,812,855 $ 127,988,374

106



This page is intentionally left blank.



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Schedule of Airport Revenue Bonds, Principal, and Interest Requirements by Fiscal Year

Year Subordinate
Ending Series 2003B CONRAC Refunding Series 2015A Series 2015B Series 2019A
June 30, Revenue Bonds Revenue Bonds Revenue Bonds Revenue Bonds Revenue Bonds
Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest
2025 $ 760,000 $ 594297 $ 3350795 § 562462 $ 2,70000 $ 3897200 § 2640000 $ 452079 $ - $ 12,221750
2026 805,000 594,297 3,468,000 443,220 2,255,000 3,808,700 2,775,000 4,399,219 2,965,000 2,147,625
2027 855,000 594,297 3,587,550 321593 2,350,000 3,716,600 2,885,000 4271594 3,220,000 11,995,625
2028 905,000 594,297 3711220 95,773 2,440,000 3,620,800 3,030,000 42376 3,270,000 11835,750
2029 960,000 594,297 3,838,792 65,985 2,540,000 3,508,500 3,180,000 3,968,469 3,430,000 11661250
2030 105,000 594,297 - - 2,665,000 3,378,375 3,340,000 3,805,469 3,600,000 11492,500
2031 1075,000 594,297 - - 2,800,000 3,241750 3,505,000 3,634,344 3,790,000 11,307,750
2032 1,140,000 594,297 - - 2,940,000 3,098,250 3,680,000 3454719 3,970,000 1,113,750
2033 1210,000 594,297 - - 3,085,000 2,947,625 3,865,000 3,266,092 4,175,000 0,90,25
2034 1280,000 297,48 - - 3,240,000 2,789,500 4,060,000 3,067,969 4,380,000 10,696,250
2035 - - - - 3,405,000 2623375 4,260,000 2,859,969 5,000,000 10461750
2036 - - - - 3,575,000 2448875 4,475,000 2641594 5,245,000 12,205,625
2037 - - - - - 2,359,500 - 2529719 5,640,000 10,933,500
2038 - - - - - 2,359,500 - 2529719 5,920,000 9,644,500
2039 - - - - - 2,359,500 - 2529719 6,210,000 9,341250
2040 - - - - - 2,359,500 - 2,529,719 6,530,000 9,186,000
2041 - - - - 20,730,000 1841250 23,525,000 1941593 - 9,186,000
2042 - - - - - 1323,000 - 1353470 - 9,186,000
2043 - - - - - 1323,000 - 1353,466 - 9,186,000
2044 - - - - - 1323,000 17,130,000 925,220 - 9,186,000
2045 - - - - - 1323,000 - 496,970 37,870,000 8,076,000
2046 - - - - 26,460,000 661500 12,825,000 248,485 - 6,966,000
2047 - - - - - - - - - 6,966,000
2048 - - - - - - - - - 6,966,000
2049 - - - - - - - - - 6,966,000
2050 - - - - - - - - 64,200,000 5,486,000
2051 - - - - - - - - - 4,006,000
2052 - - - - - - - - - 4,006,000
2053 - - - - - - - - - 4,006,000
2054 - - - - - - - - - 4,006,000
2055 - - - - - - - - 85,120,000 2,003,000
10,005,000 5,645,821 17,956,357 1589,033 80,655,000 56,312,300 95,175,000 60,451953 254,435,000 273,352,000
Bond Premium - - - - 9,680,140 - 8,910,119 - 49,606,485 -

$ 10005000 $ 5645821 $ 7956357 $ 1589033 $ 9033540 $ 56312300 $ 10408519 § 60451953 $ 304041485 $ 273,352,000

108



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Schedule of Airport Revenue Bonds, Principal, and Interest Requirements by Fiscal Year

Subordinate

Series 2019B Series 2022A Series 2022B
Revenue Bonds Revenue Bonds Revenue Bonds Total Debt Service
Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Total
$ - $ 32,182500 $ - $ 478108  $ - $ 26,737,837 $ 8920795 §$ 85447778  § 94,368,573
7,920,000 31934,500 - 4,781018 - 26,737,837 20,%88,000 84,846,411 105,034,411
8,315,000 31528,625 1720,000 4,738,018 8,855,000 26,516,462 31687,550 83,682,809 115,370,359
8,735,000 31102,375 1810,000 4,649,763 9,290,000 26,062,840 33,91220 82,1853% 115,376,534
9,170,000 30,654,750 1900,000 4,557,018 9,755,000 25,586,712 34,773,792 80,596,976 115,370,768
9,625,000 30,184,875 1990,000 4,459,763 10,240,000 25,086,835 32,475,000 79,002,1%4 M477,14
0,110,000 29,691500 2,090,000 4,357,763 10,755,000 24,561963 34,125,000 77,389,367 M54,367
1,610,000 29,173,500 2,195,000 4,250,638 11,295,000 24,00,718 35,830,000 75,695,867 111525,867
11,145,000 28,629,625 2,305,000 4,138,138 11,855,000 23,417,144 37,640,000 73,903,046 111543,046
1,700,000 28,058,500 2,425,000 4,019,888 12,475,000 22,778,481 39,560,000 71707,736 1M267,736
13,240,000 27,435,000 2,545,000 3,895,638 13,140,000 22,106,086 41590,000 69,381818 10,9718%8
13,905,000 26,756,675 2,670,000 3,765,263 13,820,000 21398,388 43,690,000 69,216,420 112,906,420
4,920,000 26,036,050 2,805,000 3,628,388 4,545,000 20,635,625 37,910,000 66,122,782 104,032,782
15,655,000 25,271375 2,945,000 3,484,638 15,350,000 9,818,518 39,870,000 63,103,245 102,973,245
6,445,000 24,468,875 3,090,000 3,333,763 6,200,000 8,945,884 41945,000 60,978,991 102,923,991
17,260,000 23,626,550 3,245,000 3,175,388 17,090,000 8,030,444 44,125,000 58,907,571 103,032,571
- 23,195,350 3,410,000 3,009,018 18,030,000 17,064,613 65,695,000 56,237,819 121932,810
- 23,195,350 3,580,000 2,834,263 19,010,000 16,046,013 22,590,000 53,938,096 76,528,096
- 23,195,350 3,755,000 2,650,888 20,055,000 #,971725 23,810,000 52,680,429 76,490,429
- 23,195,350 - 2,557,08 - 4,420,208 17,130,000 51606,791 68,736,791
100,175,000 20,690,675 - 2,557,018 - %,420,208 138,045,000 47,563,866 185,608,866
- 18,186,000 - 2,557,018 - 4,420,213 39,285,000 43,039,211 82,324,211
- 8,186,000 - 2,557,018 - %,420213 - 42,129,226 42,129,226
- 8,186,000 21905,000 1982,006 117,515,000 1335444 139,420,000 38,469,450 177,889,450
- 18,186,000 - 1407,000 - 8,250,675 - 34,809,675 34,809,675
166,170,000 #,281750 - 1407,000 - 8,250,675 230,370,000 29,425,425 259,795,425
- 10,377,500 - 1407,000 - 8,250,675 - 24,041,175 24,041,175
- 10,377,500 - 1407,000 - 8,250,675 - 24,041,175 24,041,175
- 10,377,500 28,140,000 703,500 152,285,000 4,125,338 180,425,000 19,212,338 199,637,338
- 10,377,500 - - - - - #,383,500 4,383,500
220,050,000 5,188,750 - - - - 305,170,000 7,91750 312,361750
665,150,000 703,881850 94,525,000 93,051805 501560,000 526,653,409 171,461357 1713,746 421 3,128,037,778
117,096,091 - 6,766,577 - 25,137,002 - 217,996,514 - 217,196,54

$ 78224691 § 703881850 $ 101291577 $ 93051805 $ 526,697,002 $ 526653409 $ 1936657871 $ 178746421 § 3345234292

109



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Schedule of Changes in Long-term Debt by Individual Issue

June 30, 2024

Last Paid and/or
Original Amount Date of Maturity Outstanding Issued During Matured During Refunded Outstanding
Description of Indebtedness of Issue Interest Rate Issue Date July 1, 2023 Period Period During Period  June 30, 2024
Nashville International Airport
NOTES PAYABLE
Payable through general fund
Geothermal Loan 4,300,000 2.78% 07/01/2015 06/30/2031 $ 2,592,385 § - $ (303,474) $ - $ 2,288,911
Total notes payable through general fund $ 2,592,385 $ - $ (303,474)  $ - $ 2,288,911
BONDS PAYABLE
Payable through general fund
General Airport Revenue Bond, Series 2003B $ 19,585,000 5.49 to 5.94% 11/01/2003 07/01/2033 $ 10,725,000 $ - $ (720,000) $ - $ 10,005,000
General Airport Revenue Bond, Series 2015A 91,855,000 4.0 to 5.0% 12/01/2015 07/01/2045 82,740,000 - (2,085,000) - 80,655,000
General Airport Revenue Bond, Series 20158 108,145,000 4.0 to 5.0% 12/01/2015 07/01/2045 97,690,000 - (2,515,000) - 95,175,000
Subordinate, General Airport Revenue Bond, Series 2019A 254,435,000 4.0 to 5.0% 12/17/2019 07/01/2054 254,435,000 - - - 254,435,000
Subordinate, General Airport Revenue Bond, Series 2019B 665,150,000 4.0 to0 5.0% 12/17/2019 07/01/2054 665,150,000 - - - 665,150,000
General Airport Revenue Bond, Series 2022A 94,525,000 - - - 94,525,000
General Airport Revenue Bond, Series 2022B 501,560,000 - - - 501,560,000
Total bonds payable through general fund $1,706,825,000 $ - $  (5,320,000) $ - $1,701,505,000
Payable through customer facility charges
CONRAC, Series 2018 $ 27,358,295 3.40% 05/01/2018 07/01/2028 $ 21,197,130 - (3,240,773) - $ 17,956,357
Total bonds payable through customer facility charges $ 21,197,130 $ - $ (3,240,773) $ - $ 17,956,357
OTHER DEBT
Payable through general fund
BNA Credit Facility Maximum Taxable 5.90% 01/07/2019 11/15/2024 $ 14,255,921 $ 15,823,146 $ - $ - $ 30,079,067
$ 400,000,000 Nontaxable 4.72%
Total other long-term debt payable through general fund $ 14,255921 $ 15,823,146 $ - $ - $ 30,079,067

110



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Statistical Information

This part of the Authority's annual comprehensive financial report presents
detailed information as a context for understanding what the information in
the financial statements, note disclosures, and required supplementary
information says about the government's overall financial health.

Financial Trends

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader
understand how the Authority’s financial performance and well-
being have changed over time (schedules on pages 112, 115, and
116)

Revenue Capacity

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the
Authority’s most significant revenue sources (schedules on pages
113, 114, 118, and 119)

Debt Capacity

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the
affordability of the Authority’s current levels of outstanding debt and
its ability to issue additional debt in the future (schedules on pages
115 and 117)

Demographic and Economic Information

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to
help the reader understand the environment within which the
Authority’s financial activities take place (schedules on pages 120,
121, and 122)

Operating Information
These schedules contain service data to help the reader
understand how the information in the Authority’s financial report
relates to the services it provides and the activities it performs
(schedule on page 121)



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Statistical Information

Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority Change in Net Position
As of June 30 for Each of the Years Presented

Operating Revenues:
Signatory airline

Parking

Concession

Space rental

Other

Total Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses:

Salaries, wages, and fringe benefits

Contractual senices
Materials and supplies
Utilities

Insurance

Other

Total Operating Expenses

Provision for Depreciation

Nonoperating Revenues:
Investment income (loss)
Passenger facility charges
Customer facility charges

Other nonoperating revenues
Total Nonoperating Revenues

Nonoperating Expenses:
Debt-related expenses

Other nonoperating expenses
Total Nonoperating Expenses

Capital Contributions

Increase in Net Position

Total Net Position - End of Year

(as restated) (as restated) (as restated)
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
94,965,818 $§ 59,744,223 § 54,395,946 47,495,370 $ 46,012,326 $ 55,264,548 $ 48,091,521 $ 30,671,634 30,561,053 $ 39,414,175
107,040,002 97,046,859 76,135,079 27,116,496 41,735,515 53,153,828 50,369,200 43,977,208 41,889,907 38,725,346
70,475,331 59,689,463 50,155,481 27,024,842 31,730,323 37,203,600 33,498,728 29,338,439 25,453,862 22,873,310
21,361,827 27,403,183 20,142,385 15,469,797 14,918,277 16,885,811 16,648,433 15,121,337 12,324,959 11,989,094
8,770,689 10,718,636 9,399,973 11,513,054 9,522,197 7,524,807 5,871,735 8,987,603 5,959,737 5,993,198
302,613,667 254,602,364 210,228,864 128,619,559 143,918,638 170,032,594 154,479,617 128,096,221 116,189,518 118,995,123
49,830,121 39,212,410 37,663,363 25,133,488 36,981,912 38,469,934 32,879,302 33,862,254 34,666,038 32,019,144
80,017,706 62,258,776 51,659,702 35,011,863 42,218,732 41,434,039 36,801,980 28,610,678 26,270,995 25,962,137
9,431,679 6,631,336 4,857,819 3,674,419 4,544,743 4,046,799 3,840,490 3,509,520 3,374,113 3,987,451
8,779,086 8,661,656 7,002,019 5,761,724 5,977,699 6,140,029 5,639,206 5,971,391 5,944,858 6,255,942
5,318,692 3,481,751 2,148,338 1,913,299 1,442,491 1,336,036 - - - -
5,662,165 5,619,909 9,634,384 3,040,336 5,270,166 8,287,094 6,101,266 5,610,734 5,677,177 5,451,870
159,039,449 125,865,838 112,965,625 74,535,129 96,435,743 99,713,931 85,262,244 77,564,577 75,933,181 73,676,544
117,553,933 85,872,221 79,273,711 53,383,630 49,768,473 44,497,442 39,914,221 38,979,958 37,223,834 36,534,617
62,087,598 31,040,249 (4,756,436) 1,647,674 23,723,090 7,703,826 2,149,362 730,198 333,542 359,790
44,734,128 41,531,943 35,678,032 20,253,069 26,384,555 31,416,941 28,300,013 25,982,494 23,735,979 15,703,411
17,283,641 15,494,211 12,939,489 8,365,388 11,827,674 15,094,273 14,290,386 13,561,430 12,956,481 11,692,265
39,194,429 39,271,115 28,345,443 36,580,521 12,032,061 - 130,025 86,599 614,433 396,880
163,299,796 127,337,518 72,206,528 66,846,652 73,967,380 54,215,040 44,869,786 40,360,721 37,640,435 28,152,346
79,534,325 70,545,732 50,168,719 49,322,732 37,994,910 13,267,265 10,262,472 10,299,910 8,874,244 7,610,829
- - (67,615) 2,160,638 112,570 16,170,808 548,726 (461,510) 1,234,522 302,080
79,534,325 70,545,732 50,101,104 51,483,370 38,107,480 29,438,073 10,811,198 9,838,400 10,108,766 7,912,909
33,822,954 58,983,376 29,762,836 31,356,438 21,287,199 18,178,942 15,010,688 14,552,791 28,763,278 28,056,580
143,608,710 158,639,467 69,857,788 47,420,520 54,861,521 68,777,130 78,372,428 56,626,798 59,327,450 57,079,979

$1,200,675,667 $1,057,066,957 $ 898,427,490 $ 828,569,702 $ 781,149,182 $ 726,287,661

$ 657,510,531 $ 579,138,103

$ 522,511,305

$ 463,183,855

**Fiscal 2016 ending net position was restated in fiscal 2018 for the effects of the retrospective application of GASB Statement No. 75.

Source: Audited Financial Statements of the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority.

See accompanying independent auditor's report.

112



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Statistical Information

Nashville International Airport Cost per Enplaned Passenger (CPEP) (000s)

Signatory Airlines:
Space and ramp fees
Landing fees

Total signatory revenue

Signatory enplaned

Cost per Signatory Enplaned
Non-signatory Airlines:
Space and ramp fees

Landing fees
Total non-signatory revenue

Non-signatory enplaned
Cost per Non-signatory Enplaned
Summary Analysis:

Total signatory & non-signatory
revenue

Blended Cost per Enplaned

Operating revenues (BNA only)
Total enplaned (includes charters)

Operating Revenues per Enplaned

2024

2023

2022

2021

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

$ 49,474
45,492

$ 35,209
24,535

$ 33,821
20,575

$ 25,162
22,333

$ 25,268
20,744

$ 34,170
21,094

$ 28,288
19,804

$ 12,245
18,427

$ 11,399
19,162

$ 28,886
10,528

94,966
11,537

59,744
10,649

54,396
9,106

47,495
5,119

46,012
6,703

55,264
8,306

48,092
7,349

30,672
6,571

30,561
6,021

39,414
4,926

$ 8.23

$ 561

$ 597

$ 9.28

$ 6.86

$ 6.65

$ 654

$ 467

$ 5.08

$ 8.00

$ 2,961
2,105

$ 3,278
1,801

$ 1314
859

$ 606
351

$ 866
1,450

$ 1674
2,399

$ 1,108
1,203

$ 1,747
979

$ 502
657

$ 986
1,452

5,066
289

5,079
271

2173
112

957
33

2,316
156

4,073
290

2,311
117

2,726
219

1,159
120

2,438
678

$ 17.53

$ 18.74

$ 19.40

$ 29.00

$ 14385

$ 14.04

$ 19.75

$ 1245

$ 9.66

$ 3.60

$100,032
$ 846

$ 64,823
$ 594

$ 56,569
$ 6.14

$ 48,452
$ 9.0

$ 48,328
$ 7.05

$ 59,337
$ 6.90

$ 50,403
$ 6.75

$ 33,398
$ 492

$ 31,720
$ 517

$ 41,852
$ 747

$295,958
11,826

$247,818
10,920

$205,402
9,218

$124,523
5,152

$139,513
6,859

$165,926
8,596

$150,498
7,466

$124,093
6,790

$112,946
6,141

$115,755
5,604

$ 25.03

$ 22.69

$ 22.28

$ 2417

$ 20.34

$ 19.30

$ 20.16

$ 18.28

$ 18.39

$ 20.66

Source: Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority Finance Department Records.

See accompanying independent auditor's report.

113



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Statistical Information

Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority Operating Revenues Analysis - Activity Detail (000s)
Signatory & non-signatory rate history effective July 1 of each fiscal year (unless noted below).

Signatory Rates:
Landing fee

Ramp fees

Main terminal

North concourse
South concourse
Satellite concourse

The satellite concourse opened for use during fiscal year 2024.

Non-signatory Rates:

Landing fee

Per use fee (see note below)

Ramp

Main terminal
North concourse
South concourse

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
$ 350 $ 206 $ 204 $ 223 $ 252 % 309 $ 321§ 299 §$ 325 §$ 1.65
$ 301 $ 263 $ 169 § 182 § 207 $ 223 $ 234§ 171§ 171§ 266.99
$ 138.84 $ 11655 § 111.00 $ 10829 $ 10565 $ 103.07 $ 10055 § 90.00 $ 90.00 $ 180.58
$ 13884 $ 11655 $ 111.00 $§ 10829 $ 10565 $ 103.07 $ 10055 $ 90.00 $ 90.00 $ 112.07
$ 13884 $ 11655 $ 111.00 $§ 10829 $ 10565 $ 103.07 $ 10055 $ 90.00 $ 90.00 $ 104.35
$ 13537 $ -8 -3 -3 - 8 -3 - 8 - 8 -3 -

The Authority entered into a new Signatory Airline Use and Lease Agreement effective July 1, 2023.

$ 437 $ 354 §$ 357 $ 369 $ 384 $ 429 § 423 § 374 $ 4.07 $ 4.23
$ 653 § 500 $ 500 $ 544 $ 338 $ 430 § 355 §$ 351 § 3.66 N/A
$ 445 § 329 §$ 211 $ 228 $ 259 §$ 279 $ 293 §$ 214§ 214 § 397.15
$ 216.71 $ 14569 $ 13875 $ 13536 $ 13206 $ 12884 $ 12569 $ 11250 $ 11250 $ 312.16
$ 216.71 $ 14569 $ 13875 $ 13536 $ 13206 $ 12884 §$ 12569 $ 11250 $ 11250 $ 113.74
$ 216.71 $ 14569 $ 13875 $ 13536 $ 13206 $ 12884 $ 12569 $ 11250 $ 11250 $ 121.36

Per the airline agreement effective July 1, 2023, the non-signatory airlines may be charged on a per use fee per departing seat. The per use fee covers the use

of the ticket counter, baggage make up, baggage claim and gate usage.

Public Parking Analysis:

Parking lot revenue (000)
Spaces available

Revenue per Space

Garages
Terminal Lot A
Economy LotB
Economy Lot C
BNA Express
Valet

Overflow

Public Parking Spaces

2024

2023

2022

2021

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

$ 107,040 $ 97,047 $ 76,135 $ 27,116

$ 41736 $ 53,154 § 50,369

$ 43977 $ 41890 $ 38,725

16,335 15,432 13,943 13,968 13,377 11,169 11,172 12,203 14,041 12,811
$ 6,553 $ 6,289 $§ 5460 $ 1941 $ 3120 $ 4,759 $ 4509 $ 3,604 $ 2983 $ 3,023
6,526 6,278 4,789 4,814 4,192 2,201 2,318 2,369 2,369 2,369
1,285 1,125 1,125 1,125 1,125 1,034 830 1,810 2,060 2,060
2,124 2,124 2,124 2,124 2,124 2,124 2,124 2,124 2,124 2,124
3,495 3,625 3,625 3,625 3,625 3,499 3,625 3,625 3,690 3,690
1,230 1,230 1,230 1,230 1,230 1,230 1,230 1,230 1,230 -
1,675 1,050 1,050 1,050 1,081 1,081 1,045 1,045 1,152 1,152
- - - - - - - - 1,416 1,416
16,335 15,432 13,943 13,968 13,377 11,169 11,172 12,203 14,041 12,811

Econony Lot B was closed for a portion of fiscal years 2020 and 2021.

Economy Lot C was closed for a portion of fiscal years 2020 and 2021.

BNA Express was closed in the last quarter of fiscal year 2020 and remains closed to incoming traffic. It is now used for Valet/Overflow parking as needed.
The onsite hotel parking garage contains 150 parking spaces, which are not included in the Revenue per Space analysis.

Source: Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority Finance Department Records.

See accompanying independent auditor's report.

114



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Statistical Information

Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority Schedule of Net Capital Assets
At June 30 for Each Year Presented

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Land and nondepreciable assets $ 113265169 $ 111,226,323 $ 108,112,921 $ 107,554,524 $ 105,115818 $ 97,169,587 $ 97,169,587 $ 96,968,771 $ 96,968,770 $ 96,968,770
Construction in progress 212,924,038 358,877,117 448,196,055 301,079,238 139,067,964 233,273,255 153,579,003 72,814,778 42,890,290 62,125,107
Total capital assets not being depreciated 326,189,207 470,103,440 556,308,976 408,633,762 244,183,782 330,442,842 250,748,590 169,783,549 139,859,060 159,093,877
Infrastructure 815,353,882 728,661,124 693,670,381 618,570,710 613,663,559 588,779,486 576,918,742 561,704,513 541,464,084 487,401,089
Buildings and building improvements 1,128,498,584 952,350,604 764,568,968 718,298,100 841,349,251 422,874,974 315,970,461 298,911,276 264,629,088 258,305,083
Equipment, furniture and fixtures 721,348,402 567,644,400 392,443,748 393,243,815 194,396,606 183,211,887 182,051,284 165,348,939 129,795,510 114,296,965
Subscription leases 3,777,401 2,244,691 698,216 - - - - - - -

Total capital assets being depreciated 2,668,978,269  2,250,900,819 1,851,381,313 1,730,112,625 1,649,409,416 1,194,866,347 1,074,940,487 1,025,964,728 935,888,682 860,003,137
Less accumulated depreciation (997,534,239) (880,733,537) (795,262,079) (717,693,502) (668,885,544) (627,078,709)  (615,032,739)  (578,686,474) (539,922,435) (503,403,886)
Net Capital Assets $1,997,633,237 $1,840,270,722 $1,612,428,210 $1,421,052,885 $1,224,707,654 $ 898,230,480 $ 710,656,338 $ 617,061,803 $535,825,307 $515,693,128

Ratios of Outstanding Revenue Bond Debt as a Percentage of Total Revenue Bond Debt
At June 30 for Each Year Presented

2024 % 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Series 2003B Revenue Bonds $ 10,005000 06% $ 10725000 $ 11405000 $ 12,050,000 $ 13,235000 $ 13,235,000 $ 14,785,000 $ 14,785000 $ 14,785000 $ 15,250,000
Series 2008A Revenue Bonds - N/A - - - - 3,800,000 7,400,000 10,800,000 12,000,000 12,200,000
Series 2009A Revenue Bonds - N/A - - - - 7,970,000 12,160,000 16,180,000 20,040,000 23,755,000
Series 2010A Revenue Bonds - N/A - - - - - - 3,835,000 7,525,000 11,085,000
Series 2010 CONRAC Revenue Bonds - N/A - - - 3,000,000 5,840,000 8,535,000 56,695,000 58,980,000 61,070,000
Series 2018 CONRAC Revenue Bonds 17,956,357  1.0% 21,197,130 24,329,910 27,358,295 27,358,295 27,358,295 27,358,295 - - -
Series 2010B Revenue Bonds - N/A - - - - - - - - 16,475,000
Series 2010C Revenue Bonds - N/A - - - - - - - 1,740,000 4,340,000
Series 2015A Revenue Bonds 80,655,000 4.7% 82,740,000 84,745,000 86,655,000 88,475,000 90,205,000 91,855,000 91,855,000 91,855,000 -
Series 2015B Revenue Bonds 95,175,000 5.5% 97,690,000 100,085,000 102,365,000 104,535,000 106,615,000 108,145,000 108,145,000 108,145,000 -
Series 2019A Revenue Bonds 254,435,000 14.8% 254,435,000 254,435,000 254,435,000 254,435,000 - - - - -
Series 2019B Revenue Bonds 665,150,000 38.7% 665,150,000 665,150,000 665,150,000 665,150,000 - - - - -
Series 2022A Revenue Bonds 94,525,000 5.5% 94,525,000 - - - - - - - -
Series 2022B Revenue Bonds 501,560,000 29.2% 501,560,000 - - - - - - - -
Total Revenue Bonds 1,719,461,357 100.0%  1,728,022,130 1,140,149,910 1,148,013,295 1,156,188,295 255,023,295 270,238,295 302,295,000 315,070,000 144,175,000
Plus unamortized premium 217,196,514 N/A 224,666,851 197,994,759 204,345,671 210,686,583 23,016,511 24,158,916 25,296,995 26,648,869 787,902
Net Outstanding Debt $1,936,657,871  N/A  $1,952,688,981 $1,338,144,669 $1,352,358,966 $ 1,366,874,878 $ 278,039,806 $ 294,397,211 $327,591,995 $341,718,869 $ 144,962,902
Enplanements 11,826,204 N/A 10,919,899 9,217,710 5,151,658 6,858,395 8,596,307 7,466,332 6,790,099 6,141,092 5,604,148
Net Outstanding Debt per Enplanement $ 163.76 N/A § 17882 $ 14517 $ 26251 $ 199.30 $ 3234 $ 3943 $ 4825 $ 55.65 $ 25.87

Source: Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority Finance Department Records.

See accompanying independent auditor's report.

115



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Statistical Information

Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority Net Position Analysis (000s)
At June 30 for Each Year Presented

(as restated) (as restated)

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Net Position:
Net investment in capital assets $ 261,220 $ 278592 $ 363,710 $ 376,713 $ 397,961 $ 507,479 $ 502,945 $ 441,690 $ 419,177 $ 387,595
Restricted 494,457 469,197 342,088 315,174 307,948 154,036 80,172 80,759 70,955 56,559
Unrestricted net position (deficit) 444,999 309,278 192,629 136,683 75,240 64,772 74,394 56,689 32,379 19,030
Total $ 1,200,676 $ 1,057,067 $ 898,427 $ 828,570 $ 781,149 $ 726,287 $ 657,511 $ 579,138 $ 522,511 $ 463,184

Source: Audited Financial Statements of the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority.

See accompanying independent auditor's report.

116



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Statistical Information

Nashville International Airport (Senior Debt)
Revenue Coverage (000s)

2024 2023 2022

2021 2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

Operating Revenue

Less Operating Expenses

$295,958 $247,818 $205,402 $124,523 $139,513 $165,926 $150,498 $124,093 $112,946 $ 115,755

(excludes depreciation) (155,817) (119,102) (108,151) (68,010) (88,803) (97,743) (83,088) (74,999) (74,207) (70,914)
Add Investment Income (Loss) 60,673 30,413 (4,934) 1,635 23,640 7677 2,148 728 331 357
COVERAGE CASH FLOW $200,814 $159,129 $ 92,317 $ 58,148 §$ 74,350 $ 75860 $ 69,558 $ 49,822 $ 39,070 §$ 45,198
INTEREST $ 8517 $ 5481 $ 3941 § 3859 $ 7876 $ 11920 $ 6,787 $ 3420 $ 6672 $ 2246
PRINCIPAL 3,517 2,406 2,204 1,900 3,886 6,072 7,325 3,915 3,430 19,740
TOTAL NET DEBT SERVICE $ 12,034 $ 7887 $ 6,145 $ 5759 $ 11,762 $ 17,992 $ 14112 $ 7,335 $ 10,102 $ 21,986
DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE* 1668.7% 2017.6% 1502.3% 1009.7% 632.1% 421.6% 492.9% 679.2% 386.8% 205.6%
Nashville International Airport (Senior/Subordinate Debt)

Revenue Coverage (000s)

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Operating Revenue $295958 $247,818 $205402 $124,523 $139,513 $165926 $150,498 $124,093 $112,946 $ 115,755
Less Operating Expenses

(excludes depreciation) (155,817) (119,102) (108,151) (68,010) (88,803) (97,743) (83,088) (74,999) (74,207) (70,914)
Add Investment Income (Loss) 60,673 30,413 (4,934) 1,635 23,640 7677 2,148 728 331 357
COVERAGE CASH FLOW $200,814 $159,129 $ 92,317 $ 58,148 §$ 74,350 $ 75860 $ 69,558 $ 49,822 $ 39,070 $ 45,198
INTEREST $ 15700 $ 17,676 $ 16,064 $ 9449 § 9734 $ 11920 $§ 6,787 $ 3420 $ 6672 $ 2,246
PRINCIPAL 3,517 2,406 2,204 1,900 4,026 6,072 7,325 3,915 3,430 19,740
TOTAL NET DEBT SERVICE $ 19217 $ 20,082 $ 18268 $ 11,349 § 13,760 $ 17,992 $§ 14,112 $ 7,335 $ 10,102 $ 21,986
DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE* 1045.0% 792.4% 505.3% 512.4% 540.3% 421.6% 492.9% 679.2% 386.8% 205.6%
CFC -2010 & 2018 CONRAC Revenue Coverage (000s)

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Customer Facility Charges $ 17,284 $ 15494 § 12939 $ 8365 $ 11828 $ 15094 $ 14290 $ 13,561 $ 12,956 $ 11,692
Less Operating Expenses

(excludes depreciation) (1,883) (1,727) (3,045) (1,715) (1,607) (1,681) (1,537) (1,585) (1,500) (1,475)
Add Investment Income 3,441 1,488 70 152 289 261 45 34 21 12
COVERAGE CASH FLOW $ 18,842 $ 15255 $ 9,964 $ 6,802 $ 10,510 $ 13,674 $ 12,798 $ 12,010 $ 11477 $ 10,229
INTEREST $ 562 $ 674 $ 784 $ 1029 $ 1,186 $ 944 $§ 3282 $ 3571 $ 3673 $ 3,759
PRINCIPAL 3,351 3,243 3,134 3,000 2,840 2,695 20,802 2,480 2,285 2,090
TOTAL NET DEBT SERVICE $ 3913 $ 3917 $§ 3918 $ 4,029 $§ 4026 $ 3639 $ 24084 $ 6,051 $ 5958 $ 5849
DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE 481.5% 389.5% 254.3% 168.8% 261.1% 375.8% 53.1% 198.5% 192.6% 174.9%

* Coverage calculations presented in this schedule differ from those reported by the Senior Bond Resolution and the Subordinate Bond Resulution as shown in the Annual

Disclosure Report.

Net debt service is total debt service less PFC- and relief grant-funded debt service, and capitalized interest.

Source: Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority Finance Department Records.

See accompanying independent auditor's report.

117



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Statistical Information

Nashville International Airport Passenger Enplanements Market Share

% of

Total 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Signatory Airlines:
Alaska Airlines 1.3% 156,015 113,995 102,762 64,928 87,807 115,960 87,309 58,533 41,233 -
Allegiant Air 3.9% 464,553 407,726 252,591 136,565 115,305 - - - - -
American Airlines (A) 14.2% 1,677,822 1,569,654 1,471,530 725,481 1,070,173 1,348,801 1,235,501 1,176,043 1,156,141 454,897
American Eagle (A) 0.0% - - - - - - - - - 218,520
Continental Express d/b/a ExpressJet  0.0% - - - - - - - - - 223,995
Delta Air Lines Inc. 11.9% 1,409,111 1,336,379 1,105,082 503,867 971,443 1,278,183 1,138,922 988,137 926,454 623,480
Frontier Airlines 1.0% 123,100 163,960 118,912 73,885 126,000 177,341 146,184 9,979 81,596
JetBlue 1.4% 163,373 228,078 149,302 44,914 99,316 138,189 130,541 138,985 22,570 -
Southwest Airlines 51.6% 6,103,524 5,575,049 4,945,583 3,091,692 3,571,632 4,517,284 4,009,180 3,655,441 3,426,391 3,114,815
Spirit Airlines 4.5% 529,431 417,971 268,835 171,669 122,176 - - - - -
United Airlines (B) 7.7% 909,899 835,968 691,107 306,115 539,013 730,243 600,988 543,704 448,396 6,400
US Airways (A) 0.0% - - - - - - - - - 202,656
Subtotal 97.6% 11,536,828 10,648,780 9,105,704 5,119,116 6,702,865 8,306,001 7,348,625 6,570,822 6,021,185 4,926,359

Certain previously Non-Signatory carriers now fly consolidated under multiple Signatory carriers. American Affiliates (A); United Affiliates (B).

FY23 enplanements were amended down in FY24 due to an error found after the enplanements were published.

Non-signatory Airlines:

Air Canada 0.2% 27,715 50,396 5,854 - - - - - - -
Air Canada d/b/a Jazz Air 0.0% 4,765 7,807 16,356 - 24,745 292 174 1,034 371 229
Air Georgian dba Air Canada 0.0% - - - - 8,549 45,204 44,229 42,739 29,589 26,056
Air Wisconsin (A) 0.0% - - - - - - - - - 75,888
Allegiant Air 0.0% - - - - - 80,170 6,136 - - -
British Airways 0.6% 65,979 55,208 11,577 - 32,684 43,289 8,671 - - -
Contour Airlines 0.2% 22,889 - 20,091 9,741 12,303 14,290 10,432 8,038 - -
Delta/Chautauqua 0.0% - 26,363 - - - - - - - -
Frontier Airlines 0.0% - - - - - - - 130,449 71,840 -
Mesa Airlines (A) 0.0% - - - - - - - - - 43,348
Republic 0.0% - - - - - - - - - 77,117
Sun Country 0.4% 45,661 36,877 25,007 16,868 - - - - - -
Various/Trans State Airlines (A) 0.0% - - - - - - - - - 26,324
United/Skywest (B) 0.0% - - - - - - - - - 37,261
Westjet Airlines 0.5% 54,747 35,979 16,487 - 8,848 23,559 11,591 2,252 - -
Westjet /Encore 0.0% - - - - 19,673 22,339 22,210 20,479 1,115 -
All others (includes Charters) 0.6% 67,620 58,489 16,634 5,933 48,728 61,163 14,264 14,286 16,992 391,566
Subtotal 2.5% 289,376 271,119 112,006 32,542 155,530 290,306 117,707 219,277 119,907 677,789
Total 100.0% 11,826,204 10,919,899 9,217,710 5,151,658 6,858,395 8,596,307 7,466,332 6,790,099 6,141,092 5,604,148

Source: Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority Finance Department Records.

See accompanying independent auditor's report.

118



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Statistical Information

Nashville International Airport Passenger Airline Landed Weights (000's)

% of
Total 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Signatory Airline:

Alaska Airlines 1.2% 164,433 110,669 100,654 93,408 104,358 129,001 99,354 55,390 43,248 -
Allegiant Air 3.9% 525,477 496,404 317,469 248,448 145,579 - - - - -
American Airlines (A) 141% 1,908,020 1,779,567 1,693,950 945,038 1,356,238 1,549,447 1,415,662 1,352,169 1,332,377 523,970
American Eagle (A) 0.0% - - - - - - - - - 261,251
Continental Express d/b/a ExpressJet (B) 0.0% - - - - - - - - - 219,248
Delta Air Lines Inc. (B) 11.3% 1,525,552 1,461,428 1,260,848 871,462 1,147,250 1,427,507 1,287,034 1,148,263 1,051,357 693,222
Frontier Airlines 1.0% 135,636 172,070 118,797 82,863 130,207 166,271 140,496 8,784 - 85,862
JetBlue 1.4% 194,172 294,044 183,497 71,669 126,152 156,958 147,967 152,321 23,986 -
Southwest Airlines 51.5% 6,955,019 6,168,540 5,456,214 4,463,892 4,564,368 4,947,577 4,391,669 4,065,313 3,807,965 3,600,935
Spirit Airlines 4.1% 557,023 434,883 288,542 201,041 167,604 - - - - -
United Airlines (C) 7.7% 1,045,775 992,581 813,331 442,277 707,738 859,945 683,646 614,443 485,586 15,306
US Airways (A) 0.0% - - - - - - - - - 230,945
Subtotal 96.2% 13,011,107 11,910,186 10,233,302 7,420,098 8,449,494 9,236,706 8,165,828 7,396,683 6,744,519 5,630,739
Certain previously Non-Signatory carriers now fly consolidated under multiple Signatory carriers. American Affiliates (A); Delta Affiliates (B); United Affiliates (C).

Non-signatory Airlines:

Air Canada 0.2% 5,635 29,226 9,204 - - - - - - -
Air Canada d/b/a Jazz Air 0.3% 31,451 38,491 20,752 - 32,799 1,840 2,752 2,987 2,583 2,111
Air Georgian dba Air Canada 0.0% - - - - 8,997 48,594 47,422 47,610 33,506 30,759
Air Wisconsin (A) 0.0% - - - - - - - - - 85,865
Express Jet/Delta (B) 0.0% - - - - - - - - - 57,364
British Airways 1.0% 132,510 128,525 25,200 - 85,225 101,865 15,960 - - -
Compass Airlines (B) 0.0% - - - - - - - - - 2,296
Contour Airlines 0.5% 69,978 74,160 52,296 31,201 - - - - - -
Delta, Midwest Connect 0.0% - - - - - - - - - 85
Frontier Airlines 0.0% - - - - - - - 126,550 70,424 -
Mesa Airlines 0.0% - - - - - - - - - 45,879
Pinnacle/Endeavor Airlines 0.0% - - - - - - - - - 107,398
Republic 0.0% - - - - - - - - - 183,157
Trans States Airlines 0.0% - - - - - - - - - 25,662
Sun Country 0.8% 64,859 107,159 51,273 34,377 - - - - - -
SkyWest 0.0% 5,311 - - - - - - - - 157,259
WestJet/Encore 0.3% 54,478 34,373 19,363 405 - - - - - -
All Others (includes charters) 0.7% 141,460 91,827 49,861 29,048 175,116 262,979 102,944 94,068 46,700 124,323
Subtotal 3.8% 505,682 503,761 227,949 95,031 302,137 415,278 169,078 271,215 153,213 822,158

Total Passenger Carrier Weight (000s) _100.0% 13,516,789 12,413,947 10,461,251 7,515,129 8,751,631 9,651,984 8,334,906 7,667,898 6,897,732 6,452,897

Cargo & misc. carrier weight (000s) 306,770 504,127 582,109 354,109 276,583 300,413 305,994 285,758 305,642 304,279
Total Weight All Aircraft (000s) 13,823,559 12,918,074 11,043,360 7,869,238 9,028,214 9,952,397 8,640,900 7,953,656 7,203,374 6,757,176
% Passenger Carrier Weight 98% 96% 95% 96% 97% 97% 96% 96% 96% 95%

Differences between total gross landed weight summarized here and carrier-specific activity are attributable to adjustments made during the year. Charter activity continues at BNA. However,
much of the supporting services are reported by airlines with their scheduled operating activity.

Source: Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority Finance Department Records.

See accompanying independent auditor's report
119



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Statistical Information

Major Tenants at Nashville International Airport and John C. Tune Airport

Signatory Carriers:
Alaska Airlines
Allegiant Air
American Airlines
Delta Air Lines
Frontier Airlines
JetBlue

Southwest Airlines
Spirit Airlines

United Airlines

Signatory Cargo Carriers:
Federal Express

Non-signatory Carriers:
Air Canada / Jazz Aviation
Air Canada Rouge
Air Georgian
Avelo Airlines
Breeze Airways
British Airways
Commutair
Contour Airlines
Endeavor Air
Envoy

Flair Airlines
GoJet Airlines
Mesa Airlines
Republic Airways
SkyWest Airlines
Sun Country

Swift Air
VivaAerobus
WestJet

WestJet Encore

Non-signatory Cargo Carriers:

Air Transport Int'l.
Airborne Express
Amazon Prime
Atlas Air

DHL

Kalitta Air
Mountain Air Cargo
Silkway West
Southern Air

Fixed-base Operators:
Atlantic Aviation
Signature Flight Support

Private Hangar Rentals:
Nashville Hangar

Owl Hill Holdings

SATA, Inc.

Skywest

The Martin Companies

Ground Handlers:

Airport Terminal Services (ATS)
Delta Global Services (DGS)
dnata

Dynair/Swissport

Menzies Aviation

PrimeFlight Aviation

Trego Dugan

United Ground Express (GSE)

Other Airport Tenants:

121 @ BNA

Above and Beyond

Aeronautical Radio / Rockwell Collins
Aircraft Services International

Airline Maint. Svcs

Embraer Aircraft Maintenance
Federal Aviation Administration
Genesco, Inc

Graphic Ticket & Systems

Marisol

Metro Air Services

Metro Government of Nashville and Davidson County
Miller Transfer

Monell's at the Manor

Simino Electric

State of Tennessee

Swissport

TN Aeronautics Commission

TN Dept of Transportation
Transportation Security Administration
US Customs Border Patrol

US DEA

US Govt Weather Service

US Postal Service

Other Terminal Tenants:

In-Ter-Space Services dba Clear Channel Airports
Concourse Communications Nashville (Boingo Wireless)
Fraport Tennessee

Ready Credit Corporation

Smarte Carte

Van Vending Service

A&M Group

Air Ventures

Dalmation Creative Agency

Delaware North Companies Travel Hospitality Services
Fifth Third Bank

Heartland Hospitality

Hissho International dba Hissho Sushi
Hudson-Nash-F&B JV dba Hudson Nonstop
InMotion BNA-C

Lily Palmer Floral Design

Minute Suites BNA

MRG Nashville

Music City Benchmark Concessions

Music City Retailers (Hudson)

Nash Nails MRG

Nashville Gourmet Brands BNA Group dba Green Beans Coffee

NewZoom

Pyramids of Nashville, dba Pyramids Cafe
Smokey Mountain Provisions (Hudson)
Stellar DCA SLA Nashville

Time for a Shine

Transfare 11 LLC

Travelers Post USA LLC

Tricopian dba Fuel Rod

ASG Nashville

DNC BNA Partners

Host TRA Nashville FB Il

Newslink of Nashville LLC

Ole Red Nashville Airport dba The Opry Shop
Ole Red Nashville Airport dba Ole Red
Tennessee F&B

TRNA Nashville

120

Vehicle Parking:
ABM Parking
LAZ Parking

Rental Car:

Avis

Budget

Dollar

Enterprise

Hertz

Payless

Sixt

Thrifty

Vanguard (Alamo/National)

Ground Transportation:
Hotel Shuttles

Taxicab Companies
Limousine Companies
TNCs (Uber, Lyft)

Tenants at John C. Tune Airport:

Contour Flight Support dba/Corporate
Flight Management

Helistar

Plane Hangar

Mid America Jet

Deez-Nuts LLC

Lawrence Hangar LLC

V3 Aviation LLC

Aero Management Group LLC

JetRight Properties LLC

Metropolitan Nashville Police Department



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Statistical Information

Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority Staffing - Full-time Equivalents

Administration
Engineering & Maintenance
Operations, Safety, Security

Total Authority
Full-time Equivalents

Year

2024
2023
2022
2021
2020
2019
2018
2017
2016

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
164.0 114.0 107.0 91.0 109.0 100.0 89.5 87.5 89.5 89.5 96.5
136.0 114.0 105.0 107.0 113.0 98.5 72.0 75.0 72.0 72.0 76
130.0 114.0 107.0 108.0 110.0 112.5 134 126.5 125.5 127.0 129
430.0 342.0 319.0 306.0 332.0 311.0 295.5 289.0 287.0 288.5 301.5
Nashville Metropolitan Statistical Area Average Unemployment Rate
Nashville MSA* Tennessee United States

3.0% 3.0% 4.1%

3.0% 3.2% 3.6%

3.4% 3.3% 3.6%

4.60% 4.9% 5.9%

10.20% 9.60% 11.10%

2.60% 3.40% 3.70%

2.71% 3.45% 3.93%

3.30% 4.20% 4.52%

3.94% 5.07% 4.90%

4.96% 6.17% 5.30%

2015

Source: U.S Bureau of Labor Statistics (http://data.bls.gov)

Nashville - Davidson - Murfreesboro Metropolitan Statistical Area Population

Year
1970
1980
1990
2000
2010

2020

Nashville MSA*

699,144

850,505

985,026

1,23

1,311

1,589,934

2,118,223

Tennessee

3,923,687

4,591,120

4,877,185

5,689,283

6,346,105

6,910,840

United States

203,211,926

226,545,805

248,709,873

281,421,906

308,745,538

331,449,281

* The Nashville MSA consists of Cannon, Cheatham, Davidson, Dickson, Hickman, Macon, Robertson, Rutherford, Smith, Sumner, Trousdale,
Williamson and Wilson Counties.

121



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Statistical Information

Nashville Area Top 25 Employers* (Ranked by Number of Local Employees)

2024

©oOoO~NOOO A~ WN -

Staff Employer

32,081 Vanderbilt University Medical Center and Monroe Carroll Jr.

27,694 HCA Healthcare Inc.
27,308 State of Tennessee
14,141 U.S. Government

11,000 Nissan North America Inc.

10,790 Metropolitan Nashville-Davidson County Public Schools
10,563 Metropolitan Government of Nashville and Davidson County

9,104 Ascension Saint Thomas
8,400 Amazon
8,100 The Kroger Co.

7,441 Rutherford County Government and Board of Education
7,200 Williamson County Public Schools and County Government

7,090 Vanderbilt University

5,143 Community Health Systems Inc.

5,100 Clarksville - Montgomery County School System
4,675 Sumner County Government and Public Schools
4,521 Western Express

3,500 Fresh Hospitality

3,400 Asurion

3,197 Cracker Barrel Old Country Store Inc.

3,115 Dollar General Corp.

3,083 United Healthcare

3,000 National Healthcare Corporation

2,824 Bridgestone Americas Inc.

2,607 YMCA of Middle Tennessee Inc.

*Ranked by number of Middle Tennessee employees as of June 7, 2024 publication.
Source: Nashville Business Journal

Middle Tennessee Largest 25 Public Companies**

2023

©CoOo~NOOOPA~WN -

2022 Employer
1 HCA Healthcare Inc.
2 Dollar General Corp.
3 Delek US Holdings Inc.
4 Tractor Supply Co.
5 Community Health Systems Inc.
7 Alliance Bernstein Holding
11 Cracker Barrel Old Country Store Inc.
10 Kaiser Aluminum Corp.
12 Brookdale Senior Living Inc.
13 Acadia Healthcare
14 Surgery Partners Inc.
8 Louisiana-Pacific Corp.
15 Genesco Inc.
17 Ryman Hospitality Properties Inc.
9 Clover Health Investments Corp.
16 CoreCivic Inc.
18 Pinnacle Financial Partners Inc.
N/A Atmus Filtration Technologies Inc.
21 Healthcare Realty Trust Inc.
19 National HealthCare Corp.
20 Delek Logistics Partners
22 HireRight Holdings Corp.
26 Shoals Technologies Group Inc.
23 FB Financial Corp.
24 Kirkland's Inc.

**Ranked by 2023 Revenue as of July 5, 2024 publication
Source: Nashville Business Journal

122

Headquarters
Nashville
Nashville
Nashville
Washington, DC
Franklin
Nashville
Nashville
Nashville
Seattle, WA
Cincinnati, OH
Murfreesboro
Franklin
Nashville
Franklin
Clarksville
Gallatin
Nashville
Nashville
Nashville
Lebanon, TN
Goodlettsville
Minnetonka, MN
Murfreesboro
Nashville
Nashville

Headquarters
Nashville
Goodlettsville
Brentwood
Brentwood
Franklin
Nashville
Lebanon
Franklin
Brentwood
Franklin
Brentwood
Nashville
Nashville
Nashville
Franklin
Brentwood
Nashville
Nashville
Nashville
Murfreesboro
Brentwood
Nashville
Portland
Nashville
Brentwood

2023

© T OoONOOAWN

12
10
13
15
14
17
16
18
19
29
22
25
21
20
25

Staff
30,324
27,694
26,431
13,459
11,000
10,513

9,852
8,900
7,200
8,100
7,186
7,211
5,947
5,004
5,100
4,675
4,743
3,500
3,400
2,352
3,000
2,500
3,028
3,037
2,500



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Annual Disclosure Report

This section contains the following subsection:

Annual Disclosure Report



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Annual Disclosure Report

INTRODUCTION

This Continuing Disclosure Section (this “Report”) has been prepared, and is being filed, by the Metropolitan
Nashville Airport Authority (the "Authority") in connection with its annual continuing disclosure obligations
for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2024, as an "obligated person” (as defined in Rule 15¢2-12 of the
Securities Exchange Commission (the "Rule") promulgated under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended), as set forth in the continuing disclosure undertakings relating to: (a) the Outstanding Senior
Bonds (as defined herein) and (b) the Outstanding Subordinate Bonds (as defined herein). This Report
reflects certain annual financial information and operating data of the Authority reported as of June 30,
2024, except where expressly indicated otherwise. Unless otherwise defined herein, capitalized terms used
in this Report shall have the meanings set forth in: (a) Resolution No. 91-09 adopted by the Board of
Commissioners of the Authority (the “Board”) on August 15, 1991, as amended and supplemented from
time to time (the "Senior Bond Resolution") (b) Resolution No. 2019-15 adopted by the Board on October
16, 2019 as amended and supplemented from time to time (the “Subordinate Bond Resolution”) and (c) the
final Official Statements relating to the Outstanding Senior Bonds and the Outstanding Subordinate Bonds,
which are available on the Electronic Municipal Market Access ("EMMA®") website operated by the
Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, which can be accessed at http://emma.msrb.org, and using the
Base CUSIP Number of 592190, as applicable. The Authority will file its Annual Comprehensive Financial
Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 (the "2024 ACFR," which includes this Report) as the "2024
Annual Filing" on EMMA®, which can be accessed at http://emma.msrb.org.

Miscellaneous; Forward-Looking Statements

The 2024 ACFR is not, and nothing in it should be construed as, an offer, invitation or recommendation in
respect of any of the Authority’s debt or securities, or an offer, invitation or recommendation to sell, or a
solicitation of an offer to buy the Authority’s debt in any jurisdiction. The matters discussed in the 2024
Annual Filing and all other documents issued by the Authority are for informational purposes only, and
holders of the Authority’s debt, potential investors and/or other interested parties should not rely on such
information as their sole source of information about matters related to the Authority’s debt or in making an
investment decision with respect to the Authority’s existing debt or securities or any other debt or securities
which may be offered by the Authority. Neither the 2024 ACFR nor anything in it shall form the basis of any
contract or commitment. By the filing of the 2024 ACFR, the Authority makes no recommendations and is
not giving any investment advice as to any of the Authority’s debt or securities. In no event shall the
Authority be liable for any use by any party of, for any decision made or action taken by any party in reliance
upon, or for any inaccuracies or errors in, or omissions from, the information contained herein and such
information may not be relied upon in evaluating the merits of holding, purchasing or selling any of the
Authority’s debt or securities. The information contained in the 2024 ACFR, including any forecast financial
information, if any, should not be considered as advice or a recommendation to holders and potential
investors in relation to holding, purchasing or selling any such securities. Before acting on any information
contained herein holders and potential investors should consider the appropriateness of the information
having regard to these matters, any relevant offering document and in particular, holders and potential
purchasers should seek independent financial and/or legal advice.

Certain of the information in the 2024 ACFR has been compiled from sources believed to be reliable, certain
of which has not been independently verified. No representation or warranty, express or implied, is provided
in relation to the fairness, accuracy, correctness, completeness or reliability of the information, opinions or
conclusions contained or expressed herein.

The 2024 ACFR may contain “forward-looking” statements that involve risks, uncertainties, and
assumptions. If the risks or uncertainties ever materialize or the assumptions prove incorrect, the results
may differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward looking statements. Accordingly, the
Authority cautions holders and potential purchasers not to place undue reliance on these statements. All
statements other than the statements of historical fact could be deemed forward-looking and should not be
considered a comprehensive representation of the Authority’s expected operational or financial
performance. All opinions, estimates, projections, forecasts, and valuations are preliminary, indicative and
are subject to change without notice.

124



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Annual Disclosure Report

The information in the 2024 ACFR is current as of the dates set forth herein, as applicable, and there may
be events that have occurred or will occur subsequent to such dates that would have a material adverse
effect on the operational or financial information that is presented herein and in the 2024 ACFR. The
Authority has not undertaken any obligation to update any information in the 2024 Annual Filing. Any
financial data and other information provided in the 2024 ACFR are not warranted as to completeness or
accuracy and are subject to change without notice.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

125



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Annual Disclosure Report

SENIOR BONDS

Outstanding Senior Bonds

The following is the annual financial information and operating data required under the Authority’s
continuing disclosure undertakings with respect to the following Senior Bonds outstanding under the Senior
Bond Resolution as of the date of this Report (the “Outstanding Senior Bonds”):

(a) $19,585,000 Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority Airport Improvement Revenue
Bonds, Series 2003B (Taxable) (the “Series 2003B Bonds”);

(b) $91,855,000 Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority Airport Improvement Revenue
Bonds, Series 2015A (Non-AMT) (the “Series 2015A Bonds”); and

(c) $108,145,000 Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority Airport Improvement Revenue
Bonds, Series 2015B (AMT) (the “Series 2015B Bonds,” and together with the Series
2015A Bonds, the “Series 2015 Bonds”).

(d) $94,525,000 Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority Airport Improvement Revenue
Bonds, Series 2022A (Non-AMT) (the “Series 2022A Bonds”); and

(e) $501,560,000 Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority Airport Improvement Revenue
Bonds, Series 2022B (AMT) (the “Series 2022B Bonds,” and together with the Series
2022A Bonds, the “Series 2022 Bonds”).

Enplaned Passenger Traffic

Annual Enplanement Activity. In connection with the Authority’s continuing disclosure undertaking relating
to the Series 2015 Bonds (the “2015 Bonds Undertaking”), the following table presents the annual
enplanements at the Airport by Signatory Airlines, Non-Signatory Airlines, and all Airlines for the past ten
Fiscal Years.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

126



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Annual Disclosure Report

Nashville International Airport
Annual Enplanement Activity
Fiscal Years 2015 - 2024

Fiscal Year Signatory Airlines Non-Signatory Airlines Total

2015 4,926,359 677,789 5,604,148
2016 6,021,185 119,907 6,141,092
2017 6,570,822 219,277 6,790,099
2018 7,348,625 117,707 7,466,332
2019 8,321,691 274,616 8,596,307
2020m 6,702,865 155,530 6,858,395
2021m 5,119,116 32,542 5,151,658
2022 9,105,704 112,006 9,217,710
2023@ 10,648,780 271,119 10,919,899
2024 11,536,828 289,376 11,826,204

™ As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the disruption in aviation activity and passenger traffic had a significant effect on
annual enplanement activity at the Airport in Fiscal Years 2020 and 2021.
@ FY23 enplanements were amended down in FY24 due to an error found after the enplanements were published.

Source: The Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority (2024 ACFR).

Note: In the table entitled “Annual Enplanement Activity,” the categorical descriptions of “Signatory Airlines” and “Non-Signatory
Airlines” were entitled “Signatory Carriers” and “Non-Signatory Carriers,” respectively, in the final official statement relating
to the Series 2015 Bonds.

Monthly Enplanement Activity. In connection with the 2015 Bonds Undertaking, the following table presents
the monthly enplanement activity at the Airport for the past five Fiscal Years.

Nashville International Airport
Monthly Enplanement Activity
Fiscal Years 2020 — 2024

2020 2021M 2022 2023? 2024
July 828,530 309,036 840,374 915,482 1,032,418
August 790,318 304,939 758,751 873,424 940,659
September 762,322 330,652 717,418 952,606 970,787
October 875,797 390,250 832,185 1,026,284 1,103,979
November 751,439 356,369 768,303 905,756 956,074
December 765,328 372,093 750,314 807,745 938,625
January 657,466 292,625 522,163 738,496 728,129
February 668,237 272,301 597,977 746,797 791,003
March 383,512 492,249 786,068 951,922 1,016,746
April 31,510 549,615 807,445 948,584 1,008,163
May 102,325 705,456 920,938 1,054,756 1,158,311
June 241,611 776,073 915,774 998,047 1,181,310

Fiscal Year Totals 6,858,395 5,151,658 9,217,710 10,919,899 11,826,204

™ As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the disruption in aviation activity and passenger traffic had a significant effect
on monthly enplanement activity at the Airport in Fiscal Years 2020 and 2021.
@ FY23 enplanements were amended down in FY24 due to an error found after the enplanements were published.

Source: The Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority.

127



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Annual Disclosure Report

Enplaned Passenger Market Share
In connection with the Authority’s continuing disclosure undertaking relating to the Series 2003B Bonds (the
“2003B Bonds Undertaking”), the 2015 Bonds Undertaking and the 2022 Bonds Undertaking, the following

table presents enplaned passengers at the Airport by Signatory Airlines, Non-Signatory Airlines, and total
enplaned passengers for the past five Fiscal Years with the associated market share for each Fiscal Year.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

128



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Annual Disclosure Report

Nashville International Airport
Enplaned Passenger Market Share("
Fiscal Years 2020 - 2024

% of % of % of % of % of

2020% Total 2021¢ Total 2022 Total 20230 Total 2024 Total
Signatory Airlines:
Alaska Airlines 87,807 1.3% 64,928 1.3% 102,762 1.1% 113,995 1.0% 156,015 1.3%
Allegiant Air 115,305 1.7% 136,565 2.7% 252,591 2.7% 407,726 3.7% 464,553 3.9%
American Airlines® 1,070,173 15.6% 725,481 14.1% 1,471,530 16.0% 1,569,654  14.4% 1,677,822 14.2%
Delta Air Lines Inc. 971,443 14.2% 503,867 9.8% 1,105,082  12.0% 1,336,379  12.2% 1,409,111 11.9%
Frontier Airlines 126,000 1.8% 73,885 1.4% 118,912 1.3% 163,960 1.5% 123,100 1.0%
JetBlue 99,316 1.4% 44,914 0.9% 149,302 1.6% 228,078 2.1% 163,373 1.4%
Southw est Airlines 3,571,632 52.1% 3,091,692 60.0% 4,945,583  53.7% 5,575,049 51.1% 6,103,524  51.6%
Spirit Airlines 122,176 1.8% 171,669 3.3% 268,835 2.9% 417,971 3.8% 529,431 4.5%
United Airlines® 539,013 7.9% 306,115 5.9% 691,107 7.5% 835,968 7.7% 909,899 7.7%
Subtotal 6,702,865 97.8% 5,119,116 99.4% 9,105,704  98.8% 10,648,780  97.5% 11,536,828  97.5%

% of % of % of % of % of

2020 Total 2021@ Total 2022 Total 2023 Total 2024 Total
Non-Signatory Airlines:
Air Canada - - - - 5,854 0.1% 50,396 0.5% 27,715 0.2%
Air Canada d/b/a Jazz Air 24,745 0.4% - - 16,356 0.2% 7,807 0.1% 4,765 0.0%
Air Georgian dba Air Canada 8,549 0.1% - - - 0.0% - - - -
British Airw ays 32,684 0.5% - - 11,577 0.1% 55,208 0.5% 65,979 0.6%
Contour Airlines 12,303 0.2% 9,741 0.2% 20,091 0.2% - - 22,889 0.2%
Chautauqua (Delta) - - - - - - 26,363 0.2% - -
Sun Country - - 16,868 0.3% 25,007 0.3% 36,877 0.3% 45,661 0.4%
Westjet Airlines 8,848 0.1% - - 16,487 0.2% 35,979 0.3% 54,747 0.5%
Westjet/Encore 19,673 0.3% - - - - - - - -
All Others (includes Charters) 48,728 0.7% 5,933 0.1% 16,634 0.2% 58,489 0.5% 67,620 0.6%
Subtotal 155,530 2.3% 32,542 0.6% 112,006 1.3% 271,119 2.4% 289,376 2.5%
Total 6,858,395 100% 5,151,658 100% 9,217,710 100% 10,919,899 100% 11,826,204 100%

™)
()
)
(4)

®)

Source:

Note:

Numbers may not add up due to rounding.

American Affiliates.

United Affiliates.

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the disruption in aviation activity and passenger traffic had a significant effect on enplaned passenger market share at the Airport in
Fiscal Years 2020 and 2021.

FY23 enplanements were amended down in FY24 due to an error found after the enplanements were published.

The Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority (2024 ACFR; Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2024 (the “2024
ACFR”)); ”)); the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority (2023 ACFR; Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2022 and June 30, 2023
(the “2023 ACFR”")); the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority (2022 ACFR; Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022 (the “2022
ACFR”)); the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority (2021 ACFR; Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2021 (the
“2021 ACFR”)); and the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority (2020 ACFR; Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2019 and June
30, 2020 (the “2020 ACFR")).

In the table entitled "Enplaned Passenger Market Share," the categorical descriptions of: (a) "Signatory Airlines," "Non-Signatory Airlines," and "All Others (including Charters)"
were entitled "Major Airlines," "Regional Airlines," and "Charters," respectively, in the final official statement relating to the Series 2003B Bonds; and (b) "Signatory Airlines"
and "Non-Signatory Airlines" were entitled "Signatory Carriers" and "Non-Signatory Carriers," respectively, in the final official statement relating to the Series 2015 Bonds.

129



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Annual Disclosure Report

Landed Weight

In connection with the 2003B Bonds Undertaking, 2015 Bonds Undertaking, and the 2022 Bonds
Undertaking, the following table presents landed weight at the Airport by Signatory Airlines and Non-
Signatory Airlines, passenger carrier landed weight, cargo and miscellaneous landed weight, total landed
weight, and the percentage of passenger landed weight for the past five Fiscal Years with the associated
market share for each Fiscal Year.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

130



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Annual Disclosure Report

Nashville International Airport
Passenger, Cargo, and Miscellaneous Landed Weight Market Share (in 000s)"

Fiscal Years 2020 — 2024

% of % of % of % of % of

2020% Total 20214 Total 2022 Total 2023 Total 2024 Total
Signatory Airlines:
Alaska Airlines 104,358 1.2% 93,408 1.2% 100,654 1.0% 110,669 0.9% 164,433 1.2%
Allegiant Airlines 145,579 1.7% 248,448 3.3% 317,469 3.0% 496,404 4.0% 525,477 3.9%
American Airlines® 1,356,238 15.6% 945,038 12.6% 1,693,950 16.2% 1,779,567 14.3% 1,908,020 14.1%
Delta Air Lines Inc. 1,147,250 13.2% 871,462 11.6% 1,260,848 121% 1,461,428 11.8% 1,525,552 11.3%
Frontier Airlines 130,207 1.5% 82,863 1.1% 118,797 1.1% 172,070 1.4% 135,636 1.0%
JetBlue 126,152 1.4% 71,669 1.0% 183,497 1.8% 294,044 2.4% 194,172 1.4%
Southw est Airlines 4,564,368 52.4% 4,463,892 59.4% 5,456,214 52.2% 6,168,540 49.7% 6,955,019 51.5%
Spirit Airlines 167,604 1.9% 201,041 2.7% 288,542 2.8% 434,883 3.5% 557,023 4.1%
United Airlines® 707,738 8.1% 442,277 5.9% 813,331 7.8% 992,581 8.0% 1,045,775 7.7%
Subtotal 8,449,494 97.0% 7,420,098 98.8% 10,233,302 98.0% 11,910,186 96.0% 13,011,107 96.2%

% of % of % of % of % of

2020% Total 20214 Total 2022 Total 2023 Total 2024 Total
Non-Signatory Airlines:
Air Canada - - - - 9,204 0.1% 29,226 0.2% 5,635 0.0%
Air Canada d/b/a Jazz Air 32,799 0.4% - - 20,752 0.2% 38,491 0.3% 31,451 0.3%
Air Georgian dba Air Canada 8,997 0.1% - - - 0.0% - 0.0% - -
British Airw ays 85,225 1.0% - - 25,200 0.2% 128,525 1.0% 132,510 1.1%
Contour Airlines - - 31,201 0.4% 52,296 0.5% 74,160 0.6% 69,978 0.6%
Sun Country - - 34,377 0.5% 51,273 0.5% 107,159 0.9% 64,859 0.5%
SkyWest - - - - - - - - 5,311 0.0%
WestJet/Encore - - 405 0.0% 19,363 0.2% 34,373 0.3% 54,478 0.4%
All Others (includes Charters) 142,317 1.6% 29,048 0.4% 49,861 0.5% 91,827 0.7% 141,460 1.1%
Subtotal 269,338 3.1% 95,031 1.3% 227,949 2.2% 503,761 4.1% 505,682 4.1%
Total Passenger Carrier Weight (000s) 8,718,832 100% 7,515,129 100% 10,461,251 100% 12,413,947 100% 13,516,789 100%
Cargo & Misc. Carrier Weight (000s) 276,583 354,109 582,109 504,127 306,770
Total Weight All Aircrafts (000s) 8,995,415 7,869,238 11,043,360 12,918,074 13,823,559
% Passenger Carrier Weight T 9T% T 96% T 95% T 96% T 98%

(1)
()
3)

Numbers may not add up due to rounding.
American Affiliates.
United Affiliates.

@ As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the disruption in aviation activity and passenger traffic had a significant effect on passenger, cargo and miscellaneous landed weights at the Airport in Fiscal
Years 2020 and 2021.

Source: The Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority (2024 ACFR, 2023 ACFR, 2022 ACFR, 2021 ACFR, and 2020 ACFR).

Note: The table entitled "Passenger, Cargo, and Miscellaneous Landed Weight" was entitled "Airline Landed Weights" in the final official statement relating to the Series 2003B Bonds. In addition, the
categorical descriptions of "Signatory Airlines," "Non-Signatory Airlines," and "All Others (including Charters)" were entitled "Major Airlines," "Regional Airlines," and "Charters," respectively, in the
final official statement relating to the Series 2003B Bonds.

131



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Annual Disclosure Report

Aircraft Activity

Average Daily Scheduled Arrivals and Departures. In connection with the 2003B Bonds Undertaking, the
following table presents average daily scheduled arrivals and departures at the Airport by Signatory Airlines
and Non-Signatory Airlines based on a typical business day during June of each of the past five Fiscal
Years with the associated market share for each Fiscal Year.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

132



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Annual Disclosure Report

Nashville International Airport

Average Daily Scheduled Arrivals and Departures("?
Fiscal Years 2020 to 2024 (June data)

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Signatory Airlines Average Average Average Average Average

Aights®® %of Total Flights®® %of Total Fights %of Total Fights %of Total Flights %of Total
Alaska Airlines 2 0.8% 4 0.8% 4 0.8% 5 0.9% 8 1.3%
Allegiant 18 7.5% 16 3.3% 17 3.3% 22 3.9% 20 3.2%
American Airlines® 32 13.3% 82 16.9% 84 16.1% 94 16.6% 102 16.3%
Delta Air Lines 12 5.0% 60 12.4% 60 11.5% 65 11.5% 79 12.7%
Frontier Airlines 3 1.3% 4 0.8% 4 0.8% 5 0.9% 5 0.8%
JetBlue Airways 2 0.8% 8 1.7% 13 2.5% 11 1.9% 8 1.3%
Southwest Airlines 140 58.3% 242 50.0% 242 46.3% 265 46.7% 302 48.4%
Spirit Airlines 2 0.8% 10 21% 15 2.9% 19 3.4% 26 4.2%
United Airlines® 14 5.8% 40 8.3% 52 9.9% 50 8.8% 48 7.7%
Subtotal 225 93.6% 466 96.3% 491 94.1% 536 94.6% 598 95.9%

. 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Non-Signatory
Airlines Average Average Average Average Average

Flights®® % of Total Flights®® %of Total Flights %of Total Flights %of Total  Flights % of Total
Air Canada® - - - - 5 1.0% 3 0.5% 3 0.5%
British Airways - - - - 2 0.4% 2 0.4% 2 0.3%
Cape Air - 8 1.7% 7 1.3% 7 1.2% - -
Contour Airlines 6 2.5% - 8 1.5% 9 1.6% 9 1.4%
Westjet Airlines© - - - - 3 0.6% 3 0.5% 4 0.6%
All Others!” 9 3.8% 10 21% 7 1.3% 7 1.2% 8 1.3%
Subtotal 15 6.3% 18 3.8% 32 6.1% 31 5.4% 26 4.1%
TOTAL 240 100% 484 100% 523 100% 567 100% 624 100%

(1)

()
3)
)
(5)

(6)
)
®)
9)

Certain airlines, including Air Wisconsin, Mesa Airlines, Republic, and Various/Trans State Airlines are affiliates of various
airlines and their flights are included with the flights for the main carrier.

Numbers may not add up due to rounding.

Includes flights for American Airlines affiliates, including American Eagle.

Includes flights for United Airlines, including Continental Express (doing business as ExpressJet and United/Skywest).
Includes flights for Air Canada affiliates, including Air Georgian (doing business as Air Canada) and Air Canada (doing
business as Jazz Air).

Includes flights for Westjet affiliates, including Westjet/Encore.

Includes charters.

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, international travel was not permitted for parts of Fiscal Years 2020 and 2021

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the disruption in aviation and passenger traffic had a significant effect on average
daily scheduled arrivals and departures at the Airport in Fiscal Years 2020 and 2021. However, the impact of COVID-19
was not realized until the last four months of Fiscal Year 2020 and during Fiscal Year 2021, so the average daily scheduled
arrivals and departures at the Airport by Signatory and Non-Signatory Airlines based on a typical business day during June
2020 and 2021 does not accurately reflect the average daily scheduled arrivals and departures for Fiscal Years 2020 and
2021 as a whole.

Source: The Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority.

Note:

In the table entitled "Average Daily Scheduled Arrivals and Departures," the categorical descriptions of "Signatory Airlines"
and "Non-Signatory Airlines" were entitled "Major Airlines" and "Regional Airlines," respectively, in the final official statement
relating to the Series 2003B Bonds.

133



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Annual Disclosure Report

Daily Departures. In connection with the 2015 Bonds Undertaking, the following table presents daily
departures at the Airport based on a typical business day during June of each Fiscal Year and the
number of departures scheduled for that particular day for the past six Fiscal Years.

Nashville International Airport
Daily Departures!"
Fiscal Years 2019 - 2024

Year Daily Departures
2019 267
2020 120
2021 242
2022 265
2023 286
2024 312

™ As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the disruption in aviation activity and passenger traffic had a significant effect on
daily departures at the Airport during June of Fiscal Year 2020.

Source: The Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority.

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

In connection with the 2003B Bonds Undertaking, the 2015 Bonds Undertaking, and the 2022 Bond
Undertaking, the following table presents the Authority's schedule of revenues, expenditures, and change
in net position for Fiscal Years 2020 through 2024 and reflects financial information for the Airport, the John
C. Tune Airport (the "Reliever Airport")!, and the MNAA Properties Corporation ("MPC"). MPC revenues
and expenses are not included in the definition of Airport Revenues or the definition of Operating Expenses,
respectively, except that ground rent payments and management fees by MPC and its subsidiaries to the
Authority are included in Airport Revenues. As such, the following table should be read together with the
Authority's financial statements, which presents the condensed financial information for the Airport, the
Reliever Airport, and its blended component unit, MPC. Such information is presented in accordance with
GASB Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus, An Amendment of GASB Statements
No. 14 and 34. There are no separately issued financial statements for the Airport, the Reliever Airport, and
MPC. See the 2024 Audited Financial Statements.

On March 3, 2020, a tornado touched down in the Nashville area and continued its path across Middle Tennessee. The Reliever
Airport, John C. Tune (“*JWN”), incurred significant damage from the storm, including infrastructure damage to the terminal and other
buildings (hangars), airfield, pavement, navigational aids, signage, lighting, fencing, utilities and more. JWN reopened on March 20,
2020. Fortunately, JWN was still able to complete construction on a new aircraft hangar with an attached office and shop space and
related aircraft asphalt taxilane, asphalt apron, and vehicle parking, during Fiscal Year 2020. In July 2021, JWN kicked off a
redevelopment plan which added new aviation facilities and replaced buildings destroyed in the tornado. The project includes
expanding ramp areas, adding a new airport access point, constructing 12 T-hangar buildings with 78 hangar bays, four box hangar
buildings with 12 hangar bays and two shade port buildings with 10 bays. Construction was complete during Fiscal Year 2022.

134



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Annual Disclosure Report

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net Position"?®
Fiscal Years 2020 - 2024
(Unaudited)

20200 2021®) 2022 2023 2024
Operating Revenues:
Signatory Airline $ 46,012,326 $ 47,495,370 $ 54,395,946 $ 59,744,223 $ 94,965,818
Parking 41,735,515 27,116,496 76,135,079 97,046,859 107,040,002
Concession 31,730,323 27,024,842 50,155,481 59,689,463 70,475,331
Space Rental 14,918,277 15,469,797 20,142,385 27,403,183 21,361,827
Other 9,522,197 11,513,054 9,399,973 10,718,636 8,770,689
Total Operating Revenues 143,918,638 128,619,559 210,228,864 254,602,364 302,613,667
Operating Expenses:
Salaries and w ages 36,981,912 25,133,488 37,663,363 39,212,410 49,830,121
Contractual Services 42,218,732 35,011,863 51,659,702 62,258,776 80,017,706
Materials and Supplies 4,544,743 3,674,419 4,857,819 6,631,336 9,431,679
Utilities 5,977,699 5,761,724 7,002,019 8,661,656 8,779,086
Insurance 1,442,491 1,913,299 2,148,338 3,481,751 5,318,692
Other 5,270,166 3,040,336 9,634,384 5,619,909 5,662,165
Total Operating Expenses 96,435,743 74,535,129 112,965,625 125,865,338 159,039,449
Provision for Depreciation 49,768,473 53,383,630 79,273,711 85,872,221 117,553,933
Nonoperating Revenues:
Investment income (loss) 23,723,090 1,647,674 (4,756,436) 31,040,249 62,087,598
Passenger facility charges 26,384,555 20,253,069 35,678,032 41,531,943 44,734,128
Customer facility charges 11,827,674 8,365,388 12,939,489 15,494,211 17,283,641
Other nonoperating revenues (expenses) 12,032,061 36,580,521 28,413,059 39,271,115 39,194,429
Total Nonoperating Revenues 73,967,380 66,846,652 72,274,144 127,337,518 163,299,796
Nonoperating Expenses:
Debt-related expenses 37,994,910 49,322,732 50,168,720 70,545,732 79,534,325
Other nonoperating expenses 112,570 2,160,638 - - -
Total Nonoperating Expenses 38,107,480 51,483,370 50,168,720 70,545,732 79,534,325
Capital Contributions 21,287,199 31,356,438 29,762,836 58,983,376 33,822,954
Increase in Net Position 54,861,521 47,420,520 69,857,788 158,639,467 143,608,710
Total Net Position — End of Year $ 781,149,182 § 828,569,702 $ 898,427,490 $ 1,057,066,957 $ 1,200,675,667

(1)

()

(©)

Source:

Note:

This table presents the Authority's revenues, expenses and change in net position in accordance with the presentation in the 2024 ACFR. Expenses and Change in Net Position presented in the
Statistical Information sections (unaudited) of the Authority's Annual Comprehensive Financial Reports (the "Statistical Information Sections"). Specifically, certain other operating expenses, other
nonoperating revenues, other nonoperating expenses, and capital contributions are presented differently, but there is no difference between the total net position in each Fiscal Year presented in
this table and the Statistical Information Sections.

This table presents the Authority's schedule of revenues, expenses and change in net position for Fiscal Years 2020 through 2024 and reflects financial information for the Airport, the Reliever
Airport, and the MPC. MPC revenues and expenses are not included in the definition of Airport Revenues or the definition of Operating Expenses, respectively, except that ground
rent payments and management fees by MPC and its subsidiaries to the Authority are included in Airport Revenues. As such, the following table should be read together with the Authority's
financial statements, which present the condensed financial information for the Airport, the Reliever Airport, and its blended component unit, MPC. Such information is presented in accordance
with GASB Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus, An Amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and 34. There are no separately issued financial statements for the Airport,
the Reliever Airport, and MPC.

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the disruption in aviation activity and passenger traffic had a significant effect on operating revenues and operating expenses at the Airport in Fiscal Years
2020 and 2021. For additional information see “Introduction — COVID-19 Pandemic”, herein.

The Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority (2024 ACFR, 2023 ACFR, 2022 ACFR, 2021 ACFR, and 2020 ACFR).

The presentation of the table entitled "Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net Position" has changed from time to time to reflect the implementation of certain accounting and financial
reporting standards.

135



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Annual Disclosure Report

Historical Debt Service Coverage

In connection with the 2003B Bonds Undertaking, the 2015 Bonds Undertaking, and the 2022 Bonds Undertaking, the following table presents the historical debt
service coverage on the Senior Bonds and the Subordinate Bonds for past five Fiscal Years.

Senior and Subordinate Debt Service Coverage("
Fiscal Years 2020-2024
(Unaudited)

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
Airport Revenues (Operating Revenues)® $ 140,324,281 $ 125,103,988 $ 206,386,328 $ 249,787,405 $ 298,925,090
Add: Investment Income (loss)® 23,671,953 1,638,683 (4,929,426) 30,496,234 61,108,895
Revenues Available for Debt Service 163,996,234 126,742,671 201,456,902 280,283,639 360,033,985
Less: Operating Expenses® (95,177,939) (83,844,828) (112,644,774) (124,367,586) (157,290,210)
Less: Relief Funds Applied to Operating Expenses® 2,925,517 3,988,211 2,026,935 3,280,617 -
Net Revenues $71,743,812 $46,886,054 $90,839,063 $159,196,670 $202,743,775
Senior Debt Service
Interest $ 10,155,649 $ 9,859,235 $ 9,619,735 $ 11,564,563 $ 23,455,438
Principal 4,565,000 4,835,000 5,080,000 5,320,000 5,570,000
Less: PFC Revenues Applied to DebtService® (573,900) - (688,478) (688,531) (3,294,767)
Less: Relief Funds Applied to Debt Service (2,384,981) (8,934,541) (7,865,937) (8,308,528) (16,301,878)
Total Senior Debt Service $ 11,761,768 $ 5,759,694 $ 6,145,320 $ 7,887,504 $ 9,428,793
Senior Debt Service Coverage 6.10x 8.14x 14.78x 20.18x 21.50x
Subordinate Debt Service
Interest $ 2,996,813 $ 22,830,050 $ 27,295973 $ 27,870,419 $ 41,569,800
Principal - - - - -
Less: PFC Revenues Applied to DebtService® - - - - (18,210,132)
Less: Relief Funds Applied to Debt Service (998,920) (17,240,578) (15,172,652) (15,675,036) (16,067,164)
Total Subordinate Debt Service $ 1,997,893 $ 5,589,472 $ 12,123,321 $ 12,195,383 $ 7,292,504
Subordinate Debt Service Coverage 35.91x 8.39x 7.49x 13.05x 27.80x
Senior and Subordinate Debt Service Coverage 5.21x 4.13x 4.97x 7.93x 12.12x

™ This table presents the debt service coverage for the Authority’s outstanding Senior Bonds and Subordinate Bonds in accordance with the Senior Bond Resolution and the Subordinate Bond
Resolution, respectively, and differs from the debt service coverage presented in the Statistical Information Sections. Specifically, the debt service coverage calculations in the Statistical Information
Sections include different sources of available revenues, expenses and associated debt service. Does not include amounts paid to Bank of America, N.A. pursuant to the Note Purchase Agreement.

@ Includes annual operating revenues and investment income derived from the Airport and the Reliever Airport.
® Includes annual operating expenses related to the Airport and the Reliever Airport.
@ Includes amounts transferred from PFC Revenues to pay debt service on the Authority’s Airport Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 2009A (the “Series 2009A Bonds”) (which are no longer

Outstanding), and the Series 2015A Bonds.

Source: Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority.
136



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Annual Disclosure Report

Airlines Serving the Airport

In connection with the 2022 Bonds Undertaking, the following table presents the Airlines serving the
Airport as of June 30, 2024

Passenger Airlines Cargo Carriers

Signatory Regional Affiliates Non-signatory @ Signatory Non-signatory
Alaska Airlines Commutair® Air Canada / Jazz Aviation®  Federal Express Air Transport Int'l.
Allegiant Air Endeavor Air® Air Canada Rouge® Airborne Express
American Airlines Envoy® Air Georgian Amazon Prime
Delta Air Lines GoJet Airlines® Avelo Airlines Atlas Air
Frontier Airlines Mesa Airlines® Breeze Airw ays DHL
JetBlue Republic Airw ays® British Airw ays® Kalitta Air
Southw est Airlines SkyWest Airlines®) Contour Airlines Mountain Air Cargo
Spirit Airlines Flair Airlines Silkw ay West
United Airlines Sun Country Southern Air

Swiift Air

VivaAerobus®

WestJet

WestJet Encore

(1)

()
@)
@)
(8)
(6)
)

Subject to the provisions of the Signatory Airline Agreements, certain Signatory Airlines have designated one or more
regional airlines as an Affiliate (as defined in the Signatory Airline Agreements). As such, the Landing Fees, Terminal Rents
(both as defined in the Signatory Airline Agreements) and other charges due on account of each Affiliate's use of Airport
facilities or services are calculated as if the Affiliate were a Signatory Airline.

Doing business as Delta Air Lines.

Doing business as United Airlines.

Doing business as American Airlines.

Doing business as American Airlines, Delta Air Lines and United Airlines.

Foreign flag carrier.

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, international travel was not permitted for parts of Fiscal Years 2020, 2021 and 2022.

Source: The Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority.

Enplaned Passenger Traffic

Enplaned Passengers and O&D Enplaned Passengers. In connection with the 2022 Bonds Undertaking,

the following table presents enplaned passengers, O&D enplaned passengers, year-over-year growth of
enplaned passengers and O&D enplaned passengers, and percent of O&D enplaned passengers for the
past ten Fiscal Years.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

137



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Annual Disclosure Report

Enplaned Passengers and O&D Enplaned Passengers
Fiscal Years 2015 — 2024

Percent of O&D
Enplaned Year-Over-Year O&D Enplaned Year-Over-Year Enplaned
Fiscal Year Passengers Growth Passengers'" Growth Passengers
2015 5,604,148 5.5% 4,562,238 6.0% 81.4%
2016 6,141,092 9.6% 5,044,163 10.6% 82.1%
2017 6,790,099 10.6% 5,617,042 11.4% 82.7%
2018 7,466,332 10.0% 6,154,523 9.6% 82.4%
2019 8,596,307 15.1% 6,953,983 13.0% 80.9%
2020 6,858,395 -20.2% 5,914,305 -15.0% 86.2%
2021 5,151,658 -24.9% 4,086,178 -30.9% 79.3%
2022 9,217,710 78.9% 7,812,956 91.2% 84.8%
2023 10,919,899 18.5% 9,257,487 18.5% 84.8%
2024 11,826,204 8.3% 9,864,265 6.6% 83.4%

" The Authority also receives O&D passenger data directly from the airlines that operate at the Airport, and
that data may differ from the U.S. DOT data presented in this table.

@ As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the disruption in aviation activity and passenger traffic had a
significant effect on enplaned passengers and O&D enplaned passengers at the Airport in Fiscal Years
2020 and 2021.

Source: The Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority.

138



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Annual Disclosure Report

Subordinate Bonds

The following is the annual financial information and operation data required under the Authority’s
continuing disclosure undertaking with respect to the $254,435,000 in aggregate principal amount of
Subordinate Airport Revenue Bonds, Series 2019A (Non-AMT) and $665,150,000 in aggregate principal
amount of Subordinate Airport Revenue Bonds, Series 2019B (AMT) (the “2019 Subordinate Bonds
Undertaking”). The Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds are the only Subordinate Bonds outstanding under the
Subordinate Bond Resolution as of the date of this Report (the “Outstanding Subordinate Bonds”).

Airlines Serving the Airport

In connection with the 2019 Subordinate Bonds Undertaking, see “SENIOR BONDS — Airlines Serving
the Airport” herein for the table presenting the Airlines serving the Airport as of June 30, 2024.

Enplaned Passenger Traffic

Enplaned Passengers and O&D Enplaned Passengers. In connection with the 2019 Subordinate Bonds
Undertaking, see “SENIOR BONDS - Enplaned Passenger Traffic - Enplaned Passengers and O&D
Enplaned Passengers” herein for the table presenting enplaned passengers, O&D enplaned passengers,
year-over-year growth of enplaned passengers and O&D enplaned passengers, and percent of O&D
enplaned passengers for the past ten Fiscal Years.

Enplaned Passenger Market Share

In connection with the 2019 Subordinate Bonds Undertaking, see "SENIOR BONDS — Enplaned Passenger
Market Share" herein for the table presenting enplaned passengers at the Airport by Signatory Airlines,
Non-Signatory Airlines, and total enplaned passengers for the past five Fiscal Years with the associated
market share for each Fiscal Year.

Landed Weight

In connection with the 2019 Subordinate Bonds Undertaking, see "SENIOR BONDS — Landed Weight"
herein for the table presenting the landed weight at the Airport by Signatory Airlines and Non-Signatory
Airlines, passenger carrier landed weight, cargo and miscellaneous landed weight, total landed weight for
the past five Fiscal Years with the associated market share for each Fiscal Year.

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

In connection with the 2019 Subordinate Bonds Undertaking, see "SENIOR BONDS - Schedule of
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position" herein for the table presenting the Authority’s schedule
of revenues, expenses and change in net position for Fiscal Years 2020 through 2024.

Historical Debt Service Coverage

In connection with the 2019 Subordinate Bonds Undertaking, see "SENIOR BONDS - Historical Debt
Service Coverage" herein for a table presenting Senior Bonds and Subordinate Bonds debt service
coverage for Fiscal Years 2020 through 2024.

139



This page is intentionally left blank.



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Compliance Section

This section contains the following subsections:
Single Audit Under Uniform Guidance

Passenger Facility Charges



e W oo Pianie & Moran, PLLT
Fwl Ay iTiEs i
iLFi i 11\ =

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of
Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

Independent Auditor's Report

To Management and the Board of Commissioners
Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the business-type activities and the
aggregate remaining funds of the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority (the "Authority") as of and for the year
ended June 30, 2024 and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority's
basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated October 11, 2024.

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Authority's internal control
over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough
to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies
may exist that were not identified.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Authority's financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of
our audit, and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

142



To Management and the Board of Commissioners
Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's internal control or on
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering the Authority's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not

suitable for any other purpose.
74«15, f M, PLLE

October 11, 2024

143



Fiante & Moran, FLLT

Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program and Passenger Facility Charge Program and on Internal
Control Over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance and the Passenger Facility Charge Audit Guide for
Public Agencies

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Commissioners
Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program and Passenger Facility Charge Program
Opinion on the Major Federal Program and the Passenger Facility Charge Program

We have audited the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority's (the "Authority") compliance with the types of
compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB)
Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on the Authority's major federal program for
the year ended June 30, 2024. In addition, we have audited compliance with the applicable requirements
described in the Passenger Facility Charge Audit Guide for Public Agencies, issued by the Federal Aviation
Administration, and the requirements in 14 CFR 158.63 (collectively, the "Guide") for the year ended June 30,
2024. The Authority's major federal program is identified in the summary of auditor's results section of the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. The Authority's passenger facility charge program is
identified in the schedule of collections and expenditures of passenger facility charges.

In our opinion, the Authority complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to
above that could have a direct and material effect on the major federal program and the passenger facility charge
program for the year ended June 30, 2024.

Basis for Opinion on the Major Federal Program and the Passenger Facility Charge Program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for
Federal Awards (the "Uniform Guidance"); the Passenger Facility Charge Audit Guide for Public Agencies, issued
by the Federal Aviation Administration; and the requirements in 14 CFR 158.63. Our responsibilities under those
standards, the Uniform Guidance, and the Guide are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of the Authority and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for the major federal program and the
passenger facility charge program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Authority's compliance
with the compliance requirements referred to above.

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws,
statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the Authority's federal
program and the passenger facility charge program.

144



To the Board of Commissioners
Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the compliance
requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on the Authority's
compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance
and, therefore, is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing
Standards, the Uniform Guidance, and the Guide will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The
risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial
likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the
report on compliance about the Authority’s compliance with the requirements of the major federal program and
the passenger facility charge program as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, the Uniform Guidance, and the
Guide, we:

o Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the Authority's compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

¢ Obtain an understanding of the Authority's internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on internal control
over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance and the Guide, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no
such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control
over compliance that we identified during the audit.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program or the
passenger facility charge program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance such that there is a reasonable
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program or the
passenger facility charge program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A
significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program or the passenger
facility charge program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in
internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control
over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control
over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses
or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

145



To the Board of Commissioners
Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform
Guidance and the Guide. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

/1 -
Fhewte ¢ /Hsren, P

October 11, 2024

146



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

Assistance
Airport Program Title Listing Number

Grantor Agency

Passed Through
Expenditures to Subrecipients

Federal Assistance:
U.S. Department of Transportation:
Direct Awards:
Nashville International Airport Improvement Program 20.106

Airport Concessions Relief Grant
Airport Rescue Grant
Taxiway Kilo West Reconstruction and Lighting Installation
Taxiway Bravo South - Pavement Reconstruction and Lighting Installation
Taxiway Bravo/Kilo Intersection Reconstruction and Taxiway T3 Removal
Taxiway Bravo/Kilo Intersection Reconstruction

Pass-Through Awards: Airport Improvement Program 20.106
John C. Tune Parking Lot Near Terminal - Construction (NPE)
Parking Lot Constuction (BIL AIG)
Subtotal Airport Improvement Program

U.S. Department of Justice:
Asset Forfeiture Equitable Sharing Program 16.922

State Assistance:
Nashville International Airport Improvements
Concourse D Extension
Concourse D Extension
John C. Tune Airport Maintenance
Total Airport Improvements

Nashville International Asset Forfeiture Equitable Sharing Program

See notes to schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards.

147

Federal Aviation Administration

Tennessee Department of Transportation

Department of Justice

Total federal assistance

Tennessee Department of Transportation

State of Tennessee

Total state assistance

Grand total

$ 1,913,784  § -
32,369,042 -
327,043 -

911,917 -
9,825,000 -
5,347,447 -

74,528 -
122,055 -

50,890,816 -

117,642 -

$ 51,008458 § -

$ 13,652,945 § -
3,662,019 -
20,000 -

17,234,964 -

254,402 -

$ 17,489,366 § -

$ 68497824 § -




Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

i. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards (“SEFA”) includes the federal and state
grant activity of the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority. The information in this schedule is presented in
accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) and the
Comptroller of the Treasury of the State of Tennessee. Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of
the operations of the Authority, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net
position, or cash flows of the Authority.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Expenditures reported on the schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are
recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures
are not allowable or re limited as to reimbursement. The Authority has not elected to use the 10% de minimis indirect
cost rate as allowed under the Uniform Guidance.

3. Contingency

The grant revenue amounts received are subject to audit and adjustment. If any expenditures are disallowed by the
grantor agencies as a result of such an audit, any claim for reimbursement to the grantor agencies will become a
liability of the Authority. In the opinion of management, all grant expenditures are in compliance with the terms of
the grant agreements and applicable federal and state laws and regulations.

148



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

Section I - Summary of Auditor's Results
Financial Statements
Type of auditor's report issued: Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:

e  Material weakness(es) identified? Yes
¢ Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are
not considered to be material weaknesses? Yes
Noncompliance material to financial
statements noted? Yes
Federal Awards

Internal control over major programs:

e  Material weakness(es) identified? Yes
e  Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are

not considered to be material weaknesses? Yes
Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for major programs: Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in

X No

X None reported

X None reported

X No

X None reported

accordance with Section 2 CFR 200.516(a)? Yes X No

Identification of major programs:
Assistance Listing
Number Name of Federal Program or Cluster

20.106 Airport Improvement Program
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between

type A and type B programs: $1,530,254
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? X Yes No
Passenger Facility Charge Program
Internal control over major programs:
e  Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No
e  Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are

not considered to be material weaknesses? Yes X None reported

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for major programs: Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in
accordance with AU-C 9357 Yes

149




Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

Section II - Financial Statement Audit Findings

Reference
Number Finding

Current Year None

Section III - Federal Program Audit Findings

Reference
Number Finding

Current Year None

Section IV — Passenger Facility Charge Program Audit Findings

Reference
Number Finding

Current Year None

150



This page is intentionally left blank.



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Schedules of Collections and Expenditures of Passenger Facility Charges
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

Amended Cumulative Quarter Ended
Amount Total June 30, September 30, December 31, March 31, June 30, Total Life-to-date
Approved 2023 2023 2023 2024 2024 FY 2024 Cumulative
COLLECTIONS:
PFC Revenue Received $ 1,551,658,359 $ 502,551,252 $ 11,134,388 $ 8,960,309 $12,201,691 $10,450,724 $42,747,112 $ 545,298,364
Interest Earned/Fees Incurred N/A 31,026,040 1,116,830 1,385,857 1,486,729 1,880,497 5,869,913 36,895,953
Total Collections $ 1,551,658,359 $ 533,577,292 $ 12,251,218 $ 10,346,166 $13,688,420 $12,331,221 $48,617,025 $ 582,194,317
EXPENDITURES (REFUNDS):
APPLICATION 1:
Taxiway C Extension $ 6,118,900 $ 6,118,900 $ -8 -3 -3 -8 -3 6,118,900
Land Acquisition for ASR (P, F, | - 2003 PFC) 6,806,412 6,806,412 - - - - - 6,806,412
Land Acquisition (P, F, | - 2003 PFC) 13,986,000 13,986,000 - - - - - 13,986,000
Runway 2C/20C Relocation 41,343,955 41,343,955 - - - - - 41,343,955
Runway 13/31 Extension 7,541,800 7,541,800 - - - - - 7,541,800
Runway 2C/20C Extension 8,840,000 8,840,000 - - - - - 8,840,000
Total 84,637,067 84,637,067 - - - - - 84,637,067
APPLICATION 2:
Concourse Connector (P, F, | - 2003 PFC) 4,814,500 4,814,500 - - - - - 4,814,500
International Arrivals Building (P, F, | - 2003 PFC) 6,898,801 6,898,801 - - - - - 6,898,801
Total 11,713,301 11,713,301 - - - - - 11,713,301
APPLICATION 3 - MUFIDS 1,439,174 1,439,174 - - - - - 1,439,174
Total 1,439,174 1,439,174 - - - - - 1,439,174
APPLICATION 4 - Curbside Expansion 17,641,859 17,641,859 - - - - - 17,641,859
Total 17,641,859 17,641,859 - - - - - 17,641,859
APPLICATION 5:
ARFF Facility Expansion 55,000 55,000 - - - - - 55,000
Moving Sidewalk, Concourse A 1,101,204 1,101,204 - - - - - 1,101,204
Outbound Baggage Conweyor System 1,495,482 1,495,482 - - - - - 1,495,482
Total 2,651,686 2,651,686 - - - - - 2,651,686
APPLICATION 6:
Airfield Lighting Control Panel 443,438 443,438 - - - - - 443,438
Airport Operations Center Relocation 2,158,667 2,158,667 - - - - - 2,158,667
Runway Deicer Truck 228,300 228,300 - - - - - 228,300
SMGCS (2) 1,329,594 1,329,594 - - - - - 1,329,594
Total 4,159,999 4,159,999 - - - - - 4,159,999
APPLICATION 7 - Air Cargo Ramp 2,094,000 2,094,000 - - - - - 2,094,000
Total 2,094,000 2,094,000 - - - - - 2,094,000
APPLICATION 8:
Air Cargo Ramp Expansion 846,000 846,000 - - - - - 846,000
Airfield Pavement Rehabilitation 1,249,012 1,249,012 - - - - - 1,249,012
Airport Master Plan 169,635 169,635 - - - - - 169,635
BIDS (3) 353,758 353,758 - - - - - 353,758
Terminal Access Roadway - Design 451,037 451,037 - - - - - 451,037
Radio Communication System 980,951 980,951 - - - - - 980,951
Terminal Apron Reconstruction 172,223 172,223 - - - - - 172,223
Update Noise Exposure Maps 106,272 106,272 - - - - - 106,272
Total 4,328,888 4,328,888 - - - - - 4,328,888

152



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Schedules of Collections and Expenditures of Passenger Facility Charges

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

APPLICATION 9:
ARFF Vehicle
Airfield Hold Bar Modifications
Airfield Pavement Rehabilitation
Westside Infrastructure and Utility Development
Elevator on A Concourse
Live Scan Fingerprint Equipment
Total

APPLICATION 10:
1500 Gallon ARFF Vehicle
Airfield Pavement Rehabilitation - East
Airport Vehicle Driving Simulator
Land Acquisition RW Ext. Approach
Public Address System
Security Enhancements
Widen Three Taxiway Fillets
Total

APPLICATION 11:
Aircraft Rescue and Firefighting Equipment
Pavement Sweeper
Snow Removal Equipment
Runway 13/31 W of 2L/20R
Airfield Construction
Taxiway Kilo West and Lima Rehab
Taxiway Lima between T4 & T6
Reconstruction Taxiway Tango 6 at Terminal Ramp
Reconstruction Taxiway Tango 6 at Juliet
Reconstruction Taxiway Tango 6 at Terminal Ramp
Reconstruction Taxiway Tango 2
Rehabilitate Taxiway Alpha North
Shoulder Replacement Runway 2L-20R
Upgrade Trench Drain at De-Icing Area
Runway 2R20L & Taxiway H Additional Work

Airfield Pavement Rehab (Ph. 1-5), Runway 2R/20L J & C Repair

Airfield Re-signing

Engineering Study to Develop Land North of 13/31

Noise Mitigation (Principal)

Noise Mitigation (F&I)

Relocate Electrical Vault on Westside

Runway 2C/20C Extension Part B

Runway 2C/20C Extension Part B (F&I)

Storm Water Treatment Facility Engineering Study/Upgrade

Two Elevators in Terminal Building

Widen Taxiway Fillets at Taxiways L2, K2, T3, Lima Kilo
Total

493,143
420,391
1,763,421
677,004
207,040
49,374

493,143
420,391
1,763,421
677,004
207,040
49,374

493,143
420,391
1,763,421
677,004
207,040
49,374

3,610,373

3,610,373

3,610,373

72,486
535,748

73,571
468,000
789,116
378,750
274,012

72,486
535,748

73,571
468,000
789,116
378,750
274,012

72,486
535,748

73,571
468,000
789,116
378,750
274,012

2,591,683

2,591,683

2,591,683

345,529
99,643
418,887
220,765
18,935
352,061
230,400
188,894
428,576
844,829
164,855
217,278
593,673
14,673
798,122
2,160,724
515,467
36,000
24,065,949
30,381,472
501,004
4,646,757
6,694,961
100,055
691,166
356,096

345,529

99,643
418,887
220,765

18,935
352,061
230,400
188,894

798,122
2,160,724
515,467
36,000
24,065,949
22,435,287
501,004
4,646,757
6,694,960
100,055
691,166
356,096

345,529
99,643
418,887
220,765
18,935
352,061
230,400
188,894
428,576
844,829
164,855
217,278
593,673
14,673
798,122
2,160,724
515,467
36,000
24,065,949
22,435,287
501,004
4,646,757
6,694,960
100,055
691,166
356,096

75,086,771

67,140,585

67,140,585

153



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Schedules of Collections and Expenditures of Passenger Facility Charges
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

APPLICATION 12:

Runway 13-31 Reconstruction 5,355,535 5,355,535 - - - - - 5,355,535
MUFIDS 2,672,278 2,672,278 - - - - - 2,672,278
Design of 2L-20R and 2R-20L Runway Safety Areas 146,767 146,767 - - - - - 146,767
ARFF Building Expansion 186,384 186,384 - - - - - 186,384
Ticketing Level Canopy Extension 501,250 501,250 - - - - - 501,250
Retaining Wall on Taxiways Juliet and Lima 65,421 65,421 - - - - - 65,421
Hangar Lane Access Improvements 151,583 151,583 - - - - - 151,583
General Aviation Master Plan 27,058 27,058 - - - - - 27,058
Loading Bridges (4) 309,527 309,527 - - - - - 309,527
Replace Oshkosh Snow Broom 40,620 40,620 - - - - - 40,620
Master Drainage Plan/Deicing Runoff Plan 277,567 277,567 - - - - - 277,567
Lighting Upgrade on Airfield 2L & 13/31 122,635 122,635 - - - - - 122,635
Surface Sweeper 154,844 154,844 - - - - - 154,844
Exhibit A Property Map 20,011 20,011 - - - - - 20,011
Airport Rotating Beacon 8,892 8,892 - - - - - 8,892
Lightning Protection for Apron Lights 5,158 5,158 - - - - - 5,158
Total 10,045,530 10,045,530 - - - - - 10,045,530
APPLICATION 13:
Security Checkpoint - Design & Construction 3,300,000 3,300,000 - - - - - 3,300,000
Terminal Renovation - Not to Exceed Eligible Portion of Phase | 10,000,000 10,000,000 - - - - - 10,000,000
Reconstruct Taxiway Bravo South Design 22,853 22,853 - - - - - 22,853
Reconstruct Taxiway Alpha South Design 76,000 76,000 - - - - - 76,000
Outbound Baggage Conveyor System Design & Construction 417,838 417,838 - - - - - 417,838
Access Control System Replacement 729,755 729,755 - - - - - 729,755
Construct 2L-20R Runway Safety Area 407,240 407,240 - - - - - 407,240
Pavement Management and Modification of Standards Identification Study 51,390 51,390 - - - - - 51,390
Runway Weather Information System (RWIS) 6,915 6,915 - - - - - 6,915
Construct 2R-20L Runway Safety Area 472,899 472,899 - - - - - 472,899
Aircraft Flight Track Monitoring System 120,376 120,376 - - - - - 120,376
Total 15,605,266 15,605,266 - - - - - 15,605,266
APPLICATION 14:
In-Line EDS 6,340,079 6,340,079 - - - - - 6,340,079
In-Line EDS Financing 174,919 174,919 - - - - - 174,919
Reconstruct Taxiway Bravo South Construction 244,994 244,994 - - - - - 244,994
Rehabilitate FIS Facility 476,141 476,141 - - - - - 476,141
Reconstruct Taxiway Alpha South Construction 223,718 223,718 - - - - - 223,718
Terminal Renovations Phase Il 2009A Bond 31,483,696 31,483,696 - - - - - 31,483,696
Terminal Renovations Phase Il 2009A Bond Financing 10,640,404 10,640,404 - - - - - 10,640,404
Westside Spill Gates 15,931 15,931 - - - - - 15,931
TARI Phase | - Road & Bridge Work 11,815,394 11,815,394 - - - - - 11,815,394
Total 61,415,276 61,415,276 - - - - - 61,415,276
APPLICATION 15:
Reconstruct Runway 2L-20R 4,010,198 4,010,198 - - - - - 4,010,198
Reconstruct Runway 2L-20R Financing 2,752 2,752 - - - - - 2,752
Sprinkler System in Utility Tunnels 106,299 106,299 - - - - - 106,299
Terminal Roof Replacement 173,447 173,447 - - - - - 173,447
Total 4,292,696 4,292,696 - - - - - 4,292,696
APPLICATION 16:
Upgrade Security Camera System 187,500 187,500 - - - - - 187,500
Airport Master Plan Update 1,472,042 1,472,042 - - - - - 1,472,042
Upgrade Stormwater Treatment Plant 120,000 120,000 - - - - - 120,000
Reconstruct Taxiways T4 & Sierra 3,226,155 3,226,155 - - - - - 3,226,155
Total 5,005,697 5,005,697 - - - - - 5,005,697

154



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Schedules of Collections and Expenditures of Passenger Facility Charges
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

APPLICATION 17:

Reconstruct Taxiway Kilo 2,569,517 2,569,517 - - - - - 2,569,517
LED Taxiway Lighting Upgrade 2L - - - - - - - -
PCI Airfield Inspection 48,483 48,483 - - - - - 48,483
Total 2,618,000 2,618,000 - - - - - 2,618,000
APPLICATION 18: -
Outbound Baggage and Check-in Counter Replacement 346,626 346,626 - - - - - 346,626
Reconstruct Taxiways B & T3 1,175,207 1,175,207 - - - - - 1,175,207
Total 1,521,833 1,521,833 - - - - - 1,521,833
APPLICATION 19:
Improve Stormwater Collection & Treatment System 945,499 945,499 - - - - - 945,499
Reconstruct Runway 13-31 West 3,479,416 3,479,416 - - - - - 3,479,416
Total 4,424,915 4,424,915 - - - - - 4,424,915
APPLICATION 20: - - -
Reconstruct Taxiway Lima and Juliet East 1,882,125 1,882,125 - - - - - 1,882,125
Reconstruct Taxiway T3 1,407,796 1,407,796 - - - - - 1,407,796
Total 3,289,921 3,289,921 - - - - - 3,289,921
APPLICATION 21:
Reconstruct Taxiway Sierra-PayGo 2,225,000 2,225,000 - - - - - 2,225,000
Reconstruct Taxiway Sierra-Bond 4,375,000 - - - - - - -
Reconstruct Taxiway Sierra-Financing 3,500,000 1,405,681 57,594 57,594 57,591 57,591 230,370 1,636,051
AOA Fence Line Perimeter Road 1,270,000 826,861 - - - - - 826,861
Terminal Generator Replacement 925,000 831,835 - - - - - 831,835
Switchgear Replacment, Ph IV 2,835,000 1,297,785 - - - - - 1,297,785
Terminal Remote Group Check-in 500,000 10,680 - - - - - 10,680
AHU & IAB HVAC Replacement 737,000 691,224 - - - - - 691,224
Concourse Curtain Wall Replacement 900,000 44,837 - - - - - 44,837
Total 17,267,000 7,333,903 57,594 57,594 57,591 57,591 230,370 7,564,273
APPLICATION 22:
Reconstruct Taxiway Brawo/Taxiway Lima Intersection-Pay Go 4,900,000 3,763,074 - - - - - 3,763,074
Rehabilitate Taxiway Lima (2L to L2) including the Lima/Alpha Intersection-Pay Go 6,850,000 5,331,763 - - - - - 5,331,763
Replace Stormwater Pipe-Pay Go 1,000,000 1,000,000 - - - - - 1,000,000
Rehabilitate Taxiway Lima (T-4 to 2L)-Pay Go 5,730,663 1,159,634 - - - - - 1,159,634
Reconstruct Taxiway Alpha South-Pay Go 13,100,000 10,964,362 - - - - - 10,964,362
Passenger Terminal Improvements, Phase 2-Jet Bridges-Pay Go 23,980,000 23,825,389 - - - - - 23,825,389
Passenger Terminal Improvements, Phase 2-Jet Bridges-Bond 8,420,000 - - - - - - -
Passenger Terminal Improvements, Phase 2-Jet Bridges-Financing 7,465,838 3,236,012 114,543 114,543 114,543 642,233 985,862 4,221,874
Passenger Terminal Improvements, Phase 2-Two additional elevators in terminal-Pay Go 1,000,000 865,044 - - - - - 865,044
Passenger Terminal Improvements, Phase 2-Concourse FIDS & PA/Visual Paging-Pay Go 4,760,000 3,992,295 - - 3,992,295
Total 77,206,501 54,137,573 114,543 114,543 114,543 642,233 985,862 55,123,435
APPLICATION 23:
Terminal Expansion and Rehabilitation Bond Capital 494,830,515 - - - - - - -
Terminal Expansion and Rehabilitation Financing and Interest 644,180,408 - 3,100,381 5,036,583 5,536,584 6,615,119 20,288,667 20,288,667
Total 1,139,010,923 - 3,100,381 5,036,583 5,536,584 6,615,119 20,288,667 20,288,667
Total Expenditures, net $ 1,551,658,359 $ 371,699,225 $ 3,272,518 $§ 5,208,720 $ 5,708,718 $ 7,314,943 $21,504,899 $ 393,204,124

155



Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Notes to Schedules of Collections and Expenditures of Passenger Facility Charges
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

i. General

The Schedules of Collections and Expenditures of Passenger Facility Charges presents the activity of the
Passenger Facility Charge (PFC) program of the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority (the “Authority”), a
component unit of the Metropolitan Government of Nashville and Davidson County, Tennessee. The information
in the schedules is presented under the Passenger Facility Charge Audit Guide for Public Agencies, issued by the
Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”), and the requirements in 14 CRF 158.63.

PFCs are fees imposed on enplaning passengers by airports to finance eligible airport-related projects that
preserve or enhance safety, capacity, or security of the national air transportation system, reduce noise from
an airport that is part of such system, or furnish opportunities for enhanced competition between or among air
carriers. Both the fee and intended projects must be reviewed and approved by the FAA.

2. Basis of Accounting

The accompanying Schedules of Collections and Expenditures of Passenger Facility Charges are presented
using the cash basis of accounting.

3. Contingency

The Authority’s PFC program is subject to review by the FAA. If any expenditures are disallowed as a result of
such review, the Authority would be required to reimburse the PFC program. In the opinion of management,
all PFC expenditures have been made in compliance with the rules and regulations of the PFC program.

156



140 BNA Park Drive, Suite 520 * Nashville, Tenn. 37214 « flynashville.com



Nashville
International
e\ Airporte

STAFF ANALYSIS

Board of Commissioners
(Information Only)

Date: November 20, 2024
Facility: Nashville International Airport

Subject: FY2025 — 1% Quarter — MNAA Employee Retirement Plan and Other Post-Employment
Benefits (OPEB) Investment Report

l. Reports

Attached is the Performance Report prepared by Principal for the 1 Quarter of FY2025. The Principal
report covers the period from July 1, 2024 through September 30, 2024.

Il. Analysis

A. Summary

MNAA Retirement Plan

The quarter (three months) total portfolio return gross of fees was 5.71% compared to the
designated Composite Benchmark of 6.07%. The three-month total portfolio return net of fees was
5.65%.

Asset Allocation Summaries — Retirement Plan

Principal resets the asset allocations mid-month. As a result, market fluctuations may result in
month-end allocations being temporarily and slightly outside of the limits established in the policy.
On the next month’s reset date, Principal brings all asset classes back into compliance with the
stated policy. All exceptions occurring during any quarter are reviewed by the Retirement
Committee and additional action is taken, if needed.

Page 1 of 5



As of July 31, 2024, all asset classes are in compliance with the Retirement Plan Investment Policy 41-011,

effective July 22, 2021.

Pension - Asset Allocation as of 7/31/2024

(based on market values)

Policy dated 7/22/21
Changes implemented

7/31/21 - Present Max Allocation

Category Balance Allocation* Min-Target-Max Compliance [Allocation | Variance

Cash and Cash Equivalents S 2,680,323.27 3.10% 0%-3%-100% Yes 100.00%| 96.90%
Bonds and Notes S 41,089,756.06 47.56% 0%-47%-57% Yes 57.00% 9.44%
Equities - Large Cap(a) S 6,905,364.49 7.99% 0%-8%-10.40% Yes 10.40% 2.41%
Equities - S&P 500 Funds®® [ $  8,885,167.84 10.28%|  0%-10.5%-17.40% Yes 17.40%|  7.12%
Equities - Large Cap Growth®| $ 6,645,524.09 7.69% 0%-8%-10.40% Yes 10.40% 2.71%
Equities - Mid Cap(a) S 6,042,384.84 6.99% 0%-7.00%-9.10% Yes 9.10% 2.11%
Equities - Small Cap(a) S 3,525,468.94 4.08% 0%-4.00%-5.20% Yes 5.20% 1.12%
Equities - Inte rnational ® S 10,618,923.90 12.29% 0%-12.50%-16.10% Yes 16.10% 3.81%

Total S  86,392,913.43 100.00%

(a) Total Equities S 42,622,834.10 49.34% 0%-50%-60% Yes 60.00%| 10.66%

*Total Allocation Percentage may not equal 100% due to rounding

As of August 31, 2024, all asset classes are in compliance with the Retirement Plan Investment Policy 41-

011, effective July 22, 2021.

Pension - Asset Allocation as of 8/31/2024

(based on market values)

Policy dated 7/22/21
Changes implemented

7/31/21 - Present Max Allocation

Category Balance Allocation* Min-Target-Max Compliance |Allocation | Variance

Cash and Cash Equivalents S 2,898,392.98 3.31% 0%-3%-100% Yes 100.00% 96.69%
Bonds and Notes S 40,706,306.68 46.55% 0%-47%-57% Yes 57.00% 10.45%
Equities - Large Cap® $  7,080,288.14 8.10% 0%-8%-10.40% Yes 10.40% 2.30%
Equities - S&P 500 Funds® S 9,231,428.30 10.56% 0%-10.5%-17.40% Yes 17.40% 6.84%
Equities - Large Cap Growth®| $ 6,896,814.91 7.89% 0%-8%-10.40% Yes 10.40% 2.51%
Equities - Mid Cap®® S 6,204,841.65 7.10% 0%-7.00%-9.10% Yes 9.10% 2.00%
Equities - Small Cap®® S 3,527,729.51 4.03% 0%-4.00%-5.20% Yes 5.20% 1.17%
Equities - International ® S 10,899,897.86 12.46% 0%-12.50%-16.10% Yes 16.10% 3.64%

Total S 87,445,700.03 100.00%

(a) Total Equities S 43,841,000.37 50.14% 0%-50%-60% Yes 60.00% 9.86%

*Total Allocation Percentage may not equal 100% due to rounding

As of September 30, 2024, all asset classes are in compliance with the Retirement Plan Investment Policy 41-

011, effective July 22, 2021.

Pension - Asset Allocation as of 9/30/2024

(based on market values)

Policy dated 7/22/21
Changes implemented

7/31/21 - Present Max Allocation

Category Balance Allocation* Min-Target-Max Compliance |Allocation | Variance

Cash and Cash Equivalents S 2,591,595.49 2.94% 0%-3%-100% Yes 100.00% 97.06%
Bonds and Notes S 41,087,499.22 46.54% 0%-47%-57% Yes 57.00% 10.46%
Equities - Large Cap(a) S 7,105,211.48 8.05% 0%-8%-10.40% Yes 10.40% 2.35%
Equities - S&P 500 Funds® S 9,428,299.57 10.68% 0%-10.5%-17.40% Yes 17.40% 6.72%
Equities - Large Cap Growth®| $ 7,130,801.73 8.08% 0%-8%-10.40% Yes 10.40% 2.32%
Equities - Mid Cap® $  6,275,871.21 7.11% 0%-7.00%-9.10% Yes 9.10% 1.99%
Equities - Small Cap® $  3,576,407.22 4.05% 0%-4.00%-5.20% Yes 5.20% 1.15%
Equities - International @ S 11,085,019.21 12.56% 0%-12.50%-16.10% Yes 16.10% 3.54%

Total S  88,280,705.13 100.00%

(a) Total Equities S 44,601,610.42 50.52% 0%-50%-60% Yes 60.00% 9.48%

*Total Allocation Percentage may not equal 100% due to rounding

Page 2 of 5



Asset Valuation Summaries — Retirement Plan

Below are the Asset Valuation Summaries for the first quarter of fiscal year 2025.

Asset Valuation Summary Pension Plan

Unrealized

Month Cost Market Gain/Loss
7/31/2024 S 69,068,566.15 | S 86,392,913.43 | S 17,324,347.28
8/31/2024 S 68,728,891.22 | S 87,445,700.03 | S 18,716,808.81
9/30/2024 S 68,360,138.75 | S 88,280,705.13 | S  19,920,566.38

Reconciliation Summary — Retirement Plan

Below is the Pension Reconciliation Summary for the first quarter of fiscal year 2025.

Pension Summary 1°t QTR FY 2025 (market value)

7/31/2024 8/31/2024 9/30/2024 1Q FY-to-Date
Beginning Market Value 84,799,539.68 86,392,913.43 87,445,700.03 84,799,539.68
Total Cash Receipts 106,088.15 86,620.00 51,675.24 244,383.39
Total Cash Disbursements (462,257.84) (426,294.93) (420,427.71) (1,308,980.48)
Change in Fair Market Value 1,949,543.44 1,392,461.53 1,203,757.57 4,545,762.54
Ending Market Value 86,392,913.43 87,445,700.03 88,280,705.13 88,280,705.13

MNAA OPEB

The quarter (three months) total portfolio return gross of fees was 5.74% compared to the
designated Composite Benchmark of 6.26%. The three-month total portfolio return net of fees was

5.69%.

Asset Allocation Summaries — OPEB

Principal resets the asset allocations mid-month. As a result, market fluctuations may result in
month-end allocations being temporarily and slightly outside of the limits established in the policy.
On the next month’s reset date, Principal brings all asset classes back into compliance with the
stated policy. All exceptions occurring during any quarter are reviewed by the Retirement
Committee and additional action is taken, if needed.

Page 3 of 5




As of July 31, 2024, all asset classes are in compliance with the Retirement Plan Investment Policy, 41-011,

effective July 22, 2021.

OPEB - Asset Allocation as of 7/31/2024

(based on market values)

Policy dated 7/22/21
Changes implemented

7/31/21 - Present Max Allocation

Category Balance Allocation* Min-Target-Max Compliance |Allocation | Variance

Cash and Cash Equivalents S 1,337,637.21 3.02% 0%-3%-100% Yes 100.00% 96.98%
Bonds and Notes S 16,609,902.71 37.56% 0%-37%-42% Yes 42.00% 4.44%
Equities - Large Cap Value® | $  4,306,304.97 9.74% 0%-9.6%-10.80% Yes 10.80% 1.06%
Equities - S&P 500 Funds® S 5,466,826.80 12.36% 0%-12.60%-14.20% Yes 14.20% 1.84%
Equities - Large Cap Growth® S 4,088,130.95 9.24% 0%-9.60%-10.80% Yes 10.80% 1.56%
Equities - Mid Cap(a) S 3,719,170.97 8.41% 0%-8.40%-9.50% Yes 9.50% 1.09%
Equities - Small Cap(a) S 2,148,764.70 4.86% 0%-4.80%-5.40% Yes 5.40% 0.54%
Equities - Inte rnational® S 6,544,899.74 14.80% 0%-15%-16.80% Yes 16.80% 2.00%

Total S 44,221,638.05 100.00%

(a) Total Equities S 26,274,098.13 59.41% 0%-60%-65% Yes 65.00% 5.59%

*Total Allocation Percentage may not equal 100% due to rounding

As of August 31, 2024, all asset classes are in compliance with the Retirement Plan Investment Policy, 41-
011, effective July 22, 2021.

OPEB - Asset Allocation as of 8/31/2024

(based on market values)

Policy dated 7/22/21
Changes implemented

7/31/21 - Present Max Allocation

Category Balance Allocation* Min-Target-Max Compliance |Allocation | Variance

Cash and Cash Equivalents S 1,456,677.77 3.24% 0%-3%-100% Yes 100.00% 96.76%
Bonds and Notes S 16,445,329.49 36.61% 0%-37%-42% Yes 42.00% 5.39%
Equities - Large Cap Vvalue® | s 4,415,031.21 9.83% 0%-9.6%-10.80% Yes 10.80% 0.97%
Equities - S&P 500 Funds® S 5,679,678.96 12.64% 0%-12.60%-14.20% Yes 14.20% 1.56%
Equities - Large Cap Growth® S 4,242,886.92 9.45% 0%-9.60%-10.80% Yes 10.80% 1.35%
Equities - Mid Cap® $  3,817,660.15 8.50%|  0%-8.40%-9.50% Yes 9.50%|  1.00%
Equities - Small Cap(a) S 2,149,091.88 4.78% 0%-4.80%-5.40% Yes 5.40% 0.62%
Equities - International ® S 6,711,681.18 14.94% 0%-15%-16.80% Yes 16.80% 1.86%

Total S  44,918,037.56 100.00%

(a) Total Equities S 27,016,030.30 60.15% 0%-60%-65% Yes 65.00% 4.85%

*Total Allocation Percentage may not equal 100% due to rounding

As of September 30, 2024, all asset classes are in compliance with the Retirement Plan Investment Policy,
41-011, effective July 22, 2021.

OPEB - Asset Allocation as of 09/30/2024

(based on market values)

Policy dated 7/22/21
Changes implemented

7/31/21 - Present Max Allocation

Category Balance Allocation* Min-Target-Max Compliance |Allocation | Variance

Cash and Cash Equivalents ) 1,292,112.99 2.84% 0%-3%-100% Yes 100.00% 97.16%
Bonds and Notes S 16,570,143.64 36.48% 0%-37%-42% Yes 42.00% 5.52%
Equities - Large Cap Value® S 4,400,253.80 9.69% 0%-9.6%-10.80% Yes 10.80% 1.11%
Equities - S&P 500 Fu nds® S 5,800,679.08 12.77% 0%-12.60%-14.20% Yes 14.20% 1.43%
Equities - Large Cap Growth® S 4,385,319.71 9.65% 0%-9.60%-10.80% Yes 10.80% 1.15%
Equities - Mid Cap(a) S 3,860,286.99 8.50% 0%-8.40%-9.50% Yes 9.50% 1.00%
Equities - Small Cap(a) S 2,177,846.76 4.79% 0%-4.80%-5.40% Yes 5.40% 0.61%
Equities - International ® S 6,933,576.76 15.27% 0%-15%-16.80% Yes 16.80% 1.53%

Total S 45,420,219.73 100.00%

(a) Total Equities S 27,557,963.10 60.67% 0%-60%-65% Yes 65.00% 4.33%

*Total Allocation Percentage may not equal 100% due to rounding

Page 4 of 5




Asset Valuation Summaries - OPEB

Below are the Asset Valuation Summaries for the first quarter of fiscal year 2025.

Asset Valuation Summary OPEB

Unrealized

Month Cost Market Gain/Loss
7/31/2024 $39,653,905.22 | $44,221,638.05 | S 4,567,732.83
8/31/2024 $39,598,506.13 | $44,918,037.56 | S 5,319,531.43
9/30/2024 $39,586,048.77 | $45,420,219.73 | S 5,834,170.96

Reconciliation Summary - OPEB

Below is the OPEB Reconciliation Summary for the first quarter of fiscal year 2025.

OPEB Summary 1°* QTR FY 2025 (market value)

7/31/2024 8/31/2024 9/30/2024 1Q FY-to-Date
Beginning Market Value 43,170,107.24 | 44,221,638.05 | 44,918,037.56 | 43,170,107.24
Total Cash Receipts 53,564.74 52,774.55 128,882.65 235,221.94
Realized Gain/(Loss) 37,208.80 (41,690.10) (1,709.32) (6,190.62)
Total Cash Disbursements (21,241.55) (66,483.54) (139,630.69) (227,355.78)
Change in Fair Market Value 981,998.82 751,798.60 514,639.53 2,248,436.95
Ending Market Value 44,221,638.05 | 44,918,037.56 | 45,420,219.73 |  45,420,219.73

B. Impact/Findings

No action is required by the Finance Committee as this staff analysis is presented for

informational purposes.

C. Strategic Priorities

e Supports the strategic priority of investing assets in the Pension and OPEB plans without
undue risk while focusing on the total growth of capital and capital preservation while
protecting against negative results.

e |nvestin BNA/JWN

e Plan for the Future

o Prepare for the Unexpected

Page 5 of 5




Principal® Principal Global Advisors

Metro Nashville Airport
Authority

MONTHLY CLIENT REPORT
As of SEPTEMBER 30, 2024



Portfolio Reporting

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2024

Retirement Plan for Employees of MNAA

Return Duration

Return Type MTD 3Mo FYTD YTD 1yr  3yr* 5Yr*  10Yr* SI*
Gross Return 1.44 5.71 571 11.03 21.13 3.64 7.31 7.02 9.07
Net Return 1.44 5.65 5.65 10.87 20.89 3.44 7.09 6.76 8.85
BM Return 1.65 6.07 6.07 11.02 21.04 3.89 6.85 6.78 8.81
Gross Excess Return -0.21  -0.37 -0.37 0.01 0.10 -0.24 0.46 0.24 0.26
Net Excess Return -0.21  -0.42 -0.42/ -0.16 -0.14) -0.45 0.24 -0.01 0.04

SI=4/30/2009

MNAA OPEB
Return Duration
Return Type MTD 3Mo FYTD YTD 1Yr 3Yr* 5Yr*  10Yr* SI*
Gross Return 1.43 5.74 574 12,10 22.74 4.32 8.42 7.47 8.04
Net Return 1.43 5.69 5.69 11.93 22.50 4.11 8.21 7.25 7.83
BM Return 1.72 6.26 6.26 12.36  23.02 4.88 8.44 7.55 8.22
Gross Excess Return -0.29 -0.52 -0.52/ -0.266 -0.27 -0.56 -0.02 -0.08 -0.18
Net Excess Return -0.29 -0.57 -0.57 -0.42 -0.520 -0.77 -0.22 -0.30 -0.39

SI=11/30/2010

Review standard quarterly report for benchmark composition and portfolio makeup.
Net return - includes investment option fees and could include investment management and custodial service fees.

, *Returns are annualized O PrlnCIpal

Classification: Customer Confidential



Important information



Important information

Principal Global Advisors is a specialized investment management group within Principal Global Investors. Principal Global Investors leads
global asset management at Principal®.

Custody and trust services are provided by Principal Bank®, Member FDIC, and/or Principal Trust Company®. These services are provided
under the trade name Principal® Custody Solutions, a division of Principal Bank. Principal Trust Company is a trade name of Delaware
Charter Guarantee & Trust Company.

When Principal Custody Solutions is providing investment management services, Principal Custody Solutions serves as the investment
manager or discretionary trustee, but leverages the investment expertise of Principal Global Advisors. Customers may also contract
directly with Principal Global Advisors for investment management services. In those instances, Principal Custody Solutions serves solely
in a custodial or trustee capacity. Please refer to your underlying service agreements for details.

Principal Global Investors, Principal Bank, and Principal Trust Company are members of the Principal Financial Group®, Des Moines, lowa
50392. Principal®, Principal Financial Group® and the Principal logo design are registered trademarks of Principal Financial Services, Inc.,
a Principal Financial Group company, in the United States and are trademarks and service marks of Principal Financial Services, Inc., in
various countries around the world.

© 2022 Principal Financial Services, Inc.

Investment and Insurance products are:

o Mot Insured by the FDIC or Any Federal Government Agency

o Mot a Deposit or Other Obligation of, or Guaranteed by, Principal Bank or Any Bank Affiliate
o Subject to Investment Risks, Including Possible Loss of the Principal Amount Invested

2118956-042022

. O Principal’

Classification: Customer Confidential



Nashville
International
o\ Airporte

STAFF ANALYSIS

Board of Commissioners
(Information Only)

Date: November 20, 2024
Facility: Nashville International Airport

Subject: FY 2025 — 1t Quarter — Treasury Investment Report (September 30, 2024)

I. Reports

The following Treasury Investment Report covers the period from July 1, 2024 through September 30,
2024,

Il. Analysis

A. Summary

For FY 2025, the focus remains on minimizing cash in Demand Deposit Bank accounts. MNAA
invests excess cash in authorized investments to maximize interest earnings. Funds are invested
by MNAA Staff as well as by PFM Asset Management LLC (“PFMAM”). MNAA staff invests funds
primarily in Treasury Money Market Funds and TN LGIP. PFMAM invests funds on MNAA’s behalf
in the MNAA Operating CORE Portfolio, the MNAA Common Debt Service Reserve Portfolio, the
MNAA 2022A&B Construction Funds Portfolio, and the MNAA 2022A&B Capitalized Interest
Portfolio.

The fund allocation for cash and investments (not including accrued interest) at the Authority
for the quarters ending June 30, 2024, and September 30, 2024, was as follows:

6/30/2024 9/30/2024 $ Change % Change
NAE Fund S 311,232,523 S 310,011,915 S (1,220,608) -0.39%
Operating Cash 183,202,595 218,220,105 35,017,510 19.11%
Construction Accounts 275,195,407 251,402,409 (23,792,998) -8.65%
Debt Service Accounts 200,027,881 175,609,189 (24,418,692) -12.21%
PFC Accounts 188,990,194 196,881,522 7,891,328 4.18%
CONRAC Accounts 76,964,928 78,598,027 1,633,099 2.12%
Total Funds S 1,235,613,528 S  1,230,723,167 S (4,890,361) -0.40%

Page 1 of 3



The asset allocation for cash and investments (not including accrued interest) at the Authority
for the quarters ending June 30, 2024, and September 30, 2024, was as follows:

6/30/2024 9/30/2024 $ Change % Change
U.S. Treasuries S 286,295,002 $ 292,759,451 $ 6,464,449 2.26%
Federal Agency 226,845,705 165,399,099 (61,446,606) -27.09%
Agency Mortgage-Backed Securities 27,302,704 24,248,898 (3,053,806) -11.18%
Certificates of Deposit 1,047,776 1,047,776 - 0.00%
Commercial Paper 99,828,953 38,502,180 (61,326,773) -61.43%
Money Market Mutual Funds 333,208,574 422,099,506 88,890,932 26.68%
Tennessee Local Government Investment Pool 256,262,257 281,197,064 24,934,807 9.73%
Cash in Demand Deposit Accounts 4,822,557 v 5,469,193 646,636 13.41%
Total Funds S 1,235,613,528 S 1,230,723,167 $ (4,890,361) -0.40%

The listing of accounts on September 30, 2024, is shown in Attachment 1, which also shows the
ending balances for each month in the quarter. PFMAM’s Investment Performance Review Report
for the quarter ended September 30, 2024, is also attached. Note the difference between these
reports is due to Attachment 1 reporting investments on an accrual basis and the PFMAM report
showing market values.

PFMAM portfolio yields for the quarter were 4.37% for the CORE Portfolio, 4.02% for the Common
Debt Service Reserve Portfolio (DSR), 4.23% for the 2022A&B Capitalized Interest Portfolio, and
5.17% for the 2022A&B Construction Funds Portfolio. The PFMAM CORE Portfolio benchmark
yield, the ICE BofAML 1-3 Year U.S. Treasury Index Benchmark, was 4.02%. The PFMAM Common
DSR, Construction Funds, and CAP-I benchmark, the ICE BofAML 3mo T-Bill, was 4.94%.

The MNAA managed funds yield was 5.20% as compared to the benchmark S&P Rated LGIP All
Index yield of 5.28%. The combined yield for the MNAA managed and PFMAM Managed Portfolios
was 4.39%.

The Authority earned a total of $14,425,453 on cash and investments for the first quarter of FY
2025. In comparison, the income received on cash and investments for the first quarter ended
September 30, 2023, was $12,439,216. Total available funds for the first quarter of 2025 were
$1.230B vs $1.225B for first quarter 2024 (S5.5M more).

B. Investment Program Review

e DDA cash in 1Q FY 2025 was 0.4% of total cash, which outperforms our goal to minimize
cash in Demand Deposit Accounts to no more than 8% of total funds.

e As of 1Q FY 2025, per the investment policy, the investment portfolio complies and is
meeting the investment policy objectives in all areas.

Page 2 of 3



Impact/Findings

No action is required by the Finance Committee as this staff analysis is presented for
informational purposes.

C. Strategic Priorities

e Supports the strategic priority of maximizing financial assets while protecting invested
principal and minimizing uninvested cash

e |nvestin BNA/JWN
e Plan for the Future

e Prepare for the Unexpected
Attachments:

Attachment 1 - Listing of accounts and month-end balances for July 2024, August 2024, and September
2024

Attachment 2 — PFMAM Investment Performance Review as of September 30, 2024

Page 3 of 3



MNAA

Cash and Investment Balances 1Q25

Attachment 1

Bank A Cash Bal % of
T ccountNal ances as | Total % of
TEUIST CIP - Construction Payment ZB:le of 7/31/2025 c ,: LT Cash Balances as T::t | Monthly % of
TRSE MP Building CPR Acct - o Interesteamed]| Eofi8/31i2024 ca:h Interest | Cash Balances as | Total o
Internati o - earned onthl!
TRUIST Op;rnaihonal Plaza CPR Acct - 0% : - 0% - of 913012024 | Cash | Intorest ean
ing Fd CPR - . s arned
TRUIST John C. Tune Ai 0% - 0% ) 0% -
TRUIST Payrolll irport CPR . 0% - " 0% R N 0% R
TRUIST PFC R y 0% } - 0% _ - 0% _
TRUIST Revenj;leAn;ce 1,080.50 0% 212 - 0% - - 0% -
TRUIST Capital Im mount 24 51.21 0% 110 2 5:484.16 0% 2.16 . 0% -
TRUIST Bt deF wzmem ,447,273.08 0% . ,168,243.23 0% 107 109.34 0%
TRUIST Operati un, 198.35 0% ) 1,521,562.73 0% . 2,282.35 0%
TRUIST T ing Fund 22,282.78 0% 198.35 0% 1,324,852.58 0%
TRUIST P””e, Operation 154,058.36 0% ) 22,238.35 0% . 198.35 0%
TRUIST Parking Rev Mestar LAZ Accaunt 19238749 0% 7z 304,66256 0% 1145 (44.44) 0% :
TRUIST Parking Rev Credit Card Acoourt 167157841 0% . 218,667.86 0% 198 130,740.95 0% 595
TRUIST Constnet unds - 0% i 331,063.78 0% A 299,168.73 0% >3
TRUIST porig ion Payment Account 1,004,074.27 0% 8.47 - 0% ) 54,600.00 0% .
TRUIST NAE Caiﬁ”l:y Investment Fund 81,227.77 0% 10-35 1,006,304.79 0% 8.52 g 0% -
TRUIST NAE Cash Reserve Fund - 0% - 2400136 0% 5o 97573896 0% 617
TRUIST A A Investment Fund 277 0% 0.13 g 0% . 13,602.50 0% 5.5
TRUIST DlgA - Sé;und ) 0% - 3.10 0% 0.33 : 0% |
TRUIST CONRAC Ex 383626, 0% } - 0% . 343 0% 0.33
TRUIST CONRAG Di cess CFC 83,626.36 0% 3.40 - 0% _ - 0% N
TRUIST MNAA DOJ iscretionary Account 60.73 0% 032 37298641 0% 347 y 0% .
TRUIST CON CFC Operati 77087 0% : 9031 0% 0.47 39276749 0% 308
TRUIST CON CFC Operating Acc [moerre o 3.91 ! 0% - : 0% -
TRUST  Intomationsl Pasa Ovorei o teess o S remeedre  on 4.0 65002750 o :
123:? mc Global Tire perating Acct 315:732'23 8:7 073 Y 28'753'332 83’ 3'33 1,565'141'33 Sﬂf’ 4.03
A i ’ o 2. 168 o 6 858, o 9.1
TRUIST MPC/?-islr;)iﬁemfﬁ Corp (Parent) 4,459.74 0% _16 126,168.26 0% 1.62 28,858.06 0% 0.81
TRUIST PG Hold Ag?rsponc 18,763.97 0% 016 G24gs 0% : sae5TT1 0% 184
- - 0% _ 76413 0% : 0% ;
US Bank [Truist Bank Cash Balances 55,930.48 0% - 0% 0_16 18,764.28 0%
Series 201072018 Rental Pal | 863814259] 19 047 55,787.75 09 y 0% o
32 Sank Series 2010/2018 Bond Funzr?ri;t Futn/_(\j CP SWEEP 318’002'03 ;;l s1.67] 2408 875.28 | 1$| o8 25,615.08 Ou/o .
ank Series 20 rest Account CP SWi 209, o 1,051.23 — o 53.98 — o 0.46
US Bank Sarion 2018;3812 gg:g ;und Serial Bond Principal CP zgfyggg.m 0% 1,030.12 84,604, 0% 1,109.03 I 5469,194.43 | 0% 13.99]
32 Sank Serios 2010/2018 CoveragseFrl\J/deng SCP SWEEP 1,871 '031.?2 337 11,246.80 578’20‘31»5121 g:f’ 142.77 126 906_25 g:f’ -
ank Series 2010/2018 ’ WEEP '992.871, ) 6,290.59 eer o 976.08 503, o 261.74
Operation & Mai 992,871.80 9 290. 1,877,565.69 0 : 867,203.93 0 :
US Bank Series 20 peration & Maintenance R . 0% 3,3 1990 0% 6,5 ’ 0% 1,7
10/2018 Ren eserve FU 915,098 350.95 992,87 524.51 1,884,100 788.90
US Bank Serios 20 ewal & Replacement Fund 1098.00 0% 3 ,871.80 0% 3.4 ,884,100.73 0% 6
10/2018 Discreti ntFund CPS 3,351 088.46 91 1462.64 992 :545.04
US Bank Serios Excess CFClls:rl:Jrneéz)nal’y Fund Major Maintenanc 3,351 gggg 0?’ 11,311.54 3 3522322 OZA’ 3,191.40 915’%;.38 OZA’ 3,462.64
USBank 20038 P &I (Pd BNA; Mat 7/1 B 0% 11,311.54 ST e e 3,351,567.85 o 3,191.40
USBank 2019 A Debt Seves Account (8083355 o - R 0% 1168859 s on 11.688.59
USBank 2019 B Debt Servos Account \motons % 3,607.41 wrgss o - DA 0% 11,688.59
USBank 2015 A Deb Servce Account SoToseier  o% 51280 2 e % 2ea04s wsnes o y
USBank 20158 Debi Serhcs Account a0 o 51,268.10 otobos  a ooder 36330225 O Tosy
USBank - MNAAAIRPORT NP BDS SRS 2 Toacwn o 13843.15 s o e Ry ity 6.291.21
Bank  MNAA AIRPORT IMP BDS SRS 20228 s aaoea o vt Comaocs  0n  Sosss
G [US Bank Cash Balances 20228 250470262 0% 7,626.18 oerses  on  Tedess loraotr20 % 3,036.58
Gg:gxgz ; % Arts Fund GS 465 [ 2092644413 zvi| zéi‘fgé'” I 473766057 0% 1’%?'?2 TeoTaseTs 0% 3’22222
022 Constructio 20 45621 29,542 dlad 6,977,071 D2
Goldman Authority Facility Fn\f:gt(:ngr?t ‘Ii65 613222222 O?’ 912.84 207’17153(1); I 2:/0| 57.503.05 | BeI502 179.32 | 1:& s
Goldman  Conrac xcess CFG oo dgs o 7.948.211.73 1% 30,292.61 sothsonse  On 910.31 207,426.16 %] 8250149 |
Goldman  NAE Cash Reserve GS 465 PRprcA R Soomae s moress naTazs 1% 855.30
GO man Nashville Airport Experience GS 46 2,187 414'86 O°n 177,995.68 40,556 760.67 DA’ 32,078.80 6,765 445l27 1u° 25,395.01
Goldman  PFC Revenue GS 465 ° 106,168,426.30 b 9,606.31 2,187,403.84 3% 77.973.03 42,058,893.94 . 28,787.37
Goldman  Revenue Accourt GS 465 4,652,225.98 W 46807353 104,963,526.70 0% 5620 2,189.781.58 W 17240512
GMZE JSUb Debt Construction Funds GS 465 33,284,311.52 3% 1i$’22§64 4,652,168.44 O“f) 423’2%'93 104,934,335.83 9% 433’%?'57
oint Marketing Fund 59,450,14 52241 30,9358 . 410.10 4,650,93 707.06
Goldman  NAE Cash Reserve GS 468 1 2,554:693'33 S 25091488 . 4126915‘;-;? Yo 14275563 30,811:322'% o 19,177.30
[Goldman Sachs n 372,887, > 55,312.14 12,605,374, o 281,281.01 80,092,172.0 o 131,958.25
e | s vestment Balances [ 23 419'049'2573 I 0% 1,626.68 P O it tsosuoes 1% e308s16
TNLGIP LGIP- P S 23%] 1,200,167 = 0% 1,619.36 'a7o 78 1% 52,082.16
- PFC 10127 991 ,200,167.69 [ 273,849,224.6 29 372,782.52 o o
TNLGIP LGIP-R 127,991.40 1% 45,465 84922460 |  23%| 1,211,238.70 - 0% 1,522.13
- Revenue 33,968,13 465.46 8,001,4 211,238.70 [ 296,045,861.5 oo
TNLGIP  LOIP -Nashile Aort Expere 50,871 ,33%?3 e 1351066 35,850 e v 1seomrae 9,064,894 1? ! ZTZM 1,170,069.21 |
TNLGP  LGIP -Renewal and Replacement VIS e BeRTITTL 48 Sneoade Tk epalTa Jaase e s 1eeomrse
] . ; e 6 : /042,400, 6 869, s o 153,
TNLGIP LCIP - Operations & Maintenance 1,027,675.15 0% ) 4,184,801.91 0% S08.77 51,071,493.33 4% 833 e
IN LGP LGIP - Airline Facility 12,510,035.38 1% 1,131,842.15 0% 4,348,651.52 0% ,840.37
TNLGIP - LIP - Authory Facity 15,991,460.74 1% - 13,207,05338 1% - 1236,009.15 0% -
IN LGP LGIP - NAE Cash Reserve 24,422,195.98 2% ) 14,468,022.83 1% . 13,904,071.38 1% -
TNLGIP LGIP - Capital Improvement 79,318,124.31 7% i 28,561,966.71 2% ) 15,290,535.40 1% -
INLGIP LGIP - CONRAC Excess CFC 4,074,076.14 0% - 79,778,999.31 7% N 29,887,144.74 29 -
TN LGIP LGIP- Multi-Purpose Building 12,560,567.64 1% ) 4,074,076.14 0% . 79,778,999.31 6% .
mie LGIP- MPC Global Tire 250782001 0% 56,861.95 1419923153 1% - 407407614 0% -
TNLGIP  LGIP. Inlomtiona Plsza Buid 300129746 0% 11.750.55 e 0% reseas  reaosaets 1% -
LGP LGIP- CONRAC Discretionary ores  om e st v 1seeam deo0ade iy o aro01re
conR [[NLGIP BALANCE = 170t aBTon 1% 2429.89 A O Soastezy  ow tsdssos
s SR o I N ED
TIZE ,189,610. ,931. 12 ,310.
PFMAM S CORE Pofals l 1047 77564 U 3,501.71 S e [ 23%] 1.211.428.07 [ 281 e | o 5184948
Ol i ; P 4 - ; s 3 2 > E 0
PFMAM PFMAM COMMON DX . 286.050 158 0% 3,591.71 | 1,047,775.6 0% 3,603.91 1,047,775.64 20%| 1,164.243.05 |
PFMAM PFMAM 2019 A8B CEETE ESERVE Portfolio 134’578'911'33 24%  995,065.15 2881050’682l1§ [ 0% 360591 __1.047.775.64] g; 3,499.34
PFMAM PFMAM ortfolio 21,911, 1% 499.914.80 ,050,682. 24%  917,333.70 e o 3,499.34
2019A&B Constructi , 3,195,667.54 o I 134,810,840.27 9 he 288,676,312.73  23%
PFMAM PFMAM struction Portfolio hebest 0% 13.042.34 YO 1%  453,485.47 o 997,390.28
2022A8&B CAP | Portfoli 5,157,956.07 o D4z 3,209,616.57 9 oo 136,494,567.23  11%
PFMAM PEMAM ortfolio Boeibond 0% 22,503.59 Dihe 0% 13,949.03 o 664,733.90
2022A8&B i ' 12,965, ooy 5,180,470. Cean -
[PFM EON e T 193,825 oars1 1o saererid 12,534 o6es 1% 4ss0520 8:408,327.94 o 24,076
T — ° 5,757.14 hoes 4 ,803.29 ,076.89
[Folal VINA GashiCash Equivalerts 7 o safegores I RS 7 [ 53%] 246344251 T I 15%  672,942.64 16780 12043 135 59,244.86
= 2 i - 1009 2 2 . 519 v i 5 3%
22.07] 100%] 5.060,320.39 |_1,205,112,161.03 | 10;;" 2‘126'028-51 0546700204 4% = 2§9,473,21
%_4,609,856.22 | 1,230,723,167.63 | 1009 334,919.14 |
: %| _4,755,276.22 |
| Total Inte i
rest R
eceived for Q1 2025  14,425,452.83 |

Q12025




pfmM asset
management

METROPOLITAN NASHVILLE
AIRPORT AUTHORITY

Investment Performance Review
For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2024

Client Management Team PFM Asset Management LLC
Scott Sweeten, BCM, CFS, Sr. Managing Consultant 225 E. Robinson Street 213 Market Street
Richard Pengelly, CFA, CIMA, CTP, Managing Director Orlando, FL 32801 Harrisburg, PA 17101-2141

Sean Gannon, CTP, Senior Managing Consultant 407-406-5754 717-232-2723

NOT FDIC INSURED : NO BANK GUARANTEE : MAY LOSE VALUE

This material is for client use



For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2024

METROPOLITAN NASHVILLE AIRPORT AUTHORITY

Market Update

Current Market Themes

» The U.S. economy is characterized by:

>

>

- — >

A labor market that reached better balance and support consumer activity

Inflation that has made meaningful progress towards the Federal Reserve’s (Fed) 2%
target, although shelter costs remain a headwind

Resilient economic growth and consumer spending that support the ‘soft landing’ scenario

» Fed begins the easing cycle

>

£

o

>

>

The Fed cut the federal funds target rate by 50 basis points (bps) to 4.75% - 5.00% at its
September FOMC meeting

Fed officials note they have gained greater confidence the risks to their dual mandate are
‘roughly” in balance

The Fed’s September “dot plot” implies 50 bps of additional cuts in 2024 and 100 bps
through 2025

» Treasury yields continued their descent

>

>

il

Yields on maturities between 3 months and 10 years fell 62-112 bps during the 3 quarter

The yield curve began to disinvert in the 3@ quarter as the spread between the 2-year and
10-year Treasury reached positive territory for the first time in over 2 years

Despite intra-quarter spread widening, yield spreads across most credit sectors were
range bound at tight levels, reflecting the strength of the economy

Source: Bloomberg Finance L.P., as of September 30, 2024.

© PFM Asset Management LLC | pfmam.com Page 2 of 12



For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2024
METROPOLITAN NASHVILLE AIRPORT AUTHORITY Account Summary

Sector Allocation Analytics

Federal Agency - $8,625,888 I 0.9%

Agency CMBS - $24,467,177 I 2.6%

FDIC CD - $1,047,776 | 0.1%

Commercial Paper - $38,502,180 l 4.1%

Local Government Investment Pool - $281,197,064 _ 30.1%

Bank Deposits - $5,469,194 | 0.6%

Money Market Fund - $117,645,316
|

0.0% 20.0% 40.0% 60.0% 80.0% 100.0%

I Portfolio Allocation | Sector Limit for Analysis*

For informational/analytical purposes only and is not provided for compliance assurance. Includes accrued interest.
*Sector Limit for Analysis is as derived from our interpretation of your most recent Investment Policy as provided.

© PFM Asset Management LLC | pfmam.com Page 3 of 12



For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2024

METROPOLITAN NASHVILLE AIRPORT AUTHORITY

Portfolio Performance

AWN =

Portfolio Performance
B Portfolio ™ Benchmark

8.0%

6.0%

4.0%

Return

2.0%

0.0%

Market Value Basis Earnings 3 Months 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years

3 Months 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years Since Inception

Since Inception’

Interest Earned? $2,924,214 $10,469,848 $18,346,513 $22,302,250 $23,821,951
Change in Market Value $5,222,280 $8,192,153 $905,236 $2,770,687 $4,375,559
Total Dollar Return $8,146,494 $18,662,001 $19,251,749 $25,072,937 $28,197,510
Total Return®

Portfolio 2.84% 6.76% 1.61% 1.74% 2.04%
Benchmark* 2.87% 6.74% 1.33% 1.52% 1.84%

The lesser of 10 years or since inception is shown. Since inception returns for periods one year or less are not shown. Performance inception date is December 31, 2018.

. Interest earned calculated as the ending accrued interest less beginning accrued interest, plus net interest activity.
. Returns for periods one year or less are presented on a periodic basis. Returns for periods greater than one year are presented on an annualized basis.

. The portfolio’s benchmark is the ICE BofA 1-3 Year U.S. Treasury Index. Source: Bloomberg Financial LP.

© PFM Asset Management LLC | pfmam.com Page 4 of 12



For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2024
METROPOLITAN NASHVILLE AIRPORT AUTHORITY Portfolio Snapshot

Portfolio Snapshot - MNAA OPERATING CORE PORTFOLIO’

Portfolio Statistics Sector Allocation
Total Market Value $294,894,997.16
Securities Sub-Total $290,265,559.31
Accrued Interest $2,910,831.22
Cash $1,718,707.06
. . . 1.75 vears I U.s. Treasury | 89%
Portfolio Effective Duration y B Ajoncy GVBS | 8%
Benchmark Effective Duration 1.83 years B Federal Agency | 3%
Yield At Cost 4.37%
Yield At Market 3.71%
Portfolio Credit Quality AA
Credit Quality - S&P Duration Distribution

I Portfolio [ Benchmark

60% 54% 57%
40° 35% 35%
B AA+ | 100% 0% ° U
20%
1% 7%
0% Il
0-1Yr 1-2 Yrs 2-3Yrs

1. Yield and duration calculations exclude cash and cash equivalents. Sector allocation includes market values and accrued interest.
The portfolio’s benchmark is the ICE BofA 1-3 Year U.S. Treasury Index. Source: Bloomberg Financial LP.
An average of each security’s credit rating was assigned a numeric value and adjusted for its relative weighting in the portfolio.

© PFM Asset Management LLC | pfmam.com Page 5 of 12



For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2024
METROPOLITAN NASHVILLE AIRPORT AUTHORITY Portfolio Snapshot

Portfolio Snapshot - MNAA COMMON DSRF!

Portfolio Statistics Sector Allocation

Total Market Value $137,136,119.81
Securities Sub-Total $136,455,528.98
Accrued Interest $664,668.85
Cash $15,921.98
i i i 1.84 years

Portfolio Effective Duration B U5 Treasury | 100%
Benchmark Effective Duration 0.23 years
Yield At Cost 4.02%
Yield At Market 4.01%
Portfolio Credit Quality AA

Credit Quality - S&P Duration Distribution

I Portfolio [ Benchmark

0]
120% 100%
100%
o
[ | AA+ | 100% 80%
60%
40% 30% 25% - 29%
HE = H
0% |
0-1Yr 1-2 Yrs 2-3Yrs 34 Yrs

1. Yield and duration calculations exclude cash and cash equivalents. Sector allocation includes market values and accrued interest.
The portfolio’s benchmark is the ICE BofA 3 Month U.S. Treasury Index. Source: Bloomberg Financial LP.
An average of each security’s credit rating was assigned a numeric value and adjusted for its relative weighting in the portfolio.

© PFM Asset Management LLC | pfmam.com Page 6 of 12



For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2024
METROPOLITAN NASHVILLE AIRPORT AUTHORITY Portfolio Snapshot

Portfolio Snapshot - MNAA SERIES 2022 REVENUE BONDS'

Portfolio Statistics Sector Allocation
Total Market Value $162,927,122.11
Securities Sub-Total $52,444,630.25
Accrued Interest $146,906.38
Cash $110,335,585.48
Portfolio Effective Duration 0.23 years W U, Treasury | 100%
Yield At Cost 5.17%
Yield At Market 4.94%
Portfolio Credit Quality AA
Credit Quality - S&P Duration Distribution
I Portfolio
120% 100%
100%
0,
B AA+ | 61% 80%
A1+ 39% 60%
40%
20%
0%

0-1Yr

1. Yield and duration calculations exclude cash and cash equivalents. Sector allocation includes market values and accrued interest.
An average of each security’s credit rating was assigned a numeric value and adjusted for its relative weighting in the portfolio.

© PFM Asset Management LLC | pfmam.com Page 7 of 12



For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2024
METROPOLITAN NASHVILLE AIRPORT AUTHORITY Portfolio Snapshot

Portfolio Snapshot - MNAA SERIES 2022 CAP I

Portfolio Statistics Sector Allocation
Total Market Value $12,139,691.79 d
Securities Sub-Total $6,526,680.87
Accrued Interest $37,909.41
Cash $5,575,101.51
Portfolio Effective Duration 0.28 years W U, Treasury | 100%
Yield At Cost 4.23%
Yield At Market 4.68%
Portfolio Credit Quality AA
Credit Quality - S&P Duration Distribution
I Portfolio
120% 100%
100%
80%
B AA+ | 100% 60%
40%
20%
0%

0-1Yr

1. Yield and duration calculations exclude cash and cash equivalents. Sector allocation includes market values and accrued interest.
An average of each security’s credit rating was assigned a numeric value and adjusted for its relative weighting in the portfolio.

© PFM Asset Management LLC | pfmam.com Page 8 of 12



For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2024
METROPOLITAN NASHVILLE AIRPORT AUTHORITY Appendix

Important Disclosures

This material is for general information purposes only and is not intended to provide specific advice or a specific recommendation, as it was prepared without regard to
any specific objectives or financial circumstances.

Investment advisory services are provided by PFM Asset Management LLC ("PFMAM"), an investment adviser registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission and a subsidiary of U.S. Bancorp Asset Management, Inc. ("USBAM"). USBAM is a subsidiary of U.S. Bank National Association ("U.S. Bank"). U.S. Bank
is a separate entity and subsidiary of U.S. Bancorp. U.S. Bank is not responsible for and does not guarantee the products, services or performance of PFMAM. The
information contained is not an offer to purchase or sell any securities. Additional applicable regulatory information is available upon request.

PFMAM professionals have exercised reasonable professional care in the preparation of this performance report. Information in this report is obtained from sources
external to PFMAM and is generally believed to be reliable and available to the public; however, we cannot guarantee its accuracy, completeness or suitability. We rely
on the client's custodian for security holdings and market values. Transaction dates reported by the custodian may differ from money manager statements. While efforts
are made to ensure the data contained herein is accurate and complete, we disclaim all responsibility for any errors that may occur. References to particular issuers are
for illustrative purposes only and are not intended to be recommendations or advice regarding such issuers. Fixed income manager and index characteristics are
gathered from external sources. When average credit quality is not available, it is estimated by taking the market value weights of individual credit tiers on the portion of
the strategy rated by a NRSRO.

It is not possible to invest directly in an index. The index returns shown throughout this material do not represent the results of actual trading of investor assets.
Third-party providers maintain the indices shown and calculate the index levels and performance shown or discussed. Index returns do not reflect payment of any sales
charges or fees an investor would pay to purchase the securities they represent. The imposition of these fees and charges would cause investment performance to be
lower than the performance shown.

The views expressed within this material constitute the perspective and judgment of PFMAM at the time of distribution and are subject to change. Any forecast,
projection, or prediction of the market, the economy, economic trends, and equity or fixed-income markets are based upon certain assumptions and current opinion as
of the date of issue and are also subject to change. Some, but not all assumptions are noted in the report. Assumptions may or may not be proven correct as actual
events occur, and results may depend on events outside of your or our control. Changes in assumptions may have a material effect on results. Opinions and data
presented are not necessarily indicative of future events or expected performance.

For more information regarding PFMAM's services or entities, please visit www.pfmam.com.

© 2023 PFM Asset Management LLC. Further distribution is not permitted without prior written consent.

© PFM Asset Management LLC | pfmam.com Page 9 of 12



For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2024
METROPOLITAN NASHVILLE AIRPORT AUTHORITY Appendix

Important Disclosures

= Market values that include accrued interest are derived from closing bid prices as of the last business day of the month as supplied by Refinitiv, Bloomberg, or
Telerate. Where prices are not available from generally recognized sources, the securities are priced using a yield-based matrix system to arrive at an estimated
market value.

® |n accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, information is presented on a trade date basis; forward settling purchases are included in the monthly
balances, and forward settling sales are excluded.

= Performance is presented in accordance with the CFA Institute's Global Investment Performance Standards (GIPS). Unless otherwise noted, performance is shown
gross of fees. Quarterly returns are presented on an unannualized basis. Returns for periods greater than one year are presented on an annualized basis. Past
performance is not indicative of future returns.

= Bank of America/Merrill Lynch Indices provided by Bloomberg Financial Markets.

® Money market fund/cash balances are included in performance and duration computations.

® Standard & Poor's is the source of the credit ratings. Distribution of credit rating is exclusive of money market fund/LGIP holdings.

® Callable securities in the portfolio are included in the maturity distribution analysis to their stated maturity date, although, they may be called prior to maturity.

= MBS maturities are represented by expected average life.

© PFM Asset Management LLC | pfmam.com Page 10 of 12



For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2024
METROPOLITAN NASHVILLE AIRPORT AUTHORITY Appendix

Glossary

® Accrued Interest: Interest that is due on a bond or other fixed income security since the last interest payment was made.
= Agencies: Federal agency securities and/or Government-sponsored enterprises.
® Amortized Cost: The original cost of the principal of the security is adjusted for the amount of the periodic reduction of any discount or premium from the purchase

date until the date of the report. Discount or premium with respect to short-term securities (those with less than one year to maturity at time of issuance) is amortized
on a straight line basis. Such discount or premium with respect to longer-term securities is amortized using the constant yield basis.

® Asset-Backed Security: A financial instrument collateralized by an underlying pool of assets — usually ones that generate a cash flow from debt, such as loans,
leases, credit card balances, and receivables.

= Bankers’ Acceptance: A draft or bill or exchange accepted by a bank or trust company. The accepting institution guarantees payment of the bill as well as the insurer.
= Commercial Paper: An unsecured obligation issued by a corporation or bank to finance its short-term credit needs, such as accounts receivable and inventory.

= Contribution to Total Return: The weight of each individual security multiplied by its return, then summed for each sector to determine how much each sector added
or subtracted from the overall portfolio performance.

® Effective Duration: A measure of the sensitivity of a security’s price to a change in interest rates, stated in years.

m Effective Yield: The total yield an investor receives in relation to the nominal yield or coupon of a bond. Effective yield takes into account the power of compounding
on investment returns, while nominal yield does not.

= FDIC: Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. A federal agency that insures bank deposits to a specified amount.

® |nterest Rate: Interest per year divided by principal amount and expressed as a percentage.

= Market Value: The value that would be received or paid for an investment in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
® Maturity: The date upon which the principal or stated value of an investment becomes due and payable.

= Negotiable Certificates of Deposit: A CD with a very large denomination, usually $1 million or more, that can be traded in secondary markets.

® Par Value: The nominal dollar face amount of a security.

® Pass-through Security: A security representing pooled debt obligations that passes income from debtors to its shareholders. The most common type is the
mortgage-backed security.

© PFM Asset Management LLC | pfmam.com Page 11 of 12



For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2024
METROPOLITAN NASHVILLE AIRPORT AUTHORITY Appendix

Glossary

®m Repurchase Agreements: A holder of securities sells these securities to an investor with an agreement to repurchase them at a fixed price on a fixed date.

m Settle Date: The date on which the transaction is settled and monies/securities are exchanged. If the settle date of the transaction (i.e., coupon payments and
maturity proceeds) occurs on a non-business day, the funds are exchanged on the next business day.

® Supranational: A multinational union or association in which member countries cede authority and sovereignty on at least some internal matters to the group, whose
decisions are binding on its members.

= Trade Date: The date on which the transaction occurred; however, the final consummation of the security transaction and payment has not yet taken place.
= Unsettled Trade: A trade which has been executed; however, the final consummation of the security transaction and payment has not yet taken place.
® U.S. Treasury: The department of the U.S. government that issues Treasury securities.

= Yield: The rate of return based on the current market value, the annual interest receipts, maturity value, and the time period remaining until maturity, stated as a
percentage on an annualized basis.

® YTM at Cost: The yield to maturity at cost is the expected rate of return based on the original cost, the annual interest receipts, maturity value, and the time period
from purchase date to maturity, stated as a percentage on an annualized basis.

® YTM at Market: The yield to maturity at market is the rate of return based on the current market value, the annual interest receipts, maturity value, and the time
period remaining until maturity, stated as a percentage on an annualized basis.

© PFM Asset Management LLC | pfmam.com Page 12 of 12



Nashville
N ‘ \ International
o\ Airporte
STAFF ANALYSIS

Board of Commissioners
(Information Only)

Date: November 20, 2024

Facility: Nashville International Airport

Subject: Payment Card Industry (PCI) Compliance Assessment

Reports

Attached is the PCI DSS Attestation of Compliance for Onsite Assessments — Merchants. The PCI DSS
Attestation of Compliance for Onsite Assessments — Merchants covered the period from November
1, 2023 through October 30, 2024.

Analysis

A. Summary

Plante & Moran, PLLC (Plante Moran) was selected through competitive solicitation in March
2022, to perform an assessment of the Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority’s (MNAA)
compliance with Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards (PCI DSS). PCI DSS are industry
standards that provide security controls to help mitigate credit card fraud. All entities involved in
credit card processing must comply with PCI DSS requirements.

MNAA’s last PCI DSS compliance assessment was completed in October 2023. During that
assessment, Plante Moran determined that MNAA was compliant with PCI DSS and issued the
report on compliance to MNAA in October 2023.

B. Impact/Findings

No action is required by the Management, Audit & Compliance Committee as this staff analysis is
presented for informational purposes.

Plante Moran officially began the current PClI DSS compliance assessment in June 2024. This
assessment was completed using new PCI DSS 4.0 Requirements that increased testing inside
and outside the Authority’s credit card environment. Plante Moran determined that MNAA was
compliant with PCI DSS and issued an Attestation of Compliance in October 2024. A copy of the
Attestation of Compliance will be provided in the committee packet.

Page 1 of 2



C. Strategic Priorities
e |nvestin BNA/JWN
e Plan for the Future

e Prepare for the Unexpected

Attachments: PCI DSS Attestation of Compliance for Onsite Assessments - Merchants

Page 2 of 2



Docusign Envelope ID: 07264AD8-C150-42AC-BE81-1CAC34D59476

Security ®
Standards Council

=

Payment Card Industry
Data Security Standard

Attestation of Compliance for Report
on Compliance — Merchants

Version 4.0
Revision 1

Publication Date: December 2022



Docusign Envelope ID: 07264AD8-C150-42AC-BE81-1CAC34D59476

» Security €
Standards Council

PCI DSS v4.0 Attestation of Compliance for Report on
Compliance - Merchants

Entity Name: Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
Assessment End Date: October 25, 2024

Date of Report as noted in the Report on Compliance: October 31, 2024

PCI DSS v4.0 Attestation of Compliance for Report on Compliance - Merchants r1 December 2022
© 2006 - 2022 PCI Security Standards Council, LLC. All rights reserved. Page 1



Docusign Envelope ID: 07264AD8-C150-42AC-BE81-1CAC34D59476

» Security €
Standards Council

Section1 Assessment Information

Instructions for Submission

This Attestation of Compliance (AOC) must be completed as a declaration of the results of the merchant’s
assessment against the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI DSS) Requirements and Testing
Procedures (“Assessment”). Complete all sections. The merchant is responsible for ensuring that each section is
completed by the relevant parties, as applicable. Contact the entity(ies) to which this AOC will be submitted for
reporting and submission procedures.

This AOC reflects the results documented in an associated Report on Compliance (ROC). Associated ROC sections
are noted in each AOC Part/Section below.

Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined in this document have the meanings set forth in the PCI DSS
Report on Compliance Template.

Part 1. Contact Information

Part 1a. Assessed Entity
(ROC Section 1.1)

Company name: Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

DBA (doing business as): MNAA

Company mailing address: 140 BNA Park Drive, Suite 520

Company main website: https://www.flynashville.com

Company contact name: Adam Floyd

Company contact title: Senior Vice President, Chief Operating Officer
Contact phone number: 615-275-1600

Contact e-mail address: Adam.Floyd@flynashville.com

Part 1b. Assessor
(ROC Section 1.1)

Provide the following information for all assessors involved in the Assessment. If there was no assessor for a given
assessor type, enter Not Applicable.

PCI SSC Internal Security Assessor(s)

ISA name(s): Not Applicable
Qualified Security Assessor
Company name: Plante Moran
Company mailing address: 3000 Town Center, Suite 100, Southfield Ml 48075
Company website: www.plantemoran.com
Lead Assessor name: Kyle Miller
Assessor phone number: 303.846.3518
Assessor e-mail address: Kyle.Miller@plantemoran.com
Assessor certificate number: QSA - 203-845
PCI DSS v4.0 Attestation of Compliance for Report on Compliance - Merchants r1 December 2022

© 2006 - 2022 PCI Security Standards Council, LLC. All rights reserved. Page 2



Docusign Envelope ID: 07264AD8-C150-42AC-BE81-1CAC34D59476

@ Security €
Standards Council
Part 2. Executive Summary

Part 2a. Merchant Business Payment Channels (select all that apply):
(ROC Section 2.1)

Indicate all payment channels used by the business that are included in this Assessment.
X Mail order / telephone order (MOTO)

X E-Commerce

X Card-present

Are any payment channels not included in this JYes X No
Assessment?

If yes, indicate which channel(s) is not included in -
the Assessment and provide a brief explanation
about why the channel was excluded.

Note: If the merchant has a payment channel that is not covered by this Assessment, consult with the entity(ies) to
which this AOC will be submitted about validation for the other channels.

Part 2b. Description of Role with Payment Cards
(ROC Section 2.1)

For each payment channel included in this Assessment as selected in Part 2a above, describe how the business
stores, processes, and/or transmits account data.

Channel How Business Stores, Processes, and/or Transmits Account Data

MOTO Payments are accepted via dedicated cellular telephones and manually keyed
into POI devices with end-to-end encryption.

eCommerce A fully outsourced website through a PCI compliant service provider is used to
take only payments.

Card-present Payments are accepted at parking facilities or administrative areas to pay parking
fees or for other goods / services (e.g. badging fees).

Part 2c. Description of Payment Card Environment

Provide a high-level description of the environment covered by | The CDE is segmented from the general airport
this Assessment. network using VLANs established by next

For example: generation firewalls with access control lists. The
only systems with access to the CDE ("category
2 systems") have access via only approved ports
and services. User access to the CDE outside of

e Connections into and out of the cardholder data
environment (CDE).

e Critical system components within the CDE, such as POI point-of-sale related devices is restricted using a
devices, databases, web servers, efc., and any other jumpbox with multi-factor authentication.
necessary payment components, as applicable. Card present technologies in use include

o System components that could impact the security of independent card readers, PARCS, and
account data. NetPark. Cellular handheld point-of-interaction

devices are used as well.

Card-not present transactions are accepted via a
payment page that is hosted by a PCI compliant
service provider. Customers may also call the
Finance Department or LAZ via a cellular
telephone for payment processing through
handheld POls.

PCI DSS v4.0 Attestation of Compliance for Report on Compliance - Merchants r1 December 2022
© 2006 - 2022 PCI Security Standards Council, LLC. All rights reserved. Page 3



Docusign Envelope ID: 07264AD8-C150-42AC-BE81-1CAC34D59476

» Security €
Standards Council

In addition, MNAA personnel have access to
process chargebacks using a pin-pad enabled
POS device.

Indicate whether the environment includes segmentation to reduce the scope of the X Yes [ No
Assessment.

Refer to “Segmentation” section of PCI DSS for guidance on segmentation.

Part 2d. In-Scope Locations/Facilities
(ROC Section 4.6)

List all types of physical locations/ facilities (for example, retail locations, corporate offices, data centers, call
centers, and mail rooms) in scope for this Assessment.

Total Number of
Locations
(How many locations of Location(s) of Facility
Facility Type this type are in scope) (city, country)
Example: Retail locations 3 Boston, MA, USA
Parking Facilities 6 Nashville, TN
Administrative Offices 1 Nashville, TN
Badging Office 1 Nashville, TN
Data Center 2 Nashville, TN
Self-Park Admin Office 1 Nashville, TN
Terminal 1 Nashville, TN

Part 2e. PCI SSC Validated Products and Solutions
(ROC Section 3.3)

Does the entity use any item identified on any PCI SSC Lists of Validated Products and Solutions*?

Xl Yes [ No

Provide the following information regarding each item the entity uses from PCI SSC's Lists of Validated Products
and Solutions:

Name of PCI SSC- Version of PCI SSC Standard to PCI SSC Listing Expirv Date of
Validated Product or Product or which Product or Reference pL?;tin
Solution Solution Solution Was Validated Number 9
Windcave P;‘%‘iR P2PE 2022-00742.005 2025-11-23
PCI DSS v4.0 Attestation of Compliance for Report on Compliance - Merchants r1 December 2022

© 2006 - 2022 PCI Security Standards Council, LLC. All rights reserved. Page 4



Docusign Envelope ID: 07264AD8-C150-42AC-BE81-1CAC34D59476

» Security €
Standards Council

For purposes of this document, "Lists of Validated Products and Solutions” means the lists of validated products, solutions,

and/or components, appearing on the PCl SSC website (www.pcisecuritystandards.org) (for example, 3DS Software
Development Kits, Approved PTS Devices, Validated Payment Software, Payment Applications (PA-DSS), Point to Point
Encryption (P2PE) solutions, Software-Based PIN Entry on COTS (SPoC) solutions, and Contactless Payments on COTS

(CPoC) solutions).

Part 2f. Third-Party Service Providers
(ROC Section 4.4)

Does the entity have relationships with one or more third-party service providers that:

e Store, process, or transmit account data on the entity’s behalf (for example, payment
gateways, payment processors, payment service providers (PSPs), and off-site

storage)

X Yes [ No

e Manage system components included in the scope of the Assessment (for example, via
network security control services, anti-malware services, security incident and event
management (SIEM), contact and call centers, web-hosting services, and laaS, PaaS,

Saa$, and Faa$S cloud providers)

Xl Yes []No

e Could impact the security of the entity’s CDE (for example, vendors providing support
via remote access, and/or bespoke software developers).

Xl Yes []No

If Yes:

Name of Service Provider:

Description of Service(s) Provided:

Scheidt & Bachmann

Revenue management system for parking lot payment

processing.
NetPark Revenue management system for valet payment processing.
Beyond Trust Hosting / colocation services for Beyond Trust system
component.
LAZ Parking Lot operations.
Shopify BNA Shop hosting provider.
Windcave Payment processing.

Six Payments

Payment processing.

FIS Worldpay

Payment processing

Note: Requirement 12.8 applies to all entities in this list.

PCI DSS v4.0 Attestation of Compliance for Report on Compliance - Merchants r1
© 2006 - 2022 PCI Security Standards Council, LLC. All rights reserved.

December 2022
Page 5


http://www.pcisecuritystandards.org/

Docusign Envelope ID: 07264AD8-C150-42AC-BE81-1CAC34D59476

» Security €
Standards Council

Part 2g. Summary of Assessment
(ROC Section 1.8.1)

Indicate below all responses provided within each principal PCl DSS requirement.

Requirement Finding Select If Below Method(s)
More than one response may be selected for a given Was Used
PCI DSS requirement. Indicate all responses that apply.
Requirement
Not Not In Customized Compensating
0 HEE Applicable et s e Place Approach Controls
Requirement 1: X X O | Ol ]
Requirement 2: X X O O O ]
Requirement 3: D ( O O O O
Requirement 4: X X O O O ]
Requirement 5: X X O | Ol ]
Requirement 6: X X O | Ol ]
Requirement 7: X X O O ] [
Requirement 8: D ( O O O O
Requirement 9: D ( O O O O
Requirement 10: X ( O O O ]
Requirement 11: X X O O O ]
Requirement 12: X X O O O ]
Appendix A2: | X O | Ol ]
PCI DSS v4.0 Attestation of Compliance for Report on Compliance - Merchants r1 December 2022

© 2006 - 2022 PCI Security Standards Council, LLC. All rights reserved. Page 6



Docusign Envelope ID: 07264AD8-C150-42AC-BE81-1CAC34D59476

» Security €
Standards Council

Section 2 Report on Compliance

(ROC Sections 1.2 and 1.3.2)

Date Assessment began:
Note: This is the first date that evidence was gathered, or observations were made.

July 22, 2024

Date Assessment ended:
Note: This is the last date that evidence was gathered, or observations were made.

October 25, 2024

Were any requirements in the ROC unable to be met due to a legal constraint? [ Yes X No

Were any testing activities performed remotely? X Yes []No

If yes, for each testing activity below, indicate whether remote assessment activities were

performed:

e Examine documentation X Yes [ No

¢ Interview personnel X Yes ] No

e Examine/observe live data X Yes [INo

e Observe process being performed X Yes ] No

¢ Observe physical environment X Yes ] No

e Interactive testing []Yes X No

e Other: []Yes X No
PCI DSS v4.0 Attestation of Compliance for Report on Compliance - Merchants r1 December 2022
© 2006 - 2022 PCI Security Standards Council, LLC. All rights reserved. Page 7



Docusign Envelope ID: 07264AD8-C150-42AC-BE81-1CAC34D59476

@

[

Standards Council

Section 3 Validation and Attestation Details

Part 3. PCI DSS Validation

(ROC Section 1.7)

This AOC is based on results noted in the ROC dated (Date of Report as noted in the ROC 2024-10-31).
Indicate below whether a full or partial PCI DSS assessment was completed:

X Full Assessment — All requirements have been assessed and therefore no requirements were marked as Not
Tested in the ROC.

[] Partial Assessment — One or more requirements have not been assessed and were therefore marked as Not
Tested in the ROC. Any requirement not assessed is noted as Not Tested in Part 2g above.

Based on the results documented in the ROC noted above, each signatory identified in any of Parts 3b-3d, as
applicable, assert(s) the following compliance status for the entity identified in Part 2 of this document (select one):

X

Compliant: All sections of the PCI DSS ROC are complete, and all assessed requirements are
marked as being either In Place or Not Applicable, resulting in an overall COMPLIANT rating; thereby
Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority has demonstrated compliance with all PCI DSS requirements
except those noted as Not Tested above.

Non-Compliant: Not all sections of the PCI DSS ROC are complete, or one or more requirements are
marked as Not in Place, resulting in an overall NON-COMPLIANT rating; thereby Metropolitan
Nashville Airport Authority has not demonstrated compliance with PCI DSS requirements.

Target Date for Compliance: Not Applicable.

An entity submitting this form with a Non-Compliant status may be required to complete the Action
Plan in Part 4 of this document. Confirm with the entity to which this AOC will be submitted before
completing Part 4.

Compliant but with Legal exception: One or more assessed requirements in the ROC are marked
as Not in Place due to a legal restriction that prevents the requirement from being met and all other
assessed requirements are marked as being either In Place or Not Applicable, resulting in an overall
COMPLIANT BUT WITH LEGAL EXCEPTION rating; thereby Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority
has demonstrated compliance with all PCI DSS requirements except those noted as Not Tested
above or as Not in Place due to a legal restriction.

This option requires additional review from the entity to which this AOC will be submitted.

If selected, complete the following:

Affected Requirement Details of how legal constraint prevents requirement from being met

PCI DSS v4.0 Attestation of Compliance for Report on Compliance - Merchants r1 December 2022
© 2006 - 2022 PCI Security Standards Council, LLC. All rights reserved. Page 8



Docusign Envelope ID: 07264AD8-C150-42AC-BE81-1CAC34D59476

» Security €
Standards Council

Part 3a. Merchant Acknowledgement

Signatory(s) confirms:
(Select all that apply)

X1 | The ROC was completed according to PC/ DSS, Version 4.0 and was completed according to the
instructions therein.

X1 | All information within the above-referenced ROC and in this attestation fairly represents the results of the
Assessment in all material respects.

XI | PCI DSS controls will be maintained at all times, as applicable to the entity’s environment.

Part 3b. Merchant Attestation

DocuSigned by:

Adure f%ér"/

Signature of Merchant Executive Officer Date10/31/2024

Merchant Executive Officer Name: Adam Floyd Title: Senior Vice Preseident, Chief
Operating Officer

Part 3c. Qualified Security Assessor (QSA) Acknowledgement

If a QSA was involved or assisted with this X QSA performed testing procedures.

Assessment, indicate the role performed:
] QSA provided other assistance.

If selected, describe all role(s) performed:

[ L Mier

CDC81AB1F683488

Signature of Lead QSA P Date: 10/31/2024

Lead QSA Name:Kyle Miller

DocusSigned by:

/ S
o)t '/'Zi,' .
2493AF205664465...

Signature of Duly Authorized Officer of QSA Company Date: 10/31/2024

Duly Authorized Officer Name: Scott M. Petree QSA Company: Plante Moran

Part 3d. PCI SSC Internal Security Assessor (ISA) Involvement

If an ISA(s) was involved or assisted with this [ ISA(s) performed testing procedures.

Assessment, indicate the role performed:
] ISA(s) provided other assistance.

If selected, describe all role(s) performed:

PCI DSS v4.0 Attestation of Compliance for Report on Compliance - Merchants r1 December 2022
© 2006 - 2022 PCI Security Standards Council, LLC. All rights reserved. Page 9



Docusign Envelope ID: 07264AD8-C150-42AC-BE81-1CAC34D59476

» Security €
Standards Council

Part 4. Action Plan for Non-Compliant Requirements

Only complete Part 4 upon request of the entity to which this AOC will be submitted, and only if the Assessment
has Non-Compliant results noted in Section 3.

If asked to complete this section, select the appropriate response for “Compliant to PCl DSS Requirements” for
each requirement below. For any “No” responses, include the date the entity expects to be compliant with the
requirement and provide a brief description of the actions being taken to meet the requirement.

Compliant to PCI

DSS Requirements el

PCI DSS Date and Actions

Requirement Description of Requirement (Select One) (If “NO” selected for any
YES NO Requirement)
1 Lr;sr:tarl(l)lznd maintain network security X O
2 /(-;\Cr‘)rrr)]lgosneecnutrse configurations to all system X O
3 Protect stored account data X ]

Protect cardholder data with strong
4 cryptography during transmission over X O
open, public networks

Protect all systems and networks from

5 malicious software & .
Develop and maintain secure systems

6 and software X [
Restrict access to system components

7 and cardholder data by business need to X O
know
Identify users and authenticate access to

8 X L]
system components

9 Restrict physical access to cardholder X O
data

10 Log and monitor all access to system X O
components and cardholder data
Test security systems and networks

" regularly X [

12 Support information security with X [
organizational policies and programs
Additional PCI DSS Requirements for

Appendix A2 | Entities using SSL/early TLS for Card- X O

Present POS POI Terminal Connections

= = 050 e VISA

PCI DSS v4.0 Attestation of Compliance for Report on Compliance - Merchants r1 December 2022
© 2006 - 2022 PCI Security Standards Council, LLC. All rights reserved. Page 10




2D

¥
TENNESSEE
COMPTROLLER
OF THE TREASURY
Jason E. Mumpower
Comptroller
Report On Debt Obligation
Receipt Date: 10/30/2024
Entity and Debt Information
Entity Name

Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Entity Address
140 BNA Park Drive, Suite 520 Nashville, Tennessee 37214

Debt Issue Name
AMENDED AND RESTATED NOTE PURCHASE AGREEMENT (Not to Exceed $400M)

Debt Issue Face Amount
$400,000,000.00

Face Amount Premium or Discount?
N/A

Tax Status

Tax - Exempt

Interest Type Index Type | Basis Points
Variable with Index and Basis Points 80% D SOFR | 57

Debt Obligation
Bond

Moody's Rating Standard & Poor's Rating Fitch Rating
Unrated Unrated Unrated

Other Rating Agency Name Other Rating Agency Rating
N/A N/A

Security

Revenue

Type of Sale Per Authorizing Document

Negotiated Sale

Dated Date Issue/Closing Date Final Maturity Date
10/30/2024 10/30/2024 10/29/2027

Page 1 of 4



Debt Purpose

Purpose Percentage Description
Other 100% Airport
Education 0% N/A
General Government 0% N/A
Refunding 0% N/A
Utilities 0% N/A

Does your Debt Issue have costs or professionals?

Cost of Issuance and Professionals

Yes
Description Amount Recurring Portion Firm Name
Financial Advisor Fees $7,272.50 N/A PFM
Legal Fees - Bond Counsel $15,000.00 N/A Hawkins Delafield &
Wood LLP

Legal Fees - Bank Counsel $18,750.00 N/A Chapman & Cutler
Printing and Advertising Fees $497.97 N/A Tennessean

TOTAL COSTS $41,520.47

Page 2 of 4



Year

2027

Maturity Dates, Amounts, and Interest Rates
Amount Interest Rate

$400,000,000.00 80% of Daily SOFR + 57 bps

*See final page for Submission Details and Signatures*

Page 3 of 4



Submission Details and Signatures

Is there an official statement or disclosure document, as applicable, that will be posted to EMMA: https:/lemma.msrb.org/?

Not Applicable

Signature - Chief Executive or Finance Officer of the Public Entity

Name Title/Position

Marge Basrai Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Email Alternate Email

marge.basrai@flynashville.com N/A

Signature - Preparer (Submitter) of This Form

Name Title/Position
Lauren Lowe Managing Director
Email Alternate Email
lowel@pfm.com N/A

Relationship to Public Entity Organization
Financial Advisor PFM

Verification of Form Accuracy

By checking the box below as the signing of this form, | attest the following:
1. | certify that to the best of my knowledge the information in this form is accurate.
2. The debt herein complies with the approved Debt Management Policy of the public entity.
3. If the form has been prepared by someone other than the CEO or CFO, the CEO or CFO has authorized the submission of
this document.

Verify Form Accuracy

Date to be Presented at Public Meeting Date to be emailed/mailed to members of the governing body
11/20/2024 11/19/2024

Final Confirmation:

I hereby submit this report to the Division of Local Government Finance of the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury and
understand my legal responsibility to: File this report with the members of the governing body no later than 45 days after the
issuance or execution of the debt disclosed on this form. The Report is to be delivered to each member of the Governing Body and
presented at a public meeting of the body. If there is not a scheduled public meeting of the governing body within forty-five (45)
days, the report will be delivered by email or regular US mail to meet the 45-day requirement and also presented at the next
scheduled meeting.

Page 4 of 4



2D

¥
TENNESSEE
COMPTROLLER
OF THE TREASURY
Jason E. Mumpower
Comptroller
Report On Debt Obligation
Receipt Date: 10/30/2024
Entity and Debt Information
Entity Name

Metropolitan Nashville Airport Authority

Entity Address
140 BNA Park Drive, Suite 520 Nashville, Tennessee 37214

Debt Issue Name
AMENDED AND RESTATED NOTE PURCHASE AGREEMENT (Not to Exceed $400M)

Debt Issue Face Amount
$400,000,000.00

Face Amount Premium or Discount?

N/A
Tax Status

Taxable
Interest Type Index Type | Basis Points
Variable with Index and Basis Points Daily SOFR | 85

Debt Obligation
Bond

Moody's Rating Standard & Poor's Rating Fitch Rating
Unrated Unrated Unrated

Other Rating Agency Name Other Rating Agency Rating
N/A N/A

Security

Revenue

Type of Sale Per Authorizing Document

Negotiated Sale

Dated Date Issue/Closing Date Final Maturity Date
10/30/2024 10/30/2024 10/29/2027

Page 1 of 4



Debt Purpose

Purpose Percentage Description
Other 100% Airport
Education 0% N/A
General Government 0% N/A
Refunding 0% N/A
Utilities 0% N/A

Does your Debt Issue have costs or professionals?

Cost of Issuance and Professionals

Yes
Description Amount Recurring Portion Firm Name
Financial Advisor Fees $7,272.50 N/A PFM
Legal Fees - Bond Counsel $15,000.00 N/A Hawkins Delafield &
Wood LLP

Legal Fees - Bank Counsel $18,750.00 N/A Chapman & Cutler
Printing and Advertising Fees $497.97 N/A Tennessean

TOTAL COSTS $41,520.47

Page 2 of 4



Year

2027

Maturity Dates, Amounts, and Interest Rates
Amount Interest Rate

$400,000,000.00 Daily SOFR + 85 bps

*See final page for Submission Details and Signatures*

Page 3 of 4



Submission Details and Signatures

Is there an official statement or disclosure document, as applicable, that will be posted to EMMA: https:/lemma.msrb.org/?

No

Signature - Chief Executive or Finance Officer of the Public Entity

Name Title/Position

Marge Basrai Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Email Alternate Email

marge.basrai@flynashville.com N/A

Signature - Preparer (Submitter) of This Form

Name Title/Position
Lauren Lowe Managing Director
Email Alternate Email
lowel@pfm.com N/A

Relationship to Public Entity Organization
Financial Advisor PFM

Verification of Form Accuracy

By checking the box below as the signing of this form, | attest the following:
1. | certify that to the best of my knowledge the information in this form is accurate.
2. The debt herein complies with the approved Debt Management Policy of the public entity.
3. If the form has been prepared by someone other than the CEO or CFO, the CEO or CFO has authorized the submission of
this document.

Verify Form Accuracy

Date to be Presented at Public Meeting Date to be emailed/mailed to members of the governing body
11/20/2024 11/19/2024

Final Confirmation:

I hereby submit this report to the Division of Local Government Finance of the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury and
understand my legal responsibility to: File this report with the members of the governing body no later than 45 days after the
issuance or execution of the debt disclosed on this form. The Report is to be delivered to each member of the Governing Body and
presented at a public meeting of the body. If there is not a scheduled public meeting of the governing body within forty-five (45)
days, the report will be delivered by email or regular US mail to meet the 45-day requirement and also presented at the next
scheduled meeting.

Page 4 of 4



	Agenda - Board - November 20, 2024
	Minutes - Board - October 16, 2024
	Staff Analysis - Baggage Handling System CGMP2 (Operations)
	Staff Aanalysis - Amendment 1 to Professional Servies Contract - TARI (Operations)
	Staff Analysis - On-Call Contract for Snow and Ice Clearing and Removal (Operations)
	Staff Analysis - Contract for Ramp Control Services (Operations)
	Staff Analysis - On-Call Contract for Airfield Pavement Repair Services (Operations)
	Staff Analysis - Amendment to On-Call Low Voltage Years 4 and 5 (Operations)
	Staff Analysis - Amendment to On-Call General Construction Services Job Order Contract Year 2 (Operations)
	Staff Analysis - Task Order for Administration Building Reconfiguration (Operations)
	Staff Analysis - Customer Facility Charge (Finance)
	MNAA Resolution 2024-08 (Finance)
	Staff Analysis - 2nd Fixed Base Operator at JWN (Finance)
	Staff Analysis - Icelandair Incentive Agreement - Reykjavik (Finance)
	Staff Analysis - Aer Lingus Incentive Agreement - Dublin (Finance)
	Staff Analysis - FY2024 External Audit Report (Management)
	Plante Moran - Pre-Audit Letter (Management)
	Plante Moran - End of External Audit Letter (Management)
	ACFR (Management)
	Staff Analysis - FY25 Q1 OPEB (Finance)
	Staff Analysis - FY25 Q1 Treasury Investment Report
	Staff Analysis - Payment Card Industry (PCI) Compliance Assessment
	Reports on Debt Obligation



